
  

 
Stayton Planning Commission Agenda  Page 1 of 2 
January 26, 2026 
 

The City of Stayton is an Equal Opportunity Institution 

AGENDA 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

Monday, January 26, 2026  
at 7:00 p.m. 

Stayton Community Center 
400 W. Virginia Street 

Stayton, Oregon 97383 

HYBRID MEETING 

The Stayton Planning Commission will be holding a hybrid meeting utilizing Zoom video conferencing 
software. The meeting will be in-person but can also be attended virtually. If you would like to virtually 
participate in the meeting, please contact the Susan Bender at sbender@staytonoregon.gov to receive 
an invitation to the online meeting.  

 
1. CALL TO ORDER    

 
2. MEETING MINUTES 

a. Approval of December 29, 2025 Minutes 
 

3. PUBLIC HEARING 
LAND USE FILE #7-08/25 – Application for Site Plan Review for development of a tri-
plex on a vacant .24-acre property on Ida Street tax lot 091W10CC03002 in the Medium 
Density (MD) Residential zone. 
a. Staff Introduction and Report 
b. Applicant Presentation 
c. Questions from the Commission  
d. Questions and Testimony from the Public 
e. Applicant Summary 
f. Staff Summary 
g. Close of Public Hearing 
h. Commission Deliberation 
i. Commission Decision 

 
4. PUBLIC HEARING 

LAND USE FILE #11-09/25 – Application for Site Plan Review for development of two 
duplexes 1100 E Santiam Street tax lot 091W11CB02300 a .42-acre property in the 
Medium Density (MD) Residential zone. 
a. Staff Introduction and Report 
b. Applicant Presentation 
c. Questions from the Commission  
d. Questions and Testimony from the Public 
e. Applicant Summary 
f. Staff Summary 
g. Close of Public Hearing 

mailto:sbender@staytonoregon.gov


  

 
Stayton Planning Commission Agenda  Page 2 of 2 
January 26, 2026 
 

The City of Stayton is an Equal Opportunity Institution 

h. Commission Deliberation 
i. Commission Decision 

 
5. PUBLIC HEARING 

LAND USE FILE #16-12/24 – Application for Annexation and Subdivision of three parcels 
1) 9164 Golf Club Rd, 2) 9384 Golf Club Rd (part of parcel), and 3) 9474 Golf Club Rd 
(part of parcel) to be zoned Medium Density (MD) Residential zone. 
a. Staff Introduction and Report 
b. Applicant Presentation 
c. Questions from the Commission  
d. Questions and Testimony from the Public 
e. Applicant Summary 
f. Staff Summary 
g. Close of Public Hearing 
h. Commission Deliberation 
i. Commission Decision 

 
6. OTHER BUSINESS    

 
7. ADJOURN 

 
 
 
 

The meeting location is accessible to people with disabilities. A request for an interpreter for the hearing impaired or other 
accommodations for persons with disabilities should be made at least 48 hours prior to the meeting. If you require special 

accommodation, contact the Community and Economic Development Department at (503) 769-2998. 

 



  
STAYTON PLANNING COMMISSION 

MEETING MINUTES 
Monday, December 29, 2025 

 
 COMMISSIONERS: Larry McKinley – Chair  
  Peter Bellas 
  Amy Watts 
  Melissa Sutkowski 
  Steve Baldwin 
  
      STAFF MEMBERS: Jennifer Siciliano, Community & Economic Development Director 
                                       Susan Bender, Public Works Office Specialist 
   

 OTHERS PRESENT:  
Steve Sims; 
JoAnne Drake, Applicant; 
Nicolas Hennemann of Hennemann Law at 278 E High St, Suite 202, Stayton, OR 97383  
representing applicant; 
James Taylor of E Water St, Stayton 
 
CALL TO ORDER: Chairman McKinley called the meeting to order at 7:00 pm. Quorum is 
present.  
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES: Ms. Sutkowski moved, and Ms. Watts seconded to approve the 
minutes from November 24, 2025, as presented. Passed 5:0.  

 
COMMENCEMENT OF PUBLIC HEARING: Chair McKinley read the opening statement and 
opened the hearing at 7:00 pm. No objections were made by the audience to the notice in 
this case or the jurisdiction of this body to hear the case. There were no declarations of 
conflict of interest, ex-parte contact, or bias by members of the Planning Commission.  
 
STAFF INTRODUCTION AND REPORT: LAND USE FILE #6-05/25 -PUBLIC HEARING – 
Application for Site Plan Review to expand an existing 960 square foot commercial building 
by an additional 326 square feet by enclosing porch areas. The building is mixed use with 
both a thrift store and a residential unit located at 155 N 2nd Avenue (tax lot number: 
091 W10DC11000) in the Downtown Commercial Mixed-Use Zone. Staff mentioned that 
this application seeks land use approval for previous construction that was built without 
building permits, so even if the Planning Commission approves the request, the applicant is 
still required to get building permits, and Marion County will be the inspecting agency, but 
they will not perform this until the land use decision is made.  
 
Staff presented conditions for approval, including foundation landscaping requirements and 
uniform exterior siding. All work should be completed within six months of approval.  
 
APPLICANT PRESENTATION: Mr. Hennemann presented on behalf of the applicant, JoAnne 
Drake. Asked that conditions #1 & #2 be removed.  
 



  
PUBLIC TESTIMONY: Mr. Taylor commented on several deficiencies that he notes, including 
the siding.  
 
APPLICANT SUMMARY/RESPONSE: Mr. Hennemann restated the request to remove the 
first two conditions.  
 
STAFF SUMMARY: All land use approvals have standard conditions. Noted that Marion 
County will eventually be inspecting the building for various issues, including safety 
concerns.  
 
Chair McKinley closed the public hearing at 7:20 pm. 
  
COMMISSION DELIBERATION: General discussion of the importance of maintaining the 
integrity of the downtown historic district and consideration of the two conditions. Mr. 
Bellas stated that his personal viewing of the siding is that it is very noticeable and 
recommends that that condition remain.  
 
DECISION: Ms. Sutkowski moved to adopt the draft site plan option which allows 
modification to the draft order and remove the landscaping condition. Seconded by Mr. 
Bellas. Motion passed 4:0. 
 

ADJOURN: Chair McKinley adjourned the meeting at 7:29 pm.  



C it y  o f  S t a y t on  

 

M E M O R A N D U M 
 
 TO: Chairperson Larry McKinley and Planning Commission Members 
 FROM: Jennifer Siciliano, Director of Community and Economic Development 
 DATE: January 26, 2026 
 SUBJECT: Site Plan Review – Triplex W Ida Street 
 120 DAYS ENDS:  March 6, 2026. 
 
 
ISSUE 
The issue before the Planning Commission is a public hearing on an application for Site Plan 
Review to develop a triplex on a vacant 0.24-acre property located on W Ida Street (Tax Lot 
091W10CC03002) in the Medium Density (MD) Residential zone. 
 

 
 

BACKGROUND 
The subject property is currently vacant and was created as part of a three-lot partition approved on 
October 22, 2024. The applicant, Ross Bochsler on behalf of Kardboard Box, LLC, submitted an 
application for Site Plan Review to construct a new triplex residential development. Because the 
proposal involves new tri-plex in the MD zone, Site Plan Review is required. 
The proposal is to develop a triplex with a building footprint of 3,168 square feet on a 0.24-acre lot 
(approximately 10,454 square feet) in the Medium Density (MD) Residential zone. The 
development consists of three dwelling units, each with a one-car garage and individual living areas 
of approximately 1,760 square feet for Units 1 and 3 and 1,663 square feet for Unit 2. The site 
design includes a single driveway providing access to rear parking with associated landscaping, as 
well as front and rear entrances serving the building. 
Notice of the application was provided to City departments and outside agencies, including City of 
Stayton Public Works, Marion County Public Works, utility providers, emergency services, and 
local service districts. Comments were received from City of Stayton Public Works and the City’s 



C it y  o f  S t a y t on  

 
transportation engineering consultant. No objections were received from other agencies, and several 
agencies indicated no concerns with the proposal. 
ANALYSIS 
The application was reviewed for compliance with the Site Plan Review approval criteria in SMC 
17.12.220, as well as applicable provisions of SMC 17.20.060 (Off-Street Parking and Loading), 
17.20.090 (Landscaping Requirements), 17.20.170 (Outdoor Lighting), and 17.20.190 (Multi-
Family Residential Design Standards). Staff’s analysis, provided in the attached Draft Order, 
evaluates utilities, transportation access, street improvements, parking, multi-family design 
standards, and landscaping. 
Staff finds that the majority of the applicable criteria are satisfied; however, several items require 
conditions of approval to ensure full compliance with the Stayton Municipal Code. 
RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends approval of the application and adoption of the Draft Order as presented, subject 
to the conditions contained therein. 
OPTIONS AND SUGGESTED MOTIONS 
Staff has provided the Planning Commission with a number of options, each with an appropriate 
motion. The Community and Economic Development Department recommends the first option to 
approve the application as drafted. 
1. Approve the application, adopting the draft order as presented. 
I move the Stayton Planning Commission approve the application for Site Plan Review for Ross 
Bochsler, Kardboard Box, LLC W Ida Triplex, (Land Use File #7-08/25) and adopt the draft order 
presented by Staff.  
2. Approve the application, adopting modifications to the draft order. 
I move the Stayton Planning Commission approve the application for Site Plan Review for Ross 
Bochsler, Kardboard Box, LLC W Ida Triplex, (Land Use File #7-08/25) and adopt the draft order 
with the following changes...  
3. Continue the hearing until February 23, 2026. 
I move the Stayton Planning Commission continue the public hearing on the application for Site 
Plan Review for Ross Bochsler, Kardboard Box, LLC W Ida Triplex, (Land Use File #7-08/25) 
until February 23, 2026. 
4. Deny the application, directing staff to modify the draft order. 
I move the Stayton Planning Commission deny the application for Site Plan Review for Ross 
Bochsler, Kardboard Box, LLC W Ida Triplex, (Land Use File #7-08/25) and direct staff to modify 
the draft order to reflect the Planning Commission’s discussion and bring a revised draft order for 
Planning Commission approval at the February 23, 2026, meeting. 
5. Close the hearing but keep the record open for submission of written testimony. 
I move the Stayton Planning Commission close the hearing on the application for Site Plan Review 
for Ross Bochsler, Kardboard Box, LLC W Ida Triplex, (Land Use File #7-08/25)  but maintain the 
record open to submissions by the applicant until February 2, allowing 7 days for review and 
rebuttal and then an additional 7 days for the applicant to reply, with final closure of the record on 
February 23, 2026. 



C it y  o f  S t a y t on  

 
6. Close the hearing and record, and continue the deliberation to the next meeting. 
I move the Stayton Planning Commission continue the deliberation on the application for Site Plan 
Review for Ross Bochsler, Kardboard Box, LLC W Ida Triplex, (Land Use File #7-08/25) until 
February 23, 2026. 
 



 

Planning Commission Order, Land Use File #7-08/25 
Ross Bochsler, Kardboard Box, LLC Site Plan Review  

Page 1 of 4 

BEFORE THE STAYTON PLANNING DEPARTMENT 
 
In the matter of ) Site Plan Review 
The application of ) File # 7-8/25  
Ross Bochsler, P.O. Box 516, Stayton, Oregon 97383, Applicant ) 
 

ORDER OF CONDITIONAL APPROVAL 
 

I.  NATURE OF APPLICATION 
The application is for site plan review for development of a tri-plex on a vacant .24-acre property on Ida 
Street tax lot 091W10CC03002 in the Medium Density (MD) Residential zone. 

II. FINDINGS OF FACT 
A. GENERAL FINDINGS 

1. The owner is Kardboard Box, LLC. 
2. The applicant is Ross Bochsler, P. O. Box 516, Stayton, Oregon 97383. 
3. The properties can be described on Marion County Assessors Map as tax lot 091W10CC03002. 
4. The properties have approximately 105 feet of frontage along Ida Street and is approximately 

10,602 square feet.   
5. The property is zoned Medium Density (MD) Residential. 
6. The properties to the north, and east are Medium Density (MD) Residential zoned. To the east, the 

properties are zoned LD. To the south across W Ida Street, the parcels are zoned LD. 
B. EXISTING CONDITIONS 

The subject property is currently vacant, and the parcel was part of a 3-lot partition completed on 
October 22, 2024. 

C. PROPOSAL 
The proposal is to develop a triplex with a building footprint of 3,168 square feet on a .24-acre lot 
located in the Medium Density (MD) Residential zone, consisting of three dwelling units, each with 
a one-car garage and individual living areas of approximately 1,760 square feet for Unit 1, 1,663 
square feet for Unit 2, and 1,760 square feet for Unit 3; the site design includes a single driveway 
providing access to rear parking with associated landscaping, as well as both front and rear building 
entrances serving the overall structure. 

D. AGENCY COMMENTS 
The following agencies were notified of the proposal: City of Stayton Public Works, Marion   
County Public Works, WAVE Broadband, Stayton Cooperative Telephone Company, Pacific Power, 
Northwest Natural Gas, Santiam Water Control District, Stayton Fire District, Stayton Police 
Department, North Santiam School District, Salem Development Services, and Santiam Hospital. 
Responses were received from Stayton Public Works, City of Stayton’s Transportation Consultant, 
whose comments are reflected in the findings below. 



 

Planning Commission Order, Land Use File #7-08/25 
Ross Bochsler, Kardboard Box, LLC Site Plan Review  

Page 2 of 4 

City of Salem stated that they had no concerns with the request. Santiam Hospital had no comment 
or corner. Stayton Fire District stated that they had no comment. No other review comments were 
received. 

E. ANALYSIS 
Site plan review applications are required to satisfy approval criteria contained within Stayton 
Municipal Code (SMC) Title 17, Section 17.12.220. 

F. APPROVAL CRITERIA 
Pursuant to SMC 17.12.220.5 the following criteria must be demonstrated as being satisfied by the 
application: 
a. The existence of, or ability to obtain, adequate utility systems (including water, sewer, surface 

water drainage, power, and communications), and connections, including easements, to properly 
serve development in accordance with City’s Master Plans and Standard Specifications. 
Finding: Adequate public utility systems are available to serve the proposed development. A 16-
inch City water main is located along the entire frontage of the subject property on the far side of 
W Ida Street, with three existing water services connected to the site. A City fire hydrant is located 
approximately 190 feet east of the property, and the Water Master Plan identifies no water system 
deficiencies in the area that would be affected by the proposed development. Sanitary sewer 
service is provided by a 30-inch City sewer main located along the frontage on the development 
side of W Ida Street, with three existing sewer laterals serving the property, and the Wastewater 
Facilities Planning Study does not identify any capacity or system deficiencies in the vicinity. 
Stormwater service is provided by an 8-inch City storm main near the intersection of W Ida Street 
and N High Street, and stormwater runoff from the site drains to Salem Ditch in accordance with 
the Stormwater Master Plan. The applicant has submitted a site plan showing proposed on-site 
improvements and utility connections to City infrastructure. Collectively, these systems 
demonstrate the existence of, and ability to obtain, adequate utilities and connections to properly 
serve the development in accordance with the City’s Master Plans and Standard Specifications.  

b. Provisions for safe and efficient internal traffic circulation, including both pedestrian and motor 
vehicle traffic, and for safe access to the property from those public streets and roads which 
serve the property in accordance with the City’s Transportation System Plan and Standard 
Specifications. 
Finding: The proposed triplex fronts W Ida Street and provides safe and efficient access to the site. 
The City’s engineering consultant has determined that the proposed driveway spacing is adequate 
based on its location relative to adjacent roadways, and the removal of frontage trees has eliminated 
prior sight-distance concerns. W Ida Street is designated as a Major Collector in the Transportation 
System Plan (TSP) and includes an existing curbline sidewalk along the development side of the 
street. Public Works has determined that the existing street improvements and right-of-way are 
adequate to serve the proposed development and that the proposed sidewalk improvements are 
roughly proportional to the impacts of the development, supporting safe pedestrian and vehicular 
access in accordance with the TSP and City standards. In addition, the site design includes 5-foot-
wide pedestrian walkways connecting the public sidewalk to the front entrance of each dwelling 
unit, and a single driveway located at the rear of the building provides vehicular access to parking 
areas with direct access to rear doors for each unit, supporting safe and efficient pedestrian and 
vehicle circulation. 



 

Planning Commission Order, Land Use File #7-08/25 
Ross Bochsler, Kardboard Box, LLC Site Plan Review  

Page 3 of 4 

c. Provision of all necessary improvements to local streets and roads, including the dedication of 
additional right-of-way to the City and/or the actual improvement of traffic facilities to 
accommodate the additional traffic load generated by the proposed development of the site. 
Finding: The triplex development fronts W Ida Street. The City’s engineering consultant has 
determined that the proposed driveway spacing is adequate based on its location relative to 
adjacent roadways. While large trees were previously identified along the property frontage as a 
potential sight-distance concern, those trees have since been removed and no longer present an 
issue for driveway access or visibility. 
The City of Stayton Public Works Director has issued a provisional waiver of the TAL 
requirement for the proposed triplex development. Based on the scale of the proposed 
development, the removal of frontage trees, and the adequacy of the proposed driveway location, 
the TAL requirement is provisionally waived, subject to receipt of satisfactory supporting 
information if requested by Public Works. 
W Ida Street is designated as a Major Collector in the Transportation System Plan (TSP), which 
has a standard cross-section of a 46-foot-wide street improvement, including curbs, 6-foot-wide 
property-line sidewalks, and 8-foot-wide planter strips within an 80-foot-wide right-of-way. The 
existing street along the frontage of the subject property is improved to approximately 45 feet in 
width, includes a curbline sidewalk along the development side, and is located within a 60-foot-
wide right-of-way. Public Works has determined that the existing right-of-way is consistent with 
neighboring properties along W Ida Street and is adequate to serve the proposed development. 
Accordingly, the proposed sidewalk improvements along W Ida Street and N Evergreen Avenue 
are found to be roughly proportional to the impacts of the development.  
Analysis: The proposed development meets the requirement to provide necessary local street and 
road improvements; however, information regarding projected peak-hour trip generation must 
still be submitted to the Public Works Director to confirm compliance. 
Condition: This criterion can be met by submitting information on projected peak-hour trip 
generation to the Public Works Director for review and approval prior to any on-site construction 
or issuance of building permits. 

d. Provision has been made for parking and loading facilities as required by Section 17.20.060. 
Finding: Five off-street parking spaces are required for the proposed development. The proposal 
includes three garage spaces and three additional off-street parking spaces, providing a total of 
six parking spaces, which exceeds the minimum requirement. No ADA-accessible parking space 
is identified on the submitted plans. The site includes a 12-foot-wide driveway and provides 
appropriate perimeter landscaping. 
Analysis: All requirements of SMC 17.20.060, Off-Street Parking and Loading, are met, except 
that the site plans do not provide a required ADA-accessible parking space pursuant to SMC 
17.20.060.8, and the driveway does not meet the minimum standard of a 16-foot paved width 
with 20 feet of clear width as required by SMC 17.20.060.10.c.1). 
Condition: This criterion can be met by submitting revised site plans to the City Planner for 
approval prior to any on-site construction or issuance of building permits that demonstrate the 
provision of one ADA-accessible parking space, as none is shown on the current site plan. The 
accessible parking space shall be designated by signage displaying the international symbol of 



 

Planning Commission Order, Land Use File #7-08/25 
Ross Bochsler, Kardboard Box, LLC Site Plan Review  

Page 4 of 4 

accessibility and shall be a minimum of 9 feet wide and 18 feet long. The revised plans shall also 
demonstrate a driveway with a minimum of 16 feet of paved width and 20 feet of clear width. 

e. Open storage areas or outdoor storage yards shall meet the standards of Section 17.20.070 
Finding: There will be no open storage areas or outdoor storage yards.  

f. Site design shall minimize off site impacts of noise, odors, fumes or impacts. 
Finding: There will be no off-site noise, odors or fumes from the proposed development project.   

g. The proposed improvements shall meet all applicable criteria of Section 17.20.190 Multi-Family 
Residential Design Standards 
Finding: The lot coverage of the building is 3,168 square feet, which is below the maximum 
allowable lot coverage of 50 percent. The proposed triplex is two stories in height, measuring 26 
feet 8 inches, and is located more than 50 feet from surrounding one-story single-family homes, 
making the building height compatible with adjacent development. The triplex is oriented toward 
the street, meets the required 20-foot front setback, and includes a primary building entrances 
facing the adjoining street. Off-street parking and driveways are located at the rear of the parcel. 
The building length is 72 feet and does not exceed the maximum allowed length of 100 feet. The 
design incorporates an entrance projection that extends a minimum of 2 feet horizontally for at 
least 4 feet in length and includes a roof elevation break greater than 2 feet. The street-facing 
façade provides the required architectural features for the number of dwelling units, including 
gables, recessed entries with a minimum depth of 30 inches, eaves with a minimum projection of 
18 inches, offsets in the building face of at least 16 inches (provided at 24 inches), and window 
trim with a minimum width of 3 inches. However, the proposal does not provide the required 
private open space, as ground-floor dwelling units are required to include a front or rear patio of 
at least 40 square feet, which has not been shown. 
Analysis: All requirements of SMC 17.20.190 for multi-family design standards are met, except 
that site plans do not include provisions for required private open space of at least a 40 square 
foot front or rear patio as stated in SMC 17.20.190.4.b. 
Condition: This criterion can be met by submitting site plans revised to the City Planner for 
approval prior to any on-site construction or issuance of building permits that depicts a front or 
rear patio of at least 40 square feet. 

h. (Repealed Ord. 913, September 2, 2009) 
i. (Repealed Ord. 913, September 2, 2009) 
j. Landscaping of the site shall prevent unnecessary destruction of major vegetation, preserve 

unique or unusual natural or historical features, provide for vegetative ground cover and dust 
control, present an attractive interface with adjacent land uses and be consistent with the 
requirements for landscaping and screening in Section 17.20.090. 
Finding: The proposed development provides 34% landscaped area, which exceeds the 20 
percent minimum required in the Medium Density (MD) Residential zone. The applicant has 
submitted a site plan that includes all required landscape plan submittals in accordance with 
SMC 17.20.090.3. No irrigation plan was submitted. Two frontage trees are proposed to be 
installed as street trees, spaced a minimum of 30 feet apart, consisting of Scanlon maple (Acer 
rubrum ‘Scanlon’) with a minimum 2-inch caliper at planting and an expected mature height of 



 

Planning Commission Order, Land Use File #7-08/25 
Ross Bochsler, Kardboard Box, LLC Site Plan Review  

Page 5 of 4 

approximately 8 to 14 feet within five years. 75% of the required landscaped area is planted with 
trees, shrubs, and ground cover, and all proposed deciduous trees exceed 1.5 inches in caliper. 
The plans propose emerald green arborvitaes with a minimum height of 24 inches and dwarf 
redleaf Japanese barberries with a minimum height of 12 inches; however, SMC 17.20.090.8.f 
requires shrubs to be a minimum of 2 feet in height at the time of planting. As required for all 
multi-family developments with more than four parking spaces, buffer planting is proposed that 
provides the minimum five-foot landscaped buffer between the parking area and adjacent single-
family homes. 
Analysis: All requirements of SMC 17.20.090 for landscaping are met, except that the landscape 
plan does not include provisions for irrigation, and the shrubs do not meet the minimum 24-inch 
height requirement at the time of planting. 
Condition: This criterion can be met by submitting a revised landscape plan to the City Planner 
for approval prior to any on-site construction or issuance of building permits that demonstrates 
provisions for irrigation—including a permanent underground or drip irrigation system with an 
approved backflow prevention device—the separation of high-water-demand landscape areas 
from lower-water-use plantings where feasible, and shrubs with a minimum height of 24 inches 
at the time of planting. 

k. The design of any visual, sound, or physical barriers around the property such as fences, walls, 
vegetative screening, or hedges, shall allow them to perform their intended function without 
undue adverse impact on existing land uses. 
Finding: No barriers are proposed only required buffer planting around parking areas. 

l. The lighting plan satisfies the requirements of Section 17.20.170. 
Finding: The submitted plans do not propose any outdoor lighting for parking areas or pedestrian 
walkways. This complies with SMC 17.20.170.5, Multi-Family Residential Lighting Standards, 
which provide that such lighting may be installed but is not required. If outdoor lighting for 
parking areas or pedestrian walkways were proposed in the future, it would be required to 
comply with SMC 17.20.170.5.a, Lighting of Parking Areas, and SMC 17.20.170.5.b, Lighting 
of Pedestrian Walkways. 

m. The applicant has established continuing provisions for maintenance and upkeep of all 
improvements and facilities. 
Finding: The property owner will be responsible for upkeep and maintenance of the 
development. As part of a Site Development Permit, the applicant will be required to submit a 
stormwater operations and maintenance (O&M) plan to be approved by the Public Works 
Department. 

n. When any portion of an application is within 100 feet of the North Santiam River or Mill Creek 
or within 25 feet of Salem Ditch, the proposed project will not have an adverse impact on fish 
habitat. 
 
Findings: The proposed development site is not within 100 feet of the North Santiam River or 
Mill Creek or withing 25 feet of the Salem Ditch. This criterion is not applicable. 

o. Notwithstanding the above requirements the decision authority may approve a site plan for a 
property on the National Register of Historic Places that does not meet all of the development 



 

Planning Commission Order, Land Use File #7-08/25 
Ross Bochsler, Kardboard Box, LLC Site Plan Review  

Page 6 of 4 

and improvement standards of Chapter 17.20 and the access spacing standards of Chapter 17.26 
provided the decision authority finds that improvements proposed are in conformance with 
Secretary of the Interior’s Standards for Treatment of Historic Properties, the site will provide 
safe ingress and egress to the public street system, and that adequate stormwater management 
will be provided. 
Finding: This criterion is not applicable since no building on the property is listed on the 
National Register of Historic Places. 
 
 

III. CONCLUSION 
Based on the facts above, the Planning Commission concludes that the application meets the 
requirements for Sections 17.12.220 Site Plan Review, 17.20.060 Off-Street Parking and Loading, 
17.20.090 Landscaping Requirements, 17.20.170 Outdoor Lighting, and 17.20.190 Multi-Family 
Residential Design Standards, except for the following. 

1. 17.12.220.5.c. This criterion requires information demonstrating that the proposed development 
will not exceed applicable traffic thresholds. This standard can be met by submitting projected 
peak-hour trip generation information to the Public Works Director for review and approval prior 
to any on-site construction or issuance of building permits. 
 

2. 17.20.060.8. This criterion requires compliance with off-street parking including provision of 
accessible parking. The site plan does not currently show a required ADA-accessible parking 
space. This standard can be met by submitting revised site plans to the City Planner for approval 
prior to any on-site construction or issuance of building permits that demonstrate one ADA-
accessible parking space designated with the international symbol of accessibility, with 
minimum dimensions of 9 feet by 18 feet. 
 

3. 17.20.060.10.c.1).This criterion requires compliance with driveway standards. The site plan does 
not currently show  a compliant driveway width. This standard can be met by submitting revised 
site plans to the City Planner for approval prior to any on-site construction or issuance of 
building permits that demonstrate a driveway with a minimum of 16 feet of paved width and 20 
feet of clear width. 
 

4. 17.20.190.4.b. This criterion requires that ground-floor dwelling units provide private open 
space. The site plan does not depict a required front or rear patio of at least 40 square feet. This 
standard can be met by submitting revised site plans to the City Planner for approval prior to any 
on-site construction or issuance of building permits that depict a front or rear patio with a 
minimum area of 40 square feet. 
 

5. 17.20.090.7. This criterion requires landscaped areas to include irrigation provisions. The 
landscape plan does not include irrigation details. This standard can be met by submitting a 
revised landscape plan to the City Planner for approval prior to any on-site construction or 
issuance of building permits that demonstrates irrigation provisions—including a permanent 
underground or drip irrigation system with an approved backflow prevention device—separation 
of high-water-demand landscape areas from lower-water-use plantings where feasible. 
 



 

Planning Commission Order, Land Use File #7-08/25 
Ross Bochsler, Kardboard Box, LLC Site Plan Review  

Page 7 of 4 

6. 17.20.090.8.f. This criterion requires minimum plant sizes. The landscape plan does not 
demonstrate that all shrubs meet the minimum planting height. This standard can be met by 
submitting a revised landscape plan to the City Planner for approval prior to any on-site 
construction or issuance of building permits that denotes that shrubs will have a minimum height 
of 24 inches at the time of planting. 

IV. ORDER 
Based on the conclusions above, the Planning Commission approves the application for site plan review 
as shown on Cover Sheet C1, Existing Conditions and Demolition Plan C2, Site Plan C3, and Grading 
and Utility Plan C4, all dated May 28, 2025 and prepared by Levi Warriner of North Santiam Paving 
Company, Stayton, Oregon; Elevations Drawings 1 through 4, dated June 2025 and prepared by Wavra 
Design Co., LLC, Silverton, Oregon; Structural Upper Floor Plan S1, Structural Lower Floor Plan S2, 
and Structural Details S3, dated July 17, 2025 and prepared by Dan Green Engineering, Inc.; the project 
narrative dated August 18, 2025; the Preliminary Drainage Impact Analysis dated May 28, 2025 
prepared by Levi Warriner of North Santiam Paving Company; the application; and all accompanying 
materials comprising the complete application, subject to the attached standard conditions of approval 
and the following specific conditions of approval: 

1. Prior to any on-site construction or issuance of building permits, the applicant shall submit 
projected peak-hour trip generation information to the Public Works Director for review and 
approval in accordance with SMC 17.12.220.5.c. 
 

2. Prior to any on-site construction or issuance of building permits, the applicant shall submit 
revised site plans to the City Planner for approval: 

a. demonstrating one ADA-accessible parking space, designated with the international 
symbol of accessibility and with minimum dimensions of 9 feet by 18 feet, in compliance 
with SMC 17.20.060.8. 

b. demonstrating a driveway with a minimum of 16 feet of paved width and 20 feet of clear 
width in compliance with SMC 17.20.060.10.c.1. 

c. depicting a front or rear patio with a minimum area of 40 square feet for each ground-
floor dwelling unit in compliance with SMC 17.20.190.4.b. 

d. demonstrating irrigation provisions, including a permanent underground or drip irrigation 
system with an approved backflow prevention device and separation of high-water-
demand landscape areas from lower-water-use plantings where feasible, in compliance 
with SMC 17.20.090.7. 

e. demonstrating that all shrubs will have a minimum height of 24 inches at the time of 
planting in compliance with SMC 17.20.090.8.f. 
 

3. Engineered plans and supporting documentation shall be submitted to the City for review and 
approval prior to City approval of any on-site construction or issuance of building permits for the 
proposed development, as follows: 
 

a) Stormwater Analysis and Drainage Plans. 
The Applicant or Applicant’s engineer shall submit a final stormwater analysis, drainage 
report, and supporting documentation for review and approval in accordance with the 
Public Works Development Standards (PWDS). The analysis shall account for existing site 



 

Planning Commission Order, Land Use File #7-08/25 
Ross Bochsler, Kardboard Box, LLC Site Plan Review  

Page 8 of 4 

topography and all off-site contributing drainage areas. (PWDS 102.10.A.3). 
 

b) Operation and Maintenance (O&M) Plan and Agreement. 
An Operation and Maintenance (O&M) plan and agreement shall be submitted for all 
privately owned and maintained stormwater quality and quantity control facilities. The 
O&M plan shall be included as an attachment to the drainage report, incorporated into any 
declaration of covenants for the project, and recorded as part of the O&M Agreement. 
(PWDS 603.01.m). 
 

c) Public Infrastructure Construction Drawings. 
The Applicant or Applicant’s engineer shall submit final construction drawings to Public 
Works for the proposed driveway approach and public sidewalk infrastructure, prepared in 
accordance with PWDS requirements. (PWDS 102.09). 
 

d) Development Agreement. 
As part of the development application, the Applicant shall enter into a Development 
Agreement with the City prior to approval of construction plans to guarantee completion of 
the required on-site storm drainage and public street infrastructure improvements. The 
Agreement shall stipulate that the City will not support issuance of a certificate of 
occupancy or other finalization for the proposed structures until all required storm drainage 
and public infrastructure improvements are constructed and accepted by the City. (PWDS 
102.09.I, 103.10.B). 
 

4. Construction Completion Prior to Occupancy. 
Prior to City support of occupancy or other finalization for any building permit on the subject 
property, the Applicant shall construct all required on-site storm drainage systems and public 
infrastructure improvements in accordance with the approved plans and Public Works 
Development Standards, and such improvements shall be completed and accepted by the City. 
(PWDS 103.10.B). 

 
V. OTHER PERMITS AND RESTRICTIONS 

The applicant is herein advised that the use of the property involved in this application may require 
additional permits from the City or other local, State or Federal agencies. 
The City of Stayton Land Use review and approval process does not take the place of, or relieve the 
Applicant of responsibility for acquiring such other permits, or satisfy any restrictions or conditions 
there on. The land use permit approval herein does not remove, alter, or impair in any way the covenants 
or restrictions imposed on this property by deed or other instrument. 
In accordance with Section 17.12.120.7, the land use approval granted by this decision shall be effective 
only when the exercise of the rights granted herein is commenced within 1 year of the effective date of 
the decision.  In case such right has not been exercised or extension obtained, the approval shall be void.  
A written request for an extension of time may be filed with the City Planner at least 30 days prior to the 
expiration date of the approval. 
  



 

Planning Commission Order, Land Use File #7-08/25 
Ross Bochsler, Kardboard Box, LLC Site Plan Review  

Page 9 of 4 

VI. APPEAL DATES 
The Planning Commission’s action may be appealed to the Stayton City Council pursuant to Stayton 
Municipal Code Section 17.12.110 APPEALS. 
 
 
_________________________                                        ___________________ 
Planning Commission Chairperson Date 
 
  
_________________________                                        ___________________ 
_________________________                                        ___________________ 
Jennifer Siciliano,                                                                                Date 
Director of Community and Economic Development



 

Standard Conditions of Approval Page 1 of 2 

Standard Conditions of Approval for Land Use Applications 
1. Minor variations to the approved plan shall be permitted provided the development 

substantially conforms to the submitted plans, conditions of approval, and all applicable 
standards contained in the Stayton Land Use and Development Code. 

2. Permit Approval:  The applicant shall obtain all necessary permits and approvals from the 
City of Stayton prior to construction of the project. 

3. Change in Use - Any change in the use of the premises from that identified in the application 
shall require the City Planner to determine that the proposed use is an allowed use and that 
adequate parking is provided on the parcel. 

4. Landscaping - The applicant shall remain in substantial conformance to the approved 
landscaping plan and follow the criteria established in SMC 17.20.090 for maintenance and 
irrigation.  Dead plants shall be replaced within six months with a specimen of the same 
species and similar size class. 

5. Utilities - Utility companies shall be notified early in the design process and in advance of 
construction to coordinate all parties impacted by the construction. 

6. Agency Approval - The Developer shall be responsible for all costs relating to the required 
public improvements identified in the approved plan and the specific conditions of approval 
and within the City Ordinances and Standard Specifications. The developer is also 
responsible for securing design approval from all City, State and Federal agencies having 
jurisdiction over the work proposed. This includes, but is not limited to, the City of Stayton, 
the Fire District, Marion County, DEQ, ODHS (water design), DSL, 1200C (state excavation 
permit), etc 

7. Construction Bonding - Bonding shall be required if there are any public improvements.  
Prior to start of construction of any public improvement, the developer shall provide a 
construction bond in the amount of 100% of the total project costs, plus added City costs 
associated with public construction. The bond shall be in a form acceptable to the Director of 
Public Works. 

8. Inspection - At least five days prior to commencing construction of any public 
improvements, the Developer shall notify the Director of Public Works in writing of the date 
when (s)he proposes to commence construction of the improvements, so that the City can 
arrange for inspection. The written notification shall include the name and phone number of 
the contracting company and the responsible contact person. City inspection will not relieve 
the developer or his engineer of providing sufficient inspection to enforce the approved plans 
and specifications. 

9. Public Works Standards - Where public improvements are required, all public and private 
public works facilities within the development will be designed to the City of Stayton, 
Standard Specifications, Design Standards & Drawings (PW Standards) plus the 
requirements of the Stayton Municipal Code (SMC).  (SMC 12.08.310.1) 

10. Engineered Plans - Where public improvements are required, the applicant’s engineer shall 
submit design plans for approval of all public improvements identified on the approved plan 
or as specified in conditions of approval. All design plans must meet the Stayton PW 
Standards.  Engineered construction plans and specifications shall be reviewed by the City 



 

Standard Conditions of Approval Page 2 of 2 

Engineer and signed approved by the City Engineer, or Stayton Public Works Department, 
prior to construction. 

11. Street Acceptance - Where public improvements are required, acceptance of completed 
public street improvements associated with the project shall be in accordance with SMC 
12.04.210. 

12. Construction Approval - All public improvements and public utilities shall be fully 
constructed and a letter of substantial completion provided by the City Engineer prior to any 
building permit applications being accepted or issued unless the required improvements are 
deferred under a non-remonstrance or other agreement approved and signed by the City.  
Construction items must be completed within a specified period of time provided in the 
approval letter or the approval of any additional building permits will be withdrawn by the 
City. 

13. Maintenance Bond - After completion and acceptance of a public improvement by the City, 
the developer shall provide a 1-year maintenance bond in the amount of 30% of the 
construction bond amount. The bond shall be in a form acceptable to the Director of Public 
Works. 

14. As-Builts - Where public improvements are required, the developer shall submit to the City, 
reproducible as-built drawings and an electronic file of all public improvements constructed 
during and in conjunction with this project. Field changes made during construction shall be 
drafted to the drawings in the same manner as the original plans with clear indication of all 
modifications (strike out old with new added beside).  As-built drawings shall be submitted 
prior to final acceptance of the construction, initiating the one-year maintenance period. 

15. Drainage Permit – A 1200C permit will be secured by the developer if required under the 
rules of the Oregon State DEQ. 

16. SDC - Systems Development Charges are applied to the project at the time of issuance of a 
building permit. 

 



LAND USE FILE #7-08/25 – Application for Site Plan Review for development of a tri-
plex on a vacant .24-acre property on Ida Street tax lot 091W10CC03002 in the Medium 
Density (MD) Residential zone. 

Additional information found at the following webpage:  

Application: https://www.staytonoregon.gov/page/open/5933/0/Application  

Narrative: https://www.staytonoregon.gov/page/open/5933/0/Narrative  

Site Plans: https://www.staytonoregon.gov/page/open/5933/0/Site%20Plans  

Elevations: https://www.staytonoregon.gov/page/open/5933/0/Elevations  

Stormwater Report: 
https://www.staytonoregon.gov/page/open/5933/0/Stormwater%20Report  

Updated Site Plans: 
https://www.staytonoregon.gov/page/open/5933/0/Updated%20Site%20Plans  

 

https://www.staytonoregon.gov/page/open/5933/0/Application
https://www.staytonoregon.gov/page/open/5933/0/Narrative
https://www.staytonoregon.gov/page/open/5933/0/Site%20Plans
https://www.staytonoregon.gov/page/open/5933/0/Elevations
https://www.staytonoregon.gov/page/open/5933/0/Stormwater%20Report
https://www.staytonoregon.gov/page/open/5933/0/Updated%20Site%20Plans


 

Ci t y  o f  S t a yt o n  
Department of Public Works 

362 N. Third Avenue • Stayton, OR 97383 

Phone: (503) 769-2919 • Fax (503) 767-2134 

 

 

 

Date:  11/25/2025 
To:  Jennifer Siciliano, AICP – Community and Economic Development Director 
Through: Barry Buchanan, PE – Interim Public Works Director 
  Michael Schmidt – Engineering Associate 
From:  Lyle J. Misbach, PE, CFM 
Project Name: Ida Street Tri-Plex SPR, File Number 7-08/25 
AKS Job No.: 12093-02-1014 
Project Site: 500 Block of W Ida Street 

Subject: Public Works Recommendations – Site Plan Review for Tri-Plex Construction 
 

PROPOSAL  
The Application for Site Plan Review is to discuss development of a tri-plex residential structure on a 
currently vacant parcel. The subject development property (the “Subject Property”) is approximately 
0.24 acres in size, zoned MD (Medium Density Residential) and listed as R (Residential) in the City 
Comprehensive Plan, and located at 1100 E Santiam Street - 97383 (Marion County Assessor's Map and 
Tax Lot number: 091W10CC / 03002). The Site Plan Review approval is being requested by Ross Bochlser 
of Kardboard Box, LLC, as Applicant for the proposed Development. 

The following comments are based on our review of the Application and the proposed Development as 
it relates to City infrastructure and in general conformance with applicable public works portions of the 
City of Stayton Municipal Code (SMC), City of Stayton Land Use Development Code (LUDC), City of 
Stayton utility Master Plans and Transportation System Plan (TSP), Public Works Design Standards 
(PWDS), and Public Works Standard Construction Specifications (SCS). To prepare these comments we 
reviewed the following application materials: 

 Application for Site Plan Review dated August 18, 2025 
 Civil plan sheets C1 through C4, dated May 28, 2025 
 Preliminary Drainage Impact Analysis, dated May 28, 2025 
 Building plan sheets 1 through 7, dated June 2025 
 Triplex Site Plan Review Narrative, dated August 18, 2025 

RECOMMENDED CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 
The following conditions of approval shall be completed prior to City approval of any onsite construction 
or building permit application for the proposed Development: 

1. The Applicant or Applicant’s engineer shall submit a final stormwater analysis, report and supporting 
documentation for approval of the proposed development in accordance with PWDS. Existing site 



    

 
Ida Street Tri-Plex SPR Application, Land Use File 7-08/25 
Public Works Comments – AKS Project #12093-02-1014 

November 25, 2025
Page 2 of 5

 

topography and off-site contributing areas shall be considered and included in the analysis and 
design.  

2. An operation and maintenance (O&M) plan and agreement is required for privately owned and 
maintained stormwater quality and quantity control facilities. The O&M plan will need to be an 
attachment to the Drainage Report, to any declaration of covenants for the project, and included as 
part of the recorded O&M Agreement.  

3. The Applicant or Applicant’s engineer shall submit final construction drawings to Public Works for 
the proposed driveway approach and public sidewalk infrastructure, in accordance with PWDS 
requirements.  

4. As part of the Development application, the Applicant shall enter into a Development Agreement 
with the City, prior to approval of construction plans, to guarantee the onsite storm drainage and 
public street infrastructure improvements. A stipulation of the Agreement shall be that the City will 
not support a certificate of occupancy or other finalization for the proposed structures until the 
required onsite storm drainage system and public infrastructure are complete and accepted by the 
City. 

The following condition of approval shall be completed prior to City support of occupancy or other 
finalization for any building permit application on the Subject Property for the proposed Development: 

4. Prior to City support of occupancy for any building permits, the Applicant shall construct the 
required onsite storm drainage system and public infrastructure in accordance with PWDS 
requirements. 

FACTS 
General 
1. Per the City’s Local Wetland Inventory (LWI) and the Oregon Rapid Wetland Assessment Protocol 

(ORWAP), no mapped wetland areas or hydric soils are located on or near the Subject Property.  

2. Per Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM) Number 41047C0716G, the Subject Property is located outside 
of any mapped Special Flood Hazard Areas (SFHA). 

3. Per the Statewide Landslide Information Database for Oregon (SLIDO), the Subject Property is 
located outside of any mapped Landslide Susceptibility Areas. 

Streets 
1. W Ida Street 

a. Standard - This street is designated as a Major Collector street in the TSP. The standard for this 
street classification is a 46-foot-wide street improvement, including curbs, 6-foot-wide property-
line sidewalks, and 8-foot-wide planter strips within an 80-foot-wide right-of-way. 

b. Existing Condition – This street is constructed along the entire frontage of the Subject Property 
as an approximately 45-foot-wide improvement, with curbline sidewalk along the development 
side of the street, within a 60-foot-wide right-of-way.  

c. The TSP does not indicate any significant transportation system deficiencies in the nearby 
vicinity that will be impacted or could be improved by the proposed development. 



    

 
Ida Street Tri-Plex SPR Application, Land Use File 7-08/25 
Public Works Comments – AKS Project #12093-02-1014 

November 25, 2025
Page 3 of 5

 

Water 
1. A 16-inch ductile iron City water main is located along the entire frontage of the Subject Property, 

on the far side of W Ida Street. The Subject Property has three water services connected to this main 
– per City as-built drawings for the 2024 project, one meter box is in the southwest corner and the 
other two meter boxes are in the southeast corner. 

2. A City fire hydrant is located on the south side of W Ida Street, approximately 190 feet east of the 
east line of the Subject Property. 

3. The Water Master Plan does not indicate any significant water system deficiencies in the nearby 
vicinity that will be impacted or could be improved by the proposed development. 

Sanitary Sewer 
1. A 30-inch PVC City sanitary sewer main is located along the entire frontage of the Subject Property, 

on the development side of W Ida Street. The Subject property has three sanitary sewer services 
connected to this main – per City as-built drawings for the 2024 project, one lateral is just east of 
the southwest water meter box and the other two services are just west of the southeast water 
meter boxes. 

2. The Wastewater Facilities Planning Study does not indicate any significant wastewater system 
deficiencies in the nearby vicinity that will be impacted or could be improved by the proposed 
development. 

Storm Drainage 
1. An 8-inch concrete City storm main is located on the north side of W Ida Street, in the northeast 

corner of the intersection with N High Street. 

2. Per the Stormwater Master Plan, stormwater runoff from this property and nearby storm drainage 
system drains to Salem Ditch. 

3. The Stormwater Master Plan indicates a Priority 2 project near the Subject Property, described as 
follows: “Implement the best apparent alternative improvements outlined in Chapter 6 for the 
South Downtown Drainage Basin by constructing a regional detention facility on property owned by 
Norpac north of Holly Avenue and rerouting all the storm water lines that discharge directly into 
Salem Ditch with a new large storm line along Ida Street.” 

CRITERIA AND FINDINGS 
SMC SECTION 17.12.220 – SITE PLAN REVIEW 
… 

5. APPROVAL CRITERIA. The following criteria must be demonstrated as being satisfied by the 
application: 

a. The existence of, or ability to obtain, adequate utility systems (including water, sewer, surface 
water drainage, power, and communications) and connections, including easements, to properly 
serve development in accordance with the City’s Master Plans and Public Works Design 
Standards. Where an adopted Master Plan calls for facilities larger than necessary for service to 
the proposed use, the developer shall install the size facilities called for in the Master Plan, and 
shall be provided credit for the excess costs in accordance with SMC 13.12.245. 



    

 
Ida Street Tri-Plex SPR Application, Land Use File 7-08/25 
Public Works Comments – AKS Project #12093-02-1014 

November 25, 2025
Page 4 of 5

 

Finding –The Applicant has provided a site plan showing the proposed improvements and utility 
connections to onsite and then City infrastructure.  

Recommended CondiƟon: Prior to City approval of any onsite construcƟon or support of 
building permit approval, the Applicant or Applicant’s engineer shall submit a final stormwater 
analysis, report and supporƟng documentaƟon for approval of the proposed development in 
accordance with PWDS. ExisƟng site topography and off-site contribuƟng areas shall be 
considered and included in the analysis and design. (PWDS 102.10.A.3) 
Recommended Condition: As part of the Development application, the Applicant shall enter 
into a Development Agreement with the City, prior to approval of construction plans, to 
guarantee the onsite storm drainage improvements. A stipulation of the Agreement shall be 
that the City will not support a certificate of occupancy or other finalization for the proposed 
structures until the required onsite storm drainage system is complete and accepted by the City. 
Recommended Condition: Prior to City support of occupancy for any building permits, the 
Applicant shall construct the onsite storm drainage system in accordance with PWDS 
requirements. (PWDS 103.10.B) 

b. Provisions have been made for safe and efficient internal traffic circulation, including both 
pedestrian and motor vehicle traffic, and for safe access to the property for vehicles, as well as 
bicycle and pedestrians, from those public streets which serve the property in accordance with 
the City’s Transportation System Plan and Public Works Design Standards. 

Finding –The Applicant has provided a site plan showing the proposed driveway approach and 
sidewalk improvements along the Subject Property frontage of W Ida Street as well as sidewalk 
improvements connecting to the N Evergreen Avenue intersection and along the west side of N 
Evergreen Avenue to the north line of Tax Lot 091W10CC 03000.  

Recommended Condition: Prior to City approval of any onsite construction or support of 
building permit approval, the Applicant or Applicant’s engineer shall submit final construction 
drawings to Public Works for the proposed driveway approach and public sidewalk 
infrastructure, in accordance with PWDS requirements. (PWDS 102.09) 
Recommended Condition: As part of the Development application, the Applicant shall enter 
into a Development Agreement with the City, prior to approval of construction plans, to 
guarantee the public street infrastructure improvements. A stipulation of the Agreement shall 
be that the City will not support a certificate of occupancy or other finalization for the proposed 
structures until the public infrastructure is complete and accepted by the City. (PWDS 102.09.I, 
103.10.B) 
Recommended Condition: Prior to City support of occupancy for any building permits, the 
Applicant shall construct the public infrastructure in accordance with PWDS requirements. 
(PWDS 103.10.B) 

c. Provision has been made for all necessary improvements to local streets and roads, including the 
dedication of additional right-of-way to the City and/or the actual improvement of traffic 
facilities to accommodate the additional traffic load generated by the proposed development of 
the site in accordance with Chapter 17.26, the City’s Transportation System Plan, and Public 
Works Design Standards. Improvements required as a condition of approval shall be roughly 



    

 
Ida Street Tri-Plex SPR Application, Land Use File 7-08/25 
Public Works Comments – AKS Project #12093-02-1014 

November 25, 2025
Page 5 of 5

 

proportional to the impact of the development on transportation facilities. Approval findings 
shall indicate how the required improvements are directly related to and are roughly 
proportional to the impact of development. 

Finding – Public Works has determined that the existing right-of-way along the Subject Property is 
consistent with the neighboring properties along W Ida Street and adequate for the proposed 
development. Therefore, it is determined that the proposed sidewalk improvements along W Ida 
Street and N Evergreen Avenue are roughly proportional to the impact of Development of the Subject 
Property. 

. . . 

m. The applicant has established continuing provisions for maintenance and upkeep of all 
improvements and facilities. 

Finding –The Applicant has provided a Preliminary Drainage Impact Analysis and a  site plan showing 
proposed improvements and a private stormwater facility and conveyance system.  

Recommended Condition: An operation and maintenance (O&M) plan and agreement is required 
for privately owned and maintained stormwater quality and quantity control facilities. The O&M 
plan will need to be an attachment to the Drainage Report, to any declaration of covenants for the 
project, and included as part of the recorded O&M Agreement. (PWDS 603.01.m) 

Recommended Condition: As part of the Development application, the Applicant shall enter into a 
Development Agreement with the City, prior to approval of construction plans, to guarantee the 
onsite storm drainage and public street infrastructure improvements. A stipulation of the 
Agreement shall be that the City will not support a certificate of occupancy or other finalization for 
the proposed structures until the required onsite storm drainage system and public infrastructure 
are complete and accepted by the City. (PWDS 102.09.I, 103.10.B) 

 

 
cc:  Richard Walker, PE – City Engineer 
 
 



CAUTION: This email originated from Outside Your Organization. Exercise caution when opening attachments or on
clicking links from unknown senders. Please contact Information Technology for assistance.

From: Max Heller
To: Jennifer Siciliano
Cc: Susan Wright; Caleb Cox
Subject: Re: Request for Comments on Application for Tri-Plex Ida Street - Site Plan Review - LU # 7-08/25
Date: Thursday, November 20, 2025 10:03:14 AM
Attachments: Re Pre-Application for Site Plan Review - Triplex and Duplexes - Bochsler - Ida Evergreen and High.msg

 

Hi Jennifer,

Our 3/31/2025 email (attached) noted the presence of large trees along the property frontage. We would recommend the
applicant submit a transportation assessment letter and sight distance evaluation if these trees are still in place.

Additionally, the driveway spacing is likely adequate as it seems the applicant has attempted to position it as far from
adjacent roadway as practicable. 

Let us know if you have any additional questions.

Thanks,
Max

Max Heller
Transportation Analyst
(he/him)
 
 

Kittelson & Associates, Inc.
Transportation Engineering & Planning
503.535.7494 (direct)

From: Jennifer Siciliano <jsiciliano@staytonoregon.gov>
Sent: Thursday, November 6, 2025 9:12 AM
To: Adam Kohler <Adam.Kohler@PacifiCorp.com>; Barry Buchanan <bbuchanan@staytonoregon.gov>; breich@co.marion.or.us
<breich@co.marion.or.us>; Brent Stevenson <BrentS@santiamwater.gov>; brian.kelley@nwnatural.com
<brian.kelley@nwnatural.com>; Caleb Cox <ccox@kittelson.com>; Christopher Clark <Christopher.clark@pacificorp.com>;
dfreitag@santiamhospital.org <dfreitag@santiamhospital.org>; Doug Kintz <doug.kintz@staytonfire.org>; Erik Hoefer
<erik@sctcweb.com>; Gwen Johns <gjohns@staytonoregon.gov>; Janelle Shanahan <jshanahan@co.marion.or.us>; Jay Alley
<jay.alley@staytonfire.org>; John Eckis <johneckis@sctcweb.com>; John Rasmussen <jrasmussen@co.marion.or.us>; Kendall Smith
<ksmith@staytonoregon.gov>; kinman@co.marion.or.us <kinman@co.marion.or.us>; Lee Loving <lee.loving@nsantiam.k12.or.us>;
Lyle Misbach <misbachl@aks-eng.com>; Max Heller <mheller@kittelson.com>; Max Hepburn <mhepburn@co.marion.or.us>;
MCPW Engineering <mcldep@co.marion.or.us>; Michael Schmidt <mschmidt@staytonoregon.gov>; Nicole Willis
<nicole.willis@pacificorp.com>; oregonconstruction@wavebroadband.com <oregonconstruction@wavebroadband.com>;
planning@co.marion.or.us <planning@co.marion.or.us>; Richard Walker (richardw@aks-eng.com) <richardw@aks-eng.com>;
rlee@waveboardband.com <rlee@waveboardband.com>; Salem Development Services <developmentservices@cityofsalem.net>;
Susan Wright <swright@kittelson.com>; Troy Wheeler <twheeler@co.marion.or.us>; Wayne.clevenger@pacificorp.com
<Wayne.clevenger@pacificorp.com>
Cc: Susan Bender <sbender@staytonoregon.gov>
Subject: Request for Comments on Application for Tri-Plex Ida Street - Site Plan Review - LU # 7-08/25
 
[External Sender]

The City of Stayton has received an application for Site Plan Review for development of a tri-plex on a vacant .24-acre
property on Ida Street tax lot 091W10CC03002 in the Medium Density (MD) Residential zone.
 
The application materials include application form, narrative, site plans, elevations, stormwater report, and updated site
plans that include landscaping and parking. I have attached our usual request for comments form.
 
Please send responses by December 1, 2025.

mailto:mheller@kittelson.com
mailto:jsiciliano@staytonoregon.gov
mailto:swright@kittelson.com
mailto:ccox@kittelson.com
https://www.kittelson.com/

Re: Pre-Application for Site Plan Review - Triplex and Duplexes - Bochsler - Ida, Evergreen, and High

		From

		Caleb Cox

		To

		Jennifer Siciliano

		Cc

		Susan Wright; Max Heller

		Recipients

		jsiciliano@staytonoregon.gov; swright@kittelson.com; mheller@kittelson.com



Jennifer,



This development should not trigger a TIA. I do have some comments on the driveways shown on their site plan:





1.	

	The lot in the NE corner shows 2 driveways. Per 17.26.020.2.a,  two driveway accesses are allowed provided they are on a local street and meet the minimum spacing requirements. In this case, the driveway access to N Evergreen Ave doesn't appear to meet the spacing standard. It needs to be 50' from the intersection measured to the near edge of the driveway. 

2.	

	For the lot with the triplex, the driveway location doesn't meet standard (150' spacing). But it looks like they've split the difference between Evergreen Ave to the east and the next nearest residential driveway to the west, so I'm comfortable with that location as shown. There are a lot of larger trees on that southern fence line. If those are staying in place, I'd like to see a sight distance assessment to verify adequate sight distance for that driveway. 





The applicant should submit a Transportation assessment letter to verify that site accesses meet the minimum spacing requirements and sight distance requirements. 



Thanks,





Caleb Cox, PE



Senior Engineer



Kittelson & Associates, Inc.



Transportation Engineering / Planning
503.535.7453 (direct)







  _____  


From: Jennifer Siciliano
Sent: Thursday, March 27, 2025 9:30 AM
To: Barry Buchanan; Adam Kohler; Astound Construction Team; Brent Stevenson; Caleb Cox; Doug Kintz; Erik Hoefer; Gwen Johns; Janelle Shanahan; Jay Alley; John Eckis; John Rasmussen; Julia Hajduk; Kendall Smith; Lee Loving; Marion County Assessor; Max Hepburn; MCPW Engineering; Michael Schmidt; Nicole Willis; Robery Lee; Salem Development Services; Susan Wright; Troy Wheeler; Wayne.clevenger@pacificorp.com
Cc: Pauly Norby
Subject: Pre-Application for Site Plan Review - Triplex and Duplexes - Bochsler - Ida, Evergreen, and High 





[External Sender]



Hello All,



 



Please see attached pre-application form and materials for a Site Plan Review for a triplex, and duplexes at Ida, Evergreen, and High. I’ve also provided a recently approved partition that has not been updated on the Marion County Accessory’s online records. The meeting will be held virtually (or in-person) on April 3, 2025, at 1 PM.  A separate email invite will be sent.



 



Jennifer







CAUTION: This email originated from Outside Your Organization. Exercise caution when opening attachments or on
clicking links from unknown senders. Please contact Information Technology for assistance.

From: Laurel Christian
To: Jennifer Siciliano
Subject: RE: [EXTERNAL]Request for Comments on Application for Tri-Plex Ida Street - Site Plan Review - LU # 7-08/25
Date: Monday, November 10, 2025 12:08:07 PM

 

Hi Jennifer,
 
The proposed development is not located near the City of Salem water transmission mains that that travel through
Stayton. No City of Salem concerns with this request. Thank you for the opportunity to review.
 
Thank you,
 
Laurel Christian
Infrastructure Planner III
City of Salem | Community Planning and Development | Development Services
Find us at the Development Services Division Offices: 440 Church St SE, 5th Floor
Mailing Address: P.O. Box 14300, Salem, OR 97309
lchristian@cityofsalem.net | Office: 503-584-4632
Facebook | YouTube | Linkedin | www.cityofsalem.net
 
From: Development Services <developmentservices@cityofsalem.net> 
Sent: Thursday, November 6, 2025 11:40 AM
To: Laurel Christian <LChristian@cityofsalem.net>
Subject: FW: [EXTERNAL]Request for Comments on Application for Tri-Plex Ida Street - Site Plan Review - LU # 7-08/25
 
Laurel,
 
                Please see attached.
 
  Thank you,
Jason Long
Permit Technician
City of Salem | Community Planning and Development | Development Services
Find us at the Development Services Division Offices: 440 Church St SE, 5th Floor
Mailing Address: P.O. Box 14300, Salem, OR 97309
Jlong@cityofsalem.net | 503-584-4646
Facebook | Twitter |YouTube| CityofSalem.net
 
 
 
From: Jennifer Siciliano <jsiciliano@staytonoregon.gov> 
Sent: Thursday, November 6, 2025 9:12 AM
To: Adam Kohler <Adam.Kohler@PacifiCorp.com>; Barry Buchanan <bbuchanan@staytonoregon.gov>; breich@co.marion.or.us;
brents@santiamwater.gov; brian.kelley@nwnatural.com; Caleb Cox <ccox@kittelson.com>; Christopher Clark
<Christopher.clark@pacificorp.com>; dfreitag@santiamhospital.org; Doug Kintz <doug.kintz@staytonfire.org>; Erik Hoefer
<erik@sctcweb.com>; Gwen Johns <gjohns@staytonoregon.gov>; Janelle Shanahan <jshanahan@co.marion.or.us>; Alley, Jay
<Jay.Alley@staytonfire.org>; John Eckis <johneckis@sctcweb.com>; John Rasmussen <jrasmussen@co.marion.or.us>; Kendall
Smith <ksmith@staytonoregon.gov>; kinman@co.marion.or.us; Lee Loving <lee.loving@nsantiam.k12.or.us>; Lyle Misbach
<misbachl@aks-eng.com>; Max Heller <mheller@kittelson.com>; Max Hepburn <mhepburn@co.marion.or.us>; MCPW
Engineering <mcldep@co.marion.or.us>; Michael Schmidt <mschmidt@staytonoregon.gov>; Nicole Willis
<nicole.willis@pacificorp.com>; oregonconstruction@wavebroadband.com; planning@co.marion.or.us; Richard Walker
(richardw@aks-eng.com) <richardw@aks-eng.com>; rlee@waveboardband.com; Development Services
<developmentservices@cityofsalem.net>; Susan Wright <swright@kittelson.com>; Troy Wheeler <twheeler@co.marion.or.us>;
Wayne.clevenger@pacificorp.com
Cc: Susan Bender <sbender@staytonoregon.gov>

mailto:LChristian@cityofsalem.net
mailto:jsiciliano@staytonoregon.gov
https://www.google.com/maps/place/440+Church+St+SE,+Salem,+OR+97301/@44.9358574,-123.0367133,1583m/data=!3m2!1e3!4b1!4m6!3m5!1s0x54bfff6c8f8d667d:0x60fa25cc5e00b3e2!8m2!3d44.9358574!4d-123.0367133!16s%2Fg%2F11c0_28gpk?entry=ttu&g_ep=EgoyMDI1MDYxMS4wIKXMDSoASAFQAw%3D%3D
mailto:lchristian@cityofsalem.net
https://www.facebook.com/CityOfSalemOR/
https://www.youtube.com/user/CITYOFSALEM
https://www.linkedin.com/company/city-of-salem
https://www.cityofsalem.net/
https://www.google.com/maps/place/440+Church+St+SE,+Salem,+OR+97301/@44.9358574,-123.0367133,1583m/data=!3m2!1e3!4b1!4m6!3m5!1s0x54bfff6c8f8d667d:0x60fa25cc5e00b3e2!8m2!3d44.9358574!4d-123.0367133!16s%2Fg%2F11c0_28gpk?entry=ttu&g_ep=EgoyMDI1MDYxMS4wIKXMDSoASAFQAw%3D%3D
mailto:Jlong@cityofsalem.net
https://www.facebook.com/CityOfSalemOR/
https://twitter.com/cityofsalem
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCoFd-GCEenK6yZ6rcFJYcZA
http://www.cityofsalem.net/
mailto:jsiciliano@staytonoregon.gov
mailto:Adam.Kohler@PacifiCorp.com
mailto:bbuchanan@staytonoregon.gov
mailto:breich@co.marion.or.us
mailto:brents@santiamwater.gov
mailto:brian.kelley@nwnatural.com
mailto:ccox@kittelson.com
mailto:Christopher.clark@pacificorp.com
mailto:dfreitag@santiamhospital.org
mailto:doug.kintz@staytonfire.org
mailto:erik@sctcweb.com
mailto:gjohns@staytonoregon.gov
mailto:jshanahan@co.marion.or.us
mailto:Jay.Alley@staytonfire.org
mailto:johneckis@sctcweb.com
mailto:jrasmussen@co.marion.or.us
mailto:ksmith@staytonoregon.gov
mailto:kinman@co.marion.or.us
mailto:lee.loving@nsantiam.k12.or.us
mailto:misbachl@aks-eng.com
mailto:mheller@kittelson.com
mailto:mhepburn@co.marion.or.us
mailto:mcldep@co.marion.or.us
mailto:mschmidt@staytonoregon.gov
mailto:nicole.willis@pacificorp.com
mailto:oregonconstruction@wavebroadband.com
mailto:planning@co.marion.or.us
mailto:richardw@aks-eng.com
mailto:richardw@aks-eng.com
mailto:rlee@waveboardband.com
mailto:developmentservices@cityofsalem.net
mailto:swright@kittelson.com
mailto:twheeler@co.marion.or.us
mailto:Wayne.clevenger@pacificorp.com
mailto:sbender@staytonoregon.gov


CAUTION: This email originated from Outside Your Organization. Exercise caution when opening attachments or on
clicking links from unknown senders. Please contact Information Technology for assistance.

From: Danny Freitag
To: Jennifer Siciliano
Subject: Re: [External]Request for Comments on Application for Tri-Plex Ida Street - Site Plan Review - LU # 7-08/25
Date: Thursday, November 6, 2025 9:28:10 AM
Attachments: Outlook-ScreenShot.png

 

Santiam Hospital Ambulance has no comment or concern. 

Thank you, 

Danny Freitag 
Ambulance Director
Santiam Hospital & Clinics 
(503) 798-1335
dfreitag@santiamhospital.org
  

The materials and information in this email are private and may contain Protected Health Information.
If you are not the intended recipient, be advised that any unauthorized use, disclosure, copying,
distribution or the taking of any action associated with the contents of this information is strictly
prohibited. If you have received this email in error, please notify the sender via email.
 
 

From: Jennifer Siciliano <jsiciliano@staytonoregon.gov>
Sent: Thursday, November 6, 2025 9:12 AM
To: Adam Kohler <Adam.Kohler@PacifiCorp.com>; Barry Buchanan <bbuchanan@staytonoregon.gov>; breich@co.marion.or.us
<breich@co.marion.or.us>; Brent Stevenson <BrentS@santiamwater.gov>; brian.kelley@nwnatural.com
<brian.kelley@nwnatural.com>; Caleb Cox <ccox@kittelson.com>; Christopher Clark <Christopher.clark@pacificorp.com>; Danny
Freitag <dfreitag@santiamhospital.org>; Doug Kintz <doug.kintz@staytonfire.org>; Erik Hoefer <erik@sctcweb.com>; Gwen Johns
<gjohns@staytonoregon.gov>; Janelle Shanahan <jshanahan@co.marion.or.us>; Jay Alley <jay.alley@staytonfire.org>; John Eckis
<johneckis@sctcweb.com>; John Rasmussen <jrasmussen@co.marion.or.us>; Kendall Smith <ksmith@staytonoregon.gov>;
kinman@co.marion.or.us <kinman@co.marion.or.us>; Lee Loving <lee.loving@nsantiam.k12.or.us>; Lyle Misbach <misbachl@aks-
eng.com>; Max Heller <mheller@kittelson.com>; Max Hepburn <mhepburn@co.marion.or.us>; MCPW Engineering
<mcldep@co.marion.or.us>; Michael Schmidt <mschmidt@staytonoregon.gov>; Nicole Willis <nicole.willis@pacificorp.com>;
oregonconstruction@wavebroadband.com <oregonconstruction@wavebroadband.com>; planning@co.marion.or.us
<planning@co.marion.or.us>; Richard Walker (richardw@aks-eng.com) <richardw@aks-eng.com>; rlee@waveboardband.com
<rlee@waveboardband.com>; Salem Development Services <developmentservices@cityofsalem.net>; Susan Wright
<swright@kittelson.com>; Troy Wheeler <twheeler@co.marion.or.us>; Wayne.clevenger@pacificorp.com
<Wayne.clevenger@pacificorp.com>
Cc: Susan Bender <sbender@staytonoregon.gov>
Subject: [External]Request for Comments on Application for Tri-Plex Ida Street - Site Plan Review - LU # 7-08/25
 
CAUTION-EXTERNAL: This email originated from outside the organization. Do not click links or open attachments unless you validate the sender and
know the content is safe. Please forward this email to helpdesk@santiamhospital.org if you believe this email is suspicious.

The City of Stayton has received an application for Site Plan Review for development of a tri-plex on a vacant .24-acre
property on Ida Street tax lot 091W10CC03002 in the Medium Density (MD) Residential zone.
 
The application materials include application form, narrative, site plans, elevations, stormwater report, and updated site
plans that include landscaping and parking. I have attached our usual request for comments form.
 
Please send responses by December 1, 2025.

mailto:dfreitag@santiamhospital.org
mailto:jsiciliano@staytonoregon.gov

TSantiam Hospital &Clinics

embrace HEALTH







C it y  o f  S t a y t on  

 

M E M O R A N D U M 
 
 TO: Chairperson Larry McKinley and Planning Commission Members 
 FROM: Jennifer Siciliano, Director of Community and Economic Development 
 DATE: January 26, 2026 
 SUBJECT: Site Plan Review – 1100 E Santiam Street Duplexes 
 120 DAYS ENDS:  March 6, 2026. 
 
 
ISSUE 
The issue before the Planning Commission is a public hearing on an application for Site Plan 
Review to develop two duplexes on property located at 1100 E Santiam Street (Tax Lot 
091W11CB02300) in the Medium Density (MD) Residential zone. 
 

  
 

BACKGROUND 
The subject property is approximately 0.42 acres (16,910 square feet) and has approximately 118 
feet of frontage on E Santiam Street. The property is zoned Medium Density (MD) Residential and 
is currently developed with an existing single-family dwelling and accessory garden shed, both of 
which are vacant.  
The applicant, Sly Toran of Gervais, Oregon, submitted an application for Site Plan Review to 
construct two duplex structures served by a single shared driveway from E Santiam Street, with 
associated parking, on-site utilities, stormwater facilities, and landscaping improvements.  
Notice of the application was provided to City departments and outside agencies, including City of 
Stayton Public Works, Marion County Public Works, the City’s transportation engineering 
consultant, utility providers, emergency services, and local service districts. Written comments were 



C it y  o f  S t a y t on  

 
received from Stayton Public Works, the City’s transportation consultant, and Marion County 
Public Works. Other agencies indicated no concerns or did not submit comments. 
ANALYSIS 
The application was reviewed for compliance with the Site Plan Review approval criteria contained 
in SMC 17.12.220, as well as applicable provisions of SMC 17.20.060 (Off-Street Parking and 
Loading), SMC 17.20.090 (Landscaping Requirements), SMC 17.20.170 (Outdoor Lighting), and 
SMC 17.20.190 (Multi-Family Residential Design Standards). 
Staff’s detailed findings, analysis, and recommended conditions of approval are provided in the 
attached Draft Order of Conditional Approval, which evaluates the proposal’s consistency with 
utility availability, stormwater management, internal circulation and access, frontage improvements 
along E Santiam Street, parking and loading, building design standards, and landscaping 
requirements.  
Staff finds that some of the applicable criteria can be met; however, several elements of the 
proposal do not currently demonstrate full compliance with the Stayton Municipal Code. These 
items include stormwater documentation, driveway alignment and access spacing, frontage 
improvements and right-of-way dedication along a designated Major Collector, parking and bicycle 
facilities, certain multi-family design standards, and specific landscape plan details. These 
deficiencies can be addressed through conditions of approval requiring revised plans, engineering 
submittals, right-of-way and easement dedication. 
RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends approval of the application and adoption of the Draft Order as presented, subject 
to the conditions contained therein. 
OPTIONS AND SUGGESTED MOTIONS 
Staff has provided the Planning Commission with a number of options, each with an appropriate 
motion. The Community and Economic Development Department recommends the first option to 
approve the application as drafted. 
1. Approve the application, adopting the draft order as presented. 
I move the Stayton Planning Commission approve the application for Site Plan Review for Sly 
Toran, 1100 E Santiam Street Duplexes (Land Use File #11-09/25) and adopt the draft order 
presented by Staff.  
2. Approve the application, adopting modifications to the draft order. 
I move the Stayton Planning Commission approve the application for Site Plan Review for Sly 
Toran, 1100 E Santiam Street Duplexes (Land Use File #11-09/25) and adopt the draft order with 
the following changes...  
3. Continue the hearing until February 23, 2026. 
I move the Stayton Planning Commission continue the public hearing on the application for Site 
Plan Review for Sly Toran, 1100 E Santiam Street Duplexes (Land Use File #11-09/25) until 
February 23, 2026. 
4. Deny the application, directing staff to modify the draft order. 
I move the Stayton Planning Commission deny the application for Site Plan Review for Sly Toran, 
1100 E Santiam Street Duplexes (Land Use File #11-09/25) and direct staff to modify the draft 



C it y  o f  S t a y t on  

 
order to reflect the Planning Commission’s discussion and bring a revised draft order for Planning 
Commission approval at the February 23, 2026, meeting. 
5. Close the hearing but keep the record open for submission of written testimony. 
I move the Stayton Planning Commission close the hearing on the application for Site Plan Review 
for Sly Toran, 1100 E Santiam Street Duplexes (Land Use File #11-09/25) but maintain the record 
open to submissions by the applicant until February 2, allowing 7 days for review and rebuttal and 
then an additional 7 days for the applicant to reply, with final closure of the record on February 23, 
2026. 
6. Close the hearing and record, and continue the deliberation to the next meeting. 
I move the Stayton Planning Commission continue the deliberation on the application Site Plan 
Review for Sly Toran, 1100 E Santiam Street Duplexes (Land Use File #11-09/25) until February 
23, 2026. 
 



 

Planning Commission Order, Land Use File #11-09/25 
Toran 1100 E Santiam Street Duplexes Site Plan Review  

Page 1 of 4 

BEFORE THE STAYTON PLANNING DEPARTMENT 
 
In the matter of ) Site Plan Review 
The application of ) File # 11-9/25  
Sly Toran, 12309 Miller Road, Gervais, OR 97026, Applicant ) 
 

ORDER OF CONDITIONAL APPROVAL 
 

I.  NATURE OF APPLICATION 
The application is for site plan review for development for two duplexes on 1100 E Santiam Street 
(taxlot number: 091W11CB02300) in the Medium Density (MD) Residential zone. 

II. FINDINGS OF FACT 
A. GENERAL FINDINGS 

1. The owner and application is Sly Toran, 12309 Miller Road, Gervais, OR 97026. 
2. The property can be described on Marion County Assessors Map as tax lot 091W11CB02300. 
3. The property has approximately 118 feet of frontage at 1100 E Santiam Street and is 

approximately 16,910 square feet.   
4. The property is zoned Medium Density (MD) Residential. 
5. The subject property is surrounded by Medium Density (MD) Residential zoning to the east, south, 

and west, as well as to the north across E Santiam Street. 
B. EXISTING CONDITIONS 

The subject property has an existing single-family home with garden shed that is currently vacant. 
C. PROPOSAL 

The proposal is to develop two duplexes on a 0.42-acre lot located in the Medium Density (MD) 
Residential zone, consisting of four dwelling units; the site design includes a single driveway 
providing access to the units, with associated landscaping. 

D. AGENCY COMMENTS 
The following agencies were notified of the proposal: City of Stayton Public Works, Marion   
County Public Works, WAVE Broadband, Stayton Cooperative Telephone Company, Pacific Power, 
Northwest Natural Gas, Santiam Water Control District, Stayton Fire District, Stayton Police 
Department, North Santiam School District, Salem Development Services, and Santiam Hospital. 
Responses were received from Stayton Public Works, City of Stayton’s Transportation Consultant, 
and Marion County Public Works whose comments are reflected in the findings below. 
City of Salem stated that they had no concerns with the request. Santiam Hospital had no comment 
or corner. Stayton Fire District stated that they reviewed the application and had no comments. No 
other review comments were received. 



 

Planning Commission Order, Land Use File #11-09/25 
Toran 1100 E Santiam Street Duplexes Site Plan Review  

Page 2 of 4 

E. ANALYSIS 
Site plan review applications are required to satisfy approval criteria contained within Stayton 
Municipal Code (SMC) Title 17, Section 17.12.220. 

F. APPROVAL CRITERIA 
Pursuant to SMC 17.12.220.5 the following criteria must be demonstrated as being satisfied by the 
application: 
a. The existence of, or ability to obtain, adequate utility systems (including water, sewer, surface 

water drainage, power, and communications), and connections, including easements, to properly 
serve development in accordance with City’s Master Plans and Standard Specifications. 
Finding: Adequate public water and sanitary sewer infrastructure is available to serve the proposed 
development, and public stormwater infrastructure is present in the vicinity; however, final 
determination of stormwater adequacy is contingent upon submission and approval of a drainage 
report, as discussed below. 
Water 
A 12-inch ductile iron City water main is located along the entire frontage of the subject property 
on the far side of E Santiam Street. According to the applicant’s site plan, the subject property is 
currently served by this main, which will remain the point of connection for the proposed 
development. A City fire hydrant is also located on the far side of E Santiam Street directly across 
from the subject property, providing fire protection. The City’s Water Master Plan does not 
identify any significant water system deficiencies in the vicinity that would be impacted by or 
require improvement as a result of the proposed development. 
Sanitary Sewer 
An eight-inch concrete City sanitary sewer main is located along the entire frontage of the subject 
property on the development side of E Santiam Street. While neither the City’s GIS system nor 
the applicant’s site plan currently show a connection to this main, it shall serve as the point of 
connection for the proposed development. The Wastewater Master Plan does not identify any 
significant sanitary sewer system deficiencies in the area that would be impacted by the proposed 
development or that would necessitate off-site improvements. 
Storm Drainage 
A 12-inch City storm main of unknown material is located on the far side of E Santiam Street 
along the west frontage of the subject property and transitions to an open ditch along the east 
frontage. The existing storm main is identified as the point of connection for the proposed 
development. According to the Storm Water Master Plan, stormwater runoff from the subject 
property and the surrounding drainage system ultimately discharges to Salem Ditch. The Storm 
Water Master Plan does not identify any significant stormwater system deficiencies in the vicinity 
that would be impacted by the proposed development. 
The applicant has submitted a site plan showing proposed on-site stormwater improvements, 
including a private stormwater facility and conveyance system connecting to City infrastructure; 
however, a drainage report was not submitted with the application. As a result, compliance with 
City stormwater design standards and the adequacy of the proposed on-site stormwater facilities 



 

Planning Commission Order, Land Use File #11-09/25 
Toran 1100 E Santiam Street Duplexes Site Plan Review  

Page 3 of 4 

cannot be verified at this time. This criterion can be met through submission and approval of a 
drainage report demonstrating compliance with applicable stormwater standards.  
Analysis: Public water and sanitary sewer utilities are available to serve the proposed development, 
and no deficiencies are identified in the City’s adopted Water Master Plan or Wastewater Master 
Plan that would preclude service. Existing City water and sewer mains are located along the 
frontage of the subject property and are designated as the points of connection for the proposed 
development, consistent with City standards. Public stormwater infrastructure is also available in 
the vicinity, and the Storm Water Master Plan does not identify system deficiencies; however, a 
drainage report has not been submitted. As a result, compliance with City stormwater design 
standards and the adequacy of the proposed on-site stormwater f+acilities cannot be verified at this 
time. No Master Plan improvements larger than necessary to serve the proposed development are 
identified at this time. 
Condition: This criterion can be met if prior to City approval of any on-site construction or City 
support of building permit issuance the applicant: 

1) Submits a final stormwater analysis, report, and supporting documentation for review 
and approval, demonstrating that the proposed development complies with the Public 
Works Design Standards (PWDS). The analysis shall account for existing site topography 
and off-site contributing drainage areas and shall be used to inform the final design of the 
on-site storm drainage facilities (PWDS 102.10.A.3). 
2) Enters into a Development Agreement with the City prior to approval of construction 
plans, guaranteeing construction of the required on-site storm drainage improvements. 
The Development Agreement shall stipulate that the City will not support issuance of a 
certificate of occupancy or other project finalization for the proposed structures until the 
on-site storm drainage system has been constructed and formally accepted by the City 
(PWDS 102.09.I, 103.10.B). 
3) Constructs the on-site storm drainage system in accordance with the approved 
stormwater analysis, approved construction plans, and applicable Public Works Design 
Standards. 

b. Provisions for safe and efficient internal traffic circulation, including both pedestrian and motor 
vehicle traffic, and for safe access to the property from those public streets and roads which 
serve the property in accordance with the City’s Transportation System Plan and Standard 
Specifications. 
Finding: The applicant has submitted a site plan showing proposed internal circulation, a driveway 
approach, and sidewalk improvements along the E Santiam Street frontage. Marion County Public 
Works reviewed the proposed access and determined that the driveway location should be mirrored 
180 degrees to relocate the shared driveway to the east side of the property so that it more closely 
aligns with the existing driveway serving 1173 E Santiam Street. The currently proposed driveway 
location is offset from Ridgefield Court, a private road serving approximately 20 residences, in a 
manner that would result in undesirable and conflicting left-turn movements during simultaneous 
egress. The City’s engineer similarly identified that the proposed driveway approach does not meet 
alignment or spacing requirements relative to Ridgefield Court, creating potential turning conflicts. 
While the City’s traffic engineer did not identify sight distance concerns and recommended 
waiving a transportation assessment letter, both Marion County and City engineering staff 



 

Planning Commission Order, Land Use File #11-09/25 
Toran 1100 E Santiam Street Duplexes Site Plan Review  

Page 4 of 4 

concluded that modifications to the driveway location and frontage improvements along E Santiam 
Street are necessary to ensure safe and efficient vehicular access and internal circulation. Marion 
County construction permits will be required for the frontage improvements and for right-of-way 
restoration associated with utility service extensions. 
Analysis: The submitted site plan does not demonstrate compliance with the requirement for safe 
and efficient internal traffic circulation and access, as the proposed driveway location does not 
meet spacing or alignment standards relative to Ridgefield Court and would result in conflicting 
turning movements. A transportation assessment letter is not required, modifications to the 
driveway location and design are necessary to ensure safe vehicular access and internal circulation 
consistent with the City’s Transportation System Plan and Public Works Design Standards. This 
criterion can be met through conditions of approval requiring relocation of the driveway, 
submission of final construction drawings, and execution of a Development Agreement to 
guarantee completion and acceptance of the required improvements. 
Conditions: This criterion can be met by requiring that the applicant: 

(1) As part of the site development permit application, relocate the proposed driveway 
approach along E Santiam Street so that it is located at least 50 feet from the Ridgefield 
Court alignment and designed to provide safe and efficient traffic flow, turning 
movements, and access, consistent with City standards (PWDS 303.07.D); 
(2) As part of the development application, submit final construction drawings for the 
proposed driveway and all required public street improvements along the development side 
of E Santiam Street for review and approval by the Public Works Department, in 
accordance with the Public Works Design Standards (PWDS 102.09); and 
(3) Prior to approval of construction plans, enter into a Development Agreement with the 
City guaranteeing completion of the required on-site storm drainage and public street 
infrastructure improvements, which shall stipulate that the City will not support issuance 
of a certificate of occupancy or other project finalization until the required on-site storm 
drainage system and public infrastructure have been constructed and formally accepted by 
the City (PWDS 102.09.I, 103.10.B). 

c. Provision of all necessary improvements to local streets and roads, including the dedication of 
additional right-of-way to the City and/or the actual improvement of traffic facilities to 
accommodate the additional traffic load generated by the proposed development of the site. 
Finding: The development is located on E Santiam Street, which is designated as a Major 
Collector in the Stayton Transportation System Plan (TSP). The standard for Major Collectors is 
a 46-foot-wide improved roadway with curbs, six-foot-wide sidewalks, and eight-foot-wide 
planter strips within an 80-foot-wide right-of-way. Under the Marion County Rural 
Transportation System Plan, E Santiam Street is also classified as a Basic Collector, which has a 
standard cross-section of a 34-foot-wide improvement, including curbs, sidewalks, and bicycle 
lanes within a 68-foot-wide right-of-way. Existing conditions along the frontage of the subject 
property consist of an approximately 32-foot-wide turnpike-style roadway within a 60-foot-wide 
right-of-way. Aside from identifying E Santiam Street as a Major Collector, the Stayton TSP 
does not identify transportation system deficiencies in the immediate vicinity that would be 
directly impacted by the proposed development. 



 

Planning Commission Order, Land Use File #11-09/25 
Toran 1100 E Santiam Street Duplexes Site Plan Review  

Page 5 of 4 

The applicant has submitted a site plan showing a proposed driveway and sidewalk 
improvements along E Santiam Street; however, the plans do not address the full street 
improvements required for a Major Collector classification. A 10-foot right-of-way dedication is 
shown on the site plan, a corresponding 10-foot-wide public utility easement (PUE) is not 
depicted. 
Analysis: The submitted site plan does not demonstrate compliance with the full Major Collector 
street standards along the project frontage, including required right-of-way dedication, public 
utility easement dedication, and construction of frontage improvements. Accordingly, this 
criterion can be met through the conditions of approval requiring dedication of right-of-way and 
public utility easements, construction of frontage improvements to Major Collector standards, 
submission of final construction drawings, and execution of a Development Agreement to 
guarantee completion and acceptance of the required public street infrastructure. 
Condition: This criterion can be met by requiring that the applicant: 

(1) Prior to City approval of any on-site construction or City support of building permit 
issuance, dedicate right-of-way along the development side of E Santiam Street to one-
half of the ultimate 80-foot-wide right-of-way (40 feet measured from the right-of-way 
centerline) along the subject property frontage (SMC 12.04.030.1.b); 
(2) Prior to City approval of any on-site construction or City support of building permit 
issuance, dedicate a 10-foot-wide public utility easement along the development side of E 
Santiam Street along the subject property frontage (PWDS 102.08.B); 
(3) As part of the site development permit application, construct or otherwise 
demonstrate through approved plans that street improvements along the development side 
of E Santiam Street meet current Major Collector street standards, including 23 feet from 
roadway centerline to the face of curb, 6-foot-wide property-line sidewalks, an 8-foot-
wide planter strip, and an accessible pedestrian ramp at the east leg of the Ridgefield 
Court intersection, with all improvements constructed in accordance with the Public 
Works Design Standards (PWDS 303.02.C); 
(4) Prior to City approval of any on-site construction or City support of building permit 
issuance, submit final construction drawings for the required public street infrastructure 
to the Public Works Department for review and approval, in accordance with the Public 
Works Design Standards (PWDS 102.09); 
(5) As part of the development application and prior to approval of construction plans, 
enter into a Development Agreement with the City guaranteeing completion of the 
required public street infrastructure improvements, which shall stipulate that the City will 
not support issuance of a certificate of occupancy or other project finalization until the 
public infrastructure is constructed and accepted by the City (PWDS 102.09.I, 103.10.B); 
and 
(6) Prior to City support of occupancy for any building permits, construct the required 
public street infrastructure in accordance with approved plans and applicable Public 
Works Design Standards, subject to acceptance by the Public Works Department (PWDS 
103.10.B). 



 

Planning Commission Order, Land Use File #11-09/25 
Toran 1100 E Santiam Street Duplexes Site Plan Review  

Page 6 of 4 

(7) Obtain all required Marion County construction permits for frontage improvements 
and right-of-way restoration associated with utility service extensions, and complete such 
work in accordance with applicable County requirements. 

d. Provision has been made for parking and loading facilities as required by Section 17.20.060. 
Finding: Seven off-street parking spaces are required for the proposed development. The 
proposal includes four garage spaces and four additional off-street parking spaces, providing a 
total of eight parking spaces, which exceeds the minimum requirement. The site plan contains 
notes about ADA-accessible parking space; however, none are identified on the submitted plans. 
One bicycle parking space is required. The site plan includes a note indicating six bicycle spaces; 
however, the bicycle parking spaces are not depicted on the site plan. The site plan shows the 
driveway at the required clear 24-foot width for developments with four or more dwelling units. 
The landscape plans show the required perimeter landscaping along the property line adjacent to 
the parking area, consistent with the landscaping design standards. 
Analysis: All requirements of SMC 17.20.060, Off-Street Parking and Loading, are met, except 
that the site plans do not show the required ADA-accessible parking space pursuant to SMC 
17.20.060.8, and the required bicycle parking space SMC 17.20.060.9-A.1). 
Condition: This criterion can be met by submitting revised site plans to the City Planner for 
approval prior to any on-site construction or issuance of building permits that demonstrate the 
location and design of the required ADA-accessible parking space in compliance with SMC 
17.20.060.8 and the required bicycle parking space in compliance with SMC 17.20.060.9-A.1. 

e. Open storage areas or outdoor storage yards shall meet the standards of Section 17.20.070 
Finding: There will be no open storage areas or outdoor storage yards.  

f. Site design shall minimize off site impacts of noise, odors, fumes or impacts. 
Finding: There will be no off-site noise, odors or fumes from the proposed development project.   

g. The proposed improvements shall meet all applicable criteria of Section 17.20.190 Multi-Family 
Residential Design Standards 
Finding:  
17.20.190 MULTI-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL DESIGN STANDARDS 
2. Site Design. 
a. Although the narrative indicates a proposed lot coverage of 45 percent, the site plans do not 
provide building square footage, and compliance with the lot coverage standard cannot be 
verified. 
b. Height Step Down.  
Building footprints are not depicted on the adjacent parcels. 
c. Building Orientation Standards. 

1) The building layout complies with standard setbacks for Medium Density (MD) 
Residential. 



 

Planning Commission Order, Land Use File #11-09/25 
Toran 1100 E Santiam Street Duplexes Site Plan Review  

Page 7 of 4 

2) Off street parking is oriented internally to the site.  Primary building entrances face the 
internal driveway and parking areas. 
3) Not on corner lot. 
4) Repealed. 
5) Driveways and off-street parking are not placed between the building and the street. 
6) Parking and driveways are not located between attached residential structures and 
adjacent single-family homes. 
7) Primary building entrances face the internal driveway and parking areas.  
8) No outdoor service areas are shown. 

3. Architectural Standards. 
a. Building Length. The narrative states that each proposed building is 43 feet in width. The 
elevations and site plan do not specify the building length, and compliance with the maximum 
allowed building length of 100 feet cannot be verified. 
b. Articulation. The narrative states that the proposed buildings will have a covered entrance that 
extends at least 4 feet from the building and will include offsets of at least 2 feet to break up the 
roof elevations. 
c. Street-side facades. The narrative states the side of the buildings provide windows and 
architectural features like offsets. 
d. Exterior Stairways. There are no exterior stairways proposed. 
e. Design Features. The narrative states that the buildings will both have dormers with windows, 
gables, covered entryways, pillars, eaves, and balconies. The buildings are required to have at 
least five of the listed design features. Six are listed.  
F. Building Materials. The proposed buildings will not use prohibited exterior finish material. 
4. Open Space. 
a. Common Open Space. Not applicable, as the development does not include more than 10 
units. 
b. Private open space. 

1) The narrative states that all units will have a patio of the required 40 square feet. 
2) Not applicable, as the development are townhouses, with no upper-floor housing units. 

5. Lighting. No lighting plan was submitted or required. The narrative stated that lighting will be 
located on the building facades and side yards. 
Analysis: 2.a. The application does not clearly show that the proposed coverage does not exceed 
the maximum permitted. It is unclear that criteria are met. 
2.b. The application does not show that the development will create a "step down" for building 
height transition. It is unclear that criteria are met. 
2.c. The site plans show the correct standard setbacks. The entrances are oriented internally to 
the site and face the internal driveway and packing area. The criteria are met. 



 

Planning Commission Order, Land Use File #11-09/25 
Toran 1100 E Santiam Street Duplexes Site Plan Review  

Page 8 of 4 

3.a. The narrative states the width of the building at 43 feet and does not mention the length. The 
building measurements are not included in the site plan or elevations.  It is unclear that criteria 
are met. 
b. - f. The narrative proposes the appropriate architectural standards. The criteria are met.  
4. The narrative states that each unit will include a patio meeting the required 40 square feet, and 
the site plan identifies the patio locations; however, measurements are not provided. The criteria 
are met.  
5. Lights were not depicted on building facades and side yards and are not required. The 
applicant has met this criterion. 
Condition: Provide a revised site plan that: (1) identifies the building square footage and 
demonstrates that total lot coverage does not exceed 50 percent and that building length does not 
exceed 100 feet; and (2) shows the distance between the proposed duplexes and the single-family 
homes at 1260 E Santiam Street and 1119 E Jefferson Street, and demonstrates that this spacing 
creates an appropriate “step-down” in building height to adjacent single-family homes. 

h. (Repealed Ord. 913, September 2, 2009) 
i. (Repealed Ord. 913, September 2, 2009) 
j. Landscaping of the site shall prevent unnecessary destruction of major vegetation, preserve 

unique or unusual natural or historical features, provide for vegetative ground cover and dust 
control, present an attractive interface with adjacent land uses and be consistent with the 
requirements for landscaping and screening in Section 17.20.090. 
Finding: The proposed development provides 55% landscaped area, which exceeds the 20 
percent minimum required in the Medium Density (MD) Residential zone. The applicant has 
submitted landscape plan submittals in accordance with SMC 17.20.090.3 with a few noted 
exceptions: dimensions and footprint of structures (3.a.) and does not show adjacent land-uses 
for residence within 50 feet of the subject site (3.e.). No separate irrigation plan was submitted; 
however, the landscape plans indicate that the landscaping will be irrigated by an automatic 
underground system, as required. Three frontage trees are proposed as street trees and are 
identified as upright European hornbeam; however, the plans do not specify planting spacing. 
Street trees are required to be spaced 20 feet on center, or 25 feet on center for large-canopy 
trees. The landscape plans demonstrate compliance with plant material requirements, including 
the requirement that at least 75 percent of the landscaped area be planted with a suitable 
combination of trees, shrubs, evergreens, and/or ground cover. The plans also indicate that trees 
and shrubs meet the required caliper and height at planting. However, multifamily developments 
with more than four parking spaces are required to provide a five-foot-wide landscape buffer 
(11.a.1.). While a buffer area is shown on the landscape plans, the plans do not specify its width; 
the required buffer width is five feet. 
Analysis: All requirements of SMC 17.20.090 for landscaping are met, except the landscape plan 
must be revised to include the dimensions of the building footprint, the distance to adjacent 
residences, the required spacing for frontage trees, and the width of the required landscape 
buffer, which must be shown as five feet. 
Condition: This criterion can be met by submitting a revised landscape plan to the City Planner 
for approval prior to any on-site construction or issuance of building permits that demonstrates 



 

Planning Commission Order, Land Use File #11-09/25 
Toran 1100 E Santiam Street Duplexes Site Plan Review  

Page 9 of 4 

the dimensions of the building footprint, the distances to adjacent residences, the required 
spacing of frontage trees of at least 20 feet from center, and the required five-foot-wide 
landscape buffer for parking areas associated with multifamily development. 

k. The design of any visual, sound, or physical barriers around the property such as fences, walls, 
vegetative screening, or hedges, shall allow them to perform their intended function without 
undue adverse impact on existing land uses. 
Finding: No barriers are proposed only required buffer planting around parking areas. 

l. The lighting plan satisfies the requirements of Section 17.20.170. 
Finding: The submitted plans do not propose any outdoor lighting for parking areas or pedestrian 
walkways. This complies with SMC 17.20.170.5, Multi-Family Residential Lighting Standards, 
which provide that such lighting may be installed but is not required. If outdoor lighting for 
parking areas or pedestrian walkways were proposed in the future, it would be required to 
comply with SMC 17.20.170.5.a, Lighting of Parking Areas, and SMC 17.20.170.5.b, Lighting 
of Pedestrian Walkways. 

m. The applicant has established continuing provisions for maintenance and upkeep of all 
improvements and facilities. 
Finding: The property owner will be responsible for upkeep and maintenance of the 
development. As part of a Site Development Permit, the applicant will be required to submit a 
stormwater operations and maintenance (O&M) plan to be approved by the Public Works 
Department. 

n. When any portion of an application is within 100 feet of the North Santiam River or Mill Creek 
or within 25 feet of Salem Ditch, the proposed project will not have an adverse impact on fish 
habitat. 
 
Findings: The proposed development site is not within 100 feet of the North Santiam River or 
Mill Creek or withing 25 feet of the Salem Ditch. This criterion is not applicable. 

o. Notwithstanding the above requirements the decision authority may approve a site plan for a 
property on the National Register of Historic Places that does not meet all of the development 
and improvement standards of Chapter 17.20 and the access spacing standards of Chapter 17.26 
provided the decision authority finds that improvements proposed are in conformance with 
Secretary of the Interior’s Standards for Treatment of Historic Properties, the site will provide 
safe ingress and egress to the public street system, and that adequate stormwater management 
will be provided. 
Finding: This criterion is not applicable since no building on the property is listed on the 
National Register of Historic Places. 
 
 

III. CONCLUSION 
Based on the facts above, the Planning Commission concludes that the application meets the 
requirements for Sections 17.12.220 Site Plan Review, 17.20.060 Off-Street Parking and Loading, 
17.20.090 Landscaping Requirements, 17.20.170 Outdoor Lighting, and 17.20.190 Multi-Family 
Residential Design Standards, except for the following. 



 

Planning Commission Order, Land Use File #11-09/25 
Toran 1100 E Santiam Street Duplexes Site Plan Review  

Page 10 of 4 

1. 17.12.220.5.a. This criterion requires the existence of, or ability to obtain, adequate utility 
systems, including surface water drainage, to serve the proposed development in accordance with 
the City’s Master Plans and Standard Specifications. While public water and sanitary sewer 
utilities are available and adequate, a drainage report has not been submitted; therefore, 
compliance with City stormwater design standards and the adequacy of the proposed on-site 
stormwater facilities cannot be verified. 
 
This standard can be met by submitting a final stormwater analysis, report, and supporting 
documentation for review and approval prior to any on-site construction or City support of 
building permit issuance, and by constructing the approved stormwater facilities in accordance 
with the Public Works Design Standards. 
 

2. 17.12.220.5.b. This criterion requires provisions for safe and efficient internal traffic circulation 
and safe access to the site. The submitted site plan does not demonstrate compliance, as the 
proposed driveway location does not meet alignment or spacing standards relative to Ridgefield 
Court and would result in conflicting turning movements. 
 
This standard can be met by relocating the driveway to meet spacing requirements, submitting 
final construction drawings for review and approval, and entering into a Development 
Agreement to guarantee completion and acceptance of the required improvements. 
 

3. 17.12.220.5.c. This criterion requires provision of all necessary improvements to local streets 
and roads, including right-of-way dedication and frontage improvements. The submitted site plan 
does not demonstrate compliance with Major Collector street standards along E Santiam Street, 
including required right-of-way dedication, public utility easement dedication, and construction 
of full frontage improvements. 
 
This standard can be met by dedicating the required right-of-way and public utility easement, 
constructing frontage improvements to Major Collector standards, submitting final construction 
drawings, entering into a Development Agreement, and obtaining all required Marion County 
construction permits. 
 

4. 17.20.060.8. This criterion requires provision of an ADA-accessible parking space. The site plan 
does not depict a required ADA-accessible parking space. 
 
This standard can be met by submitting revised site plans showing one ADA-accessible parking 
space in compliance with SMC 17.20.060.8. 
 

5. 17.20.060.9-A.1. This criterion requires provision of bicycle parking. The site plan does not 
depict the required bicycle parking space. 
 
This standard can be met by submitting revised site plans showing the required bicycle parking 
space in compliance with SMC 17.20.060.9-A.1. 
 

6. 17.20.190.2.a., 17.20.190.2.b., and 17.20.190.3.a. These criteria require compliance with 
maximum lot coverage, a step-down in building height adjacent to single-family residential 



 

Planning Commission Order, Land Use File #11-09/25 
Toran 1100 E Santiam Street Duplexes Site Plan Review  

Page 11 of 4 

development, and a maximum building length of 100 feet. The site plans and elevations do not 
provide sufficient information to verify building square footage, building length, or distances to 
adjacent single-family residences; therefore, compliance with these standards cannot be 
confirmed. 
 
These standards can be met by submitting revised site plans and elevations that demonstrate 
compliance with lot coverage, building length, and height step-down requirements. 
 

7. 17.20.090.3, 17.20.090.7, and 17.20.090.11.a.1. These criteria require complete landscape plan 
information, including structure dimensions, distances to adjacent residences, street tree spacing, 
and a five-foot-wide landscape buffer for parking areas. The submitted landscape plans do not 
provide all required dimensions or spacing information. 
 
This standard can be met by submitting a revised landscape plan that shows building footprint 
dimensions, distances to adjacent residences, street tree spacing of at least 20 feet on center, and 
a clearly labeled five-foot-wide landscape buffer. 
 

IV. ORDER 
Based on the conclusions above, the Planning Commission approves the application for site plan review 
as shown on Cover Sheet SDR1, Existing Conditions SDR2, Site Plan SDR3, Open Space SDR4, 
Grading Plan SDR5, Private Storm Drainage SDR6, Private Sanitary Sewer SDR7, and Private 
Domestic Water Plan SDR8 all dated November 11, 2025 and prepared by Multi/Tech Engineering, 
Salem, Stayton, Oregon; Elevations Drawings 1, dated August 30, 2022 prepared by Brad Eisele, Home 
Design, Independence, Oregon; Report of Infiltration Testing, dated February 25, 2025, by Carlson 
Geotechnical, Tigard, Oregon; and Landscaping plans Cover Sheet L0.0 and L1.1 by Laurus Designs, 
LLC, Silverton, Oregon dated August 28, 2025; the application; and all accompanying materials 
comprising the complete application, subject to the attached standard conditions of approval and the 
following specific conditions of approval: 

1. Prior to any on-site construction or issuance of building permits, the applicant shall submit 
revised site plans to the City Planner for review and approval that demonstrate the following: 
a. One ADA-accessible parking space in compliance with SMC 17.20.060.8. 
b. One bicycle parking space in compliance with SMC 17.20.060.9-A.1. 
c. Building square footage demonstrating that total lot coverage does not exceed 50 percent and 
that building length does not exceed 100 feet. 
d. Distances between the proposed duplexes and the single-family homes at 1260 E Santiam 
Street and 1119 E Jefferson Street demonstrating an appropriate step-down in building height. 
 

2. Prior to any on-site construction or issuance of building permits, the applicant shall submit a 
revised landscape plan to the City Planner for review and approval that demonstrates: 
a. Dimensions of the building footprint. 
b. Distances to adjacent residential properties. 
c. Frontage tree spacing of at least 20 feet on center. 
d. A clearly labeled five-foot-wide landscape buffer adjacent to parking areas associated with the 
multifamily development. 
 



 

Planning Commission Order, Land Use File #11-09/25 
Toran 1100 E Santiam Street Duplexes Site Plan Review  

Page 12 of 4 

3. Prior to City approval of any on-site construction or City support of building permit issuance, the 
applicant or the applicant’s engineer shall submit a final stormwater analysis, drainage report, 
and supporting documentation for review and approval in accordance with the Public Works 
Design Standards (PWDS). The analysis shall account for existing site topography and all off-
site contributing drainage areas and shall inform the final design of the on-site storm drainage 
facilities (PWDS 102.10.A.3). 
 

4. Prior to City approval of any on-site construction or City support of building permit issuance, an 
Operation and Maintenance (O&M) plan and agreement shall be submitted for all privately 
owned and maintained stormwater quality and quantity control facilities. The O&M plan shall be 
attached to the drainage report, incorporated into any declaration of covenants for the project, 
and recorded as part of the O&M Agreement (PWDS 603.01.m). 
 

5. As part of the site development permit application, the applicant or the applicant’s engineer shall 
relocate the proposed driveway approach along E Santiam Street so that it is located at least 50 
feet from the Ridgefield Court alignment and is designed to provide safe and efficient traffic 
flow, turning movements, and access, consistent with City standards (PWDS 303.07.D). 
 

6. Prior to City approval of any on-site construction or City support of building permit issuance, the 
applicant shall dedicate right-of-way along the development side of E Santiam Street to one-half 
of the ultimate 80-foot-wide right-of-way (40 feet measured from the right-of-way centerline) 
along the subject property frontage (SMC 12.04.030.1.b). 
 

7. Prior to City approval of any on-site construction or City support of building permit issuance, the 
applicant shall dedicate a 10-foot-wide public utility easement (PUE) along the development side 
of E Santiam Street along the subject property frontage (PWDS 102.08.B). 
 

8. As part of the site development permit application, the applicant shall construct or otherwise 
demonstrate through approved plans that street improvements along the development side of E 
Santiam Street meet current Major Collector street standards, including 23 feet from roadway 
centerline to the face of curb, six-foot-wide property-line sidewalks, an eight-foot-wide planter 
strip, street lighting, street trees, and an accessible pedestrian ramp at the east leg of the 
Ridgefield Court intersection. All improvements shall be designed and constructed in accordance 
with the Public Works Design Standards in effect at the time of construction plan submittal 
(PWDS 303.02.C). 
 

9. Prior to City approval of any on-site construction or City support of building permit issuance, the 
applicant or the applicant’s engineer shall submit final construction drawings to the Public 
Works Department for the proposed driveway approach, public sidewalk improvements, storm 
drainage system, and all required public infrastructure, in accordance with the Public Works 
Design Standards (PWDS 102.09). 
 

10. As part of the development application and prior to approval of construction plans, the applicant 
shall enter into a Development Agreement with the City guaranteeing completion of the required 
on-site storm drainage and public street infrastructure improvements. The Agreement shall 
stipulate that the City will not support issuance of a certificate of occupancy or other project 



 

Planning Commission Order, Land Use File #11-09/25 
Toran 1100 E Santiam Street Duplexes Site Plan Review  

Page 13 of 4 

finalization until all required storm drainage and public infrastructure improvements are 
constructed and accepted by the City (PWDS 102.09.I, 103.10.B). 
 

11. The applicant shall obtain all required Marion County construction permits for frontage 
improvements and right-of-way restoration associated with utility service extensions and shall 
complete such work in accordance with applicable County requirements. 
 

12. Prior to City support of occupancy or other finalization for any building permit on the subject 
property, the applicant shall construct all required on-site storm drainage systems and public 
infrastructure improvements in accordance with approved plans and applicable Public Works 
Design Standards, and such improvements shall be completed and accepted by the City (PWDS 
103.10.B). 

 
V. OTHER PERMITS AND RESTRICTIONS 

The applicant is herein advised that the use of the property involved in this application may require 
additional permits from the City or other local, State or Federal agencies. 
The City of Stayton Land Use review and approval process does not take the place of, or relieve the 
Applicant of responsibility for acquiring such other permits, or satisfy any restrictions or conditions 
there on. The land use permit approval herein does not remove, alter, or impair in any way the covenants 
or restrictions imposed on this property by deed or other instrument. 
In accordance with Section 17.12.120.7, the land use approval granted by this decision shall be effective 
only when the exercise of the rights granted herein is commenced within 1 year of the effective date of 
the decision.  In case such right has not been exercised or extension obtained, the approval shall be void.  
A written request for an extension of time may be filed with the City Planner at least 30 days prior to the 
expiration date of the approval. 
  



 

Planning Commission Order, Land Use File #11-09/25 
Toran 1100 E Santiam Street Duplexes Site Plan Review  

Page 14 of 4 

VI. APPEAL DATES 
The Planning Commission’s action may be appealed to the Stayton City Council pursuant to Stayton 
Municipal Code Section 17.12.110 APPEALS. 
 
 
_________________________                                        ___________________ 
Planning Commission Chairperson Date 
 
  
_________________________                                        ___________________ 
_________________________                                        ___________________ 
Jennifer Siciliano,                                                                                Date 
Director of Community and Economic Development



 

Standard Conditions of Approval Page 1 of 2 

Standard Conditions of Approval for Land Use Applications 
1. Minor variations to the approved plan shall be permitted provided the development 

substantially conforms to the submitted plans, conditions of approval, and all applicable 
standards contained in the Stayton Land Use and Development Code. 

2. Permit Approval:  The applicant shall obtain all necessary permits and approvals from the 
City of Stayton prior to construction of the project. 

3. Change in Use - Any change in the use of the premises from that identified in the application 
shall require the City Planner to determine that the proposed use is an allowed use and that 
adequate parking is provided on the parcel. 

4. Landscaping - The applicant shall remain in substantial conformance to the approved 
landscaping plan and follow the criteria established in SMC 17.20.090 for maintenance and 
irrigation.  Dead plants shall be replaced within six months with a specimen of the same 
species and similar size class. 

5. Utilities - Utility companies shall be notified early in the design process and in advance of 
construction to coordinate all parties impacted by the construction. 

6. Agency Approval - The Developer shall be responsible for all costs relating to the required 
public improvements identified in the approved plan and the specific conditions of approval 
and within the City Ordinances and Standard Specifications. The developer is also 
responsible for securing design approval from all City, State and Federal agencies having 
jurisdiction over the work proposed. This includes, but is not limited to, the City of Stayton, 
the Fire District, Marion County, DEQ, ODHS (water design), DSL, 1200C (state excavation 
permit), etc 

7. Construction Bonding - Bonding shall be required if there are any public improvements.  
Prior to start of construction of any public improvement, the developer shall provide a 
construction bond in the amount of 100% of the total project costs, plus added City costs 
associated with public construction. The bond shall be in a form acceptable to the Director of 
Public Works. 

8. Inspection - At least five days prior to commencing construction of any public 
improvements, the Developer shall notify the Director of Public Works in writing of the date 
when (s)he proposes to commence construction of the improvements, so that the City can 
arrange for inspection. The written notification shall include the name and phone number of 
the contracting company and the responsible contact person. City inspection will not relieve 
the developer or his engineer of providing sufficient inspection to enforce the approved plans 
and specifications. 

9. Public Works Standards - Where public improvements are required, all public and private 
public works facilities within the development will be designed to the City of Stayton, 
Standard Specifications, Design Standards & Drawings (PW Standards) plus the 
requirements of the Stayton Municipal Code (SMC).  (SMC 12.08.310.1) 

10. Engineered Plans - Where public improvements are required, the applicant’s engineer shall 
submit design plans for approval of all public improvements identified on the approved plan 
or as specified in conditions of approval. All design plans must meet the Stayton PW 
Standards.  Engineered construction plans and specifications shall be reviewed by the City 



 

Standard Conditions of Approval Page 2 of 2 

Engineer and signed approved by the City Engineer, or Stayton Public Works Department, 
prior to construction. 

11. Street Acceptance - Where public improvements are required, acceptance of completed 
public street improvements associated with the project shall be in accordance with SMC 
12.04.210. 

12. Construction Approval - All public improvements and public utilities shall be fully 
constructed and a letter of substantial completion provided by the City Engineer prior to any 
building permit applications being accepted or issued unless the required improvements are 
deferred under a non-remonstrance or other agreement approved and signed by the City.  
Construction items must be completed within a specified period of time provided in the 
approval letter or the approval of any additional building permits will be withdrawn by the 
City. 

13. Maintenance Bond - After completion and acceptance of a public improvement by the City, 
the developer shall provide a 1-year maintenance bond in the amount of 30% of the 
construction bond amount. The bond shall be in a form acceptable to the Director of Public 
Works. 

14. As-Builts - Where public improvements are required, the developer shall submit to the City, 
reproducible as-built drawings and an electronic file of all public improvements constructed 
during and in conjunction with this project. Field changes made during construction shall be 
drafted to the drawings in the same manner as the original plans with clear indication of all 
modifications (strike out old with new added beside).  As-built drawings shall be submitted 
prior to final acceptance of the construction, initiating the one-year maintenance period. 

15. Drainage Permit – A 1200C permit will be secured by the developer if required under the 
rules of the Oregon State DEQ. 

16. SDC - Systems Development Charges are applied to the project at the time of issuance of a 
building permit. 

 



LAND USE FILE #11-09/25 – Application for Site Plan Review for development of two 
duplexes 1100 E Santiam Street tax lot 091W11CB02300 a .42-acre property in the 
Medium Density (MD) Residential zone. 

Additional information found at the following webpage:  

Application: https://www.staytonoregon.gov/page/open/5942/0/Application  

Site Plan Cover Sheet: 
https://www.staytonoregon.gov/page/open/5942/0/Site%20Plan%20Cover%20Sheet  

Existing Conditions: 
https://www.staytonoregon.gov/page/open/5942/0/Existing%20Conditions  

Site Plan: https://www.staytonoregon.gov/page/open/5942/0/Site%20Plan  

Open Space Plan: 
https://www.staytonoregon.gov/page/open/5942/0/Open%20Space%20Plan  

Grading Plan: https://www.staytonoregon.gov/page/open/5942/0/Grading%20Plan  

Storm Drain Plan: 
https://www.staytonoregon.gov/page/open/5942/0/Storm%20Drain%20Plan  

Sewer Plan: https://www.staytonoregon.gov/page/open/5942/0/Sewer%20Plan  

Water Plan: https://www.staytonoregon.gov/page/open/5942/0/Water%20Plan  

Landscaping Cover Sheet: 
https://www.staytonoregon.gov/page/open/5942/0/Cover%20Sheet  

Landscape Plan: https://www.staytonoregon.gov/page/open/5942/0/Landscape%20Plan  

Building 
Elevations:https://www.staytonoregon.gov/page/open/5942/0/Building%20Elevations  

Infiltration Report: 
https://www.staytonoregon.gov/page/open/5942/0/Infiltration%20Report  

https://www.staytonoregon.gov/page/open/5942/0/Application
https://www.staytonoregon.gov/page/open/5942/0/Site%20Plan%20Cover%20Sheet
https://www.staytonoregon.gov/page/open/5942/0/Existing%20Conditions
https://www.staytonoregon.gov/page/open/5942/0/Site%20Plan
https://www.staytonoregon.gov/page/open/5942/0/Grading%20Plan
https://www.staytonoregon.gov/page/open/5942/0/Storm%20Drain%20Plan
https://www.staytonoregon.gov/page/open/5942/0/Sewer%20Plan
https://www.staytonoregon.gov/page/open/5942/0/Water%20Plan
https://www.staytonoregon.gov/page/open/5942/0/Cover%20Sheet
https://www.staytonoregon.gov/page/open/5942/0/Landscape%20Plan
https://www.staytonoregon.gov/page/open/5942/0/Infiltration%20Report


 

Ci t y  o f  S t a yt o n  
Department of Public Works 

362 N. Third Avenue • Stayton, OR 97383 

Phone: (503) 769-2919 • Fax (503) 767-2134 

 

 

 

Date:  1/15/2026 
To:  Jennifer Siciliano, AICP – Community and Economic Development Director 
Through: Barry Buchanan, PE – Interim Public Works Director 
  Michael Schmidt – Engineering Associate 
From:  Lyle J. Misbach, PE, CFM 
Project Name: 1100 E Santiam Street Duplexes SPR, File Number 11-09/25 
AKS Job No.: 12093-02-1015 
Project Site: 1100 E Santiam Street 

Subject: Public Works Recommendations – Site Plan Review for Duplex Construction 
 

PROPOSAL  
The Application for Site Plan Review is to discuss development of two duplex residential structures and 
associated infrastructure on an existing parcel which is currently developed with a single-family 
structure and two accessory structures. The subject development property (the “Subject Property”) is 
approximately 0.42 acres in size, zoned MD (Medium Density Residential) and listed as R (Residential) in 
the City Comprehensive Plan and located at 1100 E Santiam Street - 97383 (Marion County Assessor's 
Map and Tax Lot number: 091W11CB / 02300). The Site Plan Review approval is being requested by Sly 
Toran, as Applicant for the proposed Development. 

The following comments are based on our review of the Application and the proposed Development as 
it relates to City infrastructure and in general conformance with applicable public works portions of the 
City of Stayton Municipal Code (SMC), City of Stayton Land Use Development Code (LUDC), City of 
Stayton utility Master Plans and Transportation System Plan (TSP), Public Works Design Standards 
(PWDS), and Public Works Standard Construction Specifications (SCS). To prepare these comments we 
reviewed the following application materials: 

 Civil plan set consisting of 10 sheets, prepared by Multi/Tech Engineering and dated November 6, 
2025 

RECOMMENDED CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 
The following conditions of approval shall be completed prior to City approval of any building permit 
application on the Subject Property for the proposed Development: 

1. Prior to City approval of any onsite construcƟon or support of building permit approval, the 
Applicant shall dedicate, as shown on the Applicant’s site plan, right-of-way along the development 
side of E SanƟam Street to half of the 80-foot-wide right-of-way (40 feet measured from the right-of-
way centerline) along the Subject Property frontage.  



    

 
1100 E Santiam Duplex SPR Application, Land Use File 11-09/25
Public Works Comments – AKS Project #12093-02-1015 

January 15, 2026
Page 2 of 6

 

2. Prior to City approval of any onsite construcƟon or support of building permit approval, the 
Applicant shall dedicate a 10-foot-wide public uƟlity easement (PUE) along the development side of 
E SanƟam Street along the Subject Property frontage.  

3. As part of the Development applicaƟon, the Applicant shall construct or otherwise demonstrate the 
street improvements along the development side of E SanƟam Street meet current Major Collector 
street standards: 23 feet from roadway (right-of-way) centerline to the face of curb, including 6-foot-
wide property-line sidewalks, 8-foot-wide planter strip, street lighƟng, and street trees. The street 
improvement shall include an accessible pedestrian ramp for the crossing of E SanƟam Street at the 
east leg of the Ridgefield Court intersecƟon. These improvements shall be constructed in 
conformance with the PWDS in effect at the Ɵme of construcƟon plan submiƩal. 

4. As part of the Development applicaƟon, the Applicant or Applicant’s engineer shall relocate the 
proposed driveway approach so that it is at least 50 feet from the Ridgefield Court alignment and 
provide for traffic flow, safety, and turning movements. 

5. The Applicant or Applicant’s engineer shall submit a final stormwater analysis, report and supporƟng 
documentaƟon for approval of the proposed development in accordance with PWDS. ExisƟng site 
topography and off-site contribuƟng areas shall be considered and included in the analysis and 
design.  

6. An operaƟon and maintenance (O&M) plan and agreement is required for privately owned and 
maintained stormwater quality and quanƟty control faciliƟes. The O&M plan will need to be 
included as an aƩachment to the Drainage Report, to any declaraƟon of covenants for the project, 
and included as part of the recorded O&M Agreement.  

7. As part of the Development applicaƟon, the Applicant or Applicant’s engineer shall submit final 
construcƟon drawings to Public Works for the proposed driveway approach and public sidewalk 
infrastructure, in accordance with PWDS requirements.  

8. As part of the Development applicaƟon, the Applicant shall enter into a Development Agreement 
with the City, prior to approval of construcƟon plans, to guarantee the onsite storm drainage and 
public street infrastructure improvements. A sƟpulaƟon of the Agreement shall be that the City will 
not support a cerƟficate of occupancy or other finalizaƟon for the proposed structures unƟl the 
required onsite storm drainage system and public infrastructure are complete and accepted by the 
City. 

The following condition of approval shall be completed prior to City support of occupancy or other 
finalization for any building permit application on the Subject Property for the proposed Development: 

9. Prior to City support of occupancy for any building permits, the Applicant shall construct the 
required onsite storm drainage system and public infrastructure in accordance with PWDS 
requirements, for acceptance by the Public Works Department. 

FACTS 
General 
1. Per the City’s Local Wetland Inventory (LWI) and the Oregon Rapid Wetland Assessment Protocol 

(ORWAP), no mapped wetland areas or hydric soils are located on or near the Subject Property.  

2. Per Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM) Number 41047C0716G, the Subject Property is located outside 
of any mapped Special Flood Hazard Areas (SFHA). 



    

 
1100 E Santiam Duplex SPR Application, Land Use File 11-09/25
Public Works Comments – AKS Project #12093-02-1015 

January 15, 2026
Page 3 of 6

 

3. Per the Statewide Landslide Information Database for Oregon (SLIDO), the Subject Property appears 
to have a small, localized area of moderate landslide susceptibility near the east property line. 

Streets 
1. E Santiam Street 

a. City Standard - This street is designated as a Major Collector street in the TSP. The standard for 
this street classification is a 46-foot-wide street improvement, including curbs, 6-foot-wide 
property-line sidewalks, and 8-foot-wide planter strips within an 80-foot-wide right-of-way. 

b. County Standard – This street is designated as a Basic Collector street in the Rural TSP. The 
standard for this street classification is a 34-foot-wide street improvement, including curbs, 
sidewalks, and bike lanes within a 68-foot-wide right-of-way. 

c. Existing Condition – This street is constructed along the entire frontage of the Subject Property 
as an approximately 32-foot-wide turnpike improvement within a 60-foot-wide right-of-way.   

d. Except for specifying Major Collector designation for E Santiam Street, the Stayton TSP does not 
indicate any significant transportation system deficiencies in the nearby vicinity that will be 
impacted or could be improved by the proposed development. 

Water 
1. A 12-inch ductile iron City water main is located along the entire frontage of the Subject Property, 

on the far side of E Santiam Street. Per the Applicant’s site plan, the Subject Property is served from 
this main and will continue to be the point of connection for the proposed Development. 

2. A City fire hydrant is located on the far side of E Santiam Street, directly across from the Subject 
Property. 

3. The Water Master Plan does not indicate any significant water system deficiencies in the nearby 
vicinity that will be impacted or could be improved by the proposed development. 

Sanitary Sewer 
1. An 8-inch concrete City sanitary sewer main is located along the entire frontage of the Subject 

Property, on the development side of E Santiam Street. Neither the City’s GIS system nor the 
Applicant’s site plan show any connection to this main, but this shall be the point of connection for 
the proposed Development. 

2. The Wastewater Facilities Planning Study does not indicate any significant wastewater system 
deficiencies in the nearby vicinity that will be impacted or could be improved by the proposed 
development. 

Storm Drainage 
1. A 12-inch unknown material City storm main is located on the far side of E Santiam Street along the 

west frontage of the Subject Property, which transitions to an open ditch along the east frontage. 
The existing storm main shall be the point of connection for the proposed Development. 

2. Per the Stormwater Master Plan, stormwater runoff from this property and nearby storm drainage 
system drains to Salem Ditch. 

3. The Stormwater Master Plan does not indicate any significant stormwater system deficiencies in the 
nearby vicinity that will be impacted or could be improved by the proposed development. 



    

 
1100 E Santiam Duplex SPR Application, Land Use File 11-09/25
Public Works Comments – AKS Project #12093-02-1015 

January 15, 2026
Page 4 of 6

 

CRITERIA AND FINDINGS 
SMC SECTION 17.12.220 – SITE PLAN REVIEW 
… 

5. APPROVAL CRITERIA. The following criteria must be demonstrated as being satisfied by the 
application: 

a. The existence of, or ability to obtain, adequate utility systems (including water, sewer, surface 
water drainage, power, and communications) and connections, including easements, to properly 
serve development in accordance with the City’s Master Plans and Public Works Design 
Standards.  Where an adopted Master Plan calls for facilities larger than necessary for service to 
the proposed use, the developer shall install the size facilities called for in the Master Plan, and 
shall be provided credit for the excess costs in accordance with SMC 13.12.245. 

Finding –The Applicant has provided a site plan showing the proposed improvements and connection 
to onsite and then City infrastructure. The site plan also shows a proposed private stormwater facility 
and conveyance system. A drainage report was not submitted with the Application. 

Recommended CondiƟon: Prior to City approval of any onsite construcƟon or support of building 
permit approval, the Applicant or Applicant’s engineer shall submit a final stormwater analysis, 
report and supporƟng documentaƟon for approval of the proposed development in accordance with 
PWDS. ExisƟng site topography and off-site contribuƟng areas shall be considered and included in 
the analysis and design. (PWDS 102.10.A.3) 
Recommended Condition: As part of the Development application, the Applicant shall enter into a 
Development Agreement with the City, prior to approval of construction plans, to guarantee the 
onsite storm drainage improvements. A stipulation of the Agreement shall be that the City will not 
support a certificate of occupancy or other finalization for the proposed structures until the required 
onsite storm drainage system is complete and accepted by the City. (PWDS 102.09.I, 103.10.B) 
Recommended Condition: Prior to City support of occupancy for any building permits, the Applicant 
shall construct the onsite storm drainage system in accordance with PWDS requirements, for 
acceptance by the Public Works Department. (PWDS 103.10.B) 

b. Provisions have been made for safe and efficient internal traffic circulation, including both 
pedestrian and motor vehicle traffic, and for safe access to the property for vehicles, as well as 
bicycle and pedestrians, from those public streets which serve the property in accordance with 
the City’s Transportation System Plan and Public Works Design Standards. 

Finding –The Applicant has provided a site plan showing a proposed driveway approach and sidewalk 
improvements along the Subject Property frontage of E Santiam Street. The proposed driveway 
approach is in a location that does not align nor meet spacing requirements from Ridgefield Court on 
the north side, creating conflicting left-turn movements. 

Recommended Condition: As part of the Development application, the Applicant or Applicant’s 
engineer shall relocate the proposed driveway approach so that it is at least 50 feet from the 
Ridgefield Court alignment and provide for traffic flow, safety, and turning movements. (PWDS 
303.07.D) 

Recommended Condition: As part of the Development application, the Applicant or Applicant’s 
engineer shall submit final construction drawings to the City for the required public street 



    

 
1100 E Santiam Duplex SPR Application, Land Use File 11-09/25
Public Works Comments – AKS Project #12093-02-1015 

January 15, 2026
Page 5 of 6

 

improvements and the proposed driveway on the development side of E Santiam Street, in 
accordance with PWDS requirements, for acceptance by the Public Works Department. (PWDS 
102.09) 

Recommended CondiƟon: As part of the Development applicaƟon, the Applicant shall enter into a 
Development Agreement with the City, prior to approval of construcƟon plans, guaranteeing the 
onsite storm drainage and public street infrastructure improvements. A sƟpulaƟon of the Agreement 
shall be that the City will not support a cerƟficate of occupancy or other finalizaƟon for the proposed 
structures unƟl the required onsite storm drainage system and public infrastructure are complete 
and accepted by the City. (PWDS 102.09.I, 103.10.B) 

c. Provision has been made for all necessary improvements to local streets and roads, including the 
dedication of additional right-of-way to the City and/or the actual improvement of traffic 
facilities to accommodate the additional traffic load generated by the proposed development of 
the site in accordance with Chapter 17.26, the City’s Transportation System Plan, and Public 
Works Design Standards.  Improvements required as a condition of approval shall be roughly 
proportional to the impact of the development on transportation facilities. Approval findings 
shall indicate how the required improvements are directly related to and are roughly 
proportional to the impact of development. 

Finding –The Applicant has provided a site plan showing a proposed driveway approach and sidewalk 
improvements along the Subject Property frontage of E Santiam Street. The Application does not 
address the required boundary street improvements to E Santiam Street along the frontage.  

Recommended CondiƟon: Prior to City approval of any onsite construcƟon or support of building 
permit approval, the Applicant shall dedicate, as shown on the Applicant’s site plan, right-of-way 
along the development side of E SanƟam Street to half of the 80-foot-wide right-of-way (40 feet 
measured from the right-of-way centerline) along the Subject Property frontage. (SMC 
12.04.030.1.b) 

Recommended CondiƟon: Prior to City approval of any onsite construcƟon or support of building 
permit approval, the Applicant shall dedicate a 10-foot-wide public uƟlity easement (PUE) along the 
development side of E SanƟam Street along the Subject Property frontage. (PWDS 102.08.B) 

Recommended CondiƟon: As part of the Development applicaƟon, the Applicant shall construct or 
otherwise demonstrate the street improvements along the development side of E SanƟam Street 
meet current Major Collector street standards: 23 feet from roadway (right-of-way) centerline to the 
face of curb, including 6-foot-wide property-line sidewalks, 8-foot-wide planter strip, street lighƟng, 
and street trees. The street improvement shall include an accessible pedestrian ramp for the 
crossing of E SanƟam Street at the east leg of the Ridgefield Court intersecƟon. These improvements 
shall be constructed per the PWDS in effect at the Ɵme of construcƟon plan submiƩal. (PWDS 
303.02.C) 

Recommended Condition: Prior to City approval of any onsite construction or support of building 
permit approval, the Applicant or Applicant’s engineer shall submit final construction drawings to 
Public Works for the required public street infrastructure, in accordance with PWDS requirements. 
(PWDS 102.09)  

Recommended Condition: As part of the Development application, the Applicant shall enter into a 
Development Agreement with the City, prior to approval of construction plans, to guarantee the 
public street infrastructure improvements. A stipulation of the Agreement shall be that the City will 



    

 
1100 E Santiam Duplex SPR Application, Land Use File 11-09/25
Public Works Comments – AKS Project #12093-02-1015 

January 15, 2026
Page 6 of 6

 

not support a certificate of occupancy or other finalization for the proposed structures until the 
public infrastructure is complete and accepted by the City. (PWDS 102.09.I, 103.10.B) 
Recommended Condition: Prior to City support of occupancy for any building permits, the Applicant 
shall construct the public infrastructure in accordance with PWDS requirements, for acceptance by 
the Public Works Department. (PWDS 103.10.B) 

m. The applicant has established continuing provisions for maintenance and upkeep of all 
improvements and facilities. 

Finding –The Applicant has provided a site plan showing proposed construction of a private 
stormwater facility and conveyance system.  

Recommended Condition: An operation and maintenance (O&M) plan and agreement is 
required for privately owned and maintained stormwater quality and quantity control facilities.  
The O&M plan will need to be included as an attachment to the Drainage Report, to any 
declaration of covenants for the project, and included as part of the recorded O&M Agreement. 
(PWDS 603.01.m) 
Recommended Condition: As part of the Development application, the Applicant shall enter 
into a Development Agreement with the City, prior to approval of construction plans, 
guaranteeing the onsite storm drainage and public street infrastructure improvements. A 
stipulation of the Agreement shall be that the City will not support a certificate of occupancy or 
other finalization for the proposed structures until the required onsite storm drainage system 
and public infrastructure are complete and accepted by the City. (PWDS 102.09.I, 103.10.B) 
 

cc:  Richard Walker, PE – City Engineer 



CAUTION: This email originated from Outside Your Organization. Exercise caution when opening attachments or on
clicking links from unknown senders. Please contact Information Technology for assistance.

From: Max Heller
To: Jennifer Siciliano
Cc: Susan Wright; Caleb Cox
Subject: Re: Request for Comments on Application for 1100 E Santiam Street - Site Plan Review - LU # 11-09/25
Date: Thursday, November 20, 2025 9:34:20 AM

 

Hi Jennifer,

We don't have any additional comments on this application, and it does not seem like sight distance will be a concern
either. As such, we would recommend waiving the transportation assessment letter altogether.

Let us know if you have any additional questions.

Thanks,
Max

Max Heller
Transportation Analyst
(he/him)
 
 

Kittelson & Associates, Inc.
Transportation Engineering & Planning
503.535.7494 (direct)

From: Jennifer Siciliano <jsiciliano@staytonoregon.gov>
Sent: Sunday, November 9, 2025 7:32 AM
To: Adam Kohler <Adam.Kohler@PacifiCorp.com>; Astound Construction Team <oregonconstruction@astound.com>; Barry
Buchanan <bbuchanan@staytonoregon.gov>; breich@co.marion.or.us <breich@co.marion.or.us>; Brent Stevenson
<BrentS@santiamwater.gov>; brian.kelley@nwnatural.com <brian.kelley@nwnatural.com>; Caleb Cox <ccox@kittelson.com>;
Christopher Clark <Christopher.clark@pacificorp.com>; dfreitag@santiamhospital.org <dfreitag@santiamhospital.org>; Doug Kintz
<doug.kintz@staytonfire.org>; Erik Hoefer <erik@sctcweb.com>; Gwen Johns <gjohns@staytonoregon.gov>; Janelle Shanahan
<jshanahan@co.marion.or.us>; Jay Alley <jay.alley@staytonfire.org>; John Eckis <johneckis@sctcweb.com>; John Rasmussen
<jrasmussen@co.marion.or.us>; Kendall Smith <ksmith@staytonoregon.gov>; kinman@co.marion.or.us
<kinman@co.marion.or.us>; Lee Loving <lee.loving@nsantiam.k12.or.us>; Lyle Misbach <misbachl@aks-eng.com>; Max Heller
<mheller@kittelson.com>; Max Hepburn <mhepburn@co.marion.or.us>; MCPW Engineering <mcldep@co.marion.or.us>; Michael
Schmidt <mschmidt@staytonoregon.gov>; Nicole Willis <nicole.willis@pacificorp.com>; oregonconstruction@wavebroadband.com
<oregonconstruction@wavebroadband.com>; planning@co.marion.or.us <planning@co.marion.or.us>; Richard Walker
(richardw@aks-eng.com) <richardw@aks-eng.com>; Salem Development Services <developmentservices@cityofsalem.net>; Susan
Wright <swright@kittelson.com>; Troy Wheeler <twheeler@co.marion.or.us>; Wayne.clevenger@pacificorp.com
<Wayne.clevenger@pacificorp.com>
Cc: Susan Bender <sbender@staytonoregon.gov>
Subject: Request for Comments on Application for 1100 E Santiam Street - Site Plan Review - LU # 11-09/25
 
[External Sender]

The City of Stayton has received an application for Site Plan Review for two duplexes on 1100 E Santiam Street (Tax
Lot No. 091W11CB02300) within the Medium Density (MD) Residential zone.
 
The application materials include a cover sheet, landscape, site development, existing conditions, open space, grading,
storm drain, sanitary sewer, and water plans. For your review, I have attached the Request for Comments form.
 
Please provide any comments or recommendations by December 9, 2025.
 
Thank you for your time and assistance in reviewing this application.
 
 

mailto:mheller@kittelson.com
mailto:jsiciliano@staytonoregon.gov
mailto:swright@kittelson.com
mailto:ccox@kittelson.com
https://www.kittelson.com/


CAUTION: This email originated from Outside Your Organization. Exercise caution when opening attachments or on
clicking links from unknown senders. Please contact Information Technology for assistance.

From: John Rasmussen
To: Jennifer Siciliano
Cc: Michael Schmidt; Lyle Misbach
Subject: Comments for City Land Use File 11-09/25; 1100 E Santiam St
Date: Thursday, December 4, 2025 11:06:45 AM
Attachments: image002.png

 

Jennifer,
 

MCPW Eng will require that the site layout be mirrored 180 degrees to flip the shared driveway access location to
the east side of the property so as to line it up, more or less, with the driveway serving #1173 E Santiam St.  The
currently proposed driveway location is depicted as offset from the private road Ridgefield Ct serving 20 homes
to a degree such that it will lead to undesirable turning movement conflicts with Ridgefield Ct during simultaneous
left-out egress.

 
Urban frontage improvements on E Santiam St meeting city standards should be obligated.  A Marion County
construction permit will be required for that, as well as for R/W restoration associated with utility service
extensions.  

 

 

mailto:JRasmussen@co.marion.or.us
mailto:jsiciliano@staytonoregon.gov
mailto:mschmidt@staytonoregon.gov
mailto:misbachl@aks-eng.com

John Rasmussen, PE | Civil Engineer Associate 3
Land Development Engineering & Permits

Engineering Works
&) jrasmussen@co.marion.or.us
& (503) 584-7706 (office) [






CAUTION: This email originated from Outside Your Organization. Exercise caution when opening attachments or on
clicking links from unknown senders. Please contact Information Technology for assistance.

From: Laurel Christian
To: Jennifer Siciliano
Subject: RE: [EXTERNAL]Request for Comments on Application for 1100 E Santiam Street - Site Plan Review - LU # 11-09/25
Date: Monday, November 10, 2025 12:12:37 PM

 

Hi Jennifer,
 
The proposed development is not located near the City of Salem water transmission mains that that travel through
Stayton. No City of Salem concerns with this request. Thank you for the opportunity to review.
 
Thank you,
 
Laurel Christian
Infrastructure Planner III
City of Salem | Community Planning and Development | Development Services
Find us at the Development Services Division Offices: 440 Church St SE, 5th Floor
Mailing Address: P.O. Box 14300, Salem, OR 97309
lchristian@cityofsalem.net | Office: 503-584-4632
Facebook | YouTube | Linkedin | www.cityofsalem.net
 
 
From: Jennifer Siciliano <jsiciliano@staytonoregon.gov> 
Sent: Sunday, November 9, 2025 7:32 AM
To: Adam Kohler <Adam.Kohler@PacifiCorp.com>; Astound Construction Team <oregonconstruction@astound.com>; Barry
Buchanan <bbuchanan@staytonoregon.gov>; breich@co.marion.or.us; brents@santiamwater.gov; brian.kelley@nwnatural.com;
Caleb Cox <ccox@kittelson.com>; Christopher Clark <Christopher.clark@pacificorp.com>; dfreitag@santiamhospital.org; Doug
Kintz <doug.kintz@staytonfire.org>; Erik Hoefer <erik@sctcweb.com>; Gwen Johns <gjohns@staytonoregon.gov>; Janelle
Shanahan <jshanahan@co.marion.or.us>; Alley, Jay <Jay.Alley@staytonfire.org>; John Eckis <johneckis@sctcweb.com>; John
Rasmussen <jrasmussen@co.marion.or.us>; Kendall Smith <ksmith@staytonoregon.gov>; kinman@co.marion.or.us; Lee Loving
<lee.loving@nsantiam.k12.or.us>; Lyle Misbach <misbachl@aks-eng.com>; Max Heller <mheller@kittelson.com>; Max Hepburn
<mhepburn@co.marion.or.us>; MCPW Engineering <mcldep@co.marion.or.us>; Michael Schmidt
<mschmidt@staytonoregon.gov>; Nicole Willis <nicole.willis@pacificorp.com>; oregonconstruction@wavebroadband.com;
planning@co.marion.or.us; Richard Walker (richardw@aks-eng.com) <richardw@aks-eng.com>; Development Services
<developmentservices@cityofsalem.net>; Susan Wright <swright@kittelson.com>; Troy Wheeler <twheeler@co.marion.or.us>;
Wayne.clevenger@pacificorp.com
Cc: Susan Bender <sbender@staytonoregon.gov>
Subject: [EXTERNAL]Request for Comments on Application for 1100 E Santiam Street - Site Plan Review - LU # 11-09/25
 
CAUTION! This email came from outside the City of Salem. Do not click links or open attachments unless you
recognize the sender. For guidance on identifying legitimate senders/emails, please review the IT Intranet
Cyber Security Page.

The City of Stayton has received an application for Site Plan Review for two duplexes on 1100 E Santiam Street (Tax
Lot No. 091W11CB02300) within the Medium Density (MD) Residential zone.
 
The application materials include a cover sheet, landscape, site development, existing conditions, open space, grading,
storm drain, sanitary sewer, and water plans. For your review, I have attached the Request for Comments form.
 
Please provide any comments or recommendations by December 9, 2025.
 
Thank you for your time and assistance in reviewing this application.
 
 
Jennifer Siciliano, AICP
Community and Economic Development Director

mailto:LChristian@cityofsalem.net
mailto:jsiciliano@staytonoregon.gov
https://www.google.com/maps/place/440+Church+St+SE,+Salem,+OR+97301/@44.9358574,-123.0367133,1583m/data=!3m2!1e3!4b1!4m6!3m5!1s0x54bfff6c8f8d667d:0x60fa25cc5e00b3e2!8m2!3d44.9358574!4d-123.0367133!16s%2Fg%2F11c0_28gpk?entry=ttu&g_ep=EgoyMDI1MDYxMS4wIKXMDSoASAFQAw%3D%3D
mailto:lchristian@cityofsalem.net
https://www.facebook.com/CityOfSalemOR/
https://www.youtube.com/user/CITYOFSALEM
https://www.linkedin.com/company/city-of-salem
https://www.cityofsalem.net/
mailto:jsiciliano@staytonoregon.gov
mailto:Adam.Kohler@PacifiCorp.com
mailto:oregonconstruction@astound.com
mailto:bbuchanan@staytonoregon.gov
mailto:breich@co.marion.or.us
mailto:brents@santiamwater.gov
mailto:brian.kelley@nwnatural.com
mailto:ccox@kittelson.com
mailto:Christopher.clark@pacificorp.com
mailto:dfreitag@santiamhospital.org
mailto:doug.kintz@staytonfire.org
mailto:erik@sctcweb.com
mailto:gjohns@staytonoregon.gov
mailto:jshanahan@co.marion.or.us
mailto:Jay.Alley@staytonfire.org
mailto:johneckis@sctcweb.com
mailto:jrasmussen@co.marion.or.us
mailto:ksmith@staytonoregon.gov
mailto:kinman@co.marion.or.us
mailto:lee.loving@nsantiam.k12.or.us
mailto:misbachl@aks-eng.com
mailto:mheller@kittelson.com
mailto:mhepburn@co.marion.or.us
mailto:mcldep@co.marion.or.us
mailto:mschmidt@staytonoregon.gov
mailto:nicole.willis@pacificorp.com
mailto:oregonconstruction@wavebroadband.com
mailto:planning@co.marion.or.us
mailto:richardw@aks-eng.com
mailto:richardw@aks-eng.com
mailto:developmentservices@cityofsalem.net
mailto:swright@kittelson.com
mailto:twheeler@co.marion.or.us
mailto:Wayne.clevenger@pacificorp.com
mailto:sbender@staytonoregon.gov




CAUTION: This email originated from Outside Your Organization. Exercise caution when opening attachments or on
clicking links from unknown senders. Please contact Information Technology for assistance.

From: Danny Freitag
To: Jennifer Siciliano
Subject: Re: [External]Request for Comments on Application for 1100 E Santiam Street - Site Plan Review - LU # 11-09/25
Date: Monday, November 10, 2025 8:33:17 AM
Attachments: Outlook-ScreenShot.png

 

Good morning, 

Santiam Hospital Ambulance has not comment or concern. 

Thank you, 

Danny Freitag 
Ambulance Director
Santiam Hospital & Clinics 
(503) 798-1335
dfreitag@santiamhospital.org
  

The materials and information in this email are private and may contain Protected Health Information.
If you are not the intended recipient, be advised that any unauthorized use, disclosure, copying,
distribution or the taking of any action associated with the contents of this information is strictly
prohibited. If you have received this email in error, please notify the sender via email.
 
 

From: Jennifer Siciliano <jsiciliano@staytonoregon.gov>
Sent: Sunday, November 9, 2025 7:32 AM
To: Adam Kohler <Adam.Kohler@PacifiCorp.com>; Astound Construction Team <oregonconstruction@astound.com>; Barry
Buchanan <bbuchanan@staytonoregon.gov>; breich@co.marion.or.us <breich@co.marion.or.us>; Brent Stevenson
<BrentS@santiamwater.gov>; brian.kelley@nwnatural.com <brian.kelley@nwnatural.com>; Caleb Cox <ccox@kittelson.com>;
Christopher Clark <Christopher.clark@pacificorp.com>; Danny Freitag <dfreitag@santiamhospital.org>; Doug Kintz
<doug.kintz@staytonfire.org>; Erik Hoefer <erik@sctcweb.com>; Gwen Johns <gjohns@staytonoregon.gov>; Janelle Shanahan
<jshanahan@co.marion.or.us>; Jay Alley <jay.alley@staytonfire.org>; John Eckis <johneckis@sctcweb.com>; John Rasmussen
<jrasmussen@co.marion.or.us>; Kendall Smith <ksmith@staytonoregon.gov>; kinman@co.marion.or.us
<kinman@co.marion.or.us>; Lee Loving <lee.loving@nsantiam.k12.or.us>; Lyle Misbach <misbachl@aks-eng.com>; Max Heller
<mheller@kittelson.com>; Max Hepburn <mhepburn@co.marion.or.us>; MCPW Engineering <mcldep@co.marion.or.us>; Michael
Schmidt <mschmidt@staytonoregon.gov>; Nicole Willis <nicole.willis@pacificorp.com>; oregonconstruction@wavebroadband.com
<oregonconstruction@wavebroadband.com>; planning@co.marion.or.us <planning@co.marion.or.us>; Richard Walker
(richardw@aks-eng.com) <richardw@aks-eng.com>; Salem Development Services <developmentservices@cityofsalem.net>; Susan
Wright <swright@kittelson.com>; Troy Wheeler <twheeler@co.marion.or.us>; Wayne.clevenger@pacificorp.com
<Wayne.clevenger@pacificorp.com>
Cc: Susan Bender <sbender@staytonoregon.gov>
Subject: [External]Request for Comments on Application for 1100 E Santiam Street - Site Plan Review - LU # 11-09/25
 
CAUTION-EXTERNAL: This email originated from outside the organization. Do not click links or open attachments unless you validate the sender and
know the content is safe. Please forward this email to helpdesk@santiamhospital.org if you believe this email is suspicious.

The City of Stayton has received an application for Site Plan Review for two duplexes on 1100 E Santiam Street (Tax
Lot No. 091W11CB02300) within the Medium Density (MD) Residential zone.
 
The application materials include a cover sheet, landscape, site development, existing conditions, open space, grading,

mailto:dfreitag@santiamhospital.org
mailto:jsiciliano@staytonoregon.gov

TSantiam Hospital &Clinics

embrace HEALTH







City  o f  S t ayt on  

 

M E M O R A N D U M 
 
 TO: Chairperson Larry McKinley and Planning Commission Members 
 FROM: Jennifer Siciliano, Director of Community and Economic Development 
 DATE: January 26, 2026 
 SUBJECT: Annexation – Randy Myers, Brownstone Homes Golf Club Road SE 
 
 
ISSUE 
The issue before the Planning Commission is a public hearing on an application for annexation of 
approximately 59.63 acres, consisting of three parcels located at 9164, 9384 (partial), and 9474 
(partial) Golf Club Road SE, together with an approximately 3,000-foot portion of existing public 
right-of-way along Golf Club Road SE. The applicant requests annexation into the City of Stayton 
with application of the Medium Density (MD) Residential zoning district. 
 

 
 

  



City  o f  S t ayt on  

 
BACKGROUND 
The subject properties for annexation are located on the east side of Golf Club Road SE and are 
currently outside the City limits but within the Stayton Urban Growth Boundary (UGB). The 
properties are zoned Urban Transition (UT-20) under Marion County jurisdiction. The annexation 
area totals approximately 59.63 acres, including right-of-way. 
The surrounding area is predominantly residential in character. Residential uses are located to the 
east, south, and west of the subject parcels, while the property to the north is developed as a golf 
course. Portions of Golf Club Road SE abutting the subject parcels are currently under Marion 
County jurisdiction. A segment of the right-of-way proposed for annexation is contiguous with the 
City limits to the south, connecting the subject parcels to the City. 
The applicant, Randy Myers of Brownstone Homes, initially submitted a combined annexation and 
subdivision application. On January 7, 2026, the subdivision portion of the application was formally 
withdrawn. The annexation request remains under consideration. 
Marion County reviewed the proposed annexation area and noted that it did not appear to include 
the full width of the Golf Club Road SE right-of-way. Marion County expressed a preference that 
the right-of-way be included within the City limits, given that the City’s Urban Growth Boundary 
extends along the properties bordering the west side of Golf Club Road SE. 
ANALYSIS 
The annexation application is reviewed under the approval criteria contained in Stayton Municipal 
Code (SMC) 17.12.210. The draft Order of Recommendation, included as an attachment to this staff 
report, contains detailed findings addressing each applicable criterion, including community need, 
availability of urban services, contiguity, compatibility with surrounding uses, and compliance with 
state and local law. 
Based on review of the 2013 Buildable Lands Inventory (BLI) and subsequent residential 
development activity, staff finds that the City continues to have an identified need for additional 
single-family and duplex housing. While the BLI projections assume a higher growth rate than has 
historically occurred, the annexation of residentially designated land within the UGB supports the 
City’s long-term housing and growth objectives. 
Public Works analysis demonstrates that the site may be served by City services at the time of 
development, subject to future infrastructure extensions and compliance with adopted master plans 
and City standards. No infrastructure improvements are required as a condition of annexation. 
As part of the Planning Commission’s review, the applicant may be asked to revise the annexation 
boundary to adjust the width of the Golf Club Road SE right-of-way to better align with Marion 
County’s preference that the right-of-way be included within the City limits. This potential revision 
is not included in the draft Order of Recommendation but may be considered by the Planning 
Commission during its deliberations. 
RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends approval of the application and adoption of the Draft Order as presented, subject 
to the conditions contained therein. 
OPTIONS AND SUGGESTED MOTIONS 
Staff has provided the Planning Commission with a number of options, each with an appropriate 
motion. The Community and Economic Development Department recommends the first option to 
recommend approval of the application as drafted. 



City  o f  S t ayt on  

 
1. Recommend approval of the application, adopting the draft order as presented. 
I move the Stayton Planning Commission recommend approval of the application for annexation for 
Randall Myers, Brownstone Homes, for approximately 59.63 acres located on Golf Club Road SE 
(Land Use File #16-12/24) and adopt the draft order presented by Staff.  
2. Recommend approval of the application, adopting modifications to the draft order. 
I move the Stayton Planning Commission recommend approval of the application for annexation for 
Randall Myers, Brownstone Homes, for approximately 59.63 acres located on Golf Club Road SE 
(Land Use File #16-12/24) and adopt the draft order with the following changes...  
3. Continue the hearing until February 23, 2026. 
I move the Stayton Planning Commission continue the public hearing on the application for 
annexation for Randall Myers, Brownstone Homes, for approximately 59.63 acres located on Golf 
Club Road SE (Land Use File #16-12/24) until February 23, 2026. 
4. Recommend denial of the application, directing staff to modify the draft order. 
I move the Stayton Planning Commission to recommend denial of the application for annexation for 
Randall Myers, Brownstone Homes, for approximately 59.63 acres located on Golf Club Road SE 
(Land Use File #16-12/24) and direct staff to modify the draft order to reflect the Planning 
Commission’s discussion and bring a revised draft order for Planning Commission approval at the 
February 23, 2026, meeting. 
5. Close the hearing but keep the record open for submission of written testimony. 
I move the Stayton Planning Commission close the hearing on the application for annexation for 
Randall Myers, Brownstone Homes, for approximately 59.63 acres located on Golf Club Road SE 
(Land Use File #16-12/24) but maintain the record open to submissions by the applicant until 
February 2, allowing 7 days for review and rebuttal and then an additional 7 days for the applicant 
to reply, with final closure of the record on February 23, 2026. 
6. Close the hearing and record, and continue the deliberation to the next meeting. 
I move the Stayton Planning Commission continue the deliberation on the application for 
annexation for Randall Myers, Brownstone Homes, for approximately 59.63 acres located on Golf 
Club Road SE (Land Use File #16-12/24) until February 23, 2026. 
 



 

 
Planning Commission Recommendation, Land Use File #6-12/24 
Randall Myers, Brownstone Homes Annexation – Golf Club Road 

Page 1 of 4 

BEFORE THE STAYTON PLANNING COMMISSION 
 
 )  
In the matter of ) Annexation 
the application of ) File # 16-12/24 
Randall Myers, Brownstone Homes ) 
  
 

ORDER OF RECOMMENDATION 
 

I.  NATURE OF APPLICATION 
The applicant has submitted an application for annexation of a 59.63-acres area including 
three parcels 1) 9164 Golf Club Rd - tax lot 091W04B000200, 2) 9384 Golf Club Rd - 
tax lot 091W04B000900 (part of parcel), and 3) 9474 Golf Club Rd - tax lot 
091W04B001000 (part of parcel) and ±3,000-foot portion of existing public right-of-way 
along Golf Club Road SE has been submitted, proposing a zoning designation of Medium 
Density (MD) Residential. 

II. PUBLIC HEARING 
A public hearing was held on the application before the Stayton Planning Commission on 
January 26, 2026.  At that hearing the Planning Commission reviewed Land Use File 
#16-12/24 application for annexation was made part of the record. 

III. FINDINGS OF FACT 
A. EXISTING CONDITIONS 

1. The owners of the properties are Yvonne A Parsons Trust, Sumei Li and Toby 
Lee, and Chunmei Nie and Sam Vuong, respectively. 

2. The applicant is Randy Myers, Brownstone Homes. 
3. The parcels and the right-of-way can be described as consisting of three parcels—

9164 Golf Club Road SE (Tax Lot 091W04B000200), a portion of 9384 Golf 
Club Road SE (Tax Lot 091W04B000900), and a portion of 9474 Golf Club Road 
SE (Tax Lot 091W04B001000)—together with an approximately 3,000-foot 
portion of existing public right-of-way along Golf Club Road SE. 

4. The properties and right-of-way are currently outside of the City Limits and zoned 
Marion County Urban Transition (UT-20).  

5. The area to be annexed is approximately 59.63-acres with frontage on Golf Club 
Road. 

6. Partition 2025-34 of 9164 Golf Club Road SE (Tax Lot 091W04B000200) was 
recorded on July 24, 2025, and Partition 2025-43 of 9384 Golf Club Road SE was 
recorded on September 4, 2025; however, Marion County has not yet updated the 
assessor’s property records to assign new tax lot numbers to the partitioned 



 

 
Planning Commission Recommendation, Land Use File #6-12/24 
Randall Myers, Brownstone Homes Annexation – Golf Club Road 

Page 2 of 4 

property. The partition for 9474 Golf Club Road SE had been applied for but had 
not been recorded as of the annexation application date  

7. The subject properties proposed for annexation consist of 9164 Golf Club Road 
SE (Tax Lot 091W04B000200), containing approximately 22.60 acres; a 
partitioned area of 9384 Golf Club Road SE, containing approximately 16.53 
gross acres; a partitioned area of 9474 Golf Club Road SE, containing 
approximately 15.44 gross acres; and an area of public right-of-way measuring 
approximately 55.23 feet in width and 3,000 feet in length.  

8. The right-of-way proposed for annexation provides a continuous connection 
between the subject parcels and the City of Stayton, with the southern portion of 
the right-of-way connecting to Tax Lot 091W04C000700, a property within the 
city limits that has frontage on Golf Club Road and is zoned Medium Density 
(MD) Residential. 

9. The applicant submitted a combined annexation and subdivision application and 
formally withdrew the subdivision portion of the application on January 7, 2026. 

B. PROPOSAL 
The proposal is to annex a 59.63-acres area including three parcels 1) 9164 Golf Club Rd 
- tax lot 091W04B000200, 2) 9384 Golf Club Rd - tax lot 091W04B000900 (part of 
parcel), and 3) 9474 Golf Club Rd - tax lot 091W04B001000 (part of parcel) and ±3,000-
foot portion of existing public right-of-way along Golf Club Road SE.  The applicant has 
proposed that Medium Density (MD) Residential zoning be applied at the time of 
annexation.   
C. AGENCY COMMENTS 
The following agencies were notified of the proposal: City of Stayton Public Works, 
Stayton Cooperative Telephone Company, Pacific Power, NW Natural Gas, Stayton Fire 
District, Marion County Public Works, Wave Broadband, Marion County Planning 
Division, Santiam Water Control District, Santiam Hospital, Stayton Police Department, 
Oregon Department of Transportation, and the North Santiam School District. 
The City’s transportation engineering consultant, Kittelson & Associates, provided 
comments dated January 8, 2026, noting that a Traffic Impact Analysis (TIA) is not 
required for the annexation application and that an updated TIA will be expected with a 
future development application. In addition, the City’s consulting engineer submitted a 
memorandum dated January 12, 2026. These comments are incorporated into the findings 
below. 
Santiam Hospital and Clinics stated that they had no comment. The Oregon Department 
of Transportation (ODOT) acknowledged receipt of the revised application and indicated 
that its Region 2 Traffic Unit is reviewing the applicant’s TIA; ODOT stated that it will 
provide comments, if any, upon completion of its review and requested a copy of the staff 
decision or report for the case. North Santiam School District 29J inquired whether the 
proposed development includes plans for school bus stops and turnarounds.  
 



 

 
Planning Commission Recommendation, Land Use File #6-12/24 
Randall Myers, Brownstone Homes Annexation – Golf Club Road 

Page 3 of 4 

Marion County provided comments indicating that, based on their review of the proposed 
annexation, the area did not appear to include the Golf Club Road right-of-way; Marion 
County expressed a preference that the right-of-way be included within the City limits 
where the Urban Growth Boundary abuts the west side of Golf Club Road. 
D. PUBLIC COMMENTS 
The Community and Economic Development Department notified all owners of property 
within 300 feet of the subject property and has received one public comment on these 
applications prior to the public hearing. Charles Hawkins, owner of property at 9534 Golf 
Club Road SE, Aumsville, Oregon 97325, submitted written comments expressing 
concerns regarding potential stormwater drainage and overland flow impacts to adjacent 
southern properties associated with future development of the subject property.  
E. ANALYSIS 
Annexation applications are required to satisfy approval criteria contained within Stayton 
Municipal Code (SMC) Title 17, Section 17.12.210. 
F. REVIEW CRITERIA 
Pursuant to SMC 17.12.210.4 the following criteria must be demonstrated as being 
satisfied by the application: 

a. Need exists in the community for the land proposed to be annexed. 
Finding:  The 2013 Stayton Comprehensive Plan update included a Buildable Lands 
Inventory (BLI).  The 2013 BLI provides the following information on projected 
growth and need for additional land in the community.  At that time, there were 106 
acres of vacant buildable land inside the City limits in the Low, Medium, and High 
Density Residential Zones.  The projected population for the City in 2030 (at a 
medium growth rate of 1.7%) was 11,359 people, requiring an additional 1,281 
dwellings. To meet that need, the City Comprehensive Plan indicates the expected 
need of additional 320 acres of residential to be annexed into the City. Since the time 
that analysis was conducted, the City has annexed 60 acres of residential land. 
The need for 1,281 additional units was broken up into 889 single-family detached 
dwellings, 193 duplexes, 174 multi-family units, and 25 mobile homes. It is projected 
that the percentage of homes are needed at the following: single-family detached 
dwellings 65%, duplexes (or attached single-family homes) 13%, multi-family units 
18%, and mobile homes 4%. 
Since the BLI has been calculated, the following is a table of developments, year, 
type of housing unit, and number. 

Project Name Year Type  Number 
Phillips Estates, Phase 2 2014      single-family home 21 
Phillips Estates, Phase 3 2025/26 single-family home22 (concept plan) 
Wildlife Meadows 2017      single-family home  42 (2 duplexes)  
Hayden (Lambert Place) 2020      single-family home  51 
Fern Ridge 2022      multi-family 72 



 

 
Planning Commission Recommendation, Land Use File #6-12/24 
Randall Myers, Brownstone Homes Annexation – Golf Club Road 

Page 4 of 4 

Shaff Square 2023      multi-family 100 
Based on these totals, Stayton’s housing needs are as follows: 753 single-family 
homes, 191 duplex or attached single-family units, 2 multifamily units, and 25 mobile 
homes. 
These projections are based on a higher anticipated growth rate than what has actually 
occurred, meaning the calculated housing needs may be somewhat overstated. From 
2000 to 2024, Stayton’s population increased from 6,816 to 8,176—a change of 1,360 
people—reflecting an average annual growth rate of approximately 0.76%. The 
Marion County Coordinated Growth projection of 1.6% average annual growth rate 
was used in the projected needs. 
The annexation application includes a request for Medium Density (MD) Residential 
zoning. Although the subdivision application has been formally withdrawn, the 
withdrawn materials illustrated 126 residential lots ranging in size from the minimum 
required 7,000 square feet to six lots exceeding 10,500 square feet. If the property 
were developed in this manner and to the full range of housing types permitted within 
the MD zone, the site could theoretically accommodate up to 240 duplex units and up 
to 18 triplex units; however, triplex development is permitted only on lots of at least 
10,500 square feet, and only six of the illustrated lots met this minimum standard.  
Analysis: The City has an identified need for additional single-family and duplex 
housing based on the Buildable Lands Inventory (BLI), recognizing that the BLI 
projections are approximate and assume a growth rate higher than what has 
historically occurred. Even with these assumptions, the remaining housing need 
demonstrates demand for single-family detached and duplex units within the City. 
Accordingly, there is a reasonable basis to conclude that annexation of the subject 
property with a Medium Density (MD) Residential zoning designation is appropriate 
to help address the City’s identified housing needs, particularly for single-family and 
duplex housing types. 
b. The site is or is capable of being serviced by adequate City public services, 
including such services as may be provided subject to the terms of a contract 
annexation agreement between the applicant and the City. 
Finding: There the site is capable of being served by adequate City public services. 
While the property is not currently connected to City utilities, the City’s adopted 
master plans (Transportation, Water, Stormwater, and Wastewater) provide clear 
pathways for extending services. At the time of development, the applicant will be 
required to construct or extend infrastructure to meet all applicable standards, 
ensuring the property can be fully and adequately served. 
Streets 
The subject property can be served by adequate transportation facilities upon 
construction of required improvements at the time of development. Golf Club Road 
SE, which abuts the subject property, is designated as a Minor Arterial in the City’s 
Transportation System Plan and is currently under Marion County jurisdiction. 
Existing roadway improvements are substandard and will require upgrades to City 



 

 
Planning Commission Recommendation, Land Use File #6-12/24 
Randall Myers, Brownstone Homes Annexation – Golf Club Road 

Page 5 of 4 

Minor Arterial standards along the full frontage of the subject property, including 
travel lanes, a center turn lane, bicycle lanes, curbs, sidewalks, planter strips, and 
appropriate transitions. Additional right-of-way dedication will also be required at the 
time of development. 
Future development will also require construction of Golf Lane, a planned City 
Collector street that will extend east from Golf Club Road SE through the subject 
property, as well as construction of internal local streets in accordance with the 
Stayton Municipal Code and Public Works Design Standards. The Transportation 
System Plan identifies multiple future projects along Golf Club Road SE, including 
sidewalks, bicycle facilities, and a potential roundabout at Shaff Road SE, which will 
improve long-term connectivity and safety. Transportation impacts and proportional 
contributions to planned improvements will be evaluated with future development 
applications. 
Stormwater Drainage 
The subject property can be served by the City’s stormwater system once required 
stormwater infrastructure is constructed. The property is not currently served by City 
storm drainage facilities, and existing roadside ditches along Golf Club Road SE do 
not connect to an approved City discharge point. The site contains wetlands, hydric 
soils, and FEMA-mapped flood hazard areas near Mill Creek, which will require 
careful evaluation during future development. 
At the time of development, the applicant will be required to design and construct a 
complete stormwater management system, including flow control, water quality 
treatment, and conveyance to an approved discharge point, in compliance with the 
Stayton Municipal Code, Public Works Design Standards, and the Stormwater Master 
Plan. Stormwater runoff from the site ultimately drains to Mill Creek, and future 
facilities must protect regulated wetlands and floodplain functions. 
Water 
Water service may be provided to the subject property through future extension of 
City water infrastructure at the time of development. The property is not currently 
served by the City’s water system, and no on-site or adjacent City water facilities are 
presently available to provide service. However, the City’s Water Master Plan 
identifies planned infrastructure improvements that would allow service to be 
extended to the site following annexation. 
The subject property is located within the City’s base water system service level, with 
anticipated pressures of approximately 55 psi during maximum day demand 
conditions. The nearest City water facility is a 10-inch ductile iron water main located 
in Junco Road, approximately 970 feet southeast of the subject property, although 
intervening properties are outside City limits. The next nearest City water facility is a 
12-inch ductile iron water main located approximately 1,700 feet south in Golf Club 
Road SE; annexation of Golf Club Road SE would make this facility legally available 
for connection to City services. 



 

 
Planning Commission Recommendation, Land Use File #6-12/24 
Randall Myers, Brownstone Homes Annexation – Golf Club Road 

Page 6 of 4 

The Water Master Plan identifies a future looped 12-inch water main to be installed 
along Golf Club Road SE, connecting to the existing City distribution system at Shaff 
Road SE and extending north and east along the future Golf Lane Collector street. 
Extension of this water main within Golf Club Road SE and Golf Lane to the east 
boundary of the subject property would be required as part of any future 
development. 
At the time of development, the applicant will be required to construct water system 
extensions and submit engineering calculations demonstrating that adequate domestic 
water supply and emergency fire flow can be provided in compliance with the 
Stayton Municipal Code, Public Works Design Standards, and Stayton Fire District 
requirements. Based on review of the Water Master Plan model, fire flows exceeding 
1,000 gallons per minute are anticipated to be available with extension of the planned 
12-inch main; however, if fire flow demands in excess of 1,500 gallons per minute 
are required, additional system improvements may be necessary. 
Sanitary Sewer 
Sanitary sewer service can be extended to the subject property at the time of 
development. The property is located primarily within the Mill Creek Pump Station 
basin, and an existing 24-inch sanitary sewer main crosses the site and discharges to 
the Mill Creek Pump Station. Based on the Wastewater Facilities Planning Study, the 
existing system appears to have capacity to accept additional flows, although this will 
need to be confirmed with detailed engineering at the time of development. 
No known sanitary sewer deficiencies currently prevent service to the site; however, 
future development applications will be required to evaluate system capacity, extend 
sewer infrastructure as necessary, and contribute proportionally to identified 
wastewater capital improvements where applicable. 
c. The proposed annexation is property contiguous to existing City jurisdictional 
limits. 
Finding: The parcels proposed for annexation do not directly abut the existing City of 
Stayton jurisdictional limits. Contiguity is established through the inclusion of an 
approximately 3,000-foot segment of Golf Club Road SE right-of-way, the southern 
portion of which is contiguous with the City limits. The annexed right-of-way 
provides a continuous physical connection between the subject parcels and the City, 
thereby satisfying the statutory contiguity requirement. The annexation area lies 
within the City’s Urban Growth Boundary and reflects the City’s anticipated direction 
for future urban expansion. 
d. The proposed annexation is compatible with the character of the surrounding 
area and complies with the urban growth program and the policies of the City of 
Stayton. 
Finding: The properties surrounding the parcels proposed for annexation are 
predominantly residential in character. Residential uses are located to the east, south, 
and west of the subject parcels, while the property to the north is developed as a golf 



 

 
Planning Commission Recommendation, Land Use File #6-12/24 
Randall Myers, Brownstone Homes Annexation – Golf Club Road 

Page 7 of 4 

course. The right-of-way areas proposed for annexation abut existing residential uses 
along Golf Club Road SE. 
The proposed annexation is compatible with the character of the surrounding area and 
complies with the Comprehensive Plan policies. The subject property lies within the 
Stayton Urban Growth Boundary and is designated Residential in the Comprehensive 
Plan. Application of the Medium Density (MD) Residential zoning designation upon 
annexation is consistent with this designation and supports the planned residential 
character of the area. The annexation promotes orderly and efficient urban growth 
and allows future development to occur in coordination with City standards and 
infrastructure planning. Accordingly, the proposed annexation is compatible with 
surrounding land uses and consistent with the City’s long-range land use policies.   
e. The annexation request complies or can be made to comply with all applicable 
provisions of state and local law. 
Finding: The criteria of ORS 222 apply to the adoption of an annexation ordinance, 
which is a legislative action of the City Council. The property owners have consented 
to the annexation. While the parcels proposed for annexation do not directly abut the 
existing City limits, contiguity is established through the inclusion of a portion of 
Golf Club Road SE right-of-way, the southern end of which is contiguous with the 
City’s jurisdictional boundary and provides a continuous physical connection 
between the parcels and the City. The annexation territory is located entirely within 
the City of Stayton’s Urban Growth Boundary, and the acknowledged Stayton 
Comprehensive Plan designates the area as Residential. 
f. If a proposed contract annexation, the terms and conditions, including the cost of 
City facility and service extensions to the annexed area shall be calculated by the 
Public Works Director. 
Finding:  The proposed annexation is not a contract annexation. 

IV. CONCLUSION 
Based on the facts above, the Planning Commission concludes that the application meets 
the requirements for Sections 17.12.210.4 Annexation Approval Criteria. 

V. RECOMMENDATION 
Based on the Findings and Conclusions above, the Planning Commission recommends 
approval of the application for annexation to the City Council and amendment of the 
Official Zoning Map to designate the property as Medium Density (MD) Residential. 

 _____________________________ _________________ 
 Larry McKinley, Chairperson Date 
  
 __________________________ _________________ 
 Jennifer Siciliano, Date 
Community and Economic Development Director 

 



LAND USE FILE #16-12/24 – Application for Annexation and Subdivision of three 
parcels 1) 9164 Golf Club Rd, 2) 9384 Golf Club Rd (part of parcel), and 3) 9474 Golf 
Club Rd (part of parcel) to be zoned Medium Density (MD) Residential zone. 

Additional information found at the following webpage:  

Withdrawal of Golf Club Road Subdivision: 
https://www.staytonoregon.gov/page/open/5956/0/Withdrawal%20of%20Golf%20Club%2
0Road%20Subdivision  

Narrative and Plans: 
https://www.staytonoregon.gov/page/open/5956/0/Narrative%20and%20Plans  

Traffic Impact Analysis: 
https://www.staytonoregon.gov/page/open/5956/0/Traffic%20Impact%20Analysis  

Preliminary Stormwater Analysis: 
https://www.staytonoregon.gov/page/open/5956/0/Preliminary%20Stormwater%20Analysi
s  

DSL Wetland Delineation: 
https://www.staytonoregon.gov/page/open/5956/0/DSL%20Wetland%20Delineation  

Geotech Report:  https://www.staytonoregon.gov/page/open/5956/0/Geotech%20Report  

https://www.staytonoregon.gov/page/open/5956/0/Withdrawal%20of%20Golf%20Club%20Road%20Subdivision
https://www.staytonoregon.gov/page/open/5956/0/Withdrawal%20of%20Golf%20Club%20Road%20Subdivision
https://www.staytonoregon.gov/page/open/5956/0/Narrative%20and%20Plans
https://www.staytonoregon.gov/page/open/5956/0/Traffic%20Impact%20Analysis
https://www.staytonoregon.gov/page/open/5956/0/Preliminary%20Stormwater%20Analysis
https://www.staytonoregon.gov/page/open/5956/0/Preliminary%20Stormwater%20Analysis
https://www.staytonoregon.gov/page/open/5956/0/DSL%20Wetland%20Delineation
https://www.staytonoregon.gov/page/open/5956/0/Geotech%20Report


 

Ci t y  o f  S t a yt o n  
Department of Public Works 

362 N. Third Avenue • Stayton, OR 97383 

Phone: (503) 769-2919 • Fax (503) 767-2134 

 

 

 

Date:  1/12/2026 
To:  Jennifer Siciliano, AICP – Community and Economic Development Director 
Through: Barry Buchanan, PE – Interim Public Works Director 
  Michael Schmidt – Engineering Associate 
From:  Lyle J. Misbach, PE, CFM 
Project Name: 9000 Block Golf Club Road SE Annexation, Land Use File #16-12/24 
AKS Job No.: 12093-02-1017 
Project Site: 9164-9474 Golf Club Road SE, Stayton, Oregon 

Subject: Public Works Recommendations – Developer-Proposed Annexation 
 

PROPOSAL  

The submitted Application is for annexation of property approximately 59.63 acres in size (including a 
±3,000-foot portion of existing public right-of-way along Golf Club Road SE), located on the east side of 
Golf Club Road SE (Tax Lots 00200, 00900, and 01000 of Tax Map 091W04B), to be incorporated into the 
City as Medium Density (MD) Residential zoning. The property (the “Subject Property”) is currently 
designated as Residential in the City’s Comprehensive Plan. The Annexation approval is being requested 
by Randy Myers, President of Brownstone Development Inc, as Applicant.  

PURPOSE  

The purpose of this memorandum is to identify the potential availability and current deficiencies of City 
public works infrastructure (streets, storm drainage, water, and sanitary sewer) necessary to be resolved 
to provide City services for the proposed property Annexation. The following comments are based on 
our review of the Application as it relates to City infrastructure and in general conformance with 
applicable public works portions of the City of Stayton Municipal Code (SMC) – specifically Sections 
17.12.210; City of Stayton Land Use Development Code (LUDC); City of Stayton utility Master Plans and 
Transportation System Plan (TSP); Public Works Design Standards (PWDS); and Public Works Standard 
Construction Specifications (SCS). To prepare these comments we reviewed the following application 
materials: 

 Application Narrative and attached Exhibits, prepared by multiple parties and dated November 18, 
2025 

 Preliminary Stormwater Analysis, prepared by Multi/Tech Engineering and dated August 25, 2025 
 Preliminary Geotechnical Engineering Report, prepared by GeoPacific Engineering, Inc. and dated 

January 17, 2025 
 Transportation Impact Analysis, prepared by Clemow Associates, LLC and dated November 13, 2025 
 Wetland Determination Letter 2024-0648, prepared by Oregon DEQ and dated April 28, 2025 



    

 
Developer-Initiated Annexation, Land Use File #16-12/24 
Public Works Review Comments – AKS Project #12093-02-1017

January 12, 2025
Page 2 of 6

 

PUBLIC WORKS INFRASTRUCTURE DEFICIENCIES 

Public infrastructure improvements are not required for annexation of property. The following 
information explains the condition of the existing public infrastructure in the vicinity of the Subject 
Property and the 3,000-foot “linking” portion of Golf Club Road SE, known deficiencies in the existing 
City and County public systems, and potential future development requirements. At the time of 
development of the Subject Property, improvements to public infrastructure to adequately serve the 
proposed Development will be required and described in the land use decision(s) for that Development 
application. 

Streets 
At the time of development, right-of-way dedication and/or construction of street improvements will be 
required. The proposed development may also be responsible for contributing a proportional share 
toward Transportation System Plan capital improvements that benefit the Subject Property. 

1. Golf Club Road SE 
a. County Standard - This street is designated as an Urban Minor Arterial street in the Marion 

County TSP. The standard for this street classification is a 34-foot-wide street improvement, 
including bike lanes, curbs, and sidewalks, within a 64-foot-wide right-of-way.  

b. City Standard - This street is designated as a Minor Arterial street in the Stayton TSP – modified 
in 2014 under the City-County as the “Wilco Road Conceptual Design” cross-section. The 
standard for this street classification is a 46-foot-wide street improvement (two 11-foot travel 
lanes and a 12-foot center turn lane), including 6-foot bicycle lanes, curbs, 6-foot-wide property-
line sidewalks, and 6-foot-wide planter strips on each side, within a 100-foot-wide right-of-way. 

c. Existing Conditions: 
i. Golf Club Road SE, along the Subject Property south to Shaff Road SE, is currently under 

Marion County ownership and jurisdiction. 
ii. This street has an approximate 30-foot-wide turnpike improvement within a 50- to 60-foot-

wide right-of-way along the Subject Property frontage.  
iii. The nearest City intersection, at Shaff Road SE and Wilco Road SE, is located approximately 

3,000 feet southeast of the Subject Property.   
d. Current Deficiencies: 

i. Golf Club Road SE is a boundary street for the Subject Property and will need to be 
improved to Minor Arterial street standards along the entire Subject Property frontage, 
including the segment between the “A” Street and “C” Street intersections, at time of 
development. These improvements will include, at a minimum, two travel lanes and a 
center turn lane, along with the bicycle lane, curb, sidewalk, and planter strip on the 
Development side of the street. These improvements shall include pavement and lane 
tapers, consistent with PWDS requirements at each end of the street frontage 
improvements. 

ii. The Applicant will be required to dedicate up to a 40-foot-wide right-of-way from the 
roadway centerline along the entire Subject Property frontage of Golf Club Road SE, 
including the segment between the “A” Street and “C” Street intersections, as part of any 
development of the Subject Property. 



    

 
Developer-Initiated Annexation, Land Use File #16-12/24 
Public Works Review Comments – AKS Project #12093-02-1017

January 12, 2025
Page 3 of 6

 

e. Transportation System Plan. Four projects for Golf Club Road SE are listed in the current TSP, 
and may affect some of the requirements for future development of the Subject Property: 
i. Project P15 identifies installation of a 6-foot property line sidewalk on the west side of the 

roadway from Shaff Road SE to 400 feet north of that intersection.  
ii. Project P43 identifies installation of a 6-foot property line sidewalk on both sides of the 

roadway from Highway 22 to 400 feet north of the Shaff Road SE intersection.  
iii. Project B17 identifies installation of a 6-foot bicycle lane on both sides of the roadway from 

the Mill Creek Bridge to the Shaff Road SE intersection.  
iv. Project M1 as listed is a proposed roundabout at the intersection of Shaff Road SE and Golf 

Club Road SE, south of the Subject Property.  
2. “C” Street 

a. City Standard - This street is designated as Golf Lane, a Collector street in the Stayton TSP. The 
standard for this street classification is a 46-foot-wide improvement (two 11-foot travel lanes 
and a 12-foot center turn lane), including 6-foot bicycle lanes, curbs, 6-foot-wide property-line 
sidewalks, and 8-foot-wide planter strips on each side, within an 80-foot-wide right-of-way. 

b. Existing Conditions: 
i. The street does not currently exist.   

c. Current Deficiencies: 
i. Golf Lane is an internal street for the Subject Property and will need to be improved to 46-

foot Collector street standards from the intersection with Golf Club Road SE to the east line 
of the Subject Property, in an alignment approved by the City. These improvements shall be 
consistent with PWDS requirements. 

ii. The Applicant will be required to dedicate 80-foot-wide right-of-way, from the east Golf 
Club Road SE right-of-way to the east line of the Subject Property, as part of any 
development of the Subject Property. 

d. Transportation System Plan:   
i. Per the current TSP, an extension of Golf Lane, a City Collector street, intersects Golf Club 

Road SE and approximately bisects the Subject Property to the east property line. 
3. Internal Streets 

a. Existing Conditions: 
i. No City streets currently exist within the Subject Property. Any streets provided within the 

Subject Property shall be constructed in accordance with SMC and PWDS requirements. 

Storm Drainage 
Construction of a storm drainage system, including flow control, stormwater quality treatment, and 
extension of existing City storm infrastructure to serve the property, will be required at the time of 
development of the Subject Property. The proposed development may also be responsible for 
contributing a proportional share toward Stormwater Master Plan capital improvements that benefit 
the Subject Property. 

1. ExisƟng CondiƟons: 



    

 
Developer-Initiated Annexation, Land Use File #16-12/24 
Public Works Review Comments – AKS Project #12093-02-1017

January 12, 2025
Page 4 of 6

 

a. The nearest downstream City stormwater “facility” is Mill Creek, which lies adjacent to the 
northeast corner of the Subject Property and is approximately 2,100 feet north of the property 
frontage on Golf Club Road SE.  

b. Per FIRM Map 4104C0704G, the Subject Property has FEMA-mapped Special Flood Hazard Areas 
and Floodway (Zone AE) along the northeast corner. 

c. Per the Oregon Rapid Wetland Assessment Protocol (ORWAP) and Wetland Determination 
Letter 2024-0648 from Oregon DEQ, the Subject Property contains approximately 7 acres of 
wetlands, along with a significant amount of mapped hydric soil areas. 

d. Some Marion County localized drainage ditches exist along Golf Club Road SE, but these do not 
connect to the City system or an approved discharge point as defined in the PWDS. 

2. Current Deficiencies: 
a. The Subject Property is not currently served by any City storm drainage infrastructure.  
b. The Wetland Delineation submitted with the annexation Application does not extend across the 

Subject Property or to the edge Golf Club Road SE. It is anticipated that a portion of this area 
and/or the existing County roadside ditches could contain wetland areas that will also need to 
be evaluated and delineated as part of future Development. 

c. An application for development of the Subject Property will need to include design calculations 
and a stormwater analysis report to demonstrate that stormwater flow control and water 
quality treatment for all the runoff from constructed and planned impervious areas within the 
Subject Property, in conformance with SMC and PWDS requirements, can be achieved. 

d. An application for development of the Subject Property will need to include design calculations 
to demonstrate that conveyance of all runoff from the Subject Property, from the required 
stormwater facility(ies) to an approved point of connection, in conformance with SMC and 
PWDS requirements, can be achieved. 

3. Stormwater Master Plan (currently being updated): 
a. Per the current Stormwater Master Plan, stormwater runoff from this area drains to a future 

Regional Detention facility, along the County ditch system along the east side of Golf Club Road 
SE, and then into Mill Creek. The Applicant shall be required to construct a stormwater 
conveyance system, meeting Marion County requirements and consistent with City PWDS, 
between the required flow control and water quality systems within the Subject Property to the 
proposed storm outfall and Mill Creek north of the Subject Property.    

Water 
At the time of development, construction of water system infrastructure, including extension of existing 
City water mains to serve the property, will be required. The proposed development may also be 
responsible for contributing a proportional share toward Water Master Plan capital improvements that 
benefit the Subject Property. 

1. ExisƟng CondiƟons: 
a. The Subject Property is located in the “base” water system service level, with pressures at this 

elevation anticipated to be approximately 55 psi during maximum day demand periods. 
b. The nearest City water facility is a 10-inch ductile iron water main located in Junco Road, 

approximately 970 feet southeast of the Subject Property. However, the majority of the 
intervening properties are outside of City limits. 



    

 
Developer-Initiated Annexation, Land Use File #16-12/24 
Public Works Review Comments – AKS Project #12093-02-1017

January 12, 2025
Page 5 of 6

 

c. The next nearest City water facility is a 12-inch ductile iron water main located in Golf Club Road 
SE, approximately 1,700 feet south of the Subject Property. Annexation of Golf Club Road SE will 
make this legally available for connection to City services. 

2. Current Deficiencies: 
a. The Subject Property is not currently served by any City water system infrastructure. 
b. An application for development of the Subject Property will need to include calculations 

demonstrating that adequate domestic water and emergency water supply, in conformance 
with SMC, PWDS, and Stayton Fire Department requirements, can be achieved. 

3. Water Master Plan: 
a. The current Water Master Plan identifies a looped 12-inch water main in Golf Club Road SE, 

connecting to the existing City distribution system at Shaff Road SE and continuing north along 
Golf Club Road SE, then east along the future Golf Lane Collector street identified in the TSP. The 
installation of this main within Golf Club Road SE and Golf Lane (to the east line of the Subject 
Property) will be required for future Development of the Subject Property. 

b. Per review of the Master Plan model, fire flows above 1000 gallons per minute should be 
available by extension of the 12-inch main as shown in the Application materials. If fire flows in 
excess of 1,500 gallons per minute are required for the future Development, additional 
improvements will be necessary. 

Sanitary Sewer 
At the time of development, construction of sanitary sewer system infrastructure, including extension of 
existing City sewer mains to serve the property, will be required. The proposed development may also 
be responsible for contributing a proportional share toward Wastewater Facilities Planning Study capital 
improvements that benefit the Subject Property. 

1. ExisƟng CondiƟons 
a. The Subject Property is primarily located in the Mill Creek Pump Station basin of the City’s 

system.  
b. Existing properties north and south of the Subject Properties do not currently have access to the 

existing gravity sanitary sewer system. The future development application will need account for 
extending sanitary sewer service to surrounding properties.  

c. The nearest City sanitary sewer facility is an existing 24-inch PVC sanitary sewer main running 
east to west through the Subject Property, which discharges into the Mill Creek Pump Station. 
Per review of the sanitary sewer model included in the Wastewater Facilities Planning Study, 
this main and the Pump Station appear to have capacity to receive some additional flows. 

d. An 18-inch PVC force main leaves the Mill Creek Pump Station and runs south along Golf Club 
Road SE and Wilco Road SE, discharging into the gravity collection system at W Ida Street.  

2. Current Deficiencies: 
a. At this point in time, there are not any known deficiencies in the sanitary sewer system serving 

this area. This will need to be re-evaluated when an application for development of the Subject 
Property is submitted. 

3. Sewer Master Plan: 



    

 
Developer-Initiated Annexation, Land Use File #16-12/24 
Public Works Review Comments – AKS Project #12093-02-1017

January 12, 2025
Page 6 of 6

 

a. The current Wastewater Facilities Planning Study identifies a surcharge issue in the existing 
gravity system at W Ida Street and lists a Priority 2.1 project to extend the sanitary sewer force 
main from W Ida Street, along Jetters Way, to the City Wastewater Treatment Plant. 
 

cc:  Richard Walker, PE – City Engineer 



CAUTION: This email originated from Outside Your Organization. Exercise caution when opening attachments or on
clicking links from unknown senders. Please contact Information Technology for assistance.

From: Caleb Cox
To: Jennifer Siciliano
Cc: Lyle Misbach; Michael Schmidt; Richard Walker; Susan Wright; Max Heller
Subject: Re: Request for Comments on Annexation and Subdivision 54.5 acres off Golf Club Road - LU # 16-12/24
Date: Thursday, January 8, 2026 10:34:42 AM
Attachments: Traffic Impact Analysis_KAI Review.pdf

 

Hi Jennifer, thanks for the update. I was just about to send out comments on the TIA, though they're probably irrelevant for the
time being. 

I will attach my comments anyway for our records, but the TIA is not required for just the annexation, so we'll anticipate an update
to the TIA when the applicant submits a new development application. 

I have a meeting with Lyle scheduled for this afternoon to address some questions he had regarding the land use & transportation
elements of the application. Some of that may be irrelevant now too, but I think we'll still meet to close the loop. Let me know if
you'd like to be included in that meeting at 4:00 this afternoon. 

Thanks,

Caleb Cox, PE
Senior Engineer

Kittelson & Associates, Inc.
Transportation Engineering & Planning
 

503.228.5230
503.535.7453 (direct)

From: Jennifer Siciliano <jsiciliano@staytonoregon.gov>
Sent: Thursday, January 8, 2026 10:20 AM
To: Adam Kohler <Adam.Kohler@PacifiCorp.com>; Astound Construction Team <oregonconstruction@astound.com>; Barry
Buchanan <bbuchanan@staytonoregon.gov>; breich@co.marion.or.us <breich@co.marion.or.us>; Brent Stevenson
<BrentS@santiamwater.gov>; brian.kelley@nwnatural.com <brian.kelley@nwnatural.com>; Caleb Cox <ccox@kittelson.com>;
Christopher Clark <Christopher.clark@pacificorp.com>; dfreitag@santiamhospital.org <dfreitag@santiamhospital.org>; Doug Kintz
<doug.kintz@staytonfire.org>; Erik Hoefer <erik@sctcweb.com>; Gwen Johns <gjohns@staytonoregon.gov>; Janelle Shanahan
<jshanahan@co.marion.or.us>; Jay Alley <jay.alley@staytonfire.org>; John Eckis <johneckis@sctcweb.com>; John Rasmussen
<jrasmussen@co.marion.or.us>; Kendall Smith <ksmith@staytonoregon.gov>; kinman@co.marion.or.us
<kinman@co.marion.or.us>; Lee Loving <lee.loving@nsantiam.k12.or.us>; Lyle Misbach <misbachl@aks-eng.com>; Max Heller
<mheller@kittelson.com>; Max Hepburn <mhepburn@co.marion.or.us>; MCPW Engineering <mcldep@co.marion.or.us>; Michael
Schmidt <mschmidt@staytonoregon.gov>; Nicole Willis <nicole.willis@pacificorp.com>; oregonconstruction@wavebroadband.com
<oregonconstruction@wavebroadband.com>; planning@co.marion.or.us <planning@co.marion.or.us>; Richard Walker
(richardw@aks-eng.com) <richardw@aks-eng.com>; Salem Development Services <developmentservices@cityofsalem.net>;
Brion.SCOTT@odot.oregon.gov <Brion.SCOTT@odot.oregon.gov>; Susan Wright <swright@kittelson.com>; Troy Wheeler
<twheeler@co.marion.or.us>; Wayne.clevenger@pacificorp.com <Wayne.clevenger@pacificorp.com>
Cc: Susan Bender <sbender@staytonoregon.gov>
Subject: RE: Request for Comments on Annexation and Subdivision 54.5 acres off Golf Club Road - LU # 16-12/24
 
[External Sender]

Please be advised that Land Use #16-12/24 has changed in scope and will now consist solely of the annexation
application. The subdivision component of the original application has been formally withdrawn.
 
Any future submittal for a revised subdivision affecting the same area will be processed as a separate land use
application and will be assigned a new land use case number.
To date, comments have been received from Santiam Hospital and Clinics, North Santiam School District 29J, and
ODOT. Any additional comments submitted should be limited to the annexation application only.

mailto:ccox@kittelson.com
mailto:jsiciliano@staytonoregon.gov
mailto:misbachl@aks-eng.com
mailto:mschmidt@staytonoregon.gov
mailto:richardw@aks-eng.com
mailto:swright@kittelson.com
mailto:mheller@kittelson.com
https://www.kittelson.com/



541-579-8315|cclemow@clemow-associates.com 


 


 


 


 


  
 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 
 
 
TRANSPORTATION 
IMPACT ANALYSIS 


To 
City of Stayton 


For 
Meyers Annexation, 
Zone Change, and 
Residential Development 


 


Prepared 
April 28, 2025 
 


Revised 
November 13, 2025 
 
 


C&A Project Number 
20250204.00 
 


  







 


TIA Meyers Residential - Revised 11.13.2025 - final   P a g e  | i 


 


 


TABLE OF CONTENTS 


I. INTRODUCTION 1 


Property Description and Proposed Land Use Actions  1 


Transportation Analysis Description 1 


Study Area 1 


Analysis Scenarios 2 


II. LONG-TERM PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 3 


III. EXISTING CONDITIONS 5 


Existing Site Conditions 5 


Roadway Facilities 5 


Safety Analysis 5 


Safety Analysis Discussion 6 


Existing Traffic Counts 7 


Seasonal Adjustment and 30 th Highest Hour Volumes 7 


IV. DEVELOPMENT TRIP GENERATION 8 


V. DEVELOPMENT YEAR CONDITIONS 9 


Background Growth 9 


Development Year Traffic Volumes 9 


Trip Distribution and Traffic Assignment 9 


VI. INTERSECTION ANALYSIS 10 


Analysis Scope 10 


Analysis Description 10 


Intersection Operations Analysis  11 


Operations Analysis Discussion 12 


Intersection Queuing Analysis 12 


Queuing Analysis Discussion 14 


VII. DEVELOPMENT ACCESS 15 


VIII. CONCLUSION 16 


IX. APPENDICES 18 


A. Figures 


B. TSP Financially-Constrained Motor Vehicle Plan Projects  


C. Crash Data 


D. Traffic Count Summaries 


E. Operation and Queuing Analyses  


  







 


TIA Meyers Residential - Revised 11.13.2025 - final   P a g e  | ii 


 


 


LIST OF TABLES 


Table 1 – Stayton TSP Project Excerpts 4 


Table 2 – Existing Roadway Characteristics 5 


Table 3 – Intersection Crash Rates 6 


Table 4 – Intersection Crash Types and Severity 6 


Table 5 – Development Trip Generation 8 


Table 6 – Intersection Operations Analysis  11 


Table 7 – Intersection Queuing Analysis  13 


LIST OF FIGURES 


Subdivision Plan  


1.  Site Area  


2.  Exist ing Traff ic  Volumes –  AM and PM Peak Hours  


3.  Pre-Development Traff ic  Volumes –  AM and PM Peak Hours  


4.  Trip Distribut ion and Traff ic  Ass ignment –  AM Peak Hour  


5.  Trip Distribut ion and Traff ic  Ass ignment –  PM Peak Hour  


6.  Post-Development Traff ic  Volumes  –  AM and PM Peak Hours  
 







 


TIA Meyers Residential - Revised 11.13.2025 - final   P a g e  | 1 


 


I. INTRODUCTION 


Property Description and Proposed Land Use Actions 


The subject properties are located east of Golf Club Road SE in the northern part of Stayton, Oregon. The 
properties are identified as tax lots 200, 900, and 1000 on Marion County Assessor's map 091W048 and 
total approximately 55 acres. The project site and study area are illustrated in Figure 1 in Appendix A.  


The subject properties are located within the Stayton Urban Growth Boundary (UGB) but outside the City 
limits. The properties have a Stayton Comprehensive Plan designation of Residential and are zoned Marion 
County Urban Transition - 20 acres per Lot Minimum (UT-20). Proposed land use actions include annexing 
the properties into the City with a concurrent zone change from Marion County UT-20 to Stayton Medium-
Density Residential (MD), consistent with the Comprehensive Plan. Land use actions further propose a 
126-lot preliminary subdivision plan. The proposed subdivision plan is attached in Appendix A. 


Transportation Analysis Description 


The proposed MD zoning is consistent with the existing Comprehensive Plan map designation, the 
amendment does not change the Comprehensive Plan, and the proposed zoning is consistent with the 
Stayton Transportation System Plan (TSP). As such, the proposed land use actions are consistent with the 
Stayton TSP assumptions and do not significantly affect an existing or planned transportation facility. As 
such, the Transportation Planning Rule (TPR) criteria outlined in Oregon Administrative Rule (OAR) 660-
012-0060 are satisfied without additional analysis. 


The proposed land use actions do include a specific development application. As such, a transportation 
impact analysis (TIA) is necessary to address the criteria identified in the following:  


▪ Stayton Municipal Code requirements outlined in Chapter 17.26.050 – Transportation Impact Analysis 
Requirements, and 


▪ Oregon Department of Transportation (ODOT) TIS requirements. 


Study Area 


Based on the development trip generation and distribution described later in this analysis, as well as 
comments from Stayton’s transportation engineering consultant contained in the December 19, 2024 City 
of Stayton Preapplication Meeting notes, the following project area intersections and development access 
are evaluated and illustrated in Figure 2 in Appendix A. 


▪ Golf Club Road SE/OR 22 WB Ramps/Sublimity Road SE 
▪ Golf Club Road SE/OR 22 EB Ramps 
▪ Golf Club Road SE/Site Access 
▪ Golf Club Road SE/Wilco Road/Shaff Road SE  
▪ Wilco Road/W Locust Street 
▪ Wilco Road/W Washington Street 
▪ Shaff Road SE/N Gardner Avenue 



ccox

Comment/Info Only

Project narrative document says 60 Acres.



ccox

Comment/Info Only

Note that ODOT should be given the opportunity to review and comment on elements related to the ramp terminal intersections







 


TIA Meyers Residential - Revised 11.13.2025 - final   P a g e  | 2 


 


Analysis Scenarios 


The proposed 126-lot subdivision development is anticipated to be constructed in multiple phases and 
fully occupied by 2030. As such, analysis scenarios include: 


▪ 2025 Existing Conditions 
▪ 2030 Pre-Development Conditions 
▪ 2030 Post-Development Conditions 
 
 







 


TIA Meyers Residential - Revised 11.13.2025 - final   P a g e  | 3 


 


II. LONG-TERM PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 


The Stayton Transportation System Plan (TSP) includes many transportation infrastructure projects in the 
study area, which are presented in the following table. This list includes “High” Priority (also identified as 
“Tier I”) projects that are financially-constrained and are assumed to be constructed within the 2040 
planning period. 


Most City streets have sidewalks on both sides of the roadway and enhanced crossings at key intersections 
and mid-block locations; however, several streets, especially those in the study area, have gaps in the 
sidewalks and locations where crossings could be implemented or improved. Accordingly, the TSP 
pedestrian plan includes many projects to fill in the gaps in the sidewalks along the City’s arterial and 
collector streets and enhanced pedestrian crossings.  


A few major roadways within the City have on-street bike lanes or other bicycle facilities, but many do not 
have dedicated bicycle infrastructure. Accordingly, the TSP bicycle plan includes many projects to fill in 
the gaps in the bicycle network along the City’s arterial and collector streets.  


The TSP motor vehicle plan includes detailed descriptions for the two high-priority motor vehicle projects, 
which are also included in Appendix B. 







 


TIA Meyers Residential - Revised 11.13.2025 - final   P a g e  | 4 


 


 


TABLE 1 – STAYTON TSP PROJECT EXCERPTS 


Project 
Number 


Roadway Segment/Cross-Street Project Priority 
Cost 


Estimate 


Pedestrian Plan Improvement Projects 


P3 Wilco Road 
600 feet south of Shaff Road to Washington 
Street (NB)  


Install a 6-foot sidewalk on the property line  Tier II $585K 


P8 Washington Street Wilco Road to Evergreen Avenue (EB) Install a 6- to 8-foot sidewalk on the property line Tier II $760K 


P12 W Ida Street Wilco Road to Holly Avenue (EB)  Install a 6-foot sidewalk on the property line  Tier II $375K 


P15 Golf Club Road Shaff Road to 400 feet north (SB) Install a 6-foot sidewalk on the property line  Tier III $55K 


P16 Wilco Road Shaff Road to 600 feet south (NB)  Install a 6-foot sidewalk on the property line  Tier III $90K 


P17 Wilco Road Shaff Road to Washington Street (SB) Install a 6-foot sidewalk on the property line  Tier III $675K 


P18 Gardner Avenue Shaff Road to Washington Street (both sides)  Install a 6-foot sidewalk on the property line  Tier III $920K 


P25 Shaff Road Wilco Road to Fern Avenue (WB) Install an 8-foot sidewalk on the property line  Tier III $700K 


P27 Shaff Road Gardner Avenue to First Avenue (EB)  Install an 8-foot sidewalk on the property line  Tier III $515K 


P33 Washington Street Wilco Road to Myrtle Avenue (WB)  Install a 6- to 8-foot sidewalk on the property line  Tier III $210K 


P43 Golf Club Road 
Highway 22 to 400 feet north of Shaff Road 
(both sides)  


Install a 6-foot sidewalk on the property line Tier IV $2.2M 


P46 Shaff Road City Limit to Wilco Road (both sides)  Install a 6-foot sidewalk on the property line Tier IV $520K 


P51 Shaff Road Stayton Middle School East Entrance Study and implement crosswalk enhancements Tier I $100K 


      Bicycle Plan Improvement Projects 


B9 Ida Street Wilco Road to Third Avenue (both sides) Add signing and striping to denote the bicycle route Tier I $810k 


B10 Wilco Road Shaff Road to Washington Street (both sides) Install 6-foot bike lanes Tier II $2.9M 


B14 Locust Street Wilco Road to First Avenue (both sides) Install 6-foot bike lanes Tier II $3.6M 


B15 Washington Street  Wilco Road to First Avenue (both sides) Install 6-foot bike lanes Tier II $870K 


B16 Stayton Road City Limit to Wilco Road (both sides) Install 6-foot bike lanes Tier III $1.2M 


B17 Golf Club Road  Mill Creek Bridge to Shaff Road (both sides) Install 6-foot bike lanes Tier IV $3.9M 


B20 Shaff Road  City Limit to Wilco Road (both sides)  Install 6-foot bike lanes Tier IV $1.1M 


      
Motor Vehicle Plan Improvement Projects 


M1  Golf Club Road/Shaff Road Roundabout High $2.6M 


M2  Stayton Road/Wilco Road Roundabout High $1.6M 


M7  Golf Lane Extension 
Extend Golf Lane from the existing roadway to Golf 
Club Road  


Low $8.2M 


M8  Kindle Way Extension  
Extend Kindle Way from the existing roadway to 
the Golf Lane Extension 


Low $1.4M 


 
 







 


TIA Meyers Residential - Revised 11.13.2025 - final   P a g e  | 5 


 


III. EXISTING CONDITIONS 


Existing Site Conditions 


The subject properties are located east of Golf Club Road SE in the northern part of Stayton, Oregon. The 
properties are identified as tax lots 200, 900, and 1000 on Marion County Assessor's map 091W048 and 
total approximately 55 acres. The properties are currently undeveloped and are used for agricultural 
purposes. 


The properties currently have frontage on and access to Golf Club Road SE to the west. It is further 
assumed that future property/development access will also be provided to Golf Club Road SE. 


Roadway Facilities 


The following table summarizes existing roadway classifications and characteristics in the study area. 


TABLE 2 – EXISTING ROADWAY CHARACTERISTICS 


Roadway 
Functional 


Classification 
Lanes 


Posted 
Speed 


(MPH) 


Sidewalks 
Bicycle 


Lanes 


On-
Street  


Parking 


OR Highway 20 
Principal Arterial OHP Statewide 


Highway NHS State Highway 
4 55 No No No 


Golf Club Road SE Arterial 2 45 No No No 


Sublimity Road SE Arterial 2 50 No No No 


Wilco Road 
North of Deschutes Drive - Collector 
South of Deschutes Drive - Arterial 


2 45 No No No 


Shaff Road SE 
West of Golf Club Road – Collector 


East of Golf Club Road - Arterial 
2 35 No No No 


W Locust Street Collector 2 25 No No Yes 


W Washington Street Minor Arterial 2 25 No No No 


N Gardner Avenue Collector 2 25 No No Yes 


 


Safety Analysis 


When evaluating roadway and intersection safety, consideration is given to the number and types of 
crashes occurring and the number of vehicles traveling on a roadway segment or entering the intersection. 
This leads to the concept known as the “crash rate.” Specific to intersections, it is typically expressed in 
terms of the number of crashes occurring per one million vehicles entering the intersection (CMEV). A 
critical crash rate analysis is then performed by comparing the subject intersection to the published 
statewide 90th percentile intersection crash rates at comparable/reference intersections. Crash rates close 
to or exceeding 1.0 CMEV or the 90th percentile rates require further analysis. 



ccox

Comment/Info Only

60? see previous comment



ccox

Comment/Info Only

partial sidewalks and bike lanes adjacent to new Shaff Square apartments development



ccox

Comment/Info Only

sidewalks and bike lanes are present east of Golf Club Road



ccox

Comment/Info Only

partial sidewalks and bike lanes on Gardner



ccox

Comment/Info Only

partial sidewalks on locust



ccox

Comment/Info Only

partial sidewalks and some on street parking on Washington St. 







 


TIA Meyers Residential - Revised 11.13.2025 - final   P a g e  | 6 


 


Crash data for the study area intersections were obtained from the Oregon Department of Transportation 
(ODOT) for a five-year period, from January 1, 2019 through December 31, 2023. The following table 
presents the study intersection crash rates and critical crash analysis. All crash data and crash rate 
calculations are provided in Appendix C. 
 


TABLE 3 – INTERSECTION CRASH RATES 


Intersection 


20
19


 


20
20


 


20
21


 


20
22


 


20
23


 


T
o


ta
l Crash 


Rate 
(CMEV) 


Reference Population 
Over or Under 
Crash Rate? Description 1 


90th%ile 
Crash Rate 


Golf Club Road SE / OR 22 WB Ramps / 
Sublimity Road 


1 2 3 6 3 15 1.042 Rural 4ST 1.080 Over 


Golf Club Road SE / OR 22 EB Ramps 2 2 0 1 0 5 0.257 Rural 3ST 0.475 Under 


Golf Club Road SE / Wilco Road /  
Shaff Road SE 


1 1 0 1 1 4 0.171 Urban 4ST 0.408 Under 


Wilco Road / W Locust Street 0 1 1 0 0 2 0.138 Urban 3ST 0.293 Under 


Wilco Road / W Washington Street 2 1 1 1 1 6 0.445 Urban 4ST 0.408 Over 


Shaff Road SE / N Gardner Avenue 1 1 1 0 0 3 0.199 Urban 4ST 0.408 Under 


1 3ST is a three-leg minor stop-control intersection, and 4ST is a four-leg minor stop-control intersection. 


Safety Analysis Discussion 


The observed crash rates at four study intersections are less than the 1.0 CMEV threshold and the 90th 
percentile of the reference population. As such, these intersections are considered relatively safe, and no 
further evaluation of safety deficiencies is necessary. 


The observed crash rates at two study intersections are higher than the 1.0 CMEV threshold or the 90th 
percentile crash rate of the reference population. Accordingly, a detailed crash analysis is performed for 
these two intersections. The following table presents a crash summary. 
 


TABLE 4 – INTERSECTION CRASH TYPES AND SEVERITY 


Intersection 
Crash Type 


Total Rear 
End 


Turn/
Angle 


Fixed 
Object 


Side 
swipe 


Ped/ 
Bike 


Other 


Golf Club Road SE / OR 22 WB Ramps / 
Sublimity Road 


0 15 0 0 0 0 15 


Wilco Road / 
W Washington Street 


2 4 0 0 0 0 6 


 
 
 


       
Intersection 


Crash Severity 1,2 
Total 


PDO C B A Fatal Unknown 


Golf Club Road SE / OR 22 WB Ramps / 
Sublimity Road 


7 2 4 1 1 0 15 


Wilco Road / 
W Washington Street 


0 3 3 0 0 0 6 


1 The most severe crash injury is listed. The crash may include multiple similar or lesser injuries. 
2 PDO – Property Damage Only; Injury C – Possible Injury/Complaint of Pain; Injury B – Non-Incapacitating Injury; Injury A – Incapacitating 


Injury/Bleeding, Broken Bones; Fatal Injury – Fatality 


 



ccox

Comment/Info Only

The crash analysis does not include segment crashes. The City's recent Safety Action plan identified Golf Club Road as the highest ranked (or worst) segment on the City's high injury network. I'm concerned that new traffic from the development without any safety counter-measures will exacerbate that issue. 







 


TIA Meyers Residential - Revised 11.13.2025 - final   P a g e  | 7 


 


At the Golf Club Road SE/OR 22 WB Ramps/Sublimity Road intersection, all crashes are “turning” or 
“angle” and the majority of these resulted from motorists who were exiting OR 22 westbound (the minor 
roadway) not yielding the right-of-way to motorists on Golf Club Road (the major roadway). This trend is 
consistent with materials in the TSP stating, “The crash data… shows a high proportion of angle and 
turning crashes at this intersection. The intersection is stop-controlled on the minor approaches, and eight 
of the ten crashes resulted from a failure to properly yield the right of way by vehicles at a stop sign.” 


Eight of the intersection crashes resulted in injuries, of which one resulted in a fatality. It is further noted 
that the fatality cause was consistent with the predominant cause – a motorist exiting OR 22 westbound 
not yielding the right-of-way to a motorist on Golf Club Road. 


Overall, the proposed development is not anticipated to affect the intersection crash rate, and 
intersection crash-related mitigation is not necessary as part of these land use actions; however, 
mitigation should be considered by the appropriate agencies. 


The Wilco Road/W Washington Street intersection is ‘non-standard’ in the sense that there are two 
intersections in close proximity: the subject all-way stop-controlled intersection and a second, smaller, 
minor-approach stop-controlled intersection 70 feet to the southeast of the first. Stayton TSP materials 
also note that the intersection is congested and needs a traffic control upgrade. 


All crashes are either "rear-end" or "turning/angle" crashes, primarily caused by non-standard 
intersection configurations. The financially-constrained TSP Project M2 further contemplates the 
construction of a roundabout at this location, which is anticipated to be in place prior to the end of the 
planning period. It is anticipated that this improvement will improve intersection safety. 


Overall, the proposed development is not anticipated to affect the intersection crash rate, and 
intersection crash-related mitigation is not necessary as part of these land use actions. However, the City 
should consider planning/programming the roundabout improvement. 


Existing Traffic Counts 


Existing traffic counts were obtained on March 18, 2025, during the AM and PM peak hours. Existing (base) 
traffic counts are included in Appendix D and are illustrated in Figure 2 in Appendix A. 


Seasonal Adjustment and 30th Highest Hour Volumes 


Seasonal adjustments account for the variation in traffic volumes during the year. As required for 
intersections under ODOT jurisdiction, the March 2025 traffic counts were adjusted to the 30th highest 
hour volume (30HV) consistent with procedures identified in the ODOT Analysis Procedures Manual (APM) 
Version 2, Chapter 5.5.1 – On-Site Automatic Traffic Recorder (ATR) Method. This method is used when 
an ATR is within or near the project area.  


In the study area, ATR 24-005 – Aumsville is located on OR22; North Santiam Highway NO. 162; 1.08 miles 
east of the Shaw Highway Interchange. Using this ATR data, a seasonal adjustment of 1.15 was applied to 
the March 18, 2025 Base traffic counts to obtain 2025 30HV volumes. Seasonal adjustment assumptions 
are included in Appendix D, and 2025 30HV volumes are illustrated in Figure 2 in Appendix A. 



ccox

Comment/Info Only

northeast?







 


TIA Meyers Residential - Revised 11.13.2025 - final   P a g e  | 8 


 


IV. DEVELOPMENT TRIP GENERATION 


The subject property is currently undeveloped. The proposed subdivision plan includes 126 residential 
lots. 


In the Stayton MD zone, parcels may be developed with duplexes, and parcels larger than 10,500 square 
feet can be developed with triplexes. Accordingly, a reasonable worst-case development scenario for the 
proposed subdivision lots is assumed, which includes 121 lots with duplexes (242 dwelling units) and 5 
lots with triplexes (15 dwelling units). 


Trip generation for the proposed development is estimated using the Institute of Transportation 
Engineers (ITE) Trip Generation Manual, 12th Edition, and practices from the ITE Trip Generation 
Handbook, 3rd Edition, and is presented in the following table. 
 


TABLE 5 – DEVELOPMENT TRIP GENERATION 


Land Use 
ITE 


Code 
Size 


Daily 


Trips 


AM Peak Hour PM Peak Hour 


Enter Exit Total Enter Exit Total 


Single-Family Attached Housing 215 257 DU 1,681  34 102 136 79 60 139 


1  Trip generation is estimated using the Fitted Curve per recommended practice in the ITE Trip Generation Handbook, 3rd Edition.  


As the table above identifies, the proposed 126-lot residential subdivision generates 1,681 daily, 136 AM 
peak hour, and 139 PM peak hour trips. 


 







 


TIA Meyers Residential - Revised 11.13.2025 - final   P a g e  | 9 


 


V. DEVELOPMENT YEAR CONDITIONS 


Background Growth 


OR 22 traffic volumes decreased slightly from 2019 to 2023 based on ATR 24-005 data. This is consistent 
with Stayton TSP assumptions, which contemplate little traffic growth over the 20-year planning period. 
More specifically, the TSP assumes traffic volume growth by specific intersection approach movement, 
versus an average annual background growth rate for all roadways/intersections, which is more typical. 


For TIA analysis purposes, all assumed growth in the 2040 TSP plan year was conservatively assumed to 
occur by 2030, the anticipated development buildout year. Additionally, the TSP only contains traffic 
growth assumptions for the PM peak hour and not for the AM peak hour. Accordingly, no background 
growth is assumed for the AM peak hour. 


Development Year Traffic Volumes 


The proposed 139-unit residential development is anticipated to be constructed in multiple phases and 
fully built out by 2030. Accordingly, the 2025 30HV volumes were adjusted to the 2030 development year 
using the background growth assumptions described above, which are illustrated in Figure 3 in Appendix 
A. 


Trip Distribution and Traffic Assignment 


Development trip generation, as identified in the previous section of this TIA, was distributed onto the 
roadway system based on existing intersection volumes, surrounding land uses, and engineering 
judgment. 


It is additionally noted that the proposed development has access to SE Golf Club Road at two locations. 
For analysis purposes, it was assumed that all development traffic accesses SE Golf Club Road in one 
location. 


 The resulting trip distribution and development traffic assignment for the AM and PM peak hours are 
illustrated in Figures 4 and 5 in Appendix A. 



ccox

Cloud+



ccox

Cloud+

AM peak hour background growth should be calculated so that growth % is consistent with the PM growth.



ccox

Comment/Info Only

126 unit?







 


TIA Meyers Residential - Revised 11.13.2025 - final   P a g e  | 10 


 


VI. INTERSECTION ANALYSIS 


Analysis Scope 


The following project area intersections and development accesses are evaluated: 


▪ Golf Club Road SE/OR 22 WB Ramps/Sublimity Road SE 
▪ Golf Club Road SE/OR 22 EB Ramps 
▪ Golf Club Road SE/Site Access 
▪ Golf Club Road SE/Wilco Road/Shaff Road SE  
▪ Wilco Road/W Locust Street 
▪ Wilco Road/W Washington Street 
▪ Shaff Road SE/N Gardner Avenue 
 
 
Analysis Description 


Existing intersection AM and PM peak hour factors (PHFs) are used for all intersections in all analysis 
scenarios. 


Intersection operation characteristics are generally defined by two key metrics: the volume-to-capacity 
(V/C) ratio and the level-of-service (LOS). At unsignalized intersections, the v/c ratio and LOS are 
calculated for intersection approach movements yielding right-of-way. 


The City of Stayton's mobility standard for all-way stop-controlled intersections and roundabouts is LOS 
“D ". The mobility standard for two-way stop-controlled intersections is LOS “E” or “F”, with a v/c ratio of 
0.95 or less for the critical movement. 


As identified in the Stayton TSP, the ODOT mobility target at the Golf Club Road SE/OR 22 WB 
Ramps/Sublimity Road SE intersection is a v/c ratio of 0.70 or less. At the Golf Club Road SE/OR 22 EB 
Ramps intersection, the v/c ratio is 0.80 or less. TSP materials further state, “Th[ese] v/c ratio[s] may be 
increased to 0.90 if it can be determined that vehicle queues will not extend onto the mainline or into the 
portion of the ramp needed to safely accommodate deceleration; and if an adopted Interchange Area 
Management Plan (IAMP) is present or can be developed.”   


 


 


 
  



ccox

Cloud+



ccox

Cloud+

This should be verified against ODOT standards rather than referencing the TSP







 


TIA Meyers Residential - Revised 11.13.2025 - final   P a g e  | 11 


 


Intersection Operations Analysis 


Unsignalized intersection operations analyses were performed using the Transportation Research Board’s 
Highway Capacity Manual 6th Edition methodologies using Trafficware’s Synchro software (Version 11). 


The proposed 139-unit residential development is anticipated to be constructed in multiple phases and 
fully built out by 2030. As such, analysis scenarios include: 


▪ 2025 Existing Conditions 
▪ 2030 Pre-Development Conditions 
▪ 2030 Post-Development Conditions 


The following table summarizes the results of the weekday AM and PM peak hour operations analysis. 
Data output sheets from all operations calculations are attached in Appendix E. 
 


TABLE 6 – INTERSECTION OPERATIONS ANALYSIS 


Intersection 
Critical 


Movement 
Lane Group 


Mobility 
Target 


AM Peak Hour PM Peak Hour 


20
25


 


E
xi


st
in


g
 


20
30


 P
re


-


D
ev


el
o


p
m


en
t 


20
30


 P
o


st
-


D
ev


el
o


p
m


en
t 


20
25


 


E
xi


st
in


g
 


20
30


 P
re


-


D
ev


el
o


p
m


en
t 


20
30


 P
o


st
-


D
ev


el
o


p
m


en
t 


Golf Club Road SE / 
OR 22 WB Ramps / 
Sublimity Road SE 


NB L 


v/c < 0.80 


0.20 0.20 0.23 0.14 0.15 0.16 


SB L 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.01 


EB L 0.03 0.03 0.03 0.03 0.03 0.04 


EB T/R 0.13 0.13 0.14 0.05 0.05 0.05 


WB L 0.39 0.39 0.48 0.34 0.36 0.41 


WB T/R 0.77 0.77 0.88 0.30 0.31 0.33 


Golf Club Road SE / 
OR 22 EB Ramps 


SB L 


v/c < 0.70 


0.02 0.02 0.02 0.01 0.01 0.01 


EB L/T 0.21 0.21 0.23 0.31 0.32 0.33 


EB R 0.17 0.17 0.18 0.44 0.45 0.50 


Golf Club Road SE / 
Site Access 


SB L/T LOS E 
v/c < 0.95 


— — A / 0.02 — — C / 0.21 


WB L/R — — C / 0.27 — — A / 0.04 


Golf Club Road SE / 
Wilco Road / 
Shaff Road SE  


Intersection LOS D B B C C C C 


Wilco Road / 
W Locust Street 


SB L/T LOS E 
v/c < 0.95 


A / 0.06 A / 0.06 A / 0.06 A / 0.07 A / 0.08 A / 0.09 


WB L/R B / 0.22 B / 0.22 B / 0.23 B / 0.14 B / 0.18 B / 0.19 


Wilco Road / 
W Washington Street 


Intersection LOS D A A A B B B 


Shaff Road SE / 
N Gardner Avenue 


NB L/T/R 


LOS E 
v/c < 0.95 


C / 0.18 C / 0.18 C / 0.19 C / 0.23 C / 0.28 C / 0.32 


SB L/T C / 0.03 C / 0.03 C / 0.03 C / 0.48 D / 0.59 D / 0.62 


SB R A / 0.01 A / 0.01 A / 0.01 A / 0.09 A / 0.09 A / 0.09 


EB L/T/R A / 0.01 A / 0.01 A / 0.01 A / 0.05 A / 0.05 A / 0.06 


WB L/T/R A / 0.02 A / 0.02 A / 0.02 A / 0.00 A / 0.00 A / 0.00 


 


 



ccox

Comment/Info Only

126



ccox

Comment/Info Only

Note that post development exceeds 0.8 V/C target. This needs to be discussed with ODOT



ccox

Cloud+



ccox

Cloud+

Roundabout design is in process for this intersection. The analysis should evaluate both the existing lane configurations and the single lane roundabout configuration. 







 


TIA Meyers Residential - Revised 11.13.2025 - final   P a g e  | 12 


 


 


 


Operations Analysis Discussion 


As the table above identifies, all study intersections are anticipated to operate within agency mobility 
targets in all analysis scenarios. Overall, no mitigation is necessary to provide adequate operations for the 
proposed development. 


Materials in the Stayton TSP also find that operations at the Golf Club Road SE/Wilco Road/Shaff Road SE 
and Wilco Road/W Washington Street intersections are within agency mobility targets in their current 
configurations. Still, the construction of roundabouts at these locations is desired, and these are funded 
improvements anticipated to be constructed prior to the end of the planning period. 
 
 
Intersection Queuing Analysis 


Queuing analysis was performed to evaluate queue storage adequacy. 95th percentile queues were 
estimated using Trafficware’s SimTraffic software (Version 11) and ODOT Analysis Procedure Manual 
methodologies. Available storage is rounded to the nearest five feet, and queue demand is rounded to 
the nearest 25 feet, corresponding to the average length of a queued vehicle.  


The following table summarizes the results of the weekday AM and PM peak hour queuing analysis. Data 
output sheets from all queuing calculations are contained in Appendix E. 
  



ccox

Comment/Info Only

OR 22 WB ramps seem to exceed targets. Need to coordinate with ODOT







 


TIA Meyers Residential - Revised 11.13.2025 - final   P a g e  | 13 


 


 


TABLE 7 – INTERSECTION QUEUING ANALYSIS 


Intersection 
Critical 


Movement 
Lane Group 


Queue 
Storage 


Available 
(Feet) 1 


AM Peak Hour PM Peak Hour 


20
25


 


E
xi


st
in


g
 


20
30


 P
re


-


D
ev


el
o


p
m


en
t 


20
30


 P
o


st
- 


D
ev


el
o


p
m


en
t 


20
25


 


E
xi


st
in


g
 


20
30


 P
re


-


D
ev


el
o


p
m


en
t 


20
30


 P
o


st
- 


D
ev


el
o


p
m


en
t 


Golf Club Road SE / 


OR 22 WB Ramps / 


Sublimity Road SE 


NB L 150 50 50 50 50 50 50 


SB L 190 25 25 25 25 25 25 


EB L 210 25 25 25 25 25 25 


EB T/R 210 50 50 50 50 50 50 


WB L 165 75 75 75 75 75 75 


WB T/R 500+ 100 100 100 75 75 75 


Golf Club Road SE / 
OR 22 EB Ramps 


SB L 115 25 25 25 25 25 75 


EB L/T 240 50 50 75 75 100 100 


EB R 240 50 50 75 100 100 150 


Golf Club Road SE / 


Site Access 


SB L/T 500+ — — 50 — — 75 


WB L/R 100+ — — 75 — — 50 


Golf Club Road SE / 
Wilco Road / 


Shaff Road SE  


NB L 90 50 50 50 50 75 75 


NB T/R 500+ 100 100 125 150 175 175 


SB L 170 50 50 75 75 100 100 


SB T/R 500+ 100 100 125 100 100 125 


EB L/T/R 500+ 50 50 50 50 50 50 


WB L 100 50 50 50 50 75 75 


WB T/R 400 100 100 100 100 100 100 


Wilco Road / 


W Locust Street 


SB L/T 500+ 50 50 50 50 75 75 


WB L/R 500+ 100 100 100 75 75 75 


Wilco Road / 


W Washington Street 


NB L/T 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 


NB R 25 — — — — 25 25 


SB L/T 500+ 50 50 50 75 75 75 


SB R 75 25 25 25 25 25 25 


EB L/T/R 500+ 75 75 75 75 75 100 


WB L/T/R 400 50 50 75 75 75 75 


Shaff Road SE / 


N Gardner Avenue 


NB L/T/R 280 75 75 75 75 75 75 


SB L/T 150+ 25 50 25 100 100 125 


SB R 100 25 50 50 50 50 50 


EB L 100+ 25 25 25 50 25 50 


WB L 100+ 25 50 50 — 25 25 


1 Available queue storage is measured to the nearest upstream intersection for continuous lanes between intersections and to the 
end of full-width storage for turn lanes. 


 


 


 







 


TIA Meyers Residential - Revised 11.13.2025 - final   P a g e  | 14 


 


Queuing Analysis Discussion 


As the table above identifies, all study intersection approach movements are anticipated to have adequate 
queue storage in all analysis scenarios to accommodate the 95th percentile vehicle queues. Overall, no 
mitigation is necessary to provide adequate queue storage for the proposed development. 


Materials in the Stayton TSP also find that queues at the Golf Club Road SE/Wilco Road/Shaff Road SE and 
Wilco Road/W Washington Street intersections can be accommodated in their current configurations. 
Still, the construction of roundabouts at these locations is desired, and these are funded improvements 
anticipated to be constructed prior to the end of the planning period. 







 


TIA Meyers Residential - Revised 11.13.2025 - final   P a g e  | 15 


 


VII. DEVELOPMENT ACCESS 


As illustrated in the proposed subdivision plan, the development will have access to SE Golf Club Road at 
two locations. The northern access is located at the proposed extension of Golf Lane, which is functionally 
classified as a Collector roadway, and the southern access will be via a Local roadway near the southwest 
corner of the subdivision. 


For TIA analysis purposes, it was assumed that all development traffic accesses Golf Club Road SE in one 
location, i.e., the future Golf Club Road SE/Golf Lane intersection. The operations and queuing analyses 
find that at this future intersection, all roadways function adequately with single approach lanes in all 
directions. However, because the future Golf Lane extension will be a Collector roadway and will 
ultimately carry more traffic than the subject development generates, future consideration should be 
given to constructing separate westbound left and right-turn approach lanes at the intersection. 



ccox

Cloud+



ccox

Cloud+

I'd like to see an evaluation for right and left turn lane warrants at the site access. Consider warrants for both the development traffic and the future Golf Lane traffic. 







 


TIA Meyers Residential - Revised 11.13.2025 - final   P a g e  | 16 


 


VIII. CONCLUSION 


The following summary and recommendations are based on materials contained in this analysis. 


1. The subject properties are located east of Golf Club Road SE in the northern part of Stayton, Oregon. 
The properties are identified as tax lots 200, 900, and 1000 on Marion County Assessor's map 
091W048 and total approximately 55 acres. 


2. The subject properties are inside the Stayton Urban Growth Boundary (UGB) but are outside the City 
limits. The properties have a Stayton Comprehensive Plan designation of Residential and are zoned 
Marion County Urban Transition - 20 acres per Lot Minimum (UT-20). Proposed land use actions 
include annexing the properties into the City with a concurrent zone change from Marion County UT-
20 to Stayton Medium-Density Residential (MD), consistent with the Comprehensive Plan. Land use 
actions further propose a 126-lot preliminary subdivision plan. 


3. The proposed MD zoning is consistent with the existing Comprehensive Plan map designation, the 
amendment does not change the Comprehensive Plan, and the proposed zoning is consistent with 
the Stayton Transportation System Plan (TSP). As such, the proposed land use actions are consistent 
with the Stayton TSP assumptions and do not significantly affect an existing or planned transportation 
facility. As such, the Transportation Planning Rule (TPR) criteria outlined in Oregon Administrative 
Rule (OAR) 660-012-0060 are satisfied without additional analysis. 


4. The Stayton TSP includes two “High” priority, financially-constrained motor vehicle projects assumed 
to be constructed within the 2040 planning period. These include the construction of roundabouts at 
the Golf Club Road SE/Wilco Road/Shaff Road SE and Wilco Road/W Washington Street intersections, 
and detailed analyses of both are contained in the TSP. 


5. The observed crash rates at four study intersections are less than the 1.0 CMEV threshold and the 90th 
percentile of the reference population. As such, these intersections are considered relatively safe, and 
no further evaluation of safety deficiencies is necessary. 


6. The observed crash rates at two study intersections, Golf Club Road SE/OR 22 WB Ramps/Sublimity 
Road and Wilco Road/W Washington Street, are higher than the 1.0 CMEV threshold or the 90th 
percentile crash rate of the reference population. 


7. A detailed crash analysis of the Golf Club Road SE/OR 22 WB Ramps/Sublimity Road intersection finds 
that all crashes are “turning” or “angle” and the majority of these resulted from motorists who were 
exiting OR 22 westbound (the minor roadway) not yielding the right-of-way to motorists on Golf Club 
Road (the major roadway). This trend is consistent with TSP materials. Overall, the proposed 
development is not anticipated to affect the intersection crash rate, and intersection crash-related 
mitigation is not necessary as part of these land use actions; however, mitigation should be 
considered by the appropriate agencies. 


8. A detailed crash analysis of the Wilco Road/W Washington Street intersection finds that all crashes 
are either "rear-end" or "turning/angle", primarily caused by the non-standard intersection 
configurations. This trend is consistent with TSP materials. Overall, the proposed development is not 
anticipated to affect the intersection crash rate, and intersection crash-related mitigation is not 
necessary as part of these land use actions. However, construction of a roundabout, identified as TSP 
Project M2, should be considered by the City, as it is anticipated to improve intersection safety. 



ccox

Cloud+



ccox

Cloud+

See my notes about about including segment crashes on Golf Club Road in the analysis. Or at least reference the City's safety action plan and discuss whether safety counter-measures are needed to accomodate the added development traffic. 







 


TIA Meyers Residential - Revised 11.13.2025 - final   P a g e  | 17 


 


9. In the Stayton MD zone, parcels may be developed with duplexes, and parcels larger than 10,500 
square feet can be developed with triplexes. Accordingly, a reasonable worst-case development 
scenario for the proposed subdivision lots is assumed, which includes 121 lots with duplexes (242 
dwelling units) and 5 lots with triplexes (15 dwelling units). 


10. The proposed 126-lot residential subdivision generates 1,681 daily, 136 AM peak hour, and 139 PM 
peak hour trips. 


11. All study intersections are anticipated to operate within agency mobility targets in all analysis 
scenarios. Overall, no mitigation is necessary to provide adequate operations for the proposed 
development. 


12. All study intersection approach movements are anticipated to have adequate queue storage in all 
analysis scenarios to accommodate the 95th percentile vehicle queues. Overall, no mitigation is 
necessary to provide adequate queue storage for the proposed development. 


13. Materials in the Stayton TSP also find that operations are acceptable, and queues can be 
accommodated at the Golf Club Road SE/Wilco Road/Shaff Road SE and Wilco Road/W Washington 
Street intersections in their current configurations in the 2040 plan year. Still, the construction of 
roundabouts at these locations is desired, and these are funded improvements anticipated to be 
constructed prior to the end of the planning period. 


14. The proposed development will access SE Golf Club Road at two locations. The northern access is 
located at the proposed extension of Golf Lane, which is functionally classified as a Collector roadway, 
and the southern access will be via a Local roadway near the southwest corner of the subdivision. 


15. The TIA operations and queuing analyses find that the future Golf Club Road SE/Golf Lane intersection 
functions adequately with single approach lanes in all directions. However, because the future Golf 
Lane extension will be a Collector roadway and will ultimately carry more traffic than the subject 
development generates, future consideration should be given to constructing separate westbound 
left and right-turn approach lanes at the intersection. 


 


 


 


 


  



ccox

Comment/Info Only

OR 22 V/C exceed the 08 threshold. Need to loop in ODOT



ccox

Comment/Info Only

Missing a site circulation review per 17.26.050.3.g

Missing a turn lane warrant evaluation per 17.26.050.3.h







 


TIA Meyers Residential - Revised 11.13.2025 - final   P a g e  | 18 


 


IX. APPENDICES 


A. Figures 


B. TSP Financially-Constrained Motor Vehicle Plan Projects 


C. Crash Data 


D. Traffic Count Summaries 


E. Operation and Queuing Analyses 







 


  


 


Appendix A 


  











R
o


g
u


e
 A


ve
n


u
e


W Ida Sreet


W
ilc


o
 R


o
a


d


Stayton Road


G
olf C


lu
b
 R


oa
d


OR Highway 22


Golf Lane
K


in
d


le
 W


a
y


Shaff Road


N
 G


a
rd


n
e


r A
ve


n
u


e


W
 W


ash
in


gto
n S


tre
et


Sublimity Road
Mill CreekRoad


W
e


s
to


w
n


 D
rive


Western
Avenue


W Regis
Street


SITE


W Locust Street


Deschutes Drive


2237 NW Torrey Pines Drive
Bend, Oregon 97703
541-579-8315
cclemow@clemow-associates.com


SITE AREA FIGURE


Meyers Residential - Stayton, Oregon 1C&A Project No. 20250204.00
clemow
associates LLC


LEGEND


Neighborhood Collector


Functional Roadway Classifications


Collector


State Highway
Minor Arterial


Commercial Local
Industrial Local
Residential Local
Proposed Roadway







R
o
g


u
e


 A
ve


n
u


e


W Ida Sreet


W
ilc


o
 R


o
a


d


Stayton Road


G
olf C


lu
b
 R


oa
d


OR Highway 22


Golf Lane


K
in


d
le


 W
a


y


Shaff Road


N
 G


a
rd


n
e


r A
ve


n
u


e


W
 W


ash
in


gto
n S


tre
et


Sublimity Road
Mill CreekRoad


W
e


s
to


w
n


 D
rive


Western
Avenue


W Regis
Street


SITE


1


2


4


3


5
W Locust Street


6


7


Deschutes Drive


EB
0 L
22 T
28 R


EB


N
B


27
3


L
23


T
19
3


R
N
B


SB
R


26
T


38
L


14
SB


WB
R 17
T 176
L 81
WB


EB
89 L
0 T
151 R


EB


N
B


0
L


39
8


T
24


R
N
B


SB
R


0
T


11
8


L
25


SB


N
B


0
L


39
5


T
0


R
N
B


SB
R


0
T


29
2


L
0


SB


EB
15 L
40 T
25 R
EB


N
B


20
L


22
8


T
40


R
N
B


SB
R


14
T


20
3


L
10
0


SB


WB
R 141
T 49
L 46
WB


N
B


0
L


18
0


T
9


R
N
B


SB
R


0
T


19
4


L
61


SB


WB
R 109
T 0
L 20
WB


WB
R 12
T 263
L 25
WB


SB
R


7
T


6
L


2
SB


N
B


38
L


2
T


27
R


N
B


EB
10 L
285 T
70 R
EB


WB
R 59
T 57
L 6
WB


SB
R


48
T


53
L


63
SB


N
B


10
L


69
T


3
R


N
B


EB
50 L
79 T
14 R


EB


EB
8 L
6 T
29 R
EB


N
B


20
1


L
51


T
21
0


R
N
B


SB
R


10
T


29
L


12
SB


WB
R 10
T 98
L 113
WB


EB
144 L
0 T
361 R


EB


N
B


0
L


31
6


T
56


R
N
B


SB
R


0
T


15
6


L
13


SB


WB
R 0
T 0
L 0
WB


EB
0 L
0 T
0 R
EB


N
B


0
L


41
8


T
0


R
N
B


SB
R


0
T


49
4


L
0


SB


WB
R 0
T 0
L 0
WB


EB
7 L
52 T
23 R
EB


N
B


29
L


25
6


T
78


R
N
B


SB
R


15
T


27
1


L
21
4


SB


WB
R 165
T 37
L 42
WB


EB
0 L
0 T
0 R
EB


N
B


0
L


25
7


T
19


R
N
B


SB
R


0
T


26
6


L
88


SB


WB
R 74
T 0
L 13
WB


WB
R 74
T 72
L 1
WB


SB
R


69
T


14
2


L
66


SB


N
B


17
L


70
T


7
R


N
B


EB
67 L
72 T
27 R
EB


WB
R 74
T 72
L 1
WB


SB
R


69
T


14
2


L
66


SB


N
B


17
L


70
T


7
R


N
B


EB
67 L
72 T
27 R


EB


2237 NW Torrey Pines Drive
Bend, Oregon 97703
541-579-8315
cclemow@clemow-associates.com


EXISTING TRAFFIC VOLUMES - AM and PM Peak Hours FIGURE


Meyers Residential - Stayton, Oregon 2C&A Project No. 20250204.00
clemow
associates LLC


2


5


3


6


1


4 7


2


5


3


6


1


4 7


Volumes are adjusted to 30HV at the
OR22 Ramp Terminal intersections.


Volumes are adjusted to 30HV at the
OR22 Ramp Terminal intersections.


AM Peak Hour PM Peak Hour


PHF=0.86


PHF=0.83


PHF=0.83


PHF=0.91


PHF=0.95


PHF=0.86


PHF=0.82


PHF=0.91


PHF=0.93


PHF=0.96


PHF=0.94


PHF=0.94


PHF=0.88


PHF=0.88



ccox

Comment/Info Only

This 2025 count is 1,189 veh. 
The 2019 TSP counted 1,295 veh.
& a 2021 TIA for the Shaff Square apartment projected 1,355 veh at build out.

I'm concerned this count is low and inconsistent with previous counts. 







R
o
g


u
e


 A
ve


n
u


e


W Ida Sreet


W
ilc


o
 R


o
a


d


Stayton Road


G
olf C


lu
b
 R


oa
d


OR Highway 22


Golf Lane


K
in


d
le


 W
a


y


Shaff Road


N
 G


a
rd


n
e


r A
ve


n
u


e


W
 W


ash
in


gto
n S


tre
et


Sublimity Road
Mill CreekRoad


W
e


s
to


w
n


 D
rive


Western
Avenue


W Regis
Street


SITE


1


2


4


3


5
W Locust Street


6


7


Deschutes Drive


SB
R


26
T


38
L


14
SB


WB
R 17
T 176
L 81
WB


N
B


27
3


L
23


T
19
3


R
N
B


EB
0 L
22 T
28 R


EB


EB
89 L
0 T
151 R


EB


N
B


0
L


39
8


T
24


R
N
B


SB
R


0
T


11
8


L
25


SB


N
B


0
L


39
5


T
0


R
N
B


SB
R


0
T


29
2


L
0


SB


WB
R 141
T 49
L 46
WB


SB
R


14
T


20
3


L
10
0


SB


N
B


20
L


22
8


T
40


R
N
B


EB
15 L
40 T
25 R
EB


N
B


0
L


18
0


T
9


R
N
B


SB
R


0
T


19
4


L
61


SB


WB
R 109
T 0
L 20
WB


EB
50 L
79 T
14 R


EB


N
B


10
L


69
T


3
R


N
B


SB
R


48
T


53
L


63
SB


WB
R 59
T 57
L 6
WB


EB
10 L
285 T
70 R
EB


N
B


38
L


2
T


27
R


N
B


SB
R


7
T


6
L


2
SB


WB
R 12
T 263
L 25
WB


SB
R


10
T


29
L


12
SB


WB
R 10
T 98
L 113
WB


N
B


21
3


L
51


T
21
0


R
N
B


EB
8 L
6 T
29 R
EB


EB
144 L
0 T
369 R


EB


N
B


0
L


32
8


T
58


R
N
B


SB
R


0
T


15
6


L
13


SB


N
B


0
L


43
2


T
0


R
N
B


SB
R


0
T


50
2


L
0


SB


WB
R 165
T 45
L 80
WB


SB
R


15
T


27
4


L
22
3


SB


N
B


29
L


26
4


T
10
6


R
N
B


EB
7 L
52 T
23 R
EB


N
B


0
L


28
2


T
24


R
N
B


SB
R


0
T


28
1


L
98


SB


WB
R 74
T 10
L 23
WB


EB
78 L
81 T
28 R


EB


N
B


18
L


74
T


7
R


N
B


SB
R


74
T


14
5


L
70


SB


WB
R 78
T 85
L 1
WB


EB
67 L
159 T
81 R
EB


N
B


19
L


70
T


7
R


N
B


SB
R


69
T


14
2


L
66


SB


WB
R 74
T 72
L 1
WB


2237 NW Torrey Pines Drive
Bend, Oregon 97703
541-579-8315
cclemow@clemow-associates.com


PRE-DEVELOPMENT TRAFFIC VOLUMES - AM and PM Peak Hours FIGURE


Meyers Residential - Stayton, Oregon 3C&A Project No. 20250204.00
clemow
associates LLC


2


5


3


6


1


4 7


2


5


3


6


1


4 7


Volumes are adjusted to 30HV at the
OR22 Ramp Terminal intersections.


Volumes are adjusted to 30HV at the
OR22 Ramp Terminal intersections.


AM Peak Hour PM Peak Hour


PHF=0.86


PHF=0.83


PHF=0.83


PHF=0.91


PHF=0.95


PHF=0.86


PHF=0.82


PHF=0.91


PHF=0.93


PHF=0.96


PHF=0.94


PHF=0.94


PHF=0.88


PHF=0.88







R
o
g


u
e


 A
ve


n
u


e W Ida Sreet


W
ilc


o
 R


o
a


d


Stayton Road


G
olf C


lu
b
 R


oa
d


OR Highway 22


K
in


d
le


 W
a


y


Shaff Road


N
 G


a
rd


n
e


r A
ve


n
u


e


W W
ashingto


n


Stre
et


Sublimity Road
Mill CreekRoad


W
e


s
to


w
n


 D
rive


Western
Avenue


W Regis
Street


1


2


4


3


5
W Locust Street


6


7


AM Enter


60%


25%


3
5
%


5
%


20%


15%


2
0
%


5%


10%


5%


4
0
%


20%


5
%


2
0
%


10%


5
%


100%


R
o


g
u


e
 A


ve
n


u
e


W
ilc


o
 R


o
a


d


Stayton Road


G
olf C


lu
b
 R


oa
d


OR Highway 22


K
in


d
le


 W
a


y


N
 G


a
rd


n
e


r A
ve


n
u


e


W
e


s
to


w
n


 D
rive


Western
Avenue


W Regis
Street


3


5
W Locust Street


6


7


AM Exit


40
%


15%


2
5
%


5
%


10%


5%
2
0
%


10%


5%


5%


6
0
%


5%


5
5
%


20%


5
%30%


W Ida Sreet


Shaff Road


W W
ashingto


n


Stre
et


4


Sublimity Road
Mill CreekRoad


100%


1


2


N
B


0
0%


12
35
%


0
0%


N
B


SB
0%


0
25
%


26
15
%


15
SB


WB
25% 8
0% 0
0% 0
WB


WB
60% 61
0% 0
40% 41


WB


SB
0%


0
0%


0
40
%


14
SB


N
B


0
0%


0
0%


20
60
%


N
B


EB
0 0%
0 0%
7 20%
EB


SB
0%


0
20
%


7
0%


0
SB


N
B


0
0%


56
55
%


5
5%


N
B


N
B


31
30
%


5
5%


20
20
%


N
B


SB
0%


0
5%


2
0%


0
SB


EB
0 0%
0 0%
2 5%
EB


WB
0% 0
0% 0
10% 3


WB


WB
15% 5
0% 0
0% 0
WB


SB
0%


0
20
%


21
5%


5
SB


N
B


0
0%


7
20
%


0
0%


N
B


WB
5% 2
0% 0
0% 0
WB


EB
2 5%
0 0%
0 0%
EB


SB
5%


5
5%


5
10
%


11
SB


N
B


0
0%


3
10
%


0
0%


N
B


N
B


2
5%


0
0%


0
0%


N
B


EB
0 0%
10 10%
5 5%
EB


WB
0% 0
20% 6
0% 0
WB


2237 NW Torrey Pines Drive
Bend, Oregon 97703
541-579-8315
cclemow@clemow-associates.com


TRIP DISTRIBUTION and TRAFFIC ASSIGNMENT - AM Peak Hour FIGURE


Meyers Residential - Stayton, Oregon 4C&A Project No. 20250204.00
clemow
associates LLC


2


5


3


6


1


4 7


AM Peak Hour







R
o
g


u
e


 A
ve


n
u


e W Ida Sreet


W
ilc


o
 R


o
a


d


Stayton Road


G
olf C


lu
b
 R


oa
d


OR Highway 22


K
in


d
le


 W
a


y


Shaff Road


N
 G


a
rd


n
e


r A
ve


n
u


e


W W
ashingto


n


Stre
et


Sublimity Road
Mill CreekRoad


W
e


s
to


w
n


 D
rive


Western
Avenue


W Regis
Street


1


2


4


3


5
W Locust Street


6


7


PM Enter


45%


20%


2
5
%


5
%


15%


5%


2
0
%


10%


5%


5%


5
5
%


40%


5
%


1
5
%


10%


100%


R
o


g
u


e
 A


ve
n


u
e


W
ilc


o
 R


o
a


d


Stayton Road


G
olf C


lu
b
 R


oa
d


OR Highway 22


K
in


d
le


 W
a


y


N
 G


a
rd


n
e


r A
ve


n
u


e


W
e


s
to


w
n


 D
rive


Western
Avenue


W Regis
Street


3


5
W Locust Street


6


7


PM Exit


25%


3
0
%


5
%


20%


10%
2
0
%


5%


10%


5%


5%


4
0
%


20%


20%


W Ida Sreet


Shaff Road


W W
ashingto


n


Stre
et


4


Sublimity Road
Mill CreekRoad


100%


1


2


4
5
%


55
%


N
B


0
0%


20
25
%


0
0%


N
B


SB
0%


0
30
%


18
25
%


15
SB


WB
20% 16
0% 0
0% 0
WB


WB
45% 27
0% 0
55% 33


WB


SB
0%


0
0%


0
55
%


43
SB


N
B


0
0%


0
0%


36
45
%


N
B


EB
0 0%
0 0%
31 40%
EB


SB
0%


0
15
%


15
0%


0
SB


N
B


0
0%


24
40
%


3
5%


N
B


N
B


12
20
%


0
0%


12
20
%


N
B


EB
0 0%
0 0%
4 5%
EB


WB
0% 0
0% 0
10% 8


WB


WB
5% 4
0% 0
0% 0
WB


SB
0%


0
20
%


12
10
%


6
SB


N
B


0
0%


16
20
%


0
0%


N
B


WB
10% 8
0% 0
0% 0
WB


EB
4 5%
0 0%
0 0%
EB


SB
5%


3
10
%


6
5%


3
SB


N
B


0
0%


4
5%


0
0%


N
B


N
B


4
5%


0
0%


0
0%


N
B


EB
0 0%
12 20%
3 5%
EB


WB
0% 0
15% 12
0% 0
WB


2237 NW Torrey Pines Drive
Bend, Oregon 97703
541-579-8315
cclemow@clemow-associates.com


TRIP DISTRIBUTION and TRAFFIC ASSIGNMENT - PM Peak Hour FIGURE


Meyers Residential - Stayton, Oregon 2C&A Project No. 20250204.00
clemow
associates LLC


2


5


3


6


1


4 7


PM Peak Hour







R
o
g


u
e


 A
ve


n
u


e


W Ida Sreet


W
ilc


o
 R


o
a


d


Stayton Road


G
olf C


lu
b
 R


oa
d


OR Highway 22


Golf Lane


K
in


d
le


 W
a


y


Shaff Road


N
 G


a
rd


n
e


r A
ve


n
u


e


W
 W


ash
in


gto
n S


tre
et


Sublimity Road
Mill CreekRoad


W
e


s
to


w
n


 D
rive


Western
Avenue


W Regis
Street


SITE


1


2


4


3


5
W Locust Street


6


7


Deschutes Drive


EB
0 L
22 T
30 R


N
B


30
4


L
28


T
21
3


R


WB
R 17
T 176
L 84


SB
R


26
T


40
L


14


SB
R


0
T


12
5


L
25


N
B


0
L


45
4


T
29


R


EB
89 L
0 T


158 R


SB
R


0
T


29
2


L
14


WB
R 61
T 0
L 41


N
B


0
L


39
5


T
20


R


EB
15 L
40 T
25 R


N
B


20
L


24
0


T
40


R


WB
R 149
T 49
L 46


SB
R


14
T


22
9


L
11
5


SB
R


0
T


21
5


L
66


WB
R 114
T 0
L 20


N
B


0
L


18
7


T
9


R


EB
52 L
79 T
14 R


N
B


10
L


72
T


3
R


WB
R 61
T 57
L 6


SB
R


53
T


58
L


74


SB
R


7
T


6
L


2


WB
R 12
T 269
L 25


N
B


40
L


2
T


27
R


EB
10 L
295 T
75 R


EB
8 L
6 T
33 R


N
B


22
5


L
51


T
22
2


R


WB
R 10
T 98
L 121


SB
R


10
T


29
L


12


SB
R


0
T


17
1


L
13


N
B


0
L


35
2


T
61


R


EB
144 L
0 T
400 R


SB
R


0
T


50
2


L
43


WB
R 27
T 0
L 33


N
B


0
L


43
2


T
36


R


EB
7 L
52 T
23 R


N
B


29
L


28
4


T
10
6


R


WB
R 181
T 45
L 80


SB
R


15
T


29
2


L
23
8


SB
R


0
T


29
3


L
10
4


WB
R 78
T 10
L 23


N
B


0
L


29
8


T
24


R


EB
82 L
81 T
28 R


N
B


18
L


78
T


7
R


WB
R 86
T 85
L 1


SB
R


77
T


15
1


L
73


SB
R


69
T


14
2


L
66


WB
R 74
T 84
L 1


N
B


23
L


70
T


7
R


EB
67 L
171 T
84 R


2237 NW Torrey Pines Drive
Bend, Oregon 97703
541-579-8315
cclemow@clemow-associates.com


POST-DEVELOPMENT TRAFFIC VOLUMES - AM and PM Peak Hours FIGURE


Meyers Residential - Stayton, Oregon 6C&A Project No. 20250204.00
clemow
associates LLC


2


5


3


6


1


4 7


2


5


3


6


1


4 7


Volumes are adjusted to 30HV at the
OR22 Ramp Terminal intersections.


Volumes are adjusted to 30HV at the
OR22 Ramp Terminal intersections.


AM Peak Hour PM Peak Hour


PHF=0.86


PHF=0.83


PHF=0.83


PHF=0.91


PHF=0.95


PHF=0.86


PHF=0.82


PHF=0.91


PHF=0.93


PHF=0.96


PHF=0.94


PHF=0.94


PHF=0.88


PHF=0.88







 


  


 


Appendix B 


  







 


PAGE 52 


PROJECT DESCRIPTIONS 
The following section describes the intersection and safety projects 


listed in the motor vehicle plan in Table 8 and Table 9.  


PROJECT M1: GOLF CLUB ROAD SE/SHAFF ROAD SE 
ROUNDABOUT 
The intersection of Golf Club Road SE and Shaff Road is currently all-


way stop controlled. As shown in Table 10, it currently operates at an 


acceptable level of service. However, based on existing vehicular 


volumes, this intersection meets signal warrants as prescribed in the 


Manual for Uniform Traffic Control Devices. Additionally, during the 


public engagement process, this intersection was noted to need 


intersection control upgrade to improve traffic flow.  


Projected operations in the existing and future scenario for the no-


build and roundabout alternative and cost estimates are shown in 


Table 10. A sketch of the roundabout alternative is shown in Figure 


11. 


Table 10. Weekday PM Peak Hour Operations and 
Evaluation (Golf Club Road/Shaff Road) 


No-build Existing 20.9 D $0 
2040 25.3 D 


Roundabout Existing 8.9 A $2,590,000 
2040 9.9 A 


PROJECT M2: STAYTON ROAD SE / WILCO ROAD 
ROUNDABOUT 
The Stayton Road SE/Wilco Road intersection is a five-leg intersection 


on the southwest edge of Stayton. It consists of two intersections in 


close proximity: an all-way stop- controlled intersection and a 


second, smaller, minor-approach stop control intersection 70 feet 


southeast of the first. As shown in Table 11, it currently operates at an 


acceptable level of service. However, during the public 


engagement process, this intersection was noted as congested and 


in need of a traffic control upgrade. Additionally, because this 


intersection serves as an entrance to the city from the southwest, a 


more aesthetically-pleasing intersection could enhance perception 


of the city.  


Projected operations in the existing and future scenario for the no-


build and roundabout alternatives and cost estimates are shown in 


Table 11. A sketch of the roundabout alternative is shown in Figure 


12. 


Table 11. Weekday PM Peak Hour Operations and 
Evaluation (Stayton Road/Wilco Road) 


No-build Existing 12.0 B $0 
2040 13.6 B 


Roundabout Existing 5.8 A $1,640,000 
2040 6.1 A 


PROJECT M3: GOLF LANE SE REALIGNMENT 
Golf Lane SE should be realigned to intersect Cascade Highway 


directly opposite Whitney Street when traffic volumes on Golf Lane 


at Cascade Highway warrant a signal for safety or capacity. This is 


not anticipated based on the projected growth on Golf Lane which 


does not assume expansion of the city limits. Annexation and urban 


development along Golf Lane would add trips to the Cascade 


Highway SE/Golf Lane SE intersection and could trigger the need for 


the Golf Lane realignment.  


The wetlands surrounding Mill Creek pose significant environmental 


constraints to the realignment of Golf Lane SE. Advanced 


engineering may be necessary to avoid or mitigate adverse wetland 







 


PAGE 53 


Figure 11. Golf Club Road SE / Shaff Road SE Roundabout 


 


 


 


 


  


  


Shaff Rd







 


PAGE 54 


 


Figure 12. Stayton Road SE / Wilco Road Roundabout 


 


 


 


 


  


W Ida St


W
ilc


o
 R


d
 


Je
tte


rs W
a


y
 







 


  


 


Appendix C 


  







January 1, 2019 through December 31, 2023


2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 Total
Golf Club Road SE / OR 22 WB Ramps / Sublimity Road 1 2 3 6 3 15 789 7,890 2,879,850 3.00 1.042 Rural 4ST 1.080 Over
Golf Club Road SE / OR 22 EB Ramps 2 2 0 1 0 5 1,068 10,680 3,898,200 1.00 0.257 Rural 3ST 0.475 Under
Golf Club Road SE / Shaff Road SE / Wilco Road 1 1 0 1 1 4 1,283 12,830 4,682,950 0.80 0.171 Urban 4ST 0.408 Under
Wilco Road / W Locust Street 0 1 1 0 0 2 792 7,920 2,890,800 0.40 0.138 Urban 3ST 0.293 Under
Wilco Road / W Washington Street 2 1 1 1 1 6 739 7,390 2,697,350 1.20 0.445 Urban 4ST 0.408 Over
Shaff Road SE / N Gardner Avenue 1 1 1 0 0 3 827 8,270 3,018,550 0.60 0.199 Urban 4ST 0.408 Under


INTERSECTION CRASH RATES


AADT 
(365xADT)


Over or 
Under 
Crash 


Reference 
Population


90th%ile Crash 
Rate


ADT 
(10xPM)


Annual 
Crashes


Crash Rate 
(crashes/MEV)


Intersection
PM Entering 


Volume
Crashes







S D M


SER# P R J S W DATE COUNTY RD# FC CONN# RD CHAR INT-TYPE SPCL USE


INVEST E A U I C O DAY CITY COMPNT FIRST STREET DIRECT (MEDIAN) INT-REL OFFRD WTHR CRASH TRLR QTY MOVE A S


RD DPT E L G N H R TIME URBAN AREA MLG TYP SECOND STREET LOCTN LEGS TRAF- RNDBT SURF COLL OWNER FROM PRTC INJ G E LICNS PED


UNLOC? D C S V L K LAT LONG MILEPNT LRS (#LANES) CONTL DRVWY LIGHT SVRTY V# TYPE TO P# TYPE SVRTY E X RES LOC ERROR ACT EVENT CAUSE


00902 N N N N 03/14/2023 MARION 1 14 STRGHT  N N FOG S-STRGHT  01 NONE  0 STRGHT 124 12


NONE  TU MN 0 UN (DIVMD) UNKNOWN   N ICE SS-O    PRVTE W -E 000 124 00


Y 6A STAYTON UA     11.35 03 N DARK INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 37 M OR-Y 080 017 12


N 44 49 54.26 -122 49 35.16 016200100S00 (04) OR<25


02 NONE  0 STRGHT


PRVTE W -E 000 00


PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJC 60 F OR-Y 000 000 00


OR<25


02601 N N N N N N 08/28/2020 MARION 1 14 STRGHT  N Y CLR FIX OBJ   01 NONE  9 STRGHT 120 16,27


STATE FR MN 0 UN (DIVMD) UNKNOWN   N DRY FIX     N/A  W -E 000 00


Y 4P STAYTON UA     11.46 01 N DAY PDO PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00


N 44 49 50.94 -122 49 28.62 016200100S00 (04) UNK  


00276 N Y N N N N 01/20/2020 MARION 1 14 STRGHT  N Y CLR FIX OBJ   01 NONE  0 STRGHT 079,010 10


COUNTY MO MN 0 UN (DIVMD) UNKNOWN   N DRY FIX     PRVTE W -E 000 079,010 00


Y 4A STAYTON UA     11.47 01 N DLIT INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJB 22 F OR-Y 081 000 10


N 44 49 50.65 -122 49 28.01 016200100S00 (04) OR<25


02159 N N Y N N N 07/24/2020 MARION 1 14 STRGHT  N Y CLR FIX OBJ   01 NONE  9 STRGHT 120 10


STATE FR MN 0 UN (DIVMD) UNKNOWN   N DRY FIX     N/A  W -E 000 00


Y 11P STAYTON UA     11.69 06 N DARK PDO PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00


N 44 49 43.99 -122 49 14.9 016200100S00 (04) UNK  


03754 N N N N N N 12/12/2020 MARION 1 14 1 CURVE   N N CLR O-STRGHT  01 NONE  0 STRGHT 15,27


STATE SA CN 0 UN (NONE) ONE-WAY   N DRY HEAD    PRVTE E -W 000 00


N 8P STAYTON UA     11.53 03 N DARK INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJB 62 M OR-Y 046 038 15,27


N 44 49 46.43 -122 49 27.47 0162BF100S00 (01) OR>25


01 NONE  0 STRGHT


PRVTE E -W 000 00


PSNGR CAR 02 PSNG INJB 83 M 000 000 00


02 NONE  0 STRGHT


PRVTE W -E 000 00


PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJC 71 M OR-Y 000 000 00


OR<25


02 NONE  0 STRGHT


PRVTE W -E 000 00


PSNGR CAR 02 PSNG INJC 35 F 000 000 00


02 NONE  0 STRGHT


PRVTE W -E 000 00


PSNGR CAR 03 PSNG INJC 57 M 000 000 00


01081 N N N N 04/09/2021 MARION 1 14 4 INTER   5-LEG  N N CLR ANGL-OTH  01 NONE  9 STRGHT 32,02


STATE FR CN 0 CN STOP SIGN N DRY ANGL    N/A  E -W 000 00


N 1P STAYTON UA     11.53 01 0 N DAY PDO PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00


N 44 49 55.62 -122 49 24.21 0162BI100S00 UNK  


02 NONE  9 STRGHT


N/A  N -S 000 00


PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00


UNK  


Disclaimer: The information contained in this report is compiled from individual driver and police crash reports submitted to the Oregon Department of Transportation as required in ORS 811.720. The Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit is committed to providing the highest quality crash data to customers. However, because submittal of crash report forms is 
the responsibility of the individual driver, the Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit can not guarantee that all qualifying crashes are represented nor can assurances be made that all details pertaining to a single crash are accurate. Note: Legislative changes to DMV's vehicle crash reporting requirement, effective 01/01/2004, may result in fewer property 
damage only crashes being eligible for inclusion in the Statewide Crash Data File.


OREGON DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION - TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT DIVISION


TRANSPORTATION DATA SECTION - CRASH ANAYLYSIS AND REPORTING UNIT


CONTINUOUS SYSTEM CRASH LISTING


Highway 162 ALL ROAD TYPES, MP 11.25 to 11.76 01/01/2019 to 12/31/2023, Both Add and Non-Add mileage, ALL Crashes Severity, ALL Crashes Circumstance


04/11/2025


CDS380 Page: 1


162: NORTH SANTIAM


1 - 6 of   26 Crash records shown.







S D M


SER# P R J S W DATE COUNTY RD# FC CONN# RD CHAR INT-TYPE SPCL USE


INVEST E A U I C O DAY CITY COMPNT FIRST STREET DIRECT (MEDIAN) INT-REL OFFRD WTHR CRASH TRLR QTY MOVE A S


RD DPT E L G N H R TIME URBAN AREA MLG TYP SECOND STREET LOCTN LEGS TRAF- RNDBT SURF COLL OWNER FROM PRTC INJ G E LICNS PED


UNLOC? D C S V L K LAT LONG MILEPNT LRS (#LANES) CONTL DRVWY LIGHT SVRTY V# TYPE TO P# TYPE SVRTY E X RES LOC ERROR ACT EVENT CAUSE


01239 N N N N N N 04/13/2022 MARION 1 14 4 INTER   4-LEG  N N CLD ANGL-OTH  01 NONE  0 STRGHT 02,27


STATE WE CN 0 CN STOP SIGN N DRY ANGL    PRVTE E -W 000 00


N 2P STAYTON UA     11.53 01 0 N DAY INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 49 F OR-Y 028,016 038 02,27


N 44 49 55.63 -122 49 24.21 0162BI100S00 OR<25


02 NONE  0 STRGHT


PRVTE N -S 000 00


PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJB 43 M OR-Y 000 000 00


OR<25


02 NONE  0 STRGHT


PRVTE N -S 000 00


PSNGR CAR 02 PSNG INJC 43 F 000 000 00


02975 N N N N N N 08/20/2022 MARION 1 14 4 INTER   5-LEG  N N CLR ANGL-OTH  01 NONE  0 STRGHT 010 02


STATE SA CN 0 CN STOP SIGN N DRY ANGL    PRVTE N -S 000 010 00


N 10A STAYTON UA     11.53 01 2 N DAY FAT PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJB 70 M OR-Y 000 000 00


N 44 49 55.63 -122 49 24.2 0162BI100S00 OR<25


01 NONE  0 STRGHT


PRVTE N -S 000 010 00


PSNGR CAR 02 PSNG KILL 70 F 000 000 00


02 NONE  0 STRGHT


PRVTE E -W 015 00


PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJC 42 F OR-Y 028 000 02


OR<25


02 NONE  0 STRGHT


PRVTE E -W 015 00


PSNGR CAR 02 PSNG INJC 07 M 000 000 00


01578 N N N N 05/12/2022 MARION 1 14 4 INTER   5-LEG  N N RAIN ANGL-OTH  01 NONE  0 STRGHT 02


NO RPT TH CN 0 CN STOP SIGN N WET ANGL    PRVTE E -W 000 00


N 1P STAYTON UA     11.53 01 0 N DAY INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 82 M OR-Y 000 000 00


N 44 49 55.62 -122 49 24.21 0162BI100S00 OR<25


02 NONE  0 STRGHT


PRVTE N -S 000 00


PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJB 49 F OR-Y 028 000 02


OR<25


02 NONE  0 STRGHT


PRVTE N -S 000 00


PSNGR CAR 02 PSNG INJC 01 M 000 000 00


03863 N N N N 10/29/2022 MARION 1 14 4 INTER   5-LEG  N N CLR ANGL-OTH  01 NONE  9 STRGHT 02


NONE  SA CN 0 CN STOP SIGN N DRY ANGL    N/A  E -W 000 00


N 11A STAYTON UA     11.53 01 0 N DAY PDO PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00


N 44 49 55.63 -122 49 24.2 0162BI100S00 UNK  


02 NONE  9 STRGHT


N/A  N -S 000 00


PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00


UNK  


Disclaimer: The information contained in this report is compiled from individual driver and police crash reports submitted to the Oregon Department of Transportation as required in ORS 811.720. The Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit is committed to providing the highest quality crash data to customers. However, because submittal of crash report forms is 
the responsibility of the individual driver, the Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit can not guarantee that all qualifying crashes are represented nor can assurances be made that all details pertaining to a single crash are accurate. Note: Legislative changes to DMV's vehicle crash reporting requirement, effective 01/01/2004, may result in fewer property 
damage only crashes being eligible for inclusion in the Statewide Crash Data File.


OREGON DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION - TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT DIVISION


TRANSPORTATION DATA SECTION - CRASH ANAYLYSIS AND REPORTING UNIT


CONTINUOUS SYSTEM CRASH LISTING


Highway 162 ALL ROAD TYPES, MP 11.25 to 11.76 01/01/2019 to 12/31/2023, Both Add and Non-Add mileage, ALL Crashes Severity, ALL Crashes Circumstance


04/11/2025


CDS380 Page: 3


162: NORTH SANTIAM


7 - 10 of   26 Crash records shown.







S D M


SER# P R J S W DATE COUNTY RD# FC CONN# RD CHAR INT-TYPE SPCL USE


INVEST E A U I C O DAY CITY COMPNT FIRST STREET DIRECT (MEDIAN) INT-REL OFFRD WTHR CRASH TRLR QTY MOVE A S


RD DPT E L G N H R TIME URBAN AREA MLG TYP SECOND STREET LOCTN LEGS TRAF- RNDBT SURF COLL OWNER FROM PRTC INJ G E LICNS PED


UNLOC? D C S V L K LAT LONG MILEPNT LRS (#LANES) CONTL DRVWY LIGHT SVRTY V# TYPE TO P# TYPE SVRTY E X RES LOC ERROR ACT EVENT CAUSE


00922 N N N N N N 03/22/2022 MARION 1 14 4 INTER   5-LEG  N N CLR ANGL-OTH  01 NONE  9 STRGHT 02


STATE TU CN 0 CN STOP SIGN N DRY ANGL    N/A  E -W 000 00


N 3P STAYTON UA     11.53 01 0 N DAY PDO PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00


N 44 49 55.63 -122 49 24.2 0162BI100S00 UNK  


02 NONE  9 STRGHT


N/A  N -S 000 00


PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00


UNK  


03323 N N N N N N 09/14/2023 MARION 1 14 4 INTER   5-LEG  N N CLR ANGL-OTH  01 NONE  0 STRGHT 02


STATE TH CN 0 CN STOP SIGN N DRY ANGL    PRVTE E -W 000 00


N 8A STAYTON UA     11.53 01 0 N DAY INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJC 57 F OR-Y 028 000 02


N 44 49 55.63 -122 49 24.2 0162BI100S00 OR<25


02 NONE  0 STRGHT


PRVTE N -S 000 00


PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 19 F OR-Y 000 000 00


OR<25


03555 N N N N N N 10/17/2023 MARION 1 14 4 INTER   5-LEG  N N CLR ANGL-OTH  01 NONE  0 STRGHT 27,02


STATE TU CN 0 CN STOP SIGN N DRY ANGL    PRVTE E -W 000 00


N 2P STAYTON UA     11.53 01 0 N DAY INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJB 80 M OR-Y 028,016 038 27,02


N 44 49 55.63 -122 49 24.2 0162BI100S00 OR<25


02 NONE  0 STRGHT


PRVTE N -S 000 00


PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJA 67 M OR-Y 000 000 00


OR<25


01971 N N N N N N 05/28/2019 MARION 1 14 4 INTER   5-LEG  N N CLD ANGL-OTH  01 NONE  0 STRGHT 03


COUNTY TU CN 0 CN STOP SIGN N DRY ANGL    PRVTE E -W 000 00


N 10A STAYTON UA     11.53 02 2 N DAY INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 59 M OR-Y 021 000 03


N 44 49 55.63 -122 49 24.2 0162BI100S00 OR<25


02 NONE  0 STRGHT


PRVTE S -N 000 00


PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJB 81 M OR-Y 000 000 00


OR<25


02 NONE  0 STRGHT


PRVTE S -N 000 00


PSNGR CAR 02 PSNG INJA 81 F 000 000 00


04035 N N N N 10/15/2019 MARION 1 14 1 INTER   CROSS  N N CLR S-1STOP   01 NONE  0 STRGHT 29


NONE  TU CN 0 W STOP SIGN N DRY REAR    PRVTE W -E 000 00


N 4P STAYTON UA     11.57 06 1 N DAY INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 43 M OR-Y 026 000 29


N 44 49 45.82 -122 49 24.67 0162BF100S00 OR<25


02 NONE  0 STOP  


PRVTE W -E 011 00


PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJC 50 F OR-Y 000 000 00


OR<25


00127 N N N N 01/10/2020 MARION 1 14 1 INTER   CROSS  N N RAIN S-1STOP   01 NONE  0 STRGHT 29


NONE  FR CN 0 W STOP SIGN N WET REAR    PRVTE W -E 000 00


N 4P STAYTON UA     11.57 06 0 N DUSK INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 25 M OR-Y 026 000 29


N 44 49 45.83 -122 49 24.69 0162BF100S00 OR<25


Disclaimer: The information contained in this report is compiled from individual driver and police crash reports submitted to the Oregon Department of Transportation as required in ORS 811.720. The Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit is committed to providing the highest quality crash data to customers. However, because submittal of crash report forms is 
the responsibility of the individual driver, the Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit can not guarantee that all qualifying crashes are represented nor can assurances be made that all details pertaining to a single crash are accurate. Note: Legislative changes to DMV's vehicle crash reporting requirement, effective 01/01/2004, may result in fewer property 
damage only crashes being eligible for inclusion in the Statewide Crash Data File.


OREGON DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION - TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT DIVISION


TRANSPORTATION DATA SECTION - CRASH ANAYLYSIS AND REPORTING UNIT


CONTINUOUS SYSTEM CRASH LISTING


Highway 162 ALL ROAD TYPES, MP 11.25 to 11.76 01/01/2019 to 12/31/2023, Both Add and Non-Add mileage, ALL Crashes Severity, ALL Crashes Circumstance


04/11/2025


CDS380 Page: 5


162: NORTH SANTIAM


11 - 15 of   26 Crash records shown.







S D M


SER# P R J S W DATE COUNTY RD# FC CONN# RD CHAR INT-TYPE SPCL USE


INVEST E A U I C O DAY CITY COMPNT FIRST STREET DIRECT (MEDIAN) INT-REL OFFRD WTHR CRASH TRLR QTY MOVE A S


RD DPT E L G N H R TIME URBAN AREA MLG TYP SECOND STREET LOCTN LEGS TRAF- RNDBT SURF COLL OWNER FROM PRTC INJ G E LICNS PED


UNLOC? D C S V L K LAT LONG MILEPNT LRS (#LANES) CONTL DRVWY LIGHT SVRTY V# TYPE TO P# TYPE SVRTY E X RES LOC ERROR ACT EVENT CAUSE
02 NONE  0 STOP  


PRVTE W -E 011 00


PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJC 42 F OR-Y 000 000 00


OR<25


02 NONE  0 STOP  


PRVTE W -E 011 00


PSNGR CAR 02 PSNG INJC 46 M 000 000 00


00783 N N N N 02/24/2020 MARION 1 14 1 INTER   CROSS  N N CLR S-1STOP   01 NONE  0 STRGHT 29


NONE  MO CN 0 W STOP SIGN N DRY REAR    PRVTE W -E 000 00


N 1P STAYTON UA     11.57 06 0 N DAY INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 F OR-Y 026 000 29


N 44 49 45.83 -122 49 24.67 0162BF100S00 OR<25


02 NONE  0 STOP  


PRVTE W -E 011 00


PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJC 42 M OR-Y 000 000 00


OR<25


03432 N Y N N 09/07/2019 MARION 1 14 1 INTER   CROSS  N N CLR ANGL-OTH  01 NONE  0 TURN-L 02


COUNTY SA CN 0 CN STOP SIGN N DRY TURN    PRVTE W -N 000 00


N 10P STAYTON UA     11.57 03 1 N DLIT INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 31 M OR-Y 028 000 02


N 44 49 45.82 -122 49 24.69 0162BF100S00 OR<25


02 NONE  0 STRGHT


PRVTE N -S 000 00


PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJC 37 M OR-Y 000 000 00


OR<25


02 NONE  0 STRGHT


PRVTE N -S 000 00


PSNGR CAR 02 PSNG INJC 64 M 000 000 00


03727 N N N N N N 10/10/2022 MARION 1 14 2 INTER   CROSS  N N CLR S-1STOP   01 NONE  9 STRGHT 29


STATE MO CN 0 W STOP SIGN N DRY REAR    N/A  W -E 000 00


N 4P STAYTON UA     11.57 06 0 N DAY PDO PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00


N 44 49 45.82 -122 49 24.67 0162BF100S00 UNK  


02 NONE  9 STOP  


N/A  W -E 011 00


PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00


UNK  


00956 N N N N N N 03/07/2020 MARION 1 14 3 INTER   4-LEG  N N RAIN ANGL-OTH  01 NONE  0 TURN-L 087 02


COUNTY SA CN 0 CN STOP SIGN N WET TURN    PRVTE W -N 000 087 00


N 2P STAYTON UA     11.75 03 0 N DAY INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJB 69 M OR-Y 028 000 02


N 44 49 55.62 -122 49 24.19 0162BH100S00 OR<25


01 NONE  0 TURN-L


PRVTE W -N 000 087 00


PSNGR CAR 02 PSNG INJC 68 F 000 000 00


02 NONE  0 STRGHT


PRVTE N -S 000 087 00


PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJB 58 M OR-Y 000 000 00


OR<25


Disclaimer: The information contained in this report is compiled from individual driver and police crash reports submitted to the Oregon Department of Transportation as required in ORS 811.720. The Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit is committed to providing the highest quality crash data to customers. However, because submittal of crash report forms is 
the responsibility of the individual driver, the Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit can not guarantee that all qualifying crashes are represented nor can assurances be made that all details pertaining to a single crash are accurate. Note: Legislative changes to DMV's vehicle crash reporting requirement, effective 01/01/2004, may result in fewer property 
damage only crashes being eligible for inclusion in the Statewide Crash Data File.


OREGON DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION - TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT DIVISION


TRANSPORTATION DATA SECTION - CRASH ANAYLYSIS AND REPORTING UNIT


CONTINUOUS SYSTEM CRASH LISTING


Highway 162 ALL ROAD TYPES, MP 11.25 to 11.76 01/01/2019 to 12/31/2023, Both Add and Non-Add mileage, ALL Crashes Severity, ALL Crashes Circumstance


04/11/2025


CDS380 Page: 7


162: NORTH SANTIAM


16 - 20 of   26 Crash records shown.







S D M


SER# P R J S W DATE COUNTY RD# FC CONN# RD CHAR INT-TYPE SPCL USE


INVEST E A U I C O DAY CITY COMPNT FIRST STREET DIRECT (MEDIAN) INT-REL OFFRD WTHR CRASH TRLR QTY MOVE A S


RD DPT E L G N H R TIME URBAN AREA MLG TYP SECOND STREET LOCTN LEGS TRAF- RNDBT SURF COLL OWNER FROM PRTC INJ G E LICNS PED


UNLOC? D C S V L K LAT LONG MILEPNT LRS (#LANES) CONTL DRVWY LIGHT SVRTY V# TYPE TO P# TYPE SVRTY E X RES LOC ERROR ACT EVENT CAUSE


00245 N N N N 01/27/2021 MARION 1 14 3 INTER   5-LEG  N N RAIN ANGL-OTH  01 NONE  9 STRGHT 079 02


COUNTY WE CN 0 CN STOP SIGN N WET ANGL    N/A  W -E 000 00


N 12P STAYTON UA     11.75 03 0 N DAY PDO PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00


N 44 49 55.64 -122 49 24.2 0162BH100S00 UNK  


02 NONE  9 STRGHT


N/A  N -S 000 00


PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00


UNK  


01783 N N N N 06/12/2020 MARION 1 14 3 INTER   5-LEG  N N CLR ANGL-OTH  01 NONE  9 STRGHT 02


NONE  FR CN 0 CN STOP SIGN N DRY ANGL    N/A  S -N 000 00


N 8P STAYTON UA     11.75 04 0 N DAY PDO PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00


N 44 49 55.63 -122 49 24.19 0162BH100S00 UNK  


02 NONE  9 STRGHT


N/A  W -E 000 00


PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00


UNK  


04608 N N N N 12/15/2021 MARION 1 14 3 INTER   5-LEG  N N RAIN O-1 L-TURN 01 NONE  9 STRGHT 02


NO RPT WE CN 0 CN STOP SIGN N WET TURN    N/A  S -N 000 00


N 6P STAYTON UA     11.75 04 0 N DARK PDO PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00


N 44 49 55.62 -122 49 24.19 0162BH100S00 UNK  


02 NONE  9 TURN-L


N/A  N -E 000 00


PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00


UNK  


03291 N N N N 09/03/2022 MARION 1 14 3 INTER   4-LEG  N N CLR ANGL-OTH  01 NONE  9 STRGHT 02


NO RPT SA CN 0 CN STOP SIGN N DRY ANGL    N/A  S -N 000 00


N 8A STAYTON UA     11.75 04 0 N DAY PDO PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00


N 44 49 55.63 -122 49 24.2 0162BH100S00 UNK  


02 NONE  9 STRGHT


N/A  W -E 000 00


PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00


UNK  


01953 N N N N 05/31/2023 MARION 1 14 3 INTER   5-LEG  N N CLR ANGL-OTH  01 NONE  0 STRGHT 02


NO RPT WE CN 0 CN STOP SIGN N DRY ANGL    PRVTE W -E 000 00


N 3P STAYTON UA     11.75 04 0 N DAY INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 17 M UNK  028 000 02


N 44 49 55.63 -122 49 24.2 0162BH100S00 OR<25


02 NONE  0 STRGHT


PRVTE S -N 000 00


PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJC 66 M OR-Y 000 000 00


OR<25


02294 N N N N 07/10/2022 MARION 2 14 STRGHT  N N CLR S-1STOP   01 NONE  0 STRGHT 29


NO RPT SU MN 0 UN (DIVMD) UNKNOWN   N DRY REAR    PRVTE E -W 000 00


N 11P STAYTON UA     11.43 00 N DARK INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 25 M OR-Y 026 000 29


N 44 49 52.69 -122 49 29.53 016200200S00 (04) OR<25


02 NONE  0 STOP  


PRVTE E -W 011 00


PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJC 74 F OR-Y 000 000 00


OR<25


Disclaimer: The information contained in this report is compiled from individual driver and police crash reports submitted to the Oregon Department of Transportation as required in ORS 811.720. The Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit is committed to providing the highest quality crash data to customers. However, because submittal of crash report forms is 
the responsibility of the individual driver, the Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit can not guarantee that all qualifying crashes are represented nor can assurances be made that all details pertaining to a single crash are accurate. Note: Legislative changes to DMV's vehicle crash reporting requirement, effective 01/01/2004, may result in fewer property 
damage only crashes being eligible for inclusion in the Statewide Crash Data File.


OREGON DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION - TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT DIVISION


TRANSPORTATION DATA SECTION - CRASH ANAYLYSIS AND REPORTING UNIT


CONTINUOUS SYSTEM CRASH LISTING


Highway 162 ALL ROAD TYPES, MP 11.25 to 11.76 01/01/2019 to 12/31/2023, Both Add and Non-Add mileage, ALL Crashes Severity, ALL Crashes Circumstance


04/11/2025


CDS380 Page: 9


162: NORTH SANTIAM


21 - 26 of   26 Crash records shown.







S D M


SER# P R J S W DATE MILEPNT COUNTY ROADS INT-TYPE SPCL USE


INVEST E A U I C O DAY DIST FROM FIRST STREET RD CHAR (MEDIAN) INT-REL OFFRD WTHR CRASH TRLR QTY MOVE A S


RD DPT E L G N H R TIME INTERSECT SECOND STREET DIRECT LEGS TRAF- RNDBT SURF COLL OWNER FROM PRTC INJ G E LICNS PED


UNLOC? D C S V L K LAT LONG LRS LOCTN (#LANES) CONTL DRVWY LIGHT SVRTY V# TYPE TO P# TYPE SVRTY E X RES LOC ERROR ACT EVENT CAUSE


02850 Y Y N N N N 08/07/2023 0.34 GOLF CLUB RD SE       
      


CURVE   N N CLR O-STRGHT  01 NONE  0 STRGHT 079 33,30,27


COUNTY MO UN (NONE) UNKNOWN   N DRY HEAD    PRVTE S -N 000 079 00


Y 10P 05 N DARK INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJB 24 F OR-Y 051,050,080 038 33,30,27


N 44 49 22.87 -122 49 
23.8


(02) OR<25


02 NONE  0 STRGHT


PRVTE N -S 000 00


PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJA 41 F OR-Y 000 000 00


OR<25


04304 N N N N 11/20/2023 0.34 GOLF CLUB RD SE       
      


CURVE   N N FOG O-STRGHT  01 NONE  1 STRGHT 10


NONE  MO UN (NONE) UNKNOWN   N UNK SS-M    PRVTE S -N 000 00


Y 6A 05 N DARK INJ SEMI TOW  01 DRVR NONE 00 M UNK  080 000 10


N 44 49 23.11 -122 49 
23.86


(02) UNK  


02 NONE  0 STRGHT


PRVTE N -S 000 00


PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJC 67 M OR-Y 000 000 00


OR>25


01041 Y Y N N N N 04/02/2022 0.36 GOLF CLUB RD SE       
      


CURVE   N Y CLD FIX OBJ   01 NONE  0 STRGHT 079,010 33,01


COUNTY SA UN (NONE) UNKNOWN   N WET FIX     PRVTE N -S 000 079,010 00


Y 5A 01 N DAWN INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJB 38 M OR-Y 051,047,081 000 33,01


N 44 49 20.76 -122 49 
22.91


(02) OR<25


01 NONE  0 STRGHT


PRVTE N -S 000 079,010 00


PSNGR CAR 02 PSNG INJB 38 F 000 000 00


03444 N N N N 09/22/2023 0.43 GOLF CLUB RD SE       
      


CURVE   N Y CLR FIX OBJ   01 NONE  0 STRGHT 062 16


COUNTY FR UN (NONE) UNKNOWN   N DRY FIX     PRVTE N -S 000 062 00


Y 1A 01 N DARK INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJC 29 F OR-Y 079,081 025 16


N 44 49 22.93 -122 49 
23.82


(02) OR<25


00550 N N N N Y 02/22/2021 0.53 GOLF CLUB RD SE       
      


STRGHT  N N CLD S-1STOP   01 NONE  0 STRGHT 22,29


COUNTY MO UN (NONE) UNKNOWN   N WET REAR    PRVTE S -N 000 22


N 3P 03 N DAY INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJA 22 F OR-Y 017,026 000 29


N 44 49 13.79 -122 49 
18.31


(02) OR<25


02 NONE  0 STOP  


PRVTE S -N 011 00


TRUCK     01 DRVR INJC 32 M OR-Y 000 000 00


OR<25


94147 N N N N N N 10/22/2019 0.59 GOLF CLUB RD SE       
      


STRGHT  N N RAIN S-1STOP   01 NONE  9 STRGHT 034 27,29


CITY  TU UN (NONE) UNKNOWN   N WET REAR    N/A  S -N 000 00


N 7A 03 N DAY PDO PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00


N 44 49 9.4 -122 49 
15.39


(02) UNK  


Disclaimer: The information contained in this report is compiled from individual driver and police crash reports submitted to the Oregon Department of Transportation as required in ORS 811.720. The Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit is committed to providing the highest quality crash data to customers. However, because submittal of crash report forms is 
the responsibility of the individual driver, the Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit can not guarantee that all qualifying crashes are represented nor can assurances be made that all details pertaining to a single crash are accurate. Note: Legislative changes to DMV's vehicle crash reporting requirement, effective 01/01/2004, may result in fewer property 
damage only crashes being eligible for inclusion in the Statewide Crash Data File.


OREGON.. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION - TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT DIVISION


TRANSPORTATION DATA SECTION - CRASH ANAYLYSIS AND REPORTING UNIT


COUNTY ROAD CRASH LISTING


GOLF CLUB RD SE, MP -999.99 to 999.99, ALL Crashes Severity, ALL Crashes Circumstance, 01/01/2019 to 12/31/2023


04/11/2025


CDS380 Page: 1


MARION COUNTY


1 - 5 of   13 Crash records shown.







S D M


SER# P R J S W DATE MILEPNT COUNTY ROADS INT-TYPE SPCL USE


INVEST E A U I C O DAY DIST FROM FIRST STREET RD CHAR (MEDIAN) INT-REL OFFRD WTHR CRASH TRLR QTY MOVE A S


RD DPT E L G N H R TIME INTERSECT SECOND STREET DIRECT LEGS TRAF- RNDBT SURF COLL OWNER FROM PRTC INJ G E LICNS PED


UNLOC? D C S V L K LAT LONG LRS LOCTN (#LANES) CONTL DRVWY LIGHT SVRTY V# TYPE TO P# TYPE SVRTY E X RES LOC ERROR ACT EVENT CAUSE
02 NONE  9 STOP  


N/A  S -N 011 00


PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00


UNK  


01086 N N N N 03/19/2020 0.61 GOLF CLUB RD SE       
      


STRGHT  N N CLR S-1STOP   01 NONE  9 STRGHT 07,27


COUNTY TH UN (NONE) UNKNOWN   N DRY REAR    N/A  S -N 000 00


N 9A 03 N DAY PDO PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00


N 44 49 9.88 -122 49 
15.7


(02) UNK  


02 NONE  9 STOP  


N/A  S -N 012 00


PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00


UNK  


02053 N N N N N N 06/22/2022 0.65 GOLF CLUB RD SE       
      


STRGHT  N N CLR S-1STOP   01 NONE  0 STRGHT 079,013 27,29


COUNTY WE UN (NONE) UNKNOWN   N DRY REAR    PRVTE S -N 000 079 00


N 1P 03 N DAY INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJC 20 F OR-Y 026,016 038 27,29


N 44 49 8.08 -122 49 
14.56


(02) OR<25


02 NONE  0 STOP  


PRVTE S -N 011 013 00


PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 21 F OR-Y 000 022 00


OR<25


03 NONE  1 STOP  


PRVTE S -N 012 00


SEMI TOW  01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk OTH-Y 000 000 00


UNK  


03673 N N N N N N 10/03/2022 0.67 GOLF CLUB RD SE       
      


CURVE   N N UNK O-STRGHT  01 NONE  0 STRGHT 05


COUNTY MO UN (NONE) UNKNOWN   N UNK HEAD    PRVTE S -N 000 00


Y 7P 05 N DARK FAT PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR KILL 57 F OR-Y 079 000 05


N 44 49 22.77 -122 49 
23.78


(02) OR<25


02 NONE  0 STRGHT


PRVTE N -S 000 00


PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJB 21 M OR-Y 000 000 00


OR<25


03732 N N N N 10/22/2021 0.92 GOLF CLUB RD SE       
      


STRGHT  N N RAIN S-1STOP   01 NONE  0 STRGHT 29


NONE  FR UN (NONE) UNKNOWN   N WET REAR    PRVTE N -S 000 00


N 3P 03 Y DAY INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 25 M OR-Y 026 000 29


N 44 49 3.41 -122 49 
11.59


(02) OR<25


02 NONE  0 STOP  


PRVTE N -S 012 00


PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJC 57 F OR-Y 000 000 00


OR<25


01588 N N N N 04/15/2019 0.94 GOLF CLUB RD SE       
      


STRGHT  N Y CLD FIX OBJ   01 NONE  9 STRGHT 053,010,093 27


COUNTY MO UN (NONE) UNKNOWN   N DRY FIX     N/A  N -S 000 00


Y 12P 01 N DAY PDO PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00


N 44 49 2.33 -122 49 
10.91


(02) UNK  


Disclaimer: The information contained in this report is compiled from individual driver and police crash reports submitted to the Oregon Department of Transportation as required in ORS 811.720. The Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit is committed to providing the highest quality crash data to customers. However, because submittal of crash report forms is 
the responsibility of the individual driver, the Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit can not guarantee that all qualifying crashes are represented nor can assurances be made that all details pertaining to a single crash are accurate. Note: Legislative changes to DMV's vehicle crash reporting requirement, effective 01/01/2004, may result in fewer property 
damage only crashes being eligible for inclusion in the Statewide Crash Data File.


OREGON.. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION - TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT DIVISION


TRANSPORTATION DATA SECTION - CRASH ANAYLYSIS AND REPORTING UNIT


COUNTY ROAD CRASH LISTING


GOLF CLUB RD SE, MP -999.99 to 999.99, ALL Crashes Severity, ALL Crashes Circumstance, 01/01/2019 to 12/31/2023


04/11/2025


CDS380 Page: 3


MARION COUNTY


6 - 11 of   13 Crash records shown.







S D M


SER# P R J S W DATE MILEPNT COUNTY ROADS INT-TYPE SPCL USE


INVEST E A U I C O DAY DIST FROM FIRST STREET RD CHAR (MEDIAN) INT-REL OFFRD WTHR CRASH TRLR QTY MOVE A S


RD DPT E L G N H R TIME INTERSECT SECOND STREET DIRECT LEGS TRAF- RNDBT SURF COLL OWNER FROM PRTC INJ G E LICNS PED


UNLOC? D C S V L K LAT LONG LRS LOCTN (#LANES) CONTL DRVWY LIGHT SVRTY V# TYPE TO P# TYPE SVRTY E X RES LOC ERROR ACT EVENT CAUSE


04671 N N N N 11/22/2019 1.01 GOLF CLUB RD SE       
      


STRGHT  Y N CLR S-1STOP   01 NONE  9 STRGHT 29


NONE  FR UN (NONE) UNKNOWN   N UNK REAR    N/A  N -S 000 00


N 2P 03 N DAY PDO PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00


N 44 48 59.89 -122 49 
9.36


(02) UNK  


02 NONE  9 STOP  


N/A  N -S 011 00


PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00


UNK  


01597 N N N N 05/13/2022 999.99 GOLF CLUB RD SE       
      


UNK     N Y RAIN FIX OBJ   01 NONE  9 TURN-L 100 08


NO RPT FR UN (NONE) UNKNOWN   N WET FIX     N/A  E -S 000 00


Y 4P 01 N DAY PDO PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00


Y 44 50 6.58 -122 27 
21.59


(02) UNK  


Disclaimer: The information contained in this report is compiled from individual driver and police crash reports submitted to the Oregon Department of Transportation as required in ORS 811.720. The Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit is committed to providing the highest quality crash data to customers. However, because submittal of crash report forms is 
the responsibility of the individual driver, the Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit can not guarantee that all qualifying crashes are represented nor can assurances be made that all details pertaining to a single crash are accurate. Note: Legislative changes to DMV's vehicle crash reporting requirement, effective 01/01/2004, may result in fewer property 
damage only crashes being eligible for inclusion in the Statewide Crash Data File.


OREGON.. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION - TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT DIVISION


TRANSPORTATION DATA SECTION - CRASH ANAYLYSIS AND REPORTING UNIT


COUNTY ROAD CRASH LISTING


GOLF CLUB RD SE, MP -999.99 to 999.99, ALL Crashes Severity, ALL Crashes Circumstance, 01/01/2019 to 12/31/2023


04/11/2025


CDS380 Page: 5


MARION COUNTY


12 - 13 of   13 Crash records shown.







S D M


SER# P R J S W DATE CLASS CITY STREET INT-TYPE SPCL USE


INVEST E A U I C O DAY DIST FIRST STREET RD CHAR (MEDIAN) INT-REL OFFRD WTHR CRASH TRLR QTY MOVE A S


RD DPT E L G N H R TIME FROM SECOND STREET DIRECT LEGS TRAF- RNDBT SURF COLL OWNER FROM PRTC INJ G E LICNS PED


UNLOC? D C S V L K LAT LONG LRS LOCTN (#LANES) CONTL DRVWY LIGHT SVRTY V# TYPE TO P# TYPE SVRTY E X RES LOC ERROR ACT EVENT CAUSE


00554 N N N N 02/19/2022 16 GOLF CLUB RD          
      


INTER   CROSS  N N CLR S-STRGHT  01 NONE  0 STRGHT 17


CITY  SA 0 SHAFF RD              
      


N STOP SIGN N DRY REAR    PRVTE N -S 000 00


N 11A 06 0 N DAY INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 57 M OR-Y 026 028 17


N 44 48 35.24 -122 48 
53.31


OR<25


02 NONE  0 STRGHT


PRVTE N -S 006 00


PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJC 39 F OR-Y 000 000 00


OR<25


04593 N N N N 11/25/2023 16 GOLF CLUB RD          
      


INTER   CROSS  N Y CLR FIX OBJ   01 NONE  9 TURN-L 079 10


NONE  SA 0 SHAFF RD              
      


W STOP SIGN N WET FIX     N/A  S -W 000 00


N 3A 05 0 N DARK PDO SEMI TOW  01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00


N 44 48 35.24 -122 48 
53.3


UNK  


05232 N N N N N N 12/26/2019 16 GOLF CLUB RD          
      


INTER   CROSS  N N CLR ANGL-OTH  01 NONE  0 STRGHT 03


CITY  TH 0 SHAFF RD              
      


CN STOP SIGN N DRY ANGL    PRVTE N -S 000 00


N 5P 01 0 N DLIT INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 72 M OR-Y 021 000 03


N 44 48 35.25 -122 48 
53.32


OR<25


02 NONE  0 STRGHT


PRVTE E -W 000 00


PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJC 47 F OR-Y 000 000 00


OR<25


02 NONE  0 STRGHT


PRVTE E -W 000 00


PSNGR CAR 02 PSNG INJC 11 M 000 000 00


01482 N N N N 05/19/2020 16 GOLF CLUB RD          
      


INTER   CROSS  N N CLR S-OTHER   01 NONE  9 TURN-L 08


NO RPT TU 0 SHAFF RD              
      


CN STOP SIGN N DRY TURN    N/A  S -W 000 00


N 12P 01 0 N DAY PDO SEMI TOW  01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00


N 44 48 35.23 -122 48 
53.3


UNK  


02 NONE  9 TURN-L


N/A  S -W 000 00


PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00


UNK  


02123 N N N N N N 06/05/2019 16 GOLF CLUB RD          
      


STRGHT  Y N CLR S-1STOP   01 NONE  0 STRGHT 07,27


CITY  WE 83 SHAFF RD              
      


N (NONE) UNKNOWN   N DRY REAR    PRVTE N -S 000 00


N 5P 08 N DAY INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJC 21 F OR-Y 043,016,026 038 07,27


N 44 48 36.4 -122 48 
53.54


(02) OR<25


02 NONE  0 STOP  


PRVTE N -S 011 00


PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJC 31 F OR-Y 000 000 00


OR<25


Disclaimer: The information contained in this report is compiled from individual driver and police crash reports submitted to the Oregon Department of Transportation as required in ORS 811.720. The Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit is committed to providing the highest quality crash data to customers. However, because submittal of crash report forms is 
the responsibility of the individual driver, the Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit can not guarantee that all qualifying crashes are represented nor can assurances be made that all details pertaining to a single crash are accurate. Note: Legislative changes to DMV's vehicle crash reporting requirement, effective 01/01/2004, may result in fewer property 
damage only crashes being eligible for inclusion in the Statewide Crash Data File.


OREGON.. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION - TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT DIVISION


TRANSPORTATION DATA SECTION - CRASH ANAYLYSIS AND REPORTING UNIT


URBAN NON-SYSTEM CRASH LISTING


GOLF CLUB RD and Intersectional Crashes at GOLF CLUB RD, City of Stayton, Marion County, ALL Crashes Severity, ALL Crashes Circumstance, 01/01/2019 to 
12/31/2023


04/11/2025


CDS380 Page: 1


CITY OF STAYTON, MARION COUNTY


1 - 5 of   8 Crash records shown.







S D M


SER# P R J S W DATE CLASS CITY STREET INT-TYPE SPCL USE


INVEST E A U I C O DAY DIST FIRST STREET RD CHAR (MEDIAN) INT-REL OFFRD WTHR CRASH TRLR QTY MOVE A S


RD DPT E L G N H R TIME FROM SECOND STREET DIRECT LEGS TRAF- RNDBT SURF COLL OWNER FROM PRTC INJ G E LICNS PED


UNLOC? D C S V L K LAT LONG LRS LOCTN (#LANES) CONTL DRVWY LIGHT SVRTY V# TYPE TO P# TYPE SVRTY E X RES LOC ERROR ACT EVENT CAUSE


03437 N N N N N N 10/02/2021 16 GOLF CLUB RD          
      


STRGHT  N N CLR S-1TURN   01 NONE  0 STRGHT 07,27


CITY  SA 476 SHAFF RD              
      


N (NONE) UNKNOWN   N DRY REAR    PRVTE S -N 000 00


N 4P 07 N DAY INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJB 21 M OR-Y 043,016,042 038 07,27


N 44 48 39.82 -122 48 
55.9


(02) OR<25


02 NONE  0 TURN-R


PRVTE S -E 000 00


PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJC 61 F OR-Y 000 000 00


OR<25


02 NONE  0 TURN-R


PRVTE S -E 000 00


PSNGR CAR 02 PSNG INJC 39 F 000 000 00


02886 N N N N N N 09/24/2020 16 GOLF CLUB RD          
      


STRGHT  N N CLR S-1STOP   01 NONE  0 STRGHT 013 29


CITY  TH 996 SHAFF RD              
      


N (NONE) UNKNOWN   N DRY REAR    RENTL N -S 000 00


N 5P 08 Y DAY INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 37 F OR-Y 026 000 29


N 44 48 44.45 -122 48 
59.06


(02) OR<25


02 NONE  0 STOP  


PRVTE N -S 012 013 00


PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJC 57 F OR-Y 000 022 00


OR<25


03 NONE  0 STOP  


PRVTE N -S 012 00


PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 46 F OR-Y 000 000 00


OR<25


00873 N N N N 03/23/2021 16 GOLF CLUB RD          
      


STRGHT  N Y CLR FIX OBJ   01 NONE  9 STRGHT 079,010 10


NO RPT TU 1037 SHAFF RD              
      


N (NONE) UNKNOWN   N DRY FIX     N/A  N -S 000 00


Y 12A 08 N DARK PDO SEMI TOW  01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00


N 44 48 44.86 -122 48 
59.35


(02) UNK  


Disclaimer: The information contained in this report is compiled from individual driver and police crash reports submitted to the Oregon Department of Transportation as required in ORS 811.720. The Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit is committed to providing the highest quality crash data to customers. However, because submittal of crash report forms is 
the responsibility of the individual driver, the Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit can not guarantee that all qualifying crashes are represented nor can assurances be made that all details pertaining to a single crash are accurate. Note: Legislative changes to DMV's vehicle crash reporting requirement, effective 01/01/2004, may result in fewer property 
damage only crashes being eligible for inclusion in the Statewide Crash Data File.


OREGON.. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION - TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT DIVISION


TRANSPORTATION DATA SECTION - CRASH ANAYLYSIS AND REPORTING UNIT


URBAN NON-SYSTEM CRASH LISTING


GOLF CLUB RD and Intersectional Crashes at GOLF CLUB RD, City of Stayton, Marion County, ALL Crashes Severity, ALL Crashes Circumstance, 01/01/2019 to 
12/31/2023


04/11/2025


CDS380 Page: 3


CITY OF STAYTON, MARION COUNTY


6 - 8 of   8 Crash records shown.







S D M


SER# P R J S W DATE CLASS CITY STREET INT-TYPE SPCL USE


INVEST E A U I C O DAY DIST FIRST STREET RD CHAR (MEDIAN) INT-REL OFFRD WTHR CRASH TRLR QTY MOVE A S


RD DPT E L G N H R TIME FROM SECOND STREET DIRECT LEGS TRAF- RNDBT SURF COLL OWNER FROM PRTC INJ G E LICNS PED


UNLOC? D C S V L K LAT LONG LRS LOCTN (#LANES) CONTL DRVWY LIGHT SVRTY V# TYPE TO P# TYPE SVRTY E X RES LOC ERROR ACT EVENT CAUSE


00554 N N N N 02/19/2022 16 GOLF CLUB RD          
      


INTER   CROSS  N N CLR S-STRGHT  01 NONE  0 STRGHT 17


CITY  SA 0 SHAFF RD              
      


N STOP SIGN N DRY REAR    PRVTE N -S 000 00


N 11A 06 0 N DAY INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 57 M OR-Y 026 028 17


N 44 48 35.24 -122 48 
53.31


OR<25


02 NONE  0 STRGHT


PRVTE N -S 006 00


PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJC 39 F OR-Y 000 000 00


OR<25


04593 N N N N 11/25/2023 16 GOLF CLUB RD          
      


INTER   CROSS  N Y CLR FIX OBJ   01 NONE  9 TURN-L 079 10


NONE  SA 0 SHAFF RD              
      


W STOP SIGN N WET FIX     N/A  S -W 000 00


N 3A 05 0 N DARK PDO SEMI TOW  01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00


N 44 48 35.24 -122 48 
53.3


UNK  


05232 N N N N N N 12/26/2019 16 GOLF CLUB RD          
      


INTER   CROSS  N N CLR ANGL-OTH  01 NONE  0 STRGHT 03


CITY  TH 0 SHAFF RD              
      


CN STOP SIGN N DRY ANGL    PRVTE N -S 000 00


N 5P 01 0 N DLIT INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 72 M OR-Y 021 000 03


N 44 48 35.25 -122 48 
53.32


OR<25


02 NONE  0 STRGHT


PRVTE E -W 000 00


PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJC 47 F OR-Y 000 000 00


OR<25


02 NONE  0 STRGHT


PRVTE E -W 000 00


PSNGR CAR 02 PSNG INJC 11 M 000 000 00


01482 N N N N 05/19/2020 16 GOLF CLUB RD          
      


INTER   CROSS  N N CLR S-OTHER   01 NONE  9 TURN-L 08


NO RPT TU 0 SHAFF RD              
      


CN STOP SIGN N DRY TURN    N/A  S -W 000 00


N 12P 01 0 N DAY PDO SEMI TOW  01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00


N 44 48 35.23 -122 48 
53.3


UNK  


02 NONE  9 TURN-L


N/A  S -W 000 00


PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00


UNK  


Disclaimer: The information contained in this report is compiled from individual driver and police crash reports submitted to the Oregon Department of Transportation as required in ORS 811.720. The Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit is committed to providing the highest quality crash data to customers. However, because submittal of crash report forms is 
the responsibility of the individual driver, the Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit can not guarantee that all qualifying crashes are represented nor can assurances be made that all details pertaining to a single crash are accurate. Note: Legislative changes to DMV's vehicle crash reporting requirement, effective 01/01/2004, may result in fewer property 
damage only crashes being eligible for inclusion in the Statewide Crash Data File.


OREGON.. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION - TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT DIVISION


TRANSPORTATION DATA SECTION - CRASH ANAYLYSIS AND REPORTING UNIT


URBAN NON-SYSTEM CRASH LISTING


GOLF CLUB RD at SHAFF RD, City of Stayton, Marion County, ALL Crashes Severity, ALL Crashes Circumstance, 01/01/2019 to 12/31/2023


04/11/2025


CDS380 Page: 1


CITY OF STAYTON, MARION COUNTY


1 - 4 of   4 Crash records shown.







S D M


SER# P R J S W DATE CLASS CITY STREET INT-TYPE SPCL USE


INVEST E A U I C O DAY DIST FIRST STREET RD CHAR (MEDIAN) INT-REL OFFRD WTHR CRASH TRLR QTY MOVE A S


RD DPT E L G N H R TIME FROM SECOND STREET DIRECT LEGS TRAF- RNDBT SURF COLL OWNER FROM PRTC INJ G E LICNS PED


UNLOC? D C S V L K LAT LONG LRS LOCTN (#LANES) CONTL DRVWY LIGHT SVRTY V# TYPE TO P# TYPE SVRTY E X RES LOC ERROR ACT EVENT CAUSE


01450 N N N N 05/06/2021 16 SHAFF RD              
      


INTER   CROSS  N N CLR S-1TURN   01 NONE  9 TURN-R 08


NONE  TH 0 WILCO RD              
      


CN STOP SIGN N DRY TURN    N/A  S -E 000 00


N 2P 04 0 N DAY PDO PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00


N 44 48 35.26 -122 48 
53.31


UNK  


02 NONE  9 TURN-R


N/A  S -E 000 00


PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00


UNK  


02295 N N N N N N 06/24/2023 16 SHAFF RD              
      


INTER   CROSS  N N CLR ANGL-OTH  01 NONE  0 STRGHT 02


CITY  SA 0 WILCO RD              
      


CN STOP SIGN N DRY ANGL    PRVTE S -N 000 00


N 6P 04 0 N DAY INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJA 79 F OR-Y 028 000 02


N 44 48 35.24 -122 48 
53.3


OR<25


02 NONE  0 STRGHT


PRVTE W -E 000 00


PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJC 17 F OR-Y 000 000 00


OR<25


02 NONE  0 STRGHT


PRVTE W -E 000 00


PSNGR CAR 02 PSNG INJC 39 M 000 000 00


02 NONE  0 STRGHT


PRVTE W -E 000 00


PSNGR CAR 03 PSNG INJC 04 M 000 000 00


Disclaimer: The information contained in this report is compiled from individual driver and police crash reports submitted to the Oregon Department of Transportation as required in ORS 811.720. The Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit is committed to providing the highest quality crash data to customers. However, because submittal of crash report forms is 
the responsibility of the individual driver, the Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit can not guarantee that all qualifying crashes are represented nor can assurances be made that all details pertaining to a single crash are accurate. Note: Legislative changes to DMV's vehicle crash reporting requirement, effective 01/01/2004, may result in fewer property 
damage only crashes being eligible for inclusion in the Statewide Crash Data File.


OREGON.. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION - TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT DIVISION


TRANSPORTATION DATA SECTION - CRASH ANAYLYSIS AND REPORTING UNIT


URBAN NON-SYSTEM CRASH LISTING


SHAFF RD at WILCO RD, City of Stayton, Marion County, ALL Crashes Severity, ALL Crashes Circumstance, 01/01/2019 to 12/31/2023


04/11/2025


CDS380 Page: 1


CITY OF STAYTON, MARION COUNTY


1 - 2 of   2 Crash records shown.







S D M


SER# P R J S W DATE CLASS CITY STREET INT-TYPE SPCL USE


INVEST E A U I C O DAY DIST FIRST STREET RD CHAR (MEDIAN) INT-REL OFFRD WTHR CRASH TRLR QTY MOVE A S


RD DPT E L G N H R TIME FROM SECOND STREET DIRECT LEGS TRAF- RNDBT SURF COLL OWNER FROM PRTC INJ G E LICNS PED


UNLOC? D C S V L K LAT LONG LRS LOCTN (#LANES) CONTL DRVWY LIGHT SVRTY V# TYPE TO P# TYPE SVRTY E X RES LOC ERROR ACT EVENT CAUSE


01155 N N N N N N 04/01/2020 16 LOCUST ST             
      


INTER   3-LEG  N N CLD S-1STOP   01 NONE  0 STRGHT 07,27


CITY  WE 0 WILCO RD              
      


N STOP SIGN N WET REAR    PRVTE N -S 000 00


N 4P 06 0 N DAY INJ TRUCK     01 DRVR NONE 29 M OR-Y 043,016,026 038 07,27


N 44 48 9.37 -122 48 
53.47


OR<25


02 NONE  0 STOP  


PRVTE N -S 012 00


PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJC 36 F OR-Y 000 000 00


OR<25


00192 N N N N N N 01/21/2021 16 LOCUST ST             
      


INTER   3-LEG  N N CLR S-1STOP   01 NONE  0 STRGHT 07


CITY  TH 0 WILCO RD              
      


N STOP SIGN N DRY REAR    PRVTE N -S 000 00


N 10A 06 0 N DAY INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 56 M OR-Y 043,026 000 07


N 44 48 9.39 -122 48 
53.45


OR<25


02 NONE  0 STOP  


PRVTE N -S 012 00


PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJC 51 F OR-Y 000 000 00


OR<25


Disclaimer: The information contained in this report is compiled from individual driver and police crash reports submitted to the Oregon Department of Transportation as required in ORS 811.720. The Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit is committed to providing the highest quality crash data to customers. However, because submittal of crash report forms is 
the responsibility of the individual driver, the Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit can not guarantee that all qualifying crashes are represented nor can assurances be made that all details pertaining to a single crash are accurate. Note: Legislative changes to DMV's vehicle crash reporting requirement, effective 01/01/2004, may result in fewer property 
damage only crashes being eligible for inclusion in the Statewide Crash Data File.


OREGON.. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION - TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT DIVISION


TRANSPORTATION DATA SECTION - CRASH ANAYLYSIS AND REPORTING UNIT


URBAN NON-SYSTEM CRASH LISTING


WILCO RD at LOCUST ST, City of Stayton, Marion County, ALL Crashes Severity, ALL Crashes Circumstance, 01/01/2019 to 12/31/2023


04/11/2025


CDS380 Page: 1


CITY OF STAYTON, MARION COUNTY


1 - 2 of   2 Crash records shown.







S D M


SER# P R J S W DATE CLASS CITY STREET INT-TYPE SPCL USE


INVEST E A U I C O DAY DIST FIRST STREET RD CHAR (MEDIAN) INT-REL OFFRD WTHR CRASH TRLR QTY MOVE A S


RD DPT E L G N H R TIME FROM SECOND STREET DIRECT LEGS TRAF- RNDBT SURF COLL OWNER FROM PRTC INJ G E LICNS PED


UNLOC? D C S V L K LAT LONG LRS LOCTN (#LANES) CONTL DRVWY LIGHT SVRTY V# TYPE TO P# TYPE SVRTY E X RES LOC ERROR ACT EVENT CAUSE


02719 N Y N N N N 09/08/2020 16 WASHINGTON ST         
      


INTER   CROSS  N N SMOK ANGL-OTH  01 NONE  0 TURN-R 33


CITY  TU 0 WILCO RD              
      


N STOP SIGN N DRY TURN    PRVTE NE-N 000 00


N 8A 06 0 N DAY INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJB 57 F OR-Y 051,001 000 33


N 44 47 50.34 -122 48 
53.27


OR<25


02 NONE  0 STRGHT


PRVTE N -S 000 00


PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJC 25 F OR-Y 000 000 00


OR<25


02 NONE  0 STRGHT


PRVTE N -S 000 00


PSNGR CAR 02 PSNG INJC 01 F 000 000 00


00555 N N N N N N 02/19/2022 16 WASHINGTON ST         
      


INTER   CROSS  N N CLR S-1STOP   01 NONE  0 STRGHT 17


CITY  SA 0 WILCO RD              
      


N STOP SIGN N DRY REAR    PRVTE N -S 000 00


N 11A 06 0 N DAY INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 57 M OR-Y 026 028 17


N 44 47 50.33 -122 48 
53.3


OR<25


02 NONE  0 STOP  


PRVTE N -S 011 00


PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJB 62 M OR-Y 000 000 00


OR<25


00126 N N N N 01/12/2019 16 WASHINGTON ST         
      


INTER   CROSS  N N CLR S-1STOP   01 NONE  0 STRGHT 40,29


CITY  SA 0 WILCO RD              
      


NE TRF SIGNAL N DRY REAR    PRVTE NE-SW 000 00


N 12P 06 0 N DAY INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 20 M OR-Y 026 026 40,29


N 44 47 50.32 -122 48 
53.28


OR<25


01 NONE  0 STRGHT


PRVTE NE-SW 000 00


PSNGR CAR 02 PSNG INJC 20 F 000 000 00


02 NONE  0 STOP  


PRVTE NE-SW 011 00


PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJC 51 M OR-Y 000 000 00


OR<25


02 NONE  0 STOP  


PRVTE NE-SW 011 00


PSNGR CAR 02 PSNG INJC 13 M 000 000 00


04089 N N N N N N 10/18/2019 16 WASHINGTON ST         
      


INTER   CROSS  N N CLD ANGL-OTH  01 NONE  0 STRGHT 03


CITY  FR 0 WILCO RD              
      


CN STOP SIGN N DRY ANGL    PRVTE E -W 000 00


N 12P 02 0 N DAY INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 37 M OR-Y 000 000 00


N 44 47 50.33 -122 48 
53.29


OR<25


Disclaimer: The information contained in this report is compiled from individual driver and police crash reports submitted to the Oregon Department of Transportation as required in ORS 811.720. The Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit is committed to providing the highest quality crash data to customers. However, because submittal of crash report forms is 
the responsibility of the individual driver, the Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit can not guarantee that all qualifying crashes are represented nor can assurances be made that all details pertaining to a single crash are accurate. Note: Legislative changes to DMV's vehicle crash reporting requirement, effective 01/01/2004, may result in fewer property 
damage only crashes being eligible for inclusion in the Statewide Crash Data File.


OREGON.. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION - TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT DIVISION


TRANSPORTATION DATA SECTION - CRASH ANAYLYSIS AND REPORTING UNIT


URBAN NON-SYSTEM CRASH LISTING


WILCO RD at WASHINGTON ST, City of Stayton, Marion County, ALL Crashes Severity, ALL Crashes Circumstance, 01/01/2019 to 12/31/2023


04/11/2025


CDS380 Page: 1


CITY OF STAYTON, MARION COUNTY


1 - 3 of   6 Crash records shown.







S D M


SER# P R J S W DATE CLASS CITY STREET INT-TYPE SPCL USE


INVEST E A U I C O DAY DIST FIRST STREET RD CHAR (MEDIAN) INT-REL OFFRD WTHR CRASH TRLR QTY MOVE A S


RD DPT E L G N H R TIME FROM SECOND STREET DIRECT LEGS TRAF- RNDBT SURF COLL OWNER FROM PRTC INJ G E LICNS PED


UNLOC? D C S V L K LAT LONG LRS LOCTN (#LANES) CONTL DRVWY LIGHT SVRTY V# TYPE TO P# TYPE SVRTY E X RES LOC ERROR ACT EVENT CAUSE
02 NONE  0 STRGHT


PRVTE S -N 000 00


PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJC 24 F OR-Y 021 000 03


OR<25


02 NONE  0 STRGHT


PRVTE S -N 000 00


PSNGR CAR 02 PSNG INJC 22 M 000 000 00


01387 N N N N 04/30/2021 16 WASHINGTON ST         
      


INTER   CROSS  N N CLD ANGL-OTH  01 NONE  0 STRGHT 02


CITY  FR 0 WILCO RD              
      


CN STOP SIGN N DRY ANGL    PRVTE N -S 000 00


N 1P 01 0 N DAY INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 27 M OR-Y 000 000 00


N 44 47 50.34 -122 48 
53.3


OR<25


02 NONE  0 STRGHT


PRVTE NE-SW 000 00


PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJC 47 F OR-Y 000 000 00


OR<25


03749 N N N N N N 10/13/2023 16 WASHINGTON ST         
      


INTER   CROSS  N N RAIN O-1 L-TURN 01 NONE  0 TURN-L 03


CITY  FR 0 WILCO RD              
      


CN STOP SIGN N WET TURN    PRVTE SW-N 000 00


N 7P 02 2 N DLIT INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJB 59 F OR-Y 000 000 00


N 44 47 50.32 -122 48 
53.28


OR<25


02 NONE  0 STRGHT


PRVTE NE-SW 000 00


PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 95 M OR-Y 021 000 03


OR<25


Disclaimer: The information contained in this report is compiled from individual driver and police crash reports submitted to the Oregon Department of Transportation as required in ORS 811.720. The Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit is committed to providing the highest quality crash data to customers. However, because submittal of crash report forms is 
the responsibility of the individual driver, the Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit can not guarantee that all qualifying crashes are represented nor can assurances be made that all details pertaining to a single crash are accurate. Note: Legislative changes to DMV's vehicle crash reporting requirement, effective 01/01/2004, may result in fewer property 
damage only crashes being eligible for inclusion in the Statewide Crash Data File.


OREGON.. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION - TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT DIVISION


TRANSPORTATION DATA SECTION - CRASH ANAYLYSIS AND REPORTING UNIT


URBAN NON-SYSTEM CRASH LISTING


WILCO RD at WASHINGTON ST, City of Stayton, Marion County, ALL Crashes Severity, ALL Crashes Circumstance, 01/01/2019 to 12/31/2023


04/11/2025


CDS380 Page: 3


CITY OF STAYTON, MARION COUNTY


4 - 6 of   6 Crash records shown.







S D M


SER# P R J S W DATE CLASS CITY STREET INT-TYPE SPCL USE


INVEST E A U I C O DAY DIST FIRST STREET RD CHAR (MEDIAN) INT-REL OFFRD WTHR CRASH TRLR QTY MOVE A S


RD DPT E L G N H R TIME FROM SECOND STREET DIRECT LEGS TRAF- RNDBT SURF COLL OWNER FROM PRTC INJ G E LICNS PED


UNLOC? D C S V L K LAT LONG LRS LOCTN (#LANES) CONTL DRVWY LIGHT SVRTY V# TYPE TO P# TYPE SVRTY E X RES LOC ERROR ACT EVENT CAUSE


03456 N N N N Y 09/09/2019 16 GARDNER AVE           
      


INTER   3-LEG  N N RAIN ANGL-OTH  01 NONE  0 STRGHT 013 03


CITY  MO 0 SHAFF RD              
      


CN STOP SIGN N WET ANGL    PRVTE E -W 022 013 00


N 8A 02 0 Y DAY INJ TRUCK     01 DRVR INJC 41 M OR-Y 000 022 00


N 44 48 35.31 -122 48 
16.04


OR<25


02 NONE  0 STRGHT


PRVTE S -N 000 00


PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 17 M OR-Y 021 000 03


OR<25


02 NONE  0 STRGHT


PRVTE S -N 000 00


PSNGR CAR 02 PSNG INJC 10 F 000 000 00


03 NONE  0 STOP  


PRVTE N -S 011 00


PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 47 M OR-Y 000 000 00


OR<25


03804 N N N N N N 12/18/2020 16 GARDNER AVE           
      


INTER   3-LEG  N N CLD ANGL-OTH  01 NONE  9 STRGHT 02


CITY  FR 0 SHAFF RD              
      


CN STOP SIGN N WET TURN    N/A  W -E 000 00


N 4P 04 0 N DAY PDO PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00


N 44 48 35.3 -122 48 
16.06


UNK  


02 NONE  9 TURN-L


N/A  S -W 015 00


PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00


UNK  


01937 N N N N 06/12/2021 16 GARDNER AVE           
      


INTER   3-LEG  N N CLR ANGL-OTH  01 NONE  9 TURN-L 02


NO RPT SA 0 SHAFF RD              
      


CN STOP SIGN N DRY TURN    N/A  S -W 000 00


N 2P 02 0 N DAY PDO PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00


N 44 48 35.32 -122 48 
16.05


UNK  


02 NONE  9 TURN-L


N/A  E -S 000 00


PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00


UNK  


Disclaimer: The information contained in this report is compiled from individual driver and police crash reports submitted to the Oregon Department of Transportation as required in ORS 811.720. The Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit is committed to providing the highest quality crash data to customers. However, because submittal of crash report forms is 
the responsibility of the individual driver, the Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit can not guarantee that all qualifying crashes are represented nor can assurances be made that all details pertaining to a single crash are accurate. Note: Legislative changes to DMV's vehicle crash reporting requirement, effective 01/01/2004, may result in fewer property 
damage only crashes being eligible for inclusion in the Statewide Crash Data File.


OREGON.. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION - TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT DIVISION


TRANSPORTATION DATA SECTION - CRASH ANAYLYSIS AND REPORTING UNIT


URBAN NON-SYSTEM CRASH LISTING


SHAFF RD at GARDNER AVE, City of Stayton, Marion County, ALL Crashes Severity, ALL Crashes Circumstance, 01/01/2019 to 12/31/2023


04/11/2025


CDS380 Page: 1


CITY OF STAYTON, MARION COUNTY


1 - 3 of   3 Crash records shown.







 


  


 


Appendix D 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


  







30 HV Using On-Site ATR Method (APM V2 5.5.1)


Aumsville
ATR 24-005
OR22; NORTH SANTIAM HIGHWAY NO. 162; 1.08 miles east of Shaw Highway Interchange 


Previous 
Year


2019 to 
2023


Previous 
Year


2019 to 
2023


2019 26,620 116.163 — 22,513 98.2414 —
2020 26,364 128 -0.96% 19,757 96 -12.24%
2021 25,109 112.44 -4.76% 23,548 105.45 19.19%
2022 25,487 116.768 1.51% 22,849 104.682 -2.97%
2023 26,089 116.354 2.36% 22,451 100.129 -1.74%


Average % of AADT 116.429 101.018
Seasonal Adjustment = August / March 1.15


Year


August (Peak Month) AWT March (Count Month) AWD


Notes:
Average 


Weekday 
Traffic


% of 
AADT


Annual Change Average 
Weekday 


Traffic


% of 
AADT


Annual Change


-0.50% -0.07%


High and low %s eliminated. Average % is remaining 3 
years.







Intersection 1 Golf Club Road SE OR 22 WB Ramps / Sublimity Road
Intersection 2 Golf Club Road SE OR 22 EB Ramps
Intersection 3 Golf Club Road SE Site Access
Intersection 4 Golf Club Road SE Shaff Road SE / Wilco Road
Intersection 5 Wilco Road W Locust Street
Intersection 6 Wilco Road W Washington Street
Intersection 7 Shaff Road SE N Gardner Avenue
Intersection 8 Golf Club Road SE OR 22 WB Ramps / Sublimity Road
Intersection 9 Golf Club Road SE OR 22 EB Ramps


Intersection 10 Golf Club Road SE Site Access
Intersection 11 Golf Club Road SE Shaff Road SE / Wilco Road
Intersection 12 Wilco Road W Locust Street
Intersection 13 Wilco Road W Washington Street
Intersection 14 Shaff Road SE N Gardner Avenue
Intersection 15


Roadway 1 Roadway 2


Master Intersection List


D
ev


el
op


m
en


t 
Vo


lu
m


es
Ba


se
 V


ol
um


es







Intersection Volumes - Stayton - Meyers AM Peak Hour 3 of 10


Intersection 1 Golf Club Road SE OR 22 WB Ramps / Sublimity RoadSystem AM peak hour is7:30-8:30AM
ALL-VEHICLE VOLUMES PHF = 0.86 Hourly All
Time Period NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR Total Totals Ints Cells shaded this color have manual inputs


7:00 AM 54 2 21 0 5 12 0 1 5 7 36 0 143
7:15 AM 65 6 23 1 3 5 1 0 6 8 40 1 159
7:30 AM 78 6 29 3 14 8 0 2 8 8 43 3 202
7:45 AM 51 6 43 4 10 5 0 2 7 17 39 5 189 693 3961
8:00 AM 57 5 32 0 3 8 0 5 7 10 27 4 158 708 4129
8:15 AM 51 3 64 5 6 2 0 10 2 35 44 3 225 774 4226
8:30 AM 42 4 27 2 5 5 0 3 3 23 42 1 157 729 4000
8:45 AM 35 4 28 1 5 3 0 5 6 9 20 1 117 657 3621


2025 30HV AM 273 23 193 14 38 26 0 22 28 81 176 17 2025 Traffic Count Base Year
Backgound Growth 1.15 30 HV Adjustment
2030 Pre-Dev AM 273 23 193 14 38 26 0 22 28 81 176 17


NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR 2030 Pre-Development Year
Dev Vs 31 5 20 2 2 3 891 Entering Intersection Volume
% of Dev 30% 5% 20% 5% 5% 10% 63 Development Trips


7.07% Trip Volume Increase
2030 Post-Dev AM 304 28 213 14 40 26 0 22 30 84 176 17


Intersection 2 Golf Club Road SE OR 22 EB Ramps System AM peak hour is7:30-8:30AM
ALL-VEHICLE VOLUMES PHF = 0.95 Hourly
Time Period NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR Total Totals Cells shaded this color have manual inputs


7:00 AM 0 74 0 3 14 0 10 0 16 0 0 0 117
7:15 AM 0 74 2 1 17 0 17 0 37 0 0 0 148
7:30 AM 0 98 3 7 24 0 14 0 30 0 0 0 176
7:45 AM 0 81 7 4 28 0 19 0 46 0 0 0 185 626
8:00 AM 0 83 8 1 20 0 14 0 28 0 0 0 154 663
8:15 AM 0 84 3 10 31 0 30 0 27 0 0 0 185 700
8:30 AM 0 63 9 5 27 0 13 0 28 0 0 0 145 669
8:45 AM 0 47 7 2 18 0 17 1 20 0 0 0 112 596


2025 30HV AM 0 398 24 25 118 0 89 0 151 0 0 0 2025 Traffic Count Base Year
Backgound Growth 1.15 30 HV Adjustment
2030 Pre-Dev AM 0 398 24 25 118 0 89 0 151 0 0 0


NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR 2030 Pre-Development Year
Dev Vs 56 5 7 7 805 Entering Intersection Volume
% of Dev 55% 5% 20% 20% 75 Development Trips


0 9.32% Trip Volume Increase
2030 Post-Dev AM 0 454 29 25 125 0 89 0 158 0 0 0


D
ev


el
op


m
en


t V
ol


um
es


D
ev


el
op


m
en


t V
ol


um
es







Intersection Volumes - Stayton - Meyers AM Peak Hour 4 of 10


Intersection 3 Golf Club Road SE Site Access System AM peak hour is7:30-8:30AM
ALL-VEHICLE VOLUMES PHF = 0.86 Hourly
Time Period NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR Total Totals Cells shaded this color have manual inputs


7:00 AM 72 46 118
7:15 AM 85 71 156
7:30 AM 103 96 199 Site Access
7:45 AM 115 72 187 660
8:00 AM 99 57 156 698
8:15 AM 78 67 145 687
8:30 AM 59 56 115 603
8:45 AM 62 65 127 543


2025 AM Vs 0 395 0 0 292 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2025 Traffic Count Base Year
Backgound Growth
2030 Pre-Dev AM 0 395 0 0 292 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2030 Pre-Development Year


NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR
Dev Vs 20 14 41 61 687 Entering Intersection Volume
% of Dev 60% 40% 40% 60% 136 Development Trips


0 19.80% Trip Volume Increase
2030 Post-Dev AM 0 395 20 14 292 0 0 0 0 41 0 61


Intersection 4 Golf Club Road SE Shaff Road SE / Wilco Road System AM peak hour is7:30-8:30AM
ALL-VEHICLE VOLUMES PHF = 0.82 Hourly
Time Period NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR Total Totals Cells shaded this color have manual inputs


7:00 AM 5 35 3 14 25 1 0 4 0 11 9 27 134
7:15 AM 5 48 5 25 39 1 0 5 2 7 14 33 184
7:30 AM 5 56 14 38 67 9 3 10 3 8 26 33 272
7:45 AM 10 72 11 25 55 4 5 14 11 19 13 41 280 870
8:00 AM 0 52 6 14 38 1 4 12 10 14 6 42 199 935
8:15 AM 5 48 9 23 43 0 3 4 1 5 4 25 170 921
8:30 AM 3 40 13 15 46 3 1 5 3 11 2 25 167 816
8:45 AM 2 34 10 19 43 2 0 7 2 9 4 17 149 685


2025 AM Vs 20 228 40 100 203 14 15 40 25 46 49 141 2025 Traffic Count Base Year
Backgound Growth
2030 Pre-Dev AM 20 228 40 100 203 14 15 40 25 46 49 141 2030 Pre-Development Year


NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR
Dev Vs 12 15 26 8 921 Entering Intersection Volume
% of Dev 35% 15% 25% 25% 61 Development Trips


0 6.62% Trip Volume Increase
2030 Post-Dev AM 20 240 40 115 229 14 15 40 25 46 49 149


D
ev


el
op


m
en


t V
ol


um
es


D
ev


el
op


m
en


t V
ol


um
es







Intersection Volumes - Stayton - Meyers AM Peak Hour 5 of 10


Intersection 5 Wilco Road W Locust Street System AM peak hour is7:30-8:30AM
ALL-VEHICLE VOLUMES PHF = 0.83 Hourly
Time Period NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR Total Totals Cells shaded this color have manual inputs


7:00 AM 0 34 0 5 29 0 0 0 0 0 0 17 85
7:15 AM 0 46 0 12 37 0 0 0 0 4 0 18 117
7:30 AM 0 52 2 24 47 0 0 0 0 4 0 25 154
7:45 AM 0 40 3 18 57 0 0 0 0 6 0 48 172 528
8:00 AM 0 37 2 10 52 0 0 0 0 6 0 22 129 572
8:15 AM 0 51 2 9 38 0 0 0 0 4 0 14 118 573
8:30 AM 0 45 3 15 44 0 0 0 0 2 0 13 122 541
8:45 AM 0 33 2 10 42 0 0 0 0 1 0 11 99 468


2025 AM Vs 0 180 9 61 194 0 0 0 0 20 0 109 2025 Traffic Count Base Year
Backgound Growth
2030 Pre-Dev AM 0 180 9 61 194 0 0 0 0 20 0 109 2030 Pre-Development Year


NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR
Dev Vs 7 5 21 5 573 Entering Intersection Volume
% of Dev 20% 5% 20% 15% 38 Development Trips


0 6.63% Trip Volume Increase
2030 Post-Dev AM 0 187 9 66 215 0 0 0 0 20 0 114


Intersection 6 Wilco Road W Washington Street System AM peak hour is7:30-8:30AM
ALL-VEHICLE VOLUMES PHF = 0.83 Hourly
Time Period NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR Total Totals Cells shaded this color have manual inputs


7:00 AM 1 17 2 3 7 13 6 15 1 1 10 11 87
7:15 AM 4 16 0 4 9 12 14 18 4 1 12 15 111
7:30 AM 4 26 1 11 12 17 11 34 2 1 11 16 146
7:45 AM 2 19 2 25 21 7 12 21 6 2 21 15 153 497
8:00 AM 2 8 0 17 9 15 13 9 5 0 16 17 111 521
8:15 AM 2 16 0 10 11 9 14 15 1 3 9 11 101 511
8:30 AM 4 16 0 18 11 8 12 11 3 1 9 16 110 475
8:45 AM 2 20 0 11 15 4 5 12 7 1 9 11 97 419


2025 AM Vs 10 69 3 63 53 48 50 79 14 6 57 59 2025 Traffic Count Base Year
Backgound Growth
2030 Pre-Dev AM 10 69 3 63 53 48 50 79 14 6 57 59 2030 Pre-Development Year


NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR
Dev Vs 3 11 5 5 2 2 511 Entering Intersection Volume
% of Dev 10% 10% 5% 5% 5% 5% 28 Development Trips


0 5.48% Trip Volume Increase
2030 Post-Dev AM 10 72 3 74 58 53 52 79 14 6 57 61


D
ev


el
op


m
en


t V
ol


um
es


D
ev


el
op


m
en


t V
ol


um
es







Intersection Volumes - Stayton - Meyers AM Peak Hour 6 of 10


Intersection 7 Shaff Road SE N Gardner Avenue System AM peak hour is7:30-8:30AM
ALL-VEHICLE VOLUMES PHF = 0.91 Hourly
Time Period NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR Total Totals Cells shaded this color have manual inputs


7:00 AM 12 5 9 4 5 5 1 89 13 7 62 0 212
7:15 AM 8 0 10 0 0 3 0 81 7 6 73 0 188
7:30 AM 8 0 9 1 2 0 1 68 17 4 70 1 181
7:45 AM 11 0 10 0 3 4 1 61 14 5 56 1 166 747
8:00 AM 12 0 5 1 0 1 4 79 12 7 72 2 195 730
8:15 AM 7 2 3 0 1 2 4 77 27 9 65 8 205 747
8:30 AM 18 5 13 7 4 7 4 67 17 5 52 5 204 770
8:45 AM 15 2 11 1 0 0 0 69 19 10 64 1 192 796


2025 AM Vs 38 2 27 2 6 7 10 285 70 25 263 12 2025 Traffic Count Base Year
Backgound Growth
2030 Pre-Dev AM 38 2 27 2 6 7 10 285 70 25 263 12 2030 Pre-Development Year


NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR
Dev Vs 2 10 5 6 747 Entering Intersection Volume
% of Dev 5% 10% 5% 20% 23 Development Trips


0 3.08% Trip Volume Increase
2030 Post-Dev AM 40 2 27 2 6 7 10 295 75 25 269 12


D
ev


el
op


m
en


t V
ol


um
es







Intersection Volumes - Stayton - Meyers PM Peak Hour 7 of 10


Intersection 1 Golf Club Road SE OR 22 WB Ramps / Sublimity RoadSystem PM peak hour is4:15-5:15
ALL-VEHICLE VOLUMES PHF = 0.91 Hourly All
Time Period NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR Total Totals Ints Cells shaded this color have manual inputs


4:00 PM 39 12 51 3 4 5 1 1 9 23 27 1 176
4:15 PM 35 10 56 2 4 0 0 2 1 32 21 3 166
4:30 PM 51 11 44 3 5 2 1 3 10 21 32 3 186
4:45 PM 41 11 40 2 10 2 3 0 7 23 9 1 149 677 4859
5:00 PM 48 12 43 3 6 5 3 0 7 22 23 2 174 675 4859
5:15 PM 41 14 45 3 4 3 2 1 6 13 14 4 150 659 4779
5:30 PM 45 16 39 0 6 4 2 0 4 20 22 1 159 632 4686
5:45 PM 27 15 42 3 8 1 0 0 4 13 7 1 121 604 4450


2025 30HV PM 201 51 210 12 29 10 8 6 29 113 98 10 2025 Traffic Count Base Year
Backgound Growth 12 1.15 30 HV Adjustment
2030 Pre-Dev PM 213 51 210 12 29 10 8 6 29 113 98 10


NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR 2030 Pre-Development Year
Dev Vs 12 12 4 8 789 Entering Intersection Volume
% of Dev 20% 20% 5% 10% 36 Development Trips


4.56% Trip Volume Increase
2030 Post-Dev PM 225 51 222 12 29 10 8 6 33 121 98 10


Intersection 2 Golf Club Road SE OR 22 EB Ramps System PM peak hour is4:15-5:15
ALL-VEHICLE VOLUMES PHF = 0.93 Hourly
Time Period NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR Total Totals Cells shaded this color have manual inputs


4:00 PM 0 69 4 6 30 0 35 1 64 0 0 0 209
4:15 PM 0 59 11 3 34 0 38 0 80 0 0 0 225
4:30 PM 0 75 13 5 31 0 31 0 69 0 0 0 224
4:45 PM 0 67 9 0 40 0 27 0 101 0 0 0 244 902
5:00 PM 0 74 16 3 31 0 29 0 64 0 0 0 217 910
5:15 PM 0 62 16 1 23 0 39 0 92 0 0 0 233 918
5:30 PM 0 63 7 1 19 0 45 0 82 0 0 0 217 911
5:45 PM 0 55 9 0 18 0 36 0 72 0 0 0 190 857


2025 30HV PM 0 316 56 13 156 0 144 0 361 0 0 0 2025 Traffic Count Base Year
Backgound Growth 12 2 8 1.15 30 HV Adjustment
2030 Pre-Dev PM 0 328 58 13 156 0 144 0 369 0 0 0


NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR 2030 Pre-Development Year
Dev Vs 24 3 15 31 1068 Entering Intersection Volume
% of Dev 40% 5% 15% 40% 73 Development Trips


0 6.84% Trip Volume Increase
2030 Post-Dev PM 0 352 61 13 171 0 144 0 400 0 0 0


D
ev


el
op


m
en


t V
ol


um
es


D
ev


el
op


m
en


t V
ol


um
es







Intersection Volumes - Stayton - Meyers PM Peak Hour 8 of 10


Intersection 3 Golf Club Road SE Site Access System PM peak hour is4:15-5:15
ALL-VEHICLE VOLUMES PHF = 0.94 Hourly
Time Period NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR Total Totals Cells shaded this color have manual inputs


4:00 PM 102 96 198
4:15 PM 99 121 220
4:30 PM 108 113 221 Site Access
4:45 PM 96 132 228 867
5:00 PM 115 128 243 912
5:15 PM 92 133 225 917
5:30 PM 85 119 204 900
5:45 PM 78 101 179 851


2025 PM Vs 0 418 0 0 494 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2025 Traffic Count Base Year
Backgound Growth 14 8
2030 Pre-Dev PM 0 432 0 0 502 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2030 Pre-Development Year


NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR
Dev Vs 36 43 33 27 934 Entering Intersection Volume
% of Dev 45% 55% 55% 45% 139 Development Trips


0 14.88% Trip Volume Increase
2030 Post-Dev PM 0 432 36 43 502 0 0 0 0 33 0 27


Intersection 4 Golf Club Road SE Shaff Road SE / Wilco Road System PM peak hour is4:15-5:15
ALL-VEHICLE VOLUMES PHF = 0.94 Hourly
Time Period NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR Total Totals Cells shaded this color have manual inputs


4:00 PM 9 63 14 44 63 1 2 11 10 17 7 41 282
4:15 PM 3 63 24 43 73 6 0 12 5 11 8 36 284
4:30 PM 3 67 20 65 58 2 4 8 8 13 16 51 315
4:45 PM 10 54 16 62 77 4 1 17 5 8 7 40 301 1182
5:00 PM 13 72 18 44 63 3 2 15 5 10 6 38 289 1189
5:15 PM 13 47 18 62 70 3 1 19 8 12 16 44 313 1218
5:30 PM 4 45 13 52 61 4 1 23 7 13 7 41 271 1174
5:45 PM 6 43 13 62 52 1 3 16 5 8 8 31 248 1121


2025 PM Vs 29 256 78 214 271 15 7 52 23 42 37 165 2025 Traffic Count Base Year
Backgound Growth 8 28 9 3 38 8
2030 Pre-Dev PM 29 264 106 223 274 15 7 52 23 80 45 165 2030 Pre-Development Year


NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR
Dev Vs 20 15 18 16 1283 Entering Intersection Volume
% of Dev 25% 25% 30% 20% 69 Development Trips


0 5.38% Trip Volume Increase
2030 Post-Dev PM 29 284 106 238 292 15 7 52 23 80 45 181


D
ev


el
op


m
en


t V
ol


um
es


D
ev


el
op


m
en


t V
ol


um
es







Intersection Volumes - Stayton - Meyers PM Peak Hour 9 of 10


Intersection 5 Wilco Road W Locust Street System PM peak hour is4:15-5:15
ALL-VEHICLE VOLUMES PHF = 0.96 Hourly
Time Period NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR Total Totals Cells shaded this color have manual inputs


4:00 PM 0 63 7 10 78 0 0 0 0 2 0 15 175
4:15 PM 0 75 5 18 77 0 0 0 0 2 0 9 186
4:30 PM 0 59 3 19 75 0 0 0 0 5 0 19 180
4:45 PM 0 58 5 25 60 0 0 0 0 4 0 19 171 712
5:00 PM 0 65 6 26 54 0 0 0 0 2 0 27 180 717
5:15 PM 0 52 5 22 62 0 0 0 0 4 0 16 161 692
5:30 PM 0 45 6 19 63 0 0 0 0 0 0 14 147 659
5:45 PM 0 49 5 14 42 0 0 0 0 6 0 12 128 616


2025 PM Vs 0 257 19 88 266 0 0 0 0 13 0 74 2025 Traffic Count Base Year
Backgound Growth 25 5 10 15 10 10
2030 Pre-Dev PM 0 282 24 98 281 0 0 0 0 23 10 74 2030 Pre-Development Year


NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR
Dev Vs 16 6 12 4 792 Entering Intersection Volume
% of Dev 20% 10% 20% 5% 38 Development Trips


0 4.80% Trip Volume Increase
2030 Post-Dev PM 0 298 24 104 293 0 0 0 0 23 10 78


Intersection 6 Wilco Road W Washington Street System PM peak hour is4:15-5:15
ALL-VEHICLE VOLUMES PHF = 0.88 Hourly
Time Period NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR Total Totals Cells shaded this color have manual inputs


4:00 PM 2 21 0 25 32 19 8 21 11 1 21 22 183
4:15 PM 5 18 0 17 41 19 18 23 12 0 18 23 194
4:30 PM 3 14 1 17 36 20 13 19 4 1 16 17 161
4:45 PM 4 15 1 16 34 13 13 15 7 0 20 17 155 693
5:00 PM 5 23 5 16 31 17 23 15 4 0 18 17 174 684
5:15 PM 3 17 2 13 32 19 12 15 3 1 20 19 156 646
5:30 PM 4 9 1 11 42 21 14 19 10 1 17 21 170 655
5:45 PM 6 15 2 6 29 7 15 16 6 0 13 11 126 626


2025 PM Vs 17 70 7 66 142 69 67 72 27 1 72 74 2025 Traffic Count Base Year
Backgound Growth 1 4 4 3 5 11 9 1 13 4
2030 Pre-Dev PM 18 74 7 70 145 74 78 81 28 1 85 78 2030 Pre-Development Year


NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR
Dev Vs 4 3 6 3 4 8 739 Entering Intersection Volume
% of Dev 5% 5% 10% 5% 5% 10% 28 Development Trips


0 3.79% Trip Volume Increase
2030 Post-Dev PM 18 78 7 73 151 77 82 81 28 1 85 86


D
ev


el
op


m
en


t V
ol


um
es


D
ev


el
op


m
en


t V
ol


um
es







Intersection Volumes - Stayton - Meyers PM Peak Hour 10 of 10


Intersection 7 Shaff Road SE N Gardner Avenue System PM peak hour is4:15-5:15
ALL-VEHICLE VOLUMES PHF = 0.88 Hourly
Time Period NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR Total Totals Cells shaded this color have manual inputs


4:00 PM 2 21 0 25 32 19 8 21 11 1 21 22 183
4:15 PM 5 18 0 17 41 19 18 23 12 0 18 23 194
4:30 PM 3 14 1 17 36 20 13 19 4 1 16 17 161
4:45 PM 4 15 1 16 34 13 13 15 7 0 20 17 155 693
5:00 PM 5 23 5 16 31 17 23 15 4 0 18 17 174 684
5:15 PM 3 17 2 13 32 19 12 15 3 1 20 19 156 646
5:30 PM 4 9 1 11 42 21 14 19 10 1 17 21 170 655
5:45 PM 6 15 2 6 29 7 15 16 6 0 13 11 126 626


2025 PM Vs 17 70 7 66 142 69 67 72 27 1 72 74 2025 Traffic Count Base Year
Backgound Growth 2 87 2
2030 Pre-Dev PM 19 70 7 66 142 69 67 159 81 1 72 74 2030 Pre-Development Year


NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR
Dev Vs 4 12 3 12 827 Entering Intersection Volume
% of Dev 5% 20% 5% 15% 31 Development Trips


0 3.75% Trip Volume Increase
2030 Post-Dev PM 23 70 7 66 142 69 67 171 84 1 84 74


D
ev


el
op


m
en


t V
ol


um
es







Location: Golf Club Rd SE & Sublimity Rd
Date: 2025-03-18
Peak Hour Start: 07:30 AM
Peak 15 Minute Start: 08:15 AM
Peak Hour Factor: 0.86


Motorized Vehicles Heavy Vehicles Pedestrians


(peak hour)
All Vehicle Volumes


Time NB (Golf Club Rd SE) SB (Golf Club Rd SE) EB (Sublimity Rd) WB (Sublimity Rd) Totals


Time Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR 15min 1hr


07:00:00 AM 54 2 21 0 0 0 5 12 0 0 0 1 5 0 0 7 36 0 0 0 143


07:15:00 AM 65 6 23 0 0 1 3 5 0 0 1 0 6 0 0 8 40 1 0 0 159


07:30:00 AM 78 6 29 0 0 3 14 8 0 0 0 2 8 0 0 8 43 3 0 0 202


07:45:00 AM 51 6 43 0 0 4 10 5 0 0 0 2 7 0 0 17 39 5 0 0 189 693


08:00:00 AM 57 5 32 0 0 0 3 8 0 0 0 5 7 0 0 10 27 4 0 0 158 708


08:15:00 AM 51 3 64 0 0 5 6 2 0 0 0 10 2 0 0 35 44 3 0 0 225 774


08:30:00 AM 42 4 27 0 0 2 5 5 0 0 0 3 3 0 0 23 42 1 0 0 157 729


08:45:00 AM 35 4 28 0 0 1 5 3 0 0 0 5 6 0 0 9 20 1 0 0 117 657


Car Volumes


Time NB (Golf Club Rd SE) SB (Golf Club Rd SE) EB (Sublimity Rd) WB (Sublimity Rd) Totals


Time Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR 15min 1hr


07:00:00 AM 51 2 19 0 0 0 5 12 0 0 0 1 5 0 0 6 36 0 0 0 137


07:15:00 AM 59 6 22 0 0 1 2 5 0 0 1 0 5 0 0 7 40 1 0 0 149


07:30:00 AM 72 6 29 0 0 3 13 7 0 0 0 2 8 0 0 7 41 3 0 0 191


07:45:00 AM 48 6 42 0 0 4 10 5 0 0 0 2 7 0 0 16 39 5 0 0 184 661


08:00:00 AM 55 5 30 0 0 0 3 8 0 0 0 5 7 0 0 8 27 4 0 0 152 676


08:15:00 AM 46 2 61 0 0 5 5 1 0 0 0 10 2 0 0 35 43 3 0 0 213 740


08:30:00 AM 39 4 26 0 0 2 5 5 0 0 0 2 3 0 0 23 42 1 0 0 152 701


08:45:00 AM 33 4 26 0 0 1 5 3 0 0 0 5 6 0 0 9 20 1 0 0 113 630


Truck Volumes


Time NB (Golf Club Rd SE) SB (Golf Club Rd SE) EB (Sublimity Rd) WB (Sublimity Rd) Totals


Time Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR 15min 1hr


07:00:00 AM 3 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 6


07:15:00 AM 6 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 10


07:30:00 AM 6 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 2 0 0 0 11


07:45:00 AM 3 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 5 32


08:00:00 AM 2 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 6 32


08:15:00 AM 5 1 3 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 12 34


08:30:00 AM 3 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 28


08:45:00 AM 2 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 27







Bike Volumes


Time NB (Golf Club Rd SE) SB (Golf Club Rd SE) EB (Sublimity Rd) WB (Sublimity Rd) Totals


Time Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR 15min 1hr


07:00:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


07:15:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


07:30:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


07:45:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


08:00:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


08:15:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


08:30:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


08:45:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


Pedestrian Volumes


Time Pedestrians Totals


Time North South East West 15min 1hr


07:00:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0


07:15:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0


07:30:00 AM 0 1 0 0 1


07:45:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 1


08:00:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 1


08:15:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 1


08:30:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0


08:45:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0







Location: Golf Club Road SE  & OR 22 EB Ramps
Date: 2025-03-18
Peak Hour Start: 07:30 AM
Peak 15 Minute Start: 07:45 AM
Peak Hour Factor: 0.95


Motorized Vehicles Heavy Vehicles Pedestrians


(peak hour)
All Vehicle Volumes


Time NB (Golf Club Road SE ) SB (Golf Club Road SE ) EB (OR 22 EB Ramps) WB (OR 22 EB Ramps) Totals


Time Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR 15min 1hr


07:00:00 AM 0 74 0 0 0 3 14 0 0 0 10 0 16 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 117


07:15:00 AM 0 74 2 0 0 1 17 0 0 0 17 0 37 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 148


07:30:00 AM 0 98 3 0 0 7 24 0 0 0 14 0 30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 176


07:45:00 AM 0 81 7 0 0 4 28 0 0 0 19 0 46 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 185 626


08:00:00 AM 0 83 8 0 0 1 20 0 0 0 14 0 28 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 154 663


08:15:00 AM 0 84 3 0 0 10 31 0 0 0 30 0 27 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 185 700


08:30:00 AM 0 63 9 0 0 5 27 0 0 0 13 0 28 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 145 669


08:45:00 AM 0 47 7 0 0 2 18 0 0 0 17 1 20 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 112 596


Car Volumes


Time NB (Golf Club Road SE ) SB (Golf Club Road SE ) EB (OR 22 EB Ramps) WB (OR 22 EB Ramps) Totals


Time Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR 15min 1hr


07:00:00 AM 0 72 0 0 0 3 13 0 0 0 9 0 15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 112


07:15:00 AM 0 69 1 0 0 1 15 0 0 0 17 0 34 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 137


07:30:00 AM 0 94 3 0 0 7 24 0 0 0 14 0 28 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 170


07:45:00 AM 0 80 7 0 0 4 27 0 0 0 18 0 42 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 178 597


08:00:00 AM 0 79 8 0 0 1 20 0 0 0 14 0 25 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 147 632


08:15:00 AM 0 81 3 0 0 10 30 0 0 0 29 0 23 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 176 671


08:30:00 AM 0 62 9 0 0 5 27 0 0 0 13 0 28 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 144 645


08:45:00 AM 0 45 6 0 0 2 18 0 0 0 17 1 19 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 108 575


Truck Volumes


Time NB (Golf Club Road SE ) SB (Golf Club Road SE ) EB (OR 22 EB Ramps) WB (OR 22 EB Ramps) Totals


Time Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR 15min 1hr


07:00:00 AM 0 2 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5


07:15:00 AM 0 5 1 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 11


07:30:00 AM 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 6


07:45:00 AM 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 7 29


08:00:00 AM 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 7 31


08:15:00 AM 0 3 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 9 29


08:30:00 AM 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 24


08:45:00 AM 0 2 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 21







Bike Volumes


Time NB (Golf Club Road SE ) SB (Golf Club Road SE ) EB (OR 22 EB Ramps) WB (OR 22 EB Ramps) Totals


Time Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR 15min 1hr


07:00:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


07:15:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


07:30:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


07:45:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


08:00:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


08:15:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


08:30:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


08:45:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


Pedestrian Volumes


Time Pedestrians Totals


Time North South East West 15min 1hr


07:00:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0


07:15:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0


07:30:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0


07:45:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0


08:00:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0


08:15:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0


08:30:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0


08:45:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0







Location: Golf Club Road SE or Wilco Road & Shaff Rd 
Date: 2025-03-12
Peak Hour Start: 07:15 AM
Peak 15 Minute Start: 07:45 AM
Peak Hour Factor: 0.83


Motorized Vehicles Heavy Vehicles Pedestrians


(peak hour)
All Vehicle Volumes


Time NB (Golf Club Road SE or Wilco Road) SB (Golf Club Road SE or Wilco Road) EB (Shaff Rd ) WB (Shaff Rd ) Totals


Time Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR 15min 1hr


07:00:00 AM 5 35 3 0 0 14 25 1 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 11 9 27 0 0 134


07:15:00 AM 5 48 5 0 0 25 39 1 0 0 0 5 2 0 0 7 14 33 0 0 184


07:30:00 AM 5 56 14 0 0 38 67 9 0 0 3 10 3 0 0 8 26 33 0 0 272


07:45:00 AM 10 72 11 0 0 25 55 4 0 0 5 14 11 0 0 19 13 41 0 0 280 870


08:00:00 AM 0 52 6 0 0 14 38 1 0 0 4 12 10 0 0 14 6 42 0 0 199 935


08:15:00 AM 5 48 9 0 0 23 43 0 0 0 3 4 1 0 0 5 4 25 0 0 170 921


08:30:00 AM 3 40 13 0 0 15 46 3 0 0 1 5 3 0 0 11 2 25 0 0 167 816


08:45:00 AM 2 34 10 0 0 19 43 2 0 0 0 7 2 0 0 9 4 17 0 0 149 685


Car Volumes


Time NB (Golf Club Road SE or Wilco Road) SB (Golf Club Road SE or Wilco Road) EB (Shaff Rd ) WB (Shaff Rd ) Totals


Time Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR 15min 1hr


07:00:00 AM 5 33 3 0 0 13 22 1 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 10 9 27 0 0 127


07:15:00 AM 5 46 5 0 0 23 36 1 0 0 0 5 2 0 0 5 14 31 0 0 173


07:30:00 AM 5 53 14 0 0 37 63 9 0 0 2 10 3 0 0 6 26 32 0 0 260


07:45:00 AM 10 67 11 0 0 25 50 3 0 0 5 14 11 0 0 14 13 40 0 0 263 823


08:00:00 AM 0 46 5 0 0 14 38 1 0 0 3 12 9 0 0 11 5 42 0 0 186 882


08:15:00 AM 5 38 9 0 0 23 39 0 0 0 3 4 1 0 0 5 3 24 0 0 154 863


08:30:00 AM 2 37 12 0 0 15 42 3 0 0 1 5 2 0 0 11 2 22 0 0 154 757


08:45:00 AM 2 33 10 0 0 19 40 2 0 0 0 6 2 0 0 9 4 17 0 0 144 638


Truck Volumes


Time NB (Golf Club Road SE or Wilco Road) SB (Golf Club Road SE or Wilco Road) EB (Shaff Rd ) WB (Shaff Rd ) Totals


Time Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR 15min 1hr


07:00:00 AM 0 2 0 0 0 1 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 7


07:15:00 AM 0 2 0 0 0 2 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 2 0 0 11


07:30:00 AM 0 3 0 0 0 1 4 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 2 0 1 0 0 12


07:45:00 AM 0 5 0 0 0 0 5 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 0 1 0 0 17 47


08:00:00 AM 0 6 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 3 1 0 0 0 13 53


08:15:00 AM 0 10 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 16 58


08:30:00 AM 1 3 1 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 13 59


08:45:00 AM 0 1 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 47







Bike Volumes


Time NB (Golf Club Road SE or Wilco Road) SB (Golf Club Road SE or Wilco Road) EB (Shaff Rd ) WB (Shaff Rd ) Totals


Time Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR 15min 1hr


07:00:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1


07:15:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


07:30:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


07:45:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1


08:00:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


08:15:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


08:30:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


08:45:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 1


Pedestrian Volumes


Time Pedestrians Totals


Time North South East West 15min 1hr


07:00:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0


07:15:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0


07:30:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0


07:45:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0


08:00:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0


08:15:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0


08:30:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0


08:45:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0







Location: Wilco Rd & W Locust St
Date: 2025-03-12
Peak Hour Start: 07:30 AM
Peak 15 Minute Start: 07:45 AM
Peak Hour Factor: 0.83


Motorized Vehicles Heavy Vehicles Pedestrians


(peak hour)
All Vehicle Volumes


Time NB (Wilco Rd) SB (Wilco Rd) EB (W Locust St) WB (W Locust St) Totals


Time Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR 15min 1hr


07:00:00 AM 0 34 0 0 0 5 29 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 17 0 0 85


07:15:00 AM 0 46 0 0 0 12 37 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 18 0 0 117


07:30:00 AM 0 52 2 0 0 24 47 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 25 0 0 154


07:45:00 AM 0 40 3 0 0 18 57 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 6 0 48 0 0 172 528


08:00:00 AM 0 37 2 0 0 10 52 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 6 0 22 0 0 129 572


08:15:00 AM 0 51 2 0 0 9 38 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 14 0 0 118 573


08:30:00 AM 0 45 3 0 0 15 44 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 13 0 0 122 541


08:45:00 AM 0 33 2 0 0 10 42 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 11 0 0 99 468


Car Volumes


Time NB (Wilco Rd) SB (Wilco Rd) EB (W Locust St) WB (W Locust St) Totals


Time Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR 15min 1hr


07:00:00 AM 0 33 0 0 0 5 27 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 17 0 0 82


07:15:00 AM 0 44 0 0 0 11 34 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 17 0 0 109


07:30:00 AM 0 49 1 0 0 23 42 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 21 0 0 140


07:45:00 AM 0 38 3 0 0 18 51 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 6 0 45 0 0 161 492


08:00:00 AM 0 31 2 0 0 10 50 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 6 0 22 0 0 121 531


08:15:00 AM 0 42 2 0 0 9 36 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 12 0 0 105 527


08:30:00 AM 0 42 2 0 0 15 43 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 13 0 0 117 504


08:45:00 AM 0 33 2 0 0 9 39 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 11 0 0 95 438


Truck Volumes


Time NB (Wilco Rd) SB (Wilco Rd) EB (W Locust St) WB (W Locust St) Totals


Time Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR 15min 1hr


07:00:00 AM 0 1 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3


07:15:00 AM 0 2 0 0 0 1 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 8


07:30:00 AM 0 3 1 0 0 1 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 14


07:45:00 AM 0 2 0 0 0 0 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 11 36


08:00:00 AM 0 6 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 8 41


08:15:00 AM 0 9 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 13 46


08:30:00 AM 0 3 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 37


08:45:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 1 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 30







Bike Volumes


Time NB (Wilco Rd) SB (Wilco Rd) EB (W Locust St) WB (W Locust St) Totals


Time Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR 15min 1hr


07:00:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


07:15:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


07:30:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


07:45:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


08:00:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


08:15:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


08:30:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


08:45:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


Pedestrian Volumes


Time Pedestrians Totals


Time North South East West 15min 1hr


07:00:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0


07:15:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0


07:30:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0


07:45:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0


08:00:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0


08:15:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0


08:30:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0


08:45:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0







Location: Wilco Rd & W Washington St
Date: 2025-03-12
Peak Hour Start: 07:15 AM
Peak 15 Minute Start: 07:45 AM
Peak Hour Factor: 0.85


Motorized Vehicles Heavy Vehicles Pedestrians


(peak hour)
All Vehicle Volumes


Time NB (Wilco Rd) SB (Wilco Rd) EB (W Washington St) WB (W Washington St) Totals


Time Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR 15min 1hr


07:00:00 AM 1 17 2 0 0 3 7 13 0 0 6 15 1 0 0 1 10 11 0 0 87


07:15:00 AM 4 16 0 0 0 4 9 12 2 0 14 18 4 0 0 1 12 15 0 0 111


07:30:00 AM 4 26 1 0 0 11 12 17 0 0 11 34 2 0 0 1 11 16 0 0 146


07:45:00 AM 2 19 2 0 0 25 21 7 0 0 12 21 6 0 0 2 21 15 0 0 153 497


08:00:00 AM 2 8 0 0 0 17 9 15 0 0 13 9 5 0 0 0 16 17 0 0 111 521


08:15:00 AM 2 16 0 0 0 10 11 9 0 0 14 15 1 0 0 3 9 11 0 0 101 511


08:30:00 AM 4 16 0 0 0 18 11 8 1 0 12 11 3 0 0 1 9 16 0 0 110 475


08:45:00 AM 2 20 0 0 0 11 15 4 0 0 5 12 7 0 0 1 9 11 0 0 97 419


Car Volumes


Time NB (Wilco Rd) SB (Wilco Rd) EB (W Washington St) WB (W Washington St) Totals


Time Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR 15min 1hr


07:00:00 AM 1 16 2 0 0 3 7 10 0 0 6 15 1 0 0 1 9 11 0 0 82


07:15:00 AM 4 16 0 0 0 3 8 12 2 0 13 17 2 0 0 1 12 14 0 0 104


07:30:00 AM 4 24 1 0 0 9 11 11 0 0 8 34 1 0 0 1 11 16 0 0 131


07:45:00 AM 2 16 0 0 0 25 17 4 0 0 10 17 5 0 0 2 20 12 0 0 130 447


08:00:00 AM 2 7 0 0 0 13 9 13 0 0 8 9 5 0 0 0 14 16 0 0 96 461


08:15:00 AM 2 13 0 0 0 9 10 6 0 0 13 13 1 0 0 1 6 10 0 0 84 441


08:30:00 AM 3 16 0 0 0 18 8 8 0 0 9 8 3 0 0 1 8 15 0 0 97 407


08:45:00 AM 1 19 0 0 0 11 14 1 0 0 5 11 6 0 0 1 7 11 0 0 87 364


Truck Volumes


Time NB (Wilco Rd) SB (Wilco Rd) EB (W Washington St) WB (W Washington St) Totals


Time Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR 15min 1hr


07:00:00 AM 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 5


07:15:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 1 1 2 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 7


07:30:00 AM 0 2 0 0 0 2 1 6 0 0 3 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 15


07:45:00 AM 0 3 2 0 0 0 4 3 0 0 2 4 1 0 0 0 1 3 0 0 23 50


08:00:00 AM 0 1 0 0 0 4 0 2 0 0 5 0 0 0 0 0 2 1 0 0 15 60


08:15:00 AM 0 3 0 0 0 1 1 3 0 0 1 2 0 0 0 2 3 1 0 0 17 70


08:30:00 AM 1 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 1 0 3 3 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 13 68


08:45:00 AM 1 1 0 0 0 0 1 3 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 10 55







Bike Volumes


Time NB (Wilco Rd) SB (Wilco Rd) EB (W Washington St) WB (W Washington St) Totals


Time Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR 15min 1hr


07:00:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


07:15:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


07:30:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


07:45:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


08:00:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


08:15:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


08:30:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


08:45:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


Pedestrian Volumes


Time Pedestrians Totals


Time North South East West 15min 1hr


07:00:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0


07:15:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0


07:30:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0


07:45:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0


08:00:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0


08:15:00 AM 2 0 0 2 4 4


08:30:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 4


08:45:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 4







Location: Shaff Road SE & North Gardner Ave
Date: 2025-03-12
Peak Hour Start: 08:00 AM
Peak 15 Minute Start: 08:15 AM
Peak Hour Factor: 0.97


Motorized Vehicles Heavy Vehicles Pedestrians


(peak hour)
All Vehicle Volumes


Time NB (Shaff Road SE) SB (Shaff Road SE) EB (North Gardner Ave) WB (North Gardner Ave) Totals


Time Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR 15min 1hr


07:00:00 AM 12 5 9 0 0 4 5 5 0 0 1 89 13 0 0 7 62 0 0 0 212


07:15:00 AM 8 0 10 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 81 7 0 0 6 73 0 0 0 188


07:30:00 AM 8 0 9 0 0 1 2 0 0 0 1 68 17 0 0 4 70 1 0 0 181


07:45:00 AM 11 0 10 0 0 0 3 4 0 0 1 61 14 0 0 5 56 1 0 0 166 747


08:00:00 AM 12 0 5 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 4 79 12 0 0 7 72 2 0 0 195 730


08:15:00 AM 7 2 3 0 0 0 1 2 0 0 4 77 27 0 0 9 65 8 0 0 205 747


08:30:00 AM 18 5 13 0 0 7 4 7 0 0 4 67 17 0 0 5 52 5 0 0 204 770


08:45:00 AM 15 2 11 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 69 19 0 0 10 64 1 0 0 192 796


Car Volumes


Time NB (Shaff Road SE) SB (Shaff Road SE) EB (North Gardner Ave) WB (North Gardner Ave) Totals


Time Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR 15min 1hr


07:00:00 AM 11 5 9 0 0 4 5 5 0 0 1 89 13 0 0 7 61 0 0 0 210


07:15:00 AM 8 0 10 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 80 7 0 0 6 70 0 0 0 184


07:30:00 AM 8 0 9 0 0 1 2 0 0 0 1 67 17 0 0 4 66 1 0 0 176


07:45:00 AM 11 0 10 0 0 0 3 4 0 0 1 61 14 0 0 5 56 1 0 0 166 736


08:00:00 AM 12 0 5 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 4 79 12 0 0 7 72 2 0 0 195 721


08:15:00 AM 7 2 3 0 0 0 1 2 0 0 4 76 27 0 0 9 65 8 0 0 204 741


08:30:00 AM 18 5 12 0 0 7 4 7 0 0 4 67 17 0 0 5 51 5 0 0 202 767


08:45:00 AM 15 2 11 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 67 19 0 0 10 64 1 0 0 189 790


Truck Volumes


Time NB (Shaff Road SE) SB (Shaff Road SE) EB (North Gardner Ave) WB (North Gardner Ave) Totals


Time Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR 15min 1hr


07:00:00 AM 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 2


07:15:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 4


07:30:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 5


07:45:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 11


08:00:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 9


08:15:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 6


08:30:00 AM 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 2 3


08:45:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 6







Bike Volumes


Time NB (Shaff Road SE) SB (Shaff Road SE) EB (North Gardner Ave) WB (North Gardner Ave) Totals


Time Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR 15min 1hr


07:00:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


07:15:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


07:30:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


07:45:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


08:00:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


08:15:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


08:30:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


08:45:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


Pedestrian Volumes


Time Pedestrians Totals


Time North South East West 15min 1hr


07:00:00 AM 2 0 3 3 8


07:15:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0


07:30:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0


07:45:00 AM 0 1 0 0 1 9


08:00:00 AM 1 0 3 1 5 6


08:15:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 6


08:30:00 AM 2 0 7 0 9 15


08:45:00 AM 0 0 2 0 2 16







Location: Golf Club Road SE & Sublimity Road SE
Date: 2025-03-18
Peak Hour Start: 04:00 PM
Peak 15 Minute Start: 04:30 PM
Peak Hour Factor: 0.91


Motorized Vehicles Heavy Vehicles Pedestrians


(peak hour)
All Vehicle Volumes


Time NB (Golf Club Road SE) SB (Golf Club Road SE) EB (Sublimity Road SE) WB (Sublimity Road SE) Totals


Time Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR 15min 1hr


04:00:00 PM 39 12 51 0 0 3 4 5 0 0 1 1 9 0 0 23 27 1 0 0 176


04:15:00 PM 35 10 56 0 0 2 4 0 0 0 0 2 1 0 0 32 21 3 0 0 166


04:30:00 PM 51 11 44 0 0 3 5 2 0 0 1 3 10 0 0 21 32 3 0 0 186


04:45:00 PM 41 11 40 0 0 2 10 2 0 0 3 0 7 0 0 23 9 1 0 0 149 677


05:00:00 PM 48 12 43 0 0 3 6 5 0 0 3 0 7 0 0 22 23 2 0 0 174 675


05:15:00 PM 41 14 45 0 0 3 4 3 0 0 2 1 6 0 0 13 14 4 0 0 150 659


05:30:00 PM 45 16 39 0 0 0 6 4 0 0 2 0 4 0 0 20 22 1 0 0 159 632


05:45:00 PM 27 15 42 0 0 3 8 1 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 13 7 1 0 0 121 604


Car Volumes


Time NB (Golf Club Road SE) SB (Golf Club Road SE) EB (Sublimity Road SE) WB (Sublimity Road SE) Totals


Time Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR 15min 1hr


04:00:00 PM 35 12 47 0 0 3 4 5 0 0 1 1 9 0 0 23 27 1 0 0 168


04:15:00 PM 31 8 55 0 0 2 4 0 0 0 0 2 1 0 0 31 21 3 0 0 158


04:30:00 PM 51 11 43 0 0 3 5 2 0 0 1 3 8 0 0 17 32 3 0 0 179


04:45:00 PM 37 11 40 0 0 2 10 1 0 0 3 0 6 0 0 23 9 1 0 0 143 648


05:00:00 PM 47 12 41 0 0 3 6 5 0 0 3 0 6 0 0 22 23 2 0 0 170 650


05:15:00 PM 40 13 45 0 0 3 4 3 0 0 2 1 4 0 0 13 14 4 0 0 146 638


05:30:00 PM 44 16 37 0 0 0 6 4 0 0 2 0 4 0 0 20 22 1 0 0 156 615


05:45:00 PM 27 15 42 0 0 3 8 1 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 12 7 1 0 0 120 592


Truck Volumes


Time NB (Golf Club Road SE) SB (Golf Club Road SE) EB (Sublimity Road SE) WB (Sublimity Road SE) Totals


Time Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR 15min 1hr


04:00:00 PM 4 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 8


04:15:00 PM 4 2 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 8


04:30:00 PM 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 7


04:45:00 PM 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 6 29


05:00:00 PM 1 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 25


05:15:00 PM 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 21


05:30:00 PM 1 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 17


05:45:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 12







Bike Volumes


Time NB (Golf Club Road SE) SB (Golf Club Road SE) EB (Sublimity Road SE) WB (Sublimity Road SE) Totals


Time Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR 15min 1hr


04:00:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


04:15:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


04:30:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


04:45:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


05:00:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 1


05:15:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1


05:30:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1


05:45:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1


Pedestrian Volumes


Time Pedestrians Totals


Time North South East West 15min 1hr


04:00:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0


04:15:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0


04:30:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0


04:45:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0


05:00:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0


05:15:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0


05:30:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0


05:45:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0







Location: Golf Club Road SE  & OR 22 EB Ramps
Date: 2025-03-18
Peak Hour Start: 04:30 PM
Peak 15 Minute Start: 04:45 PM
Peak Hour Factor: 0.94


Motorized Vehicles Heavy Vehicles Pedestrians


(peak hour)
All Vehicle Volumes


Time NB (Golf Club Road SE ) SB (Golf Club Road SE ) EB (OR 22 EB Ramps) WB (OR 22 EB Ramps) Totals


Time Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR 15min 1hr


04:00:00 PM 0 69 4 0 0 6 30 0 0 0 35 1 64 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 209


04:15:00 PM 0 59 11 0 0 3 34 0 0 0 38 0 80 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 225


04:30:00 PM 0 75 13 0 0 5 31 0 0 0 31 0 69 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 224


04:45:00 PM 0 67 9 0 0 0 40 0 0 0 27 0 101 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 244 902


05:00:00 PM 0 74 16 0 0 3 31 0 0 0 29 0 64 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 217 910


05:15:00 PM 0 62 16 0 0 1 23 0 0 0 39 0 92 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 233 918


05:30:00 PM 0 63 7 0 0 1 19 0 0 0 45 0 82 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 217 911


05:45:00 PM 0 55 9 0 0 0 18 0 0 0 36 0 72 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 190 857


Car Volumes


Time NB (Golf Club Road SE ) SB (Golf Club Road SE ) EB (OR 22 EB Ramps) WB (OR 22 EB Ramps) Totals


Time Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR 15min 1hr


04:00:00 PM 0 66 4 0 0 6 30 0 0 0 34 1 63 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 204


04:15:00 PM 0 56 11 0 0 3 33 0 0 0 36 0 77 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 216


04:30:00 PM 0 74 12 0 0 5 28 0 0 0 31 0 67 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 217


04:45:00 PM 0 66 9 0 0 0 39 0 0 0 27 0 101 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 242 879


05:00:00 PM 0 73 16 0 0 3 30 0 0 0 29 0 63 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 214 889


05:15:00 PM 0 60 16 0 0 1 22 0 0 0 39 0 90 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 228 901


05:30:00 PM 0 63 7 0 0 1 19 0 0 0 45 0 82 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 217 901


05:45:00 PM 0 55 9 0 0 0 18 0 0 0 36 0 71 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 189 848


Truck Volumes


Time NB (Golf Club Road SE ) SB (Golf Club Road SE ) EB (OR 22 EB Ramps) WB (OR 22 EB Ramps) Totals


Time Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR 15min 1hr


04:00:00 PM 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5


04:15:00 PM 0 3 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 2 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 9


04:30:00 PM 0 1 1 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 7


04:45:00 PM 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 23


05:00:00 PM 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 21


05:15:00 PM 0 2 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 17


05:30:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 10


05:45:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 9







Bike Volumes


Time NB (Golf Club Road SE ) SB (Golf Club Road SE ) EB (OR 22 EB Ramps) WB (OR 22 EB Ramps) Totals


Time Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR 15min 1hr


04:00:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


04:15:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


04:30:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


04:45:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


05:00:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1


05:15:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1


05:30:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1


05:45:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1


Pedestrian Volumes


Time Pedestrians Totals


Time North South East West 15min 1hr


04:00:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0


04:15:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0


04:30:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0


04:45:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0


05:00:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0


05:15:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0


05:30:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0


05:45:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0







Location: Golf Club Road SE or Wilco Road & Shaff Rd 
Date: 2025-03-12
Peak Hour Start: 04:30 PM
Peak 15 Minute Start: 04:30 PM
Peak Hour Factor: 0.97


Motorized Vehicles Heavy Vehicles Pedestrians


(peak hour)
All Vehicle Volumes


Time NB (Golf Club Road SE or Wilco Road) SB (Golf Club Road SE or Wilco Road) EB (Shaff Rd ) WB (Shaff Rd ) Totals


Time Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR 15min 1hr


04:00:00 PM 9 63 14 0 0 44 63 1 0 0 2 11 10 0 0 17 7 41 0 0 282


04:15:00 PM 3 63 24 0 0 43 73 6 0 0 0 12 5 0 0 11 8 36 0 0 284


04:30:00 PM 3 67 20 0 0 65 58 2 0 0 4 8 8 0 0 13 16 51 0 0 315


04:45:00 PM 10 54 16 0 0 62 77 4 0 0 1 17 5 0 0 8 7 40 0 0 301 1182


05:00:00 PM 13 72 18 0 0 44 63 3 0 0 2 15 5 0 0 10 6 38 0 0 289 1189


05:15:00 PM 13 47 18 0 0 62 70 3 0 0 1 19 8 0 0 12 16 44 0 0 313 1218


05:30:00 PM 4 45 13 0 0 52 61 4 0 0 1 23 7 0 0 13 7 41 0 0 271 1174


05:45:00 PM 6 43 13 0 0 62 52 1 0 0 3 16 5 0 0 8 8 31 0 0 248 1121


Car Volumes


Time NB (Golf Club Road SE or Wilco Road) SB (Golf Club Road SE or Wilco Road) EB (Shaff Rd ) WB (Shaff Rd ) Totals


Time Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR 15min 1hr


04:00:00 PM 9 61 14 0 0 44 61 1 0 0 2 11 10 0 0 14 7 41 0 0 275


04:15:00 PM 3 57 24 0 0 43 69 6 0 0 0 12 5 0 0 11 8 35 0 0 273


04:30:00 PM 3 67 17 0 0 65 55 2 0 0 4 8 8 0 0 13 16 51 0 0 309


04:45:00 PM 10 54 15 0 0 61 76 4 0 0 1 17 5 0 0 8 7 39 0 0 297 1154


05:00:00 PM 13 70 17 0 0 44 61 3 0 0 2 15 5 0 0 9 6 37 0 0 282 1161


05:15:00 PM 12 47 17 0 0 62 70 3 0 0 1 19 8 0 0 12 16 43 0 0 310 1198


05:30:00 PM 4 45 13 0 0 51 61 3 0 0 1 22 7 0 0 13 7 41 0 0 268 1157


05:45:00 PM 6 42 13 0 0 62 52 1 0 0 3 16 5 0 0 7 8 31 0 0 246 1106


Truck Volumes


Time NB (Golf Club Road SE or Wilco Road) SB (Golf Club Road SE or Wilco Road) EB (Shaff Rd ) WB (Shaff Rd ) Totals


Time Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR 15min 1hr


04:00:00 PM 0 2 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 7


04:15:00 PM 0 6 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 11


04:30:00 PM 0 0 3 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 6


04:45:00 PM 0 0 1 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 4 28


05:00:00 PM 0 2 1 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 7 28


05:15:00 PM 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 3 20


05:30:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 17


05:45:00 PM 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 2 15







Bike Volumes


Time NB (Golf Club Road SE or Wilco Road) SB (Golf Club Road SE or Wilco Road) EB (Shaff Rd ) WB (Shaff Rd ) Totals


Time Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR 15min 1hr


04:00:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


04:15:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


04:30:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


04:45:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


05:00:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


05:15:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


05:30:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


05:45:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1


Pedestrian Volumes


Time Pedestrians Totals


Time North South East West 15min 1hr


04:00:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0


04:15:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0


04:30:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0


04:45:00 PM 1 0 1 0 2 2


05:00:00 PM 1 0 0 0 1 3


05:15:00 PM 1 0 1 0 2 5


05:30:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 5


05:45:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 3







Location: Wilco Rd & W Locust St
Date: 2025-03-12
Peak Hour Start: 04:15 PM
Peak 15 Minute Start: 04:15 PM
Peak Hour Factor: 0.96


Motorized Vehicles Heavy Vehicles Pedestrians


(peak hour)
All Vehicle Volumes


Time NB (Wilco Rd) SB (Wilco Rd) EB (W Locust St) WB (W Locust St) Totals


Time Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR 15min 1hr


04:00:00 PM 0 63 7 0 0 10 78 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 15 0 0 175


04:15:00 PM 0 75 5 0 0 18 77 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 9 0 0 186


04:30:00 PM 0 59 3 0 0 19 75 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 0 19 0 0 180


04:45:00 PM 0 58 5 0 0 25 60 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 19 0 0 171 712


05:00:00 PM 0 65 6 0 0 26 54 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 27 0 0 180 717


05:15:00 PM 0 52 5 0 0 22 62 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 16 0 0 161 692


05:30:00 PM 0 45 6 0 0 19 63 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 14 0 0 147 659


05:45:00 PM 0 49 5 0 0 14 42 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 6 0 12 0 0 128 616


Car Volumes


Time NB (Wilco Rd) SB (Wilco Rd) EB (W Locust St) WB (W Locust St) Totals


Time Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR 15min 1hr


04:00:00 PM 0 60 7 0 0 10 75 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 13 0 0 167


04:15:00 PM 0 73 5 0 0 18 76 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 9 0 0 183


04:30:00 PM 0 57 3 0 0 19 73 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 0 19 0 0 176


04:45:00 PM 0 56 5 0 0 24 57 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 19 0 0 165 691


05:00:00 PM 0 65 6 0 0 26 52 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 27 0 0 178 702


05:15:00 PM 0 51 5 0 0 22 62 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 16 0 0 159 678


05:30:00 PM 0 44 5 0 0 19 63 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 14 0 0 145 647


05:45:00 PM 0 47 5 0 0 14 42 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 6 0 11 0 0 125 607


Truck Volumes


Time NB (Wilco Rd) SB (Wilco Rd) EB (W Locust St) WB (W Locust St) Totals


Time Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR 15min 1hr


04:00:00 PM 0 3 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 8


04:15:00 PM 0 2 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3


04:30:00 PM 0 2 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4


04:45:00 PM 0 2 0 0 0 1 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 6 21


05:00:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 15


05:15:00 PM 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 2 14


05:30:00 PM 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 12


05:45:00 PM 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 3 9







Bike Volumes


Time NB (Wilco Rd) SB (Wilco Rd) EB (W Locust St) WB (W Locust St) Totals


Time Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR 15min 1hr


04:00:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


04:15:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


04:30:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


04:45:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


05:00:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


05:15:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


05:30:00 PM 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1


05:45:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1


Pedestrian Volumes


Time Pedestrians Totals


Time North South East West 15min 1hr


04:00:00 PM 0 0 0 1 1


04:15:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0


04:30:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0


04:45:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 1


05:00:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0


05:15:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0


05:30:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0


05:45:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0







Location: Wilco Rd & W Washington St
Date: 2025-03-12
Peak Hour Start: 04:00 PM
Peak 15 Minute Start: 04:15 PM
Peak Hour Factor: 0.89


Motorized Vehicles Heavy Vehicles Pedestrians


(peak hour)
All Vehicle Volumes


Time NB (Wilco Rd) SB (Wilco Rd) EB (W Washington St) WB (W Washington St) Totals


Time Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR 15min 1hr


04:00:00 PM 2 21 0 0 0 25 32 19 0 0 8 21 11 0 0 1 21 22 0 0 183


04:15:00 PM 5 18 0 0 0 17 41 19 0 0 18 23 12 0 0 0 18 23 0 0 194


04:30:00 PM 3 14 1 0 0 17 36 20 0 0 13 19 4 0 0 1 16 17 0 0 161


04:45:00 PM 4 15 1 0 0 16 34 13 0 0 13 15 7 0 0 0 20 17 0 0 155 693


05:00:00 PM 5 23 5 0 0 16 31 17 0 0 23 15 4 0 0 0 18 17 0 0 174 684


05:15:00 PM 3 17 2 0 0 13 32 19 0 0 12 15 3 0 0 1 20 19 0 0 156 646


05:30:00 PM 4 9 1 0 0 11 42 21 0 0 14 19 10 0 0 1 17 21 0 0 170 655


05:45:00 PM 6 15 2 0 0 6 29 7 0 0 15 16 6 0 0 0 13 11 0 0 126 626


Car Volumes


Time NB (Wilco Rd) SB (Wilco Rd) EB (W Washington St) WB (W Washington St) Totals


Time Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR 15min 1hr


04:00:00 PM 2 16 0 0 0 25 31 18 0 0 8 19 11 0 0 1 19 19 0 0 169


04:15:00 PM 4 17 0 0 0 16 39 17 0 0 18 21 12 0 0 0 17 23 0 0 184


04:30:00 PM 3 12 1 0 0 16 35 18 0 0 12 18 4 0 0 1 16 17 0 0 153


04:45:00 PM 4 14 1 0 0 16 34 13 0 0 13 14 7 0 0 0 17 16 0 0 149 655


05:00:00 PM 5 23 4 0 0 14 30 16 0 0 19 15 4 0 0 0 16 17 0 0 163 649


05:15:00 PM 3 17 1 0 0 13 30 18 0 0 12 14 2 0 0 1 20 19 0 0 150 615


05:30:00 PM 4 9 1 0 0 11 41 21 0 0 13 19 10 0 0 1 17 21 0 0 168 630


05:45:00 PM 6 15 2 0 0 6 29 7 0 0 12 16 6 0 0 0 13 11 0 0 123 604


Truck Volumes


Time NB (Wilco Rd) SB (Wilco Rd) EB (W Washington St) WB (W Washington St) Totals


Time Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR 15min 1hr


04:00:00 PM 0 5 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 2 3 0 0 14


04:15:00 PM 1 1 0 0 0 1 2 2 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 10


04:30:00 PM 0 2 0 0 0 1 1 2 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 8


04:45:00 PM 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 3 1 0 0 6 38


05:00:00 PM 0 0 1 0 0 2 1 1 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 11 35


05:15:00 PM 0 0 1 0 0 0 2 1 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 6 31


05:30:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 25


05:45:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 22







Bike Volumes


Time NB (Wilco Rd) SB (Wilco Rd) EB (W Washington St) WB (W Washington St) Totals


Time Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR 15min 1hr


04:00:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


04:15:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


04:30:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


04:45:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


05:00:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


05:15:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


05:30:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


05:45:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


Pedestrian Volumes


Time Pedestrians Totals


Time North South East West 15min 1hr


04:00:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0


04:15:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0


04:30:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0


04:45:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0


05:00:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0


05:15:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0


05:30:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0


05:45:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0







Location: Shaff Road SE & North Gardner Ave
Date: 2025-03-12
Peak Hour Start: 04:00 PM
Peak 15 Minute Start: 04:15 PM
Peak Hour Factor: 0.89


Motorized Vehicles Heavy Vehicles Pedestrians


(peak hour)
All Vehicle Volumes


Time NB (Shaff Road SE) SB (Shaff Road SE) EB (North Gardner Ave) WB (North Gardner Ave) Totals


Time Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR 15min 1hr


04:00:00 PM 2 21 0 0 0 25 32 19 0 0 8 21 11 0 0 1 21 22 0 0 183


04:15:00 PM 5 18 0 0 0 17 41 19 0 0 18 23 12 0 0 0 18 23 0 0 194


04:30:00 PM 3 14 1 0 0 17 36 20 0 0 13 19 4 0 0 1 16 17 0 0 161


04:45:00 PM 4 15 1 0 0 16 34 13 0 0 13 15 7 0 0 0 20 17 0 0 155 693


05:00:00 PM 5 23 5 0 0 16 31 17 0 0 23 15 4 0 0 0 18 17 0 0 174 684


05:15:00 PM 3 17 2 0 0 13 32 19 0 0 12 15 3 0 0 1 20 19 0 0 156 646


05:30:00 PM 4 9 1 0 0 11 42 21 0 0 14 19 10 0 0 1 17 21 0 0 170 655


05:45:00 PM 6 15 2 0 0 6 29 7 0 0 15 16 6 0 0 0 13 11 0 0 126 626


Car Volumes


Time NB (Shaff Road SE) SB (Shaff Road SE) EB (North Gardner Ave) WB (North Gardner Ave) Totals


Time Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR 15min 1hr


04:00:00 PM 2 16 0 0 0 25 31 18 0 0 8 19 11 0 0 1 19 19 0 0 169


04:15:00 PM 4 17 0 0 0 16 39 17 0 0 18 21 12 0 0 0 17 23 0 0 184


04:30:00 PM 3 12 1 0 0 16 35 18 0 0 12 18 4 0 0 1 16 17 0 0 153


04:45:00 PM 4 14 1 0 0 16 34 13 0 0 13 14 7 0 0 0 17 16 0 0 149 655


05:00:00 PM 5 23 4 0 0 14 30 16 0 0 19 15 4 0 0 0 16 17 0 0 163 649


05:15:00 PM 3 17 1 0 0 13 30 18 0 0 12 14 2 0 0 1 20 19 0 0 150 615


05:30:00 PM 4 9 1 0 0 11 41 21 0 0 13 19 10 0 0 1 17 21 0 0 168 630


05:45:00 PM 6 15 2 0 0 6 29 7 0 0 12 16 6 0 0 0 13 11 0 0 123 604


Truck Volumes


Time NB (Shaff Road SE) SB (Shaff Road SE) EB (North Gardner Ave) WB (North Gardner Ave) Totals


Time Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR 15min 1hr


04:00:00 PM 0 5 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 2 3 0 0 14


04:15:00 PM 1 1 0 0 0 1 2 2 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 10


04:30:00 PM 0 2 0 0 0 1 1 2 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 8


04:45:00 PM 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 3 1 0 0 6 38


05:00:00 PM 0 0 1 0 0 2 1 1 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 11 35


05:15:00 PM 0 0 1 0 0 0 2 1 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 6 31


05:30:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 25


05:45:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 22







Bike Volumes


Time NB (Shaff Road SE) SB (Shaff Road SE) EB (North Gardner Ave) WB (North Gardner Ave) Totals


Time Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR Left Thru Right U-turn RTOR 15min 1hr


04:00:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


04:15:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


04:30:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


04:45:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


05:00:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


05:15:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


05:30:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


05:45:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0


Pedestrian Volumes


Time Pedestrians Totals


Time North South East West 15min 1hr


04:00:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0


04:15:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0


04:30:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0


04:45:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0


05:00:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0


05:15:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0


05:30:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0


05:45:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0







Data Collection Survey by RallyTraffic.com 1


Site Code: 427 Comment 1:
Station ID: Comment 2:
Location 1: Golf Club Road Road SE Comment 3:
Location 2: (South of Bear Place SE) Comment 4:
Location 3: Latitude: 44.819080
Location 4: Longitude: -122.820793


3/12/2025 NB SB Combined 3/13/25 NB SB Combined
Time Wed A.M. P.M. A.M. P.M. A.M. P.M. Thu A.M. P.M. A.M. P.M. A.M. P.M.
12:00 * 104 * 75 0 179 4 72 7 88 11 160
12:15 * 63 * 68 0 131 8 83 6 93 14 176
12:30 * 60 * 83 0 143 5 80 6 82 11 162
12:45 1 83 2 61 3 144 1 68 5 91 6 159
01:00 4 61 2 76 6 137 2 77 3 85 5 162
01:15 2 71 2 79 4 150 3 82 3 69 6 151
01:30 2 78 1 100 3 178 0 87 2 87 2 174
01:45 0 72 2 72 2 144 3 85 2 72 5 157
02:00 3 100 0 66 3 166 5 87 3 94 8 181
02:15 1 88 1 91 2 179 2 77 3 76 5 153
02:30 2 97 2 94 4 191 3 79 0 87 3 166
02:45 2 89 3 112 5 201 1 93 0 105 1 198
03:00 6 134 2 101 8 235 5 112 2 87 7 199
03:15 6 123 3 101 9 224 2 138 0 86 2 224
03:30 4 134 3 116 7 250 5 117 2 112 7 229
03:45 4 98 5 119 9 217 6 104 2 116 8 220
04:00 8 98 3 102 11 200 10 105 7 89 17 194
04:15 13 99 18 122 31 221 14 98 14 119 28 217
04:30 23 118 20 123 43 241 18 98 21 103 39 201
04:45 19 95 22 148 41 243 12 97 16 116 28 213
05:00 35 117 23 116 58 233 39 113 21 139 60 252
05:15 30 87 33 129 63 216 37 96 31 137 68 233
05:30 48 84 45 117 93 201 37 85 35 120 72 205
05:45 41 71 40 102 81 173 35 85 50 100 85 185
06:00 39 81 26 78 65 159 38 84 22 96 60 180
06:15 48 61 22 75 70 136 63 60 33 109 96 169
06:30 97 52 29 75 126 127 83 60 27 80 110 140
06:45 64 48 39 76 103 124 53 49 48 78 101 127
07:00 65 56 45 63 110 119 78 61 46 65 124 126
07:15 85 43 62 58 147 101 84 48 79 56 163 104
07:30 92 45 104 54 196 99 114 40 87 74 201 114
07:45 120 37 73 54 193 91 110 30 71 59 181 89
08:00 105 35 48 40 153 75 93 30 66 47 159 77
08:15 78 30 69 54 147 84 78 39 65 36 143 75
08:30 57 33 58 44 115 77 61 33 54 26 115 59
08:45 66 27 59 28 125 55 58 26 70 32 128 58
09:00 61 27 38 28 99 55 76 24 38 31 114 55
09:15 58 25 62 25 120 50 58 27 45 30 103 57
09:30 69 19 50 28 119 47 59 24 47 23 106 47
09:45 56 9 60 16 116 25 64 19 53 24 117 43
10:00 64 18 54 25 118 43 68 10 55 18 123 28
10:15 64 8 54 17 118 25 62 17 51 19 113 36
10:30 72 10 60 4 132 14 64 16 67 24 131 40
10:45 59 6 50 18 109 24 71 15 76 18 147 33
11:00 59 4 53 11 112 15 70 9 67 20 137 29
11:15 52 4 70 22 122 26 70 9 63 23 133 32
11:30 67 8 72 3 139 11 83 9 74 11 157 20
11:45 81 0 76 3 157 3 80 5 70 13 150 18
Total 1932 2910 1565 3272 3497 6182 1995 2962 1615 3365 3610 6327


Day Total 4842 4837 9679 4957 4980 9937
% Total 20.0% 30.1% 16.2% 33.8% 20.1% 29.8% 16.3% 33.9%


Peak 07:15 03:00 07:30 04:30 07:15 04:15 07:15 03:00 07:15 04:45 07:15 04:45
Volume 402 489 294 516 689 938 401 471 303 512 704 903


Peak Factor 0.838 0.912 0.707 0.872 0.879 0.965 0.879 0.853 0.871 0.921 0.876 0.896







Data Collection Survey by RallyTraffic.com 2


Site Code: 427 Comment 1:
Station ID: Comment 2:
Location 1: Golf Club Road Road SE Comment 3:
Location 2: (South of Bear Place SE) Comment 4:
Location 3: Latitude: 44.819080
Location 4: Longitude: -122.820793


3/14/2025 NB SB Combined 3/15/25 NB SB Combined
Time Fri A.M. P.M. A.M. P.M. A.M. P.M. Sat A.M. P.M. A.M. P.M. A.M. P.M.
12:00 4 107 9 90 13 197 * * * * 0 0
12:15 11 81 3 93 14 174 * * * * 0 0
12:30 3 72 6 79 9 151 * * * * 0 0
12:45 3 79 5 76 8 155 * * * * 0 0
01:00 2 70 2 76 4 146 * * * * 0 0
01:15 5 84 3 86 8 170 * * * * 0 0
01:30 0 78 2 71 2 149 * * * * 0 0
01:45 3 102 5 88 8 190 * * * * 0 0
02:00 5 84 2 95 7 179 * * * * 0 0
02:15 3 92 3 98 6 190 * * * * 0 0
02:30 1 91 1 94 2 185 * * * * 0 0
02:45 1 115 0 122 1 237 * * * * 0 0
03:00 4 118 3 81 7 199 * * * * 0 0
03:15 1 110 2 108 3 218 * * * * 0 0
03:30 1 101 2 83 3 184 * * * * 0 0
03:45 5 2 4 0 9 2 * * * * 0 0
04:00 8 * 7 * 15 0 * * * * 0 0
04:15 11 * 12 * 23 0 * * * * 0 0
04:30 14 * 25 * 39 0 * * * * 0 0
04:45 21 * 19 * 40 0 * * * * 0 0
05:00 30 * 15 * 45 0 * * * * 0 0
05:15 21 * 31 * 52 0 * * * * 0 0
05:30 46 * 37 * 83 0 * * * * 0 0
05:45 36 * 40 * 76 0 * * * * 0 0
06:00 41 * 18 * 59 0 * * * * 0 0
06:15 53 * 28 * 81 0 * * * * 0 0
06:30 88 * 38 * 126 0 * * * * 0 0
06:45 58 * 41 * 99 0 * * * * 0 0
07:00 64 * 36 * 100 0 * * * * 0 0
07:15 61 * 56 * 117 0 * * * * 0 0
07:30 88 * 82 * 170 0 * * * * 0 0
07:45 86 * 54 * 140 0 * * * * 0 0
08:00 72 * 57 * 129 0 * * * * 0 0
08:15 57 * 56 * 113 0 * * * * 0 0
08:30 72 * 56 * 128 0 * * * * 0 0
08:45 66 * 58 * 124 0 * * * * 0 0
09:00 62 * 44 * 106 0 * * * * 0 0
09:15 79 * 42 * 121 0 * * * * 0 0
09:30 69 * 54 * 123 0 * * * * 0 0
09:45 67 * 62 * 129 0 * * * * 0 0
10:00 70 * 57 * 127 0 * * * * 0 0
10:15 66 * 56 * 122 0 * * * * 0 0
10:30 65 * 67 * 132 0 * * * * 0 0
10:45 72 * 64 * 136 0 * * * * 0 0
11:00 81 * 69 * 150 0 * * * * 0 0
11:15 87 * 76 * 163 0 * * * * 0 0
11:30 80 * 62 * 142 0 * * * * 0 0
11:45 79 * 78 * 157 0 * * * * 0 0
Total 1922 1386 1549 1340 3471 2726 0 0 0 0 0 0


Day Total 3308 2889 6197 0 0 0
% Total 31.0% 22.4% 25.0% 21.6%  -  -  -  -


Peak 11:00 02:45 11:00 02:00 11:00 02:30
Volume 327 444 285 409 612 839


Peak Factor 0.940 0.941 0.913 0.838 0.939 0.885
ADT ADT: 9,808 AADT: 9,808







 


  


 


Appendix E 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


  







HCM 6th TWSC
1: Golf Club Road SE & OR 22 WB Ramps/Sublimity Road SE 04/14/2025


Scenario 1 2025 AM Existing Synchro 11
Page 1


Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 16.6


Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 2 22 28 81 176 17 273 23 193 14 38 26
Future Vol, veh/h 2 22 28 81 176 17 273 23 193 14 38 26
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - Yield - - Yield
Storage Length 210 - - 165 - - 150 - 210 190 - 260
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 86 86 86 86 86 86 86 86 86 86 86 86
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 2 26 33 94 205 20 317 27 224 16 44 30
 


Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 850 737 44 767 737 27 44 0 0 27 0 0
          Stage 1 76 76 - 661 661 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 774 661 - 106 76 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 7.12 6.52 6.22 7.12 6.52 6.22 4.12 - - 4.12 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 6.12 5.52 - 6.12 5.52 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 6.12 5.52 - 6.12 5.52 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 4.018 3.318 3.518 4.018 3.318 2.218 - - 2.218 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 280 346 1026 319 346 1048 1564 - - 1587 - -
          Stage 1 933 832 - 452 460 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 391 460 - 900 832 - - - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 92 273 1026 241 273 1048 1564 - - 1587 - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 92 273 - 241 273 - - - - - - -
          Stage 1 744 824 - 360 367 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 135 367 - 836 824 - - - - - - -
 


Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 15.1 43 4.4 1.3
HCM LOS C E
 


Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT NBR EBLn1 EBLn2WBLn1WBLn2 SBL SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1564 - - 92 463 241 292 1587 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.203 - - 0.025 0.126 0.391 0.769 0.01 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 7.9 - - 45.1 13.9 29.2 48.8 7.3 - -
HCM Lane LOS A - - E B D E A - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.8 - - 0.1 0.4 1.8 5.9 0 - -







HCM 6th TWSC
2: Golf Club Road SE & OR 22 EB Ramps 04/14/2025


Scenario 1 2025 AM Existing Synchro 11
Page 2


Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 3.7


Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 89 0 151 0 0 0 0 398 24 25 118 0
Future Vol, veh/h 89 0 151 0 0 0 0 398 24 25 118 0
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - Yield - - None
Storage Length - - 240 - - - - - 250 115 - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 94 0 159 0 0 0 0 419 25 26 124 0
 


Major/Minor Minor2 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 595 595 124 - 0 0 419 0 0
          Stage 1 176 176 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 419 419 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.42 6.52 6.22 - - - 4.12 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.42 5.52 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.42 5.52 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 4.018 3.318 - - - 2.218 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 467 417 927 0 - - 1140 - 0
          Stage 1 855 753 - 0 - - - - 0
          Stage 2 664 590 - 0 - - - - 0
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 456 0 927 - - - 1140 - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 456 0 - - - - - - -
          Stage 1 855 0 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 649 0 - - - - - - -
 


Approach EB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 11.6 0 1.4
HCM LOS B
 


Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBT NBR EBLn1 EBLn2 SBL SBT
Capacity (veh/h) - - 456 927 1140 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - 0.205 0.171 0.023 -
HCM Control Delay (s) - - 14.9 9.7 8.2 -
HCM Lane LOS - - B A A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - 0.8 0.6 0.1 -







HCM 6th TWSC
3: Golf Club Road SE & Site Access 04/14/2025


Scenario 1 2025 AM Existing Synchro 11
Page 3


Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0


Movement WBL WBR NBT NBR SBL SBT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 0 0 395 0 0 292
Future Vol, veh/h 0 0 395 0 0 292
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - 0 - - 0
Grade, % 0 - 0 - - 0
Peak Hour Factor 86 86 86 86 86 86
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 0 0 459 0 0 340
 


Major/Minor Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 799 459 0 0 459 0
          Stage 1 459 - - - - -
          Stage 2 340 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.42 6.22 - - 4.12 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.42 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.42 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 3.318 - - 2.218 -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 355 602 - - 1102 -
          Stage 1 636 - - - - -
          Stage 2 721 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 355 602 - - 1102 -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 355 - - - - -
          Stage 1 636 - - - - -
          Stage 2 721 - - - - -
 


Approach WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 0 0 0
HCM LOS A
 


Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBT NBRWBLn1 SBL SBT
Capacity (veh/h) - - - 1102 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - - - -
HCM Control Delay (s) - - 0 0 -
HCM Lane LOS - - A A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - - 0 -







HCM 6th AWSC
4: Wilco Road/Golf Club Road SE & Shaff Road SE 04/14/2025


Scenario 1 2025 AM Existing Synchro 11
Page 4


Intersection
Intersection Delay, s/veh 14.3
Intersection LOS B


Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 15 40 25 46 49 141 20 228 40 100 203 14
Future Vol, veh/h 15 40 25 46 49 141 20 228 40 100 203 14
Peak Hour Factor 0.82 0.82 0.82 0.82 0.82 0.82 0.82 0.82 0.82 0.82 0.82 0.82
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 18 49 30 56 60 172 24 278 49 122 248 17
Number of Lanes 0 1 0 1 1 0 1 1 0 1 1 0


Approach EB WB NB SB
Opposing Approach WB EB SB NB
Opposing Lanes 2 1 2 2
Conflicting Approach Left SB NB EB WB
Conflicting Lanes Left 2 2 1 2
Conflicting Approach Right NB SB WB EB
Conflicting Lanes Right 2 2 2 1
HCM Control Delay 12 13 16.8 13.6
HCM LOS B B C B
        


Lane NBLn1 NBLn2 EBLn1 WBLn1 WBLn2 SBLn1 SBLn2
Vol Left, % 100% 0% 19% 100% 0% 100% 0%
Vol Thru, % 0% 85% 50% 0% 26% 0% 94%
Vol Right, % 0% 15% 31% 0% 74% 0% 6%
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop
Traffic Vol by Lane 20 268 80 46 190 100 217
LT Vol 20 0 15 46 0 100 0
Through Vol 0 228 40 0 49 0 203
RT Vol 0 40 25 0 141 0 14
Lane Flow Rate 24 327 98 56 232 122 265
Geometry Grp 5 5 4b 5 5 5 5
Degree of Util (X) 0.047 0.572 0.196 0.115 0.406 0.233 0.464
Departure Headway (Hd) 6.916 6.3 7.25 7.351 6.313 6.867 6.312
Convergence, Y/N Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes
Cap 514 569 498 485 565 520 566
Service Time 4.702 4.086 5.25 5.142 4.103 4.653 4.098
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.047 0.575 0.197 0.115 0.411 0.235 0.468
HCM Control Delay 10 17.3 12 11.1 13.4 11.8 14.5
HCM Lane LOS A C B B B B B
HCM 95th-tile Q 0.1 3.6 0.7 0.4 2 0.9 2.4







HCM 6th TWSC
5: Wilco Road & W Locust Street 04/14/2025


Scenario 1 2025 AM Existing Synchro 11
Page 5


Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 3.4


Movement WBL WBR NBT NBR SBL SBT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 20 109 180 9 61 194
Future Vol, veh/h 20 109 180 9 61 194
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - 0 - - 0
Grade, % 0 - 0 - - 0
Peak Hour Factor 83 83 83 83 83 83
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 24 131 217 11 73 234
 


Major/Minor Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 603 223 0 0 228 0
          Stage 1 223 - - - - -
          Stage 2 380 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.42 6.22 - - 4.12 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.42 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.42 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 3.318 - - 2.218 -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 462 817 - - 1340 -
          Stage 1 814 - - - - -
          Stage 2 691 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 433 817 - - 1340 -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 433 - - - - -
          Stage 1 814 - - - - -
          Stage 2 647 - - - - -
 


Approach WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 11.4 0 1.9
HCM LOS B
 


Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBT NBRWBLn1 SBL SBT
Capacity (veh/h) - - 718 1340 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - 0.216 0.055 -
HCM Control Delay (s) - - 11.4 7.8 0
HCM Lane LOS - - B A A
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - 0.8 0.2 -







HCM 6th AWSC
6: W Ida Street/Wilco Road & Washington Street 04/14/2025


Scenario 1 2025 AM Existing Synchro 11
Page 6


Intersection
Intersection Delay, s/veh 9.3
Intersection LOS A


Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 50 79 14 6 57 59 10 69 3 63 53 48
Future Vol, veh/h 50 79 14 6 57 59 10 69 3 63 53 48
Peak Hour Factor 0.83 0.83 0.83 0.83 0.83 0.83 0.83 0.83 0.83 0.83 0.83 0.83
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 60 95 17 7 69 71 12 83 4 76 64 58
Number of Lanes 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 1 1 0 1 1


Approach EB WB NB SB
Opposing Approach WB EB SB NB
Opposing Lanes 1 1 2 2
Conflicting Approach Left SB NB EB WB
Conflicting Lanes Left 2 2 1 1
Conflicting Approach Right NB SB WB EB
Conflicting Lanes Right 2 2 1 1
HCM Control Delay 9.5 8.8 9.2 9.5
HCM LOS A A A A
        


Lane NBLn1 NBLn2 EBLn1 WBLn1 SBLn1 SBLn2
Vol Left, % 13% 0% 35% 5% 54% 0%
Vol Thru, % 87% 0% 55% 47% 46% 0%
Vol Right, % 0% 100% 10% 48% 0% 100%
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop
Traffic Vol by Lane 79 3 143 122 116 48
LT Vol 10 0 50 6 63 0
Through Vol 69 0 79 57 53 0
RT Vol 0 3 14 59 0 48
Lane Flow Rate 95 4 172 147 140 58
Geometry Grp 5 5 2 2 5 5
Degree of Util (X) 0.148 0.005 0.234 0.19 0.221 0.076
Departure Headway (Hd) 5.585 4.814 4.893 4.646 5.682 4.701
Convergence, Y/N Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes
Cap 638 736 731 767 629 756
Service Time 3.361 2.589 2.95 2.703 3.449 2.468
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.149 0.005 0.235 0.192 0.223 0.077
HCM Control Delay 9.3 7.6 9.5 8.8 10.1 7.9
HCM Lane LOS A A A A B A
HCM 95th-tile Q 0.5 0 0.9 0.7 0.8 0.2







HCM 6th TWSC
7: N Gardner Avenue & Shaff Road SE 04/14/2025


Scenario 1 2025 AM Existing Synchro 11
Page 7


Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 2.1


Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 10 285 70 25 263 12 38 2 27 2 6 7
Future Vol, veh/h 10 285 70 25 263 12 38 2 27 2 6 7
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Free Free Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length 100 - - 100 - - - - - - - 100
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 91 91 91 91 91 91 91 91 91 91 91 91
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 11 313 77 27 289 13 42 2 30 2 7 8
 


Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1 Minor2
Conflicting Flow All 302 0 0 390 0 0 731 730 352 740 762 296
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 374 374 - 350 350 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 357 356 - 390 412 -
Critical Hdwy 4.12 - - 4.12 - - 7.12 6.52 6.22 7.12 6.52 6.22
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - - - 6.12 5.52 - 6.12 5.52 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - - - 6.12 5.52 - 6.12 5.52 -
Follow-up Hdwy 2.218 - - 2.218 - - 3.518 4.018 3.318 3.518 4.018 3.318
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 1259 - - 1169 - - 337 349 692 333 335 743
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 647 618 - 666 633 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 661 629 - 634 594 -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 1259 - - 1169 - - 320 338 692 309 324 743
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - - - 320 338 - 309 324 -
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 641 612 - 660 618 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 632 615 - 599 589 -
 


Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 0.2 0.7 15.7 13.5
HCM LOS C B
 


Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR SBLn1 SBLn2
Capacity (veh/h) 409 1259 - - 1169 - - 320 743
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.18 0.009 - - 0.024 - - 0.027 0.01
HCM Control Delay (s) 15.7 7.9 - - 8.2 - - 16.6 9.9
HCM Lane LOS C A - - A - - C A
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.6 0 - - 0.1 - - 0.1 0







HCM 6th TWSC
1: Golf Club Road SE & OR 22 WB Ramps/Sublimity Road SE 04/14/2025


Scenario 2 2030 AM Pre-Development Synchro 11
Page 1


Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 16.6


Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 2 22 28 81 176 17 273 23 193 14 38 26
Future Vol, veh/h 2 22 28 81 176 17 273 23 193 14 38 26
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - Yield - - Yield
Storage Length 210 - - 165 - - 150 - 210 190 - 260
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 86 86 86 86 86 86 86 86 86 86 86 86
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 2 26 33 94 205 20 317 27 224 16 44 30
 


Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 850 737 44 767 737 27 44 0 0 27 0 0
          Stage 1 76 76 - 661 661 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 774 661 - 106 76 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 7.12 6.52 6.22 7.12 6.52 6.22 4.12 - - 4.12 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 6.12 5.52 - 6.12 5.52 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 6.12 5.52 - 6.12 5.52 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 4.018 3.318 3.518 4.018 3.318 2.218 - - 2.218 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 280 346 1026 319 346 1048 1564 - - 1587 - -
          Stage 1 933 832 - 452 460 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 391 460 - 900 832 - - - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 92 273 1026 241 273 1048 1564 - - 1587 - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 92 273 - 241 273 - - - - - - -
          Stage 1 744 824 - 360 367 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 135 367 - 836 824 - - - - - - -
 


Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 15.1 43 4.4 1.3
HCM LOS C E
 


Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT NBR EBLn1 EBLn2WBLn1WBLn2 SBL SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1564 - - 92 463 241 292 1587 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.203 - - 0.025 0.126 0.391 0.769 0.01 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 7.9 - - 45.1 13.9 29.2 48.8 7.3 - -
HCM Lane LOS A - - E B D E A - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.8 - - 0.1 0.4 1.8 5.9 0 - -







HCM 6th TWSC
2: Golf Club Road SE & OR 22 EB Ramps 04/14/2025


Scenario 2 2030 AM Pre-Development Synchro 11
Page 2


Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 3.7


Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 89 0 151 0 0 0 0 398 24 25 118 0
Future Vol, veh/h 89 0 151 0 0 0 0 398 24 25 118 0
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - Yield - - None
Storage Length - - 240 - - - - - 250 115 - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 94 0 159 0 0 0 0 419 25 26 124 0
 


Major/Minor Minor2 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 595 595 124 - 0 0 419 0 0
          Stage 1 176 176 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 419 419 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.42 6.52 6.22 - - - 4.12 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.42 5.52 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.42 5.52 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 4.018 3.318 - - - 2.218 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 467 417 927 0 - - 1140 - 0
          Stage 1 855 753 - 0 - - - - 0
          Stage 2 664 590 - 0 - - - - 0
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 456 0 927 - - - 1140 - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 456 0 - - - - - - -
          Stage 1 855 0 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 649 0 - - - - - - -
 


Approach EB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 11.6 0 1.4
HCM LOS B
 


Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBT NBR EBLn1 EBLn2 SBL SBT
Capacity (veh/h) - - 456 927 1140 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - 0.205 0.171 0.023 -
HCM Control Delay (s) - - 14.9 9.7 8.2 -
HCM Lane LOS - - B A A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - 0.8 0.6 0.1 -







HCM 6th TWSC
3: Golf Club Road SE & Site Access 04/14/2025


Scenario 2 2030 AM Pre-Development Synchro 11
Page 3


Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0


Movement WBL WBR NBT NBR SBL SBT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 0 0 395 0 0 292
Future Vol, veh/h 0 0 395 0 0 292
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - 0 - - 0
Grade, % 0 - 0 - - 0
Peak Hour Factor 86 86 86 86 86 86
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 0 0 459 0 0 340
 


Major/Minor Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 799 459 0 0 459 0
          Stage 1 459 - - - - -
          Stage 2 340 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.42 6.22 - - 4.12 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.42 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.42 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 3.318 - - 2.218 -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 355 602 - - 1102 -
          Stage 1 636 - - - - -
          Stage 2 721 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 355 602 - - 1102 -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 355 - - - - -
          Stage 1 636 - - - - -
          Stage 2 721 - - - - -
 


Approach WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 0 0 0
HCM LOS A
 


Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBT NBRWBLn1 SBL SBT
Capacity (veh/h) - - - 1102 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - - - -
HCM Control Delay (s) - - 0 0 -
HCM Lane LOS - - A A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - - 0 -







HCM 6th AWSC
4: Wilco Road/Golf Club Road SE & Shaff Road SE 04/14/2025


Scenario 2 2030 AM Pre-Development Synchro 11
Page 4


Intersection
Intersection Delay, s/veh 14.3
Intersection LOS B


Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 15 40 25 46 49 141 20 228 40 100 203 14
Future Vol, veh/h 15 40 25 46 49 141 20 228 40 100 203 14
Peak Hour Factor 0.82 0.82 0.82 0.82 0.82 0.82 0.82 0.82 0.82 0.82 0.82 0.82
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 18 49 30 56 60 172 24 278 49 122 248 17
Number of Lanes 0 1 0 1 1 0 1 1 0 1 1 0


Approach EB WB NB SB
Opposing Approach WB EB SB NB
Opposing Lanes 2 1 2 2
Conflicting Approach Left SB NB EB WB
Conflicting Lanes Left 2 2 1 2
Conflicting Approach Right NB SB WB EB
Conflicting Lanes Right 2 2 2 1
HCM Control Delay 12 13 16.8 13.6
HCM LOS B B C B
        


Lane NBLn1 NBLn2 EBLn1 WBLn1 WBLn2 SBLn1 SBLn2
Vol Left, % 100% 0% 19% 100% 0% 100% 0%
Vol Thru, % 0% 85% 50% 0% 26% 0% 94%
Vol Right, % 0% 15% 31% 0% 74% 0% 6%
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop
Traffic Vol by Lane 20 268 80 46 190 100 217
LT Vol 20 0 15 46 0 100 0
Through Vol 0 228 40 0 49 0 203
RT Vol 0 40 25 0 141 0 14
Lane Flow Rate 24 327 98 56 232 122 265
Geometry Grp 5 5 4b 5 5 5 5
Degree of Util (X) 0.047 0.572 0.196 0.115 0.406 0.233 0.464
Departure Headway (Hd) 6.916 6.3 7.25 7.351 6.313 6.867 6.312
Convergence, Y/N Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes
Cap 514 569 498 485 565 520 566
Service Time 4.702 4.086 5.25 5.142 4.103 4.653 4.098
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.047 0.575 0.197 0.115 0.411 0.235 0.468
HCM Control Delay 10 17.3 12 11.1 13.4 11.8 14.5
HCM Lane LOS A C B B B B B
HCM 95th-tile Q 0.1 3.6 0.7 0.4 2 0.9 2.4







HCM 6th TWSC
5: Wilco Road & W Locust Street 04/14/2025


Scenario 2 2030 AM Pre-Development Synchro 11
Page 5


Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 3.4


Movement WBL WBR NBT NBR SBL SBT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 20 109 180 9 61 194
Future Vol, veh/h 20 109 180 9 61 194
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - 0 - - 0
Grade, % 0 - 0 - - 0
Peak Hour Factor 83 83 83 83 83 83
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 24 131 217 11 73 234
 


Major/Minor Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 603 223 0 0 228 0
          Stage 1 223 - - - - -
          Stage 2 380 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.42 6.22 - - 4.12 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.42 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.42 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 3.318 - - 2.218 -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 462 817 - - 1340 -
          Stage 1 814 - - - - -
          Stage 2 691 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 433 817 - - 1340 -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 433 - - - - -
          Stage 1 814 - - - - -
          Stage 2 647 - - - - -
 


Approach WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 11.4 0 1.9
HCM LOS B
 


Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBT NBRWBLn1 SBL SBT
Capacity (veh/h) - - 718 1340 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - 0.216 0.055 -
HCM Control Delay (s) - - 11.4 7.8 0
HCM Lane LOS - - B A A
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - 0.8 0.2 -







HCM 6th AWSC
6: W Ida Street/Wilco Road & Washington Street 04/14/2025


Scenario 2 2030 AM Pre-Development Synchro 11
Page 6


Intersection
Intersection Delay, s/veh 9.3
Intersection LOS A


Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 50 79 14 6 57 59 10 69 3 63 53 48
Future Vol, veh/h 50 79 14 6 57 59 10 69 3 63 53 48
Peak Hour Factor 0.83 0.83 0.83 0.83 0.83 0.83 0.83 0.83 0.83 0.83 0.83 0.83
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 60 95 17 7 69 71 12 83 4 76 64 58
Number of Lanes 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 1 1 0 1 1


Approach EB WB NB SB
Opposing Approach WB EB SB NB
Opposing Lanes 1 1 2 2
Conflicting Approach Left SB NB EB WB
Conflicting Lanes Left 2 2 1 1
Conflicting Approach Right NB SB WB EB
Conflicting Lanes Right 2 2 1 1
HCM Control Delay 9.5 8.8 9.2 9.5
HCM LOS A A A A
        


Lane NBLn1 NBLn2 EBLn1 WBLn1 SBLn1 SBLn2
Vol Left, % 13% 0% 35% 5% 54% 0%
Vol Thru, % 87% 0% 55% 47% 46% 0%
Vol Right, % 0% 100% 10% 48% 0% 100%
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop
Traffic Vol by Lane 79 3 143 122 116 48
LT Vol 10 0 50 6 63 0
Through Vol 69 0 79 57 53 0
RT Vol 0 3 14 59 0 48
Lane Flow Rate 95 4 172 147 140 58
Geometry Grp 5 5 2 2 5 5
Degree of Util (X) 0.148 0.005 0.234 0.19 0.221 0.076
Departure Headway (Hd) 5.585 4.814 4.893 4.646 5.682 4.701
Convergence, Y/N Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes
Cap 638 736 731 767 629 756
Service Time 3.361 2.589 2.95 2.703 3.449 2.468
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.149 0.005 0.235 0.192 0.223 0.077
HCM Control Delay 9.3 7.6 9.5 8.8 10.1 7.9
HCM Lane LOS A A A A B A
HCM 95th-tile Q 0.5 0 0.9 0.7 0.8 0.2







HCM 6th TWSC
7: N Gardner Avenue & Shaff Road SE 04/14/2025


Scenario 2 2030 AM Pre-Development Synchro 11
Page 7


Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 2.1


Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 10 285 70 25 263 12 38 2 27 2 6 7
Future Vol, veh/h 10 285 70 25 263 12 38 2 27 2 6 7
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Free Free Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length 100 - - 100 - - - - - - - 100
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 91 91 91 91 91 91 91 91 91 91 91 91
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 11 313 77 27 289 13 42 2 30 2 7 8
 


Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1 Minor2
Conflicting Flow All 302 0 0 390 0 0 731 730 352 740 762 296
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 374 374 - 350 350 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 357 356 - 390 412 -
Critical Hdwy 4.12 - - 4.12 - - 7.12 6.52 6.22 7.12 6.52 6.22
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - - - 6.12 5.52 - 6.12 5.52 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - - - 6.12 5.52 - 6.12 5.52 -
Follow-up Hdwy 2.218 - - 2.218 - - 3.518 4.018 3.318 3.518 4.018 3.318
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 1259 - - 1169 - - 337 349 692 333 335 743
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 647 618 - 666 633 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 661 629 - 634 594 -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 1259 - - 1169 - - 320 338 692 309 324 743
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - - - 320 338 - 309 324 -
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 641 612 - 660 618 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 632 615 - 599 589 -
 


Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 0.2 0.7 15.7 13.5
HCM LOS C B
 


Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR SBLn1 SBLn2
Capacity (veh/h) 409 1259 - - 1169 - - 320 743
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.18 0.009 - - 0.024 - - 0.027 0.01
HCM Control Delay (s) 15.7 7.9 - - 8.2 - - 16.6 9.9
HCM Lane LOS C A - - A - - C A
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.6 0 - - 0.1 - - 0.1 0







HCM 6th TWSC
1: Golf Club Road SE & OR 22 WB Ramps/Sublimity Road SE 11/13/2025


Scenario 3 2030 AM Post-Development Synchro 11
Page 1


Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 21.3


Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 0 22 30 84 176 17 304 28 213 14 40 26
Future Vol, veh/h 0 22 30 84 176 17 304 28 213 14 40 26
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - Yield - - Yield
Storage Length 210 - - 165 - - 150 - 210 190 - 260
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 86 86 86 86 86 86 86 86 86 86 86 86
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 0 26 35 98 205 20 353 33 248 16 47 30


Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 931 818 47 849 818 33 47 0 0 33 0 0
          Stage 1 79 79 - 739 739 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 852 739 - 110 79 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 7.12 6.52 6.22 7.12 6.52 6.22 4.12 - - 4.12 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 6.12 5.52 - 6.12 5.52 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 6.12 5.52 - 6.12 5.52 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 4.018 3.318 3.518 4.018 3.318 2.218 - - 2.218 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 247 311 1022 281 311 1041 1560 - - 1579 - -
          Stage 1 930 829 - 409 424 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 354 424 - 895 829 - - - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 56 238 1022 205 238 1041 1560 - - 1579 - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 56 238 - 205 238 - - - - - - -
          Stage 1 720 821 - 317 328 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 101 328 - 829 821 - - - - - - -


Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Ctrl Dly, s/v 14.8 61.3 4.5 1.3
HCM LOS B F


Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT NBR EBLn1 EBLn2WBLn1WBLn2 SBL SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1560 - - - 427 205 255 1579 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.227 - - - 0.142 0.476 0.88 0.01 - -
HCM Ctrl Dly (s/v) 8 - - 0 14.8 37.6 71.6 7.3 - -
HCM Lane LOS A - - A B E F A - -
HCM 95th %tile Q (veh) 0.9 - - - 0.5 2.3 7.5 0 - -







HCM 6th TWSC
2: Golf Club Road SE & OR 22 EB Ramps 11/13/2025


Scenario 3 2030 AM Post-Development Synchro 11
Page 2


Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 3.6


Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 89 0 158 0 0 0 0 454 29 25 125 0
Future Vol, veh/h 89 0 158 0 0 0 0 454 29 25 125 0
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - Yield - - None
Storage Length - - 240 - - - - - 250 115 - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 94 0 166 0 0 0 0 478 31 26 132 0


Major/Minor Minor2 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 662 662 132 - 0 0 478 0 0
          Stage 1 184 184 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 478 478 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.42 6.52 6.22 - - - 4.12 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.42 5.52 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.42 5.52 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 4.018 3.318 - - - 2.218 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 427 382 917 0 - - 1084 - 0
          Stage 1 848 747 - 0 - - - - 0
          Stage 2 624 556 - 0 - - - - 0
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 417 0 917 - - - 1084 - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 417 0 - - - - - - -
          Stage 1 848 0 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 609 0 - - - - - - -


Approach EB NB SB
HCM Ctrl Dly, s/v 12.1 0 1.4
HCM LOS B


Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBT NBR EBLn1 EBLn2 SBL SBT
Capacity (veh/h) - - 417 917 1084 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - 0.225 0.181 0.024 -
HCM Ctrl Dly (s/v) - - 16.1 9.8 8.4 -
HCM Lane LOS - - C A A -
HCM 95th %tile Q (veh) - - 0.9 0.7 0.1 -







HCM 6th TWSC
3: Golf Club Road SE & Site Access 11/13/2025


Scenario 3 2030 AM Post-Development Synchro 11
Page 3


Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 2.1


Movement WBL WBR NBT NBR SBL SBT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 41 61 395 20 14 292
Future Vol, veh/h 41 61 395 20 14 292
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - 0 - - 0
Grade, % 0 - 0 - - 0
Peak Hour Factor 86 86 86 86 86 86
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 48 71 459 23 16 340


Major/Minor Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 843 471 0 0 482 0
          Stage 1 471 - - - - -
          Stage 2 372 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.42 6.22 - - 4.12 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.42 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.42 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 3.318 - - 2.218 -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 334 593 - - 1081 -
          Stage 1 628 - - - - -
          Stage 2 697 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 328 593 - - 1081 -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 328 - - - - -
          Stage 1 628 - - - - -
          Stage 2 684 - - - - -


Approach WB NB SB
HCM Ctrl Dly, s/v 15.9 0 0.4
HCM LOS C


Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBT NBRWBLn1 SBL SBT
Capacity (veh/h) - - 448 1081 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - 0.265 0.015 -
HCM Ctrl Dly (s/v) - - 15.9 8.4 0
HCM Lane LOS - - C A A
HCM 95th %tile Q (veh) - - 1.1 0 -







HCM 6th AWSC
4: Wilco Road/Golf Club Road SE & Shaff Road SE 11/13/2025


Scenario 3 2030 AM Post-Development Synchro 11
Page 4


Intersection
Intersection Delay, s/veh 15.9
Intersection LOS C


Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 15 40 25 46 49 149 20 240 40 115 229 14
Future Vol, veh/h 15 40 25 46 49 149 20 240 40 115 229 14
Peak Hour Factor 0.82 0.82 0.82 0.82 0.82 0.82 0.82 0.82 0.82 0.82 0.82 0.82
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 18 49 30 56 60 182 24 293 49 140 279 17
Number of Lanes 0 1 0 1 1 0 1 1 0 1 1 0


Approach EB WB NB SB
Opposing Approach WB EB SB NB
Opposing Lanes 2 1 2 2
Conflicting Approach Left SB NB EB WB
Conflicting Lanes Left 2 2 1 2
Conflicting Approach Right NB SB WB EB
Conflicting Lanes Right 2 2 2 1
HCM Control Delay, s/veh 12.5 13.9 19 15.4
HCM LOS B B C C


Lane NBLn1 NBLn2 EBLn1 WBLn1 WBLn2 SBLn1 SBLn2
Vol Left, % 100% 0% 19% 100% 0% 100% 0%
Vol Thru, % 0% 86% 50% 0% 25% 0% 94%
Vol Right, % 0% 14% 31% 0% 75% 0% 6%
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop
Traffic Vol by Lane 20 280 80 46 198 115 243
LT Vol 20 0 15 46 0 115 0
Through Vol 0 240 40 0 49 0 229
RT Vol 0 40 25 0 149 0 14
Lane Flow Rate 24 341 98 56 241 140 296
Geometry Grp 5 5 4b 5 5 5 5
Degree of Util (X) 0.049 0.624 0.204 0.119 0.442 0.276 0.539
Departure Headway (Hd) 7.192 6.58 7.52 7.645 6.597 7.094 6.543
Convergence, Y/N Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes
Cap 500 550 477 469 546 509 554
Service Time 4.905 4.292 5.572 5.386 4.338 4.807 4.255
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.048 0.62 0.205 0.119 0.441 0.275 0.534
HCM Control Delay, s/veh 10.3 19.6 12.5 11.4 14.5 12.5 16.7
HCM Lane LOS B C B B B B C
HCM 95th-tile Q 0.2 4.3 0.8 0.4 2.2 1.1 3.2







HCM 6th TWSC
5: Wilco Road & W Locust Street 11/13/2025


Scenario 3 2030 AM Post-Development Synchro 11
Page 5


Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 3.4


Movement WBL WBR NBT NBR SBL SBT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 20 114 187 9 66 215
Future Vol, veh/h 20 114 187 9 66 215
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - 0 - - 0
Grade, % 0 - 0 - - 0
Peak Hour Factor 83 83 83 83 83 83
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 24 137 225 11 80 259


Major/Minor Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 650 231 0 0 236 0
          Stage 1 231 - - - - -
          Stage 2 419 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.42 6.22 - - 4.12 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.42 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.42 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 3.318 - - 2.218 -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 434 808 - - 1331 -
          Stage 1 807 - - - - -
          Stage 2 664 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 404 808 - - 1331 -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 404 - - - - -
          Stage 1 807 - - - - -
          Stage 2 618 - - - - -


Approach WB NB SB
HCM Ctrl Dly, s/v 11.6 0 1.9
HCM LOS B


Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBT NBRWBLn1 SBL SBT
Capacity (veh/h) - - 703 1331 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - 0.23 0.06 -
HCM Ctrl Dly (s/v) - - 11.6 7.9 0
HCM Lane LOS - - B A A
HCM 95th %tile Q (veh) - - 0.9 0.2 -







HCM 6th AWSC
6: W Ida Street/Wilco Road & Washington Street 11/13/2025


Scenario 3 2030 AM Post-Development Synchro 11
Page 6


Intersection
Intersection Delay, s/veh 9.5
Intersection LOS A


Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 52 79 14 6 57 61 10 72 3 74 58 53
Future Vol, veh/h 52 79 14 6 57 61 10 72 3 74 58 53
Peak Hour Factor 0.83 0.83 0.83 0.83 0.83 0.83 0.83 0.83 0.83 0.83 0.83 0.83
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 63 95 17 7 69 73 12 87 4 89 70 64
Number of Lanes 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 1 1 0 1 1


Approach EB WB NB SB
Opposing Approach WB EB SB NB
Opposing Lanes 1 1 2 2
Conflicting Approach Left SB NB EB WB
Conflicting Lanes Left 2 2 1 1
Conflicting Approach Right NB SB WB EB
Conflicting Lanes Right 2 2 1 1
HCM Control Delay, s/veh 9.6 9 9.4 9.7
HCM LOS A A A A


Lane NBLn1 NBLn2 EBLn1 WBLn1 SBLn1 SBLn2
Vol Left, % 12% 0% 36% 5% 56% 0%
Vol Thru, % 88% 0% 54% 46% 44% 0%
Vol Right, % 0% 100% 10% 49% 0% 100%
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop
Traffic Vol by Lane 82 3 145 124 132 53
LT Vol 10 0 52 6 74 0
Through Vol 72 0 79 57 58 0
RT Vol 0 3 14 61 0 53
Lane Flow Rate 99 4 175 149 159 64
Geometry Grp 5 5 2 2 5 5
Degree of Util (X) 0.155 0.005 0.241 0.196 0.252 0.084
Departure Headway (Hd) 5.632 4.863 4.975 4.721 5.713 4.724
Convergence, Y/N Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes
Cap 631 727 716 754 623 751
Service Time 3.419 2.649 3.039 2.787 3.49 2.5
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.157 0.006 0.244 0.198 0.255 0.085
HCM Control Delay, s/veh 9.5 7.7 9.6 9 10.4 7.9
HCM Lane LOS A A A A B A
HCM 95th-tile Q 0.5 0 0.9 0.7 1 0.3







HCM 6th TWSC
7: N Gardner Avenue & Shaff Road SE 11/13/2025


Scenario 3 2030 AM Post-Development Synchro 11
Page 7


Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 2.1


Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 10 295 75 25 269 12 40 2 27 2 6 7
Future Vol, veh/h 10 295 75 25 269 12 40 2 27 2 6 7
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Free Free Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length 100 - - 100 - - - - - - - 100
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 91 91 91 91 91 91 91 91 91 91 91 91
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 11 324 82 27 296 13 44 2 30 2 7 8


Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1 Minor2
Conflicting Flow All 309 0 0 406 0 0 751 750 365 760 785 303
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 387 387 - 357 357 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 364 363 - 403 428 -
Critical Hdwy 4.12 - - 4.12 - - 7.12 6.52 6.22 7.12 6.52 6.22
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - - - 6.12 5.52 - 6.12 5.52 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - - - 6.12 5.52 - 6.12 5.52 -
Follow-up Hdwy 2.218 - - 2.218 - - 3.518 4.018 3.318 3.518 4.018 3.318
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 1252 - - 1153 - - 327 340 680 323 325 737
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 637 610 - 661 628 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 655 625 - 624 585 -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 1252 - - 1153 - - 311 329 680 300 315 737
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - - - 311 329 - 300 315 -
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 631 605 - 655 614 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 626 611 - 589 580 -


Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Ctrl Dly, s/v 0.2 0.7 16.2 13.6
HCM LOS C B


Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR SBLn1 SBLn2
Capacity (veh/h) 396 1252 - - 1153 - - 311 737
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.191 0.009 - - 0.024 - - 0.028 0.01
HCM Ctrl Dly (s/v) 16.2 7.9 - - 8.2 - - 16.9 9.9
HCM Lane LOS C A - - A - - C A
HCM 95th %tile Q (veh) 0.7 0 - - 0.1 - - 0.1 0







HCM 6th TWSC
1: Golf Club Road SE & OR 22 WB Ramps/Sublimity Road SE 04/14/2025


Scenario 4 2025 PM Existing Synchro 11
Page 1


Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 8.1


Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 8 6 29 113 98 10 201 51 210 12 29 10
Future Vol, veh/h 8 6 29 113 98 10 201 51 210 12 29 10
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - Yield - - Yield
Storage Length 210 - - 165 - - 150 - 210 190 - 260
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 91 91 91 91 91 91 91 91 91 91 91 91
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 9 7 32 124 108 11 221 56 231 13 32 11
 


Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 616 556 32 576 556 56 32 0 0 56 0 0
          Stage 1 58 58 - 498 498 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 558 498 - 78 58 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 7.12 6.52 6.22 7.12 6.52 6.22 4.12 - - 4.12 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 6.12 5.52 - 6.12 5.52 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 6.12 5.52 - 6.12 5.52 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 4.018 3.318 3.518 4.018 3.318 2.218 - - 2.218 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 403 439 1042 428 439 1011 1580 - - 1549 - -
          Stage 1 954 847 - 554 544 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 514 544 - 931 847 - - - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 276 374 1042 363 374 1011 1580 - - 1549 - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 276 374 - 363 374 - - - - - - -
          Stage 1 820 840 - 476 468 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 337 468 - 888 840 - - - - - - -
 


Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 11.3 19 3.3 1.7
HCM LOS B C
 


Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT NBR EBLn1 EBLn2WBLn1WBLn2 SBL SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1580 - - 276 798 363 397 1549 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.14 - - 0.032 0.048 0.342 0.299 0.009 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 7.6 - - 18.5 9.7 20 17.9 7.3 - -
HCM Lane LOS A - - C A C C A - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.5 - - 0.1 0.2 1.5 1.2 0 - -







HCM 6th TWSC
2: Golf Club Road SE & OR 22 EB Ramps 04/14/2025


Scenario 4 2025 PM Existing Synchro 11
Page 2


Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 6.5


Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 144 0 361 0 0 0 0 316 56 13 156 0
Future Vol, veh/h 144 0 361 0 0 0 0 316 56 13 156 0
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - Yield - - None
Storage Length - - 240 - - - - - 250 115 - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 155 0 388 0 0 0 0 340 60 14 168 0
 


Major/Minor Minor2 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 536 536 168 - 0 0 340 0 0
          Stage 1 196 196 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 340 340 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.42 6.52 6.22 - - - 4.12 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.42 5.52 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.42 5.52 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 4.018 3.318 - - - 2.218 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 505 451 876 0 - - 1219 - 0
          Stage 1 837 739 - 0 - - - - 0
          Stage 2 721 639 - 0 - - - - 0
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 499 0 876 - - - 1219 - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 499 0 - - - - - - -
          Stage 1 837 0 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 713 0 - - - - - - -
 


Approach EB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 13.2 0 0.6
HCM LOS B
 


Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBT NBR EBLn1 EBLn2 SBL SBT
Capacity (veh/h) - - 499 876 1219 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - 0.31 0.443 0.011 -
HCM Control Delay (s) - - 15.4 12.3 8 -
HCM Lane LOS - - C B A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - 1.3 2.3 0 -







HCM 6th TWSC
3: Golf Club Road SE & Site Access 04/14/2025


Scenario 4 2025 PM Existing Synchro 11
Page 3


Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0


Movement WBL WBR NBT NBR SBL SBT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 0 0 418 0 0 494
Future Vol, veh/h 0 0 418 0 0 494
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - 0 - - 0
Grade, % 0 - 0 - - 0
Peak Hour Factor 94 94 94 94 94 94
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 0 0 445 0 0 526
 


Major/Minor Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 971 445 0 0 445 0
          Stage 1 445 - - - - -
          Stage 2 526 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.42 6.22 - - 4.12 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.42 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.42 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 3.318 - - 2.218 -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 280 613 - - 1115 -
          Stage 1 646 - - - - -
          Stage 2 593 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 280 613 - - 1115 -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 280 - - - - -
          Stage 1 646 - - - - -
          Stage 2 593 - - - - -
 


Approach WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 0 0 0
HCM LOS A
 


Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBT NBRWBLn1 SBL SBT
Capacity (veh/h) - - - 1115 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - - - -
HCM Control Delay (s) - - 0 0 -
HCM Lane LOS - - A A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - - 0 -







HCM 6th AWSC
4: Wilco Road/Golf Club Road SE & Shaff Road SE 04/14/2025


Scenario 4 2025 PM Existing Synchro 11
Page 4


Intersection
Intersection Delay, s/veh 16
Intersection LOS C


Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 7 52 23 42 37 165 29 256 78 214 271 15
Future Vol, veh/h 7 52 23 42 37 165 29 256 78 214 271 15
Peak Hour Factor 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 7 55 24 45 39 176 31 272 83 228 288 16
Number of Lanes 0 1 0 1 1 0 1 1 0 1 1 0


Approach EB WB NB SB
Opposing Approach WB EB SB NB
Opposing Lanes 2 1 2 2
Conflicting Approach Left SB NB EB WB
Conflicting Lanes Left 2 2 1 2
Conflicting Approach Right NB SB WB EB
Conflicting Lanes Right 2 2 2 1
HCM Control Delay 12.4 13.5 18.9 15.6
HCM LOS B B C C
        


Lane NBLn1 NBLn2 EBLn1 WBLn1 WBLn2 SBLn1 SBLn2
Vol Left, % 100% 0% 9% 100% 0% 100% 0%
Vol Thru, % 0% 77% 63% 0% 18% 0% 95%
Vol Right, % 0% 23% 28% 0% 82% 0% 5%
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop
Traffic Vol by Lane 29 334 82 42 202 214 286
LT Vol 29 0 7 42 0 214 0
Through Vol 0 256 52 0 37 0 271
RT Vol 0 78 23 0 165 0 15
Lane Flow Rate 31 355 87 45 215 228 304
Geometry Grp 5 5 4b 5 5 5 5
Degree of Util (X) 0.06 0.63 0.185 0.097 0.402 0.433 0.533
Departure Headway (Hd) 7.174 6.497 7.627 7.822 6.727 6.963 6.416
Convergence, Y/N Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes
Cap 502 558 473 461 539 521 566
Service Time 4.874 4.197 5.64 5.522 4.427 4.663 4.116
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.062 0.636 0.184 0.098 0.399 0.438 0.537
HCM Control Delay 10.3 19.6 12.4 11.4 13.9 14.9 16.2
HCM Lane LOS B C B B B B C
HCM 95th-tile Q 0.2 4.4 0.7 0.3 1.9 2.2 3.1







HCM 6th TWSC
5: Wilco Road & W Locust Street 04/14/2025


Scenario 4 2025 PM Existing Synchro 11
Page 5


Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 2.4


Movement WBL WBR NBT NBR SBL SBT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 13 74 257 19 88 266
Future Vol, veh/h 13 74 257 19 88 266
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - 0 - - 0
Grade, % 0 - 0 - - 0
Peak Hour Factor 96 96 96 96 96 96
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 14 77 268 20 92 277
 


Major/Minor Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 739 278 0 0 288 0
          Stage 1 278 - - - - -
          Stage 2 461 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.42 6.22 - - 4.12 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.42 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.42 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 3.318 - - 2.218 -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 385 761 - - 1274 -
          Stage 1 769 - - - - -
          Stage 2 635 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 352 761 - - 1274 -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 352 - - - - -
          Stage 1 769 - - - - -
          Stage 2 581 - - - - -
 


Approach WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 11.5 0 2
HCM LOS B
 


Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBT NBRWBLn1 SBL SBT
Capacity (veh/h) - - 648 1274 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - 0.14 0.072 -
HCM Control Delay (s) - - 11.5 8 0
HCM Lane LOS - - B A A
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - 0.5 0.2 -







HCM 6th AWSC
6: W Ida Street/Wilco Road & Washington Street 04/14/2025


Scenario 4 2025 PM Existing Synchro 11
Page 6


Intersection
Intersection Delay, s/veh 10.5
Intersection LOS B


Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 67 72 27 1 72 74 17 70 7 66 142 69
Future Vol, veh/h 67 72 27 1 72 74 17 70 7 66 142 69
Peak Hour Factor 0.88 0.88 0.88 0.88 0.88 0.88 0.88 0.88 0.88 0.88 0.88 0.88
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 76 82 31 1 82 84 19 80 8 75 161 78
Number of Lanes 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 1 1 0 1 1


Approach EB WB NB SB
Opposing Approach WB EB SB NB
Opposing Lanes 1 1 2 2
Conflicting Approach Left SB NB EB WB
Conflicting Lanes Left 2 2 1 1
Conflicting Approach Right NB SB WB EB
Conflicting Lanes Right 2 2 1 1
HCM Control Delay 10.4 9.7 9.8 11.2
HCM LOS B A A B
        


Lane NBLn1 NBLn2 EBLn1 WBLn1 SBLn1 SBLn2
Vol Left, % 20% 0% 40% 1% 32% 0%
Vol Thru, % 80% 0% 43% 49% 68% 0%
Vol Right, % 0% 100% 16% 50% 0% 100%
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop
Traffic Vol by Lane 87 7 166 147 208 69
LT Vol 17 0 67 1 66 0
Through Vol 70 0 72 72 142 0
RT Vol 0 7 27 74 0 69
Lane Flow Rate 99 8 189 167 236 78
Geometry Grp 5 5 2 2 5 5
Degree of Util (X) 0.165 0.012 0.28 0.236 0.381 0.108
Departure Headway (Hd) 6.023 5.213 5.342 5.078 5.809 4.941
Convergence, Y/N Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes
Cap 596 686 677 707 619 726
Service Time 3.756 2.947 3.342 3.108 3.536 2.667
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.166 0.012 0.279 0.236 0.381 0.107
HCM Control Delay 9.9 8 10.4 9.7 12.1 8.3
HCM Lane LOS A A B A B A
HCM 95th-tile Q 0.6 0 1.1 0.9 1.8 0.4







HCM 6th TWSC
7: N Gardner Avenue & Shaff Road SE 04/14/2025


Scenario 4 2025 PM Existing Synchro 11
Page 7


Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 9.5


Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 67 72 27 1 72 74 17 70 7 66 142 69
Future Vol, veh/h 67 72 27 1 72 74 17 70 7 66 142 69
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Free Free Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length 100 - - 100 - - - - - - - 100
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 88 88 88 88 88 88 88 88 88 88 88 88
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 76 82 31 1 82 84 19 80 8 75 161 78
 


Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1 Minor2
Conflicting Flow All 166 0 0 113 0 0 496 418 98 420 391 124
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 250 250 - 126 126 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 246 168 - 294 265 -
Critical Hdwy 4.12 - - 4.12 - - 7.12 6.52 6.22 7.12 6.52 6.22
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - - - 6.12 5.52 - 6.12 5.52 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - - - 6.12 5.52 - 6.12 5.52 -
Follow-up Hdwy 2.218 - - 2.218 - - 3.518 4.018 3.318 3.518 4.018 3.318
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 1412 - - 1476 - - 484 526 958 544 545 927
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 754 700 - 878 792 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 758 759 - 714 689 -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 1412 - - 1476 - - 322 497 958 454 515 927
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - - - 322 497 - 454 515 -
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 713 662 - 831 791 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 552 758 - 589 652 -
 


Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 3.1 0.1 15 16.4
HCM LOS C C
 


Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR SBLn1 SBLn2
Capacity (veh/h) 468 1412 - - 1476 - - 494 927
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.228 0.054 - - 0.001 - - 0.478 0.085
HCM Control Delay (s) 15 7.7 - - 7.4 - - 18.8 9.2
HCM Lane LOS C A - - A - - C A
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.9 0.2 - - 0 - - 2.5 0.3







HCM 6th TWSC
1: Golf Club Road SE & OR 22 WB Ramps/Sublimity Road SE 04/18/2025


Scenario 5 2030 PM Pre-Development Synchro 11
Page 1


Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 8.3


Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 8 6 29 113 98 10 213 51 210 12 29 10
Future Vol, veh/h 8 6 29 113 98 10 213 51 210 12 29 10
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - Yield - - Yield
Storage Length 210 - - 165 - - 150 - 210 190 - 260
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 91 91 91 91 91 91 91 91 91 91 91 91
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 9 7 32 124 108 11 234 56 231 13 32 11
 


Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 642 582 32 602 582 56 32 0 0 56 0 0
          Stage 1 58 58 - 524 524 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 584 524 - 78 58 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 7.12 6.52 6.22 7.12 6.52 6.22 4.12 - - 4.12 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 6.12 5.52 - 6.12 5.52 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 6.12 5.52 - 6.12 5.52 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 4.018 3.318 3.518 4.018 3.318 2.218 - - 2.218 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 387 425 1042 412 425 1011 1580 - - 1549 - -
          Stage 1 954 847 - 537 530 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 498 530 - 931 847 - - - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 261 359 1042 347 359 1011 1580 - - 1549 - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 261 359 - 347 359 - - - - - - -
          Stage 1 813 840 - 458 452 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 320 452 - 888 840 - - - - - - -
 


Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 11.6 19.8 3.4 1.7
HCM LOS B C
 


Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT NBR EBLn1 EBLn2WBLn1WBLn2 SBL SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1580 - - 261 786 347 382 1549 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.148 - - 0.034 0.049 0.358 0.311 0.009 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 7.7 - - 19.3 9.8 21 18.6 7.3 - -
HCM Lane LOS A - - C A C C A - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.5 - - 0.1 0.2 1.6 1.3 0 - -







HCM 6th TWSC
2: Golf Club Road SE & OR 22 EB Ramps 04/18/2025


Scenario 5 2030 PM Pre-Development Synchro 11
Page 2


Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 6.5


Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 144 0 369 0 0 0 0 328 58 13 156 0
Future Vol, veh/h 144 0 369 0 0 0 0 328 58 13 156 0
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - Yield - - None
Storage Length - - 240 - - - - - 250 115 - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 155 0 397 0 0 0 0 353 62 14 168 0
 


Major/Minor Minor2 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 549 549 168 - 0 0 353 0 0
          Stage 1 196 196 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 353 353 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.42 6.52 6.22 - - - 4.12 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.42 5.52 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.42 5.52 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 4.018 3.318 - - - 2.218 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 497 443 876 0 - - 1206 - 0
          Stage 1 837 739 - 0 - - - - 0
          Stage 2 711 631 - 0 - - - - 0
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 491 0 876 - - - 1206 - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 491 0 - - - - - - -
          Stage 1 837 0 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 702 0 - - - - - - -
 


Approach EB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 13.4 0 0.6
HCM LOS B
 


Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBT NBR EBLn1 EBLn2 SBL SBT
Capacity (veh/h) - - 491 876 1206 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - 0.315 0.453 0.012 -
HCM Control Delay (s) - - 15.7 12.5 8 -
HCM Lane LOS - - C B A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - 1.3 2.4 0 -







HCM 6th TWSC
3: Golf Club Road SE & Site Access 04/18/2025


Scenario 5 2030 PM Pre-Development Synchro 11
Page 3


Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0


Movement WBL WBR NBT NBR SBL SBT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 0 0 432 0 0 502
Future Vol, veh/h 0 0 432 0 0 502
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - 0 - - 0
Grade, % 0 - 0 - - 0
Peak Hour Factor 94 94 94 94 94 94
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 0 0 460 0 0 534
 


Major/Minor Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 994 460 0 0 460 0
          Stage 1 460 - - - - -
          Stage 2 534 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.42 6.22 - - 4.12 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.42 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.42 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 3.318 - - 2.218 -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 272 601 - - 1101 -
          Stage 1 636 - - - - -
          Stage 2 588 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 272 601 - - 1101 -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 272 - - - - -
          Stage 1 636 - - - - -
          Stage 2 588 - - - - -
 


Approach WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 0 0 0
HCM LOS A
 


Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBT NBRWBLn1 SBL SBT
Capacity (veh/h) - - - 1101 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - - - -
HCM Control Delay (s) - - 0 0 -
HCM Lane LOS - - A A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - - 0 -







HCM 6th AWSC
4: Wilco Road/Golf Club Road SE & Shaff Road SE 04/18/2025


Scenario 5 2030 PM Pre-Development Synchro 11
Page 4


Intersection
Intersection Delay, s/veh 18.7
Intersection LOS C


Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 7 52 23 80 45 165 29 264 106 223 274 15
Future Vol, veh/h 7 52 23 80 45 165 29 264 106 223 274 15
Peak Hour Factor 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 7 55 24 85 48 176 31 281 113 237 291 16
Number of Lanes 0 1 0 1 1 0 1 1 0 1 1 0


Approach EB WB NB SB
Opposing Approach WB EB SB NB
Opposing Lanes 2 1 2 2
Conflicting Approach Left SB NB EB WB
Conflicting Lanes Left 2 2 1 2
Conflicting Approach Right NB SB WB EB
Conflicting Lanes Right 2 2 2 1
HCM Control Delay 13 14.3 24.7 17.4
HCM LOS B B C C
        


Lane NBLn1 NBLn2 EBLn1 WBLn1 WBLn2 SBLn1 SBLn2
Vol Left, % 100% 0% 9% 100% 0% 100% 0%
Vol Thru, % 0% 71% 63% 0% 21% 0% 95%
Vol Right, % 0% 29% 28% 0% 79% 0% 5%
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop
Traffic Vol by Lane 29 370 82 80 210 223 289
LT Vol 29 0 7 80 0 223 0
Through Vol 0 264 52 0 45 0 274
RT Vol 0 106 23 0 165 0 15
Lane Flow Rate 31 394 87 85 223 237 307
Geometry Grp 5 5 4b 5 5 5 5
Degree of Util (X) 0.064 0.733 0.195 0.19 0.432 0.478 0.573
Departure Headway (Hd) 7.425 6.708 8.028 8.034 6.958 7.255 6.706
Convergence, Y/N Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes
Cap 483 539 447 447 518 496 538
Service Time 5.167 4.45 6.087 5.775 4.699 4.997 4.449
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.064 0.731 0.195 0.19 0.431 0.478 0.571
HCM Control Delay 10.7 25.8 13 12.7 14.9 16.5 18.1
HCM Lane LOS B D B B B C C
HCM 95th-tile Q 0.2 6.1 0.7 0.7 2.2 2.5 3.6







HCM 6th TWSC
5: Wilco Road & W Locust Street 04/18/2025


Scenario 5 2030 PM Pre-Development Synchro 11
Page 5


Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 2.6


Movement WBL WBR NBT NBR SBL SBT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 23 74 282 24 98 281
Future Vol, veh/h 23 74 282 24 98 281
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - 0 - - 0
Grade, % 0 - 0 - - 0
Peak Hour Factor 96 96 96 96 96 96
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 24 77 294 25 102 293
 


Major/Minor Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 804 307 0 0 319 0
          Stage 1 307 - - - - -
          Stage 2 497 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.42 6.22 - - 4.12 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.42 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.42 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 3.318 - - 2.218 -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 352 733 - - 1241 -
          Stage 1 746 - - - - -
          Stage 2 611 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 318 733 - - 1241 -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 318 - - - - -
          Stage 1 746 - - - - -
          Stage 2 551 - - - - -
 


Approach WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 12.8 0 2.1
HCM LOS B
 


Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBT NBRWBLn1 SBL SBT
Capacity (veh/h) - - 560 1241 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - 0.18 0.082 -
HCM Control Delay (s) - - 12.8 8.2 0
HCM Lane LOS - - B A A
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - 0.7 0.3 -







HCM 6th AWSC
6: W Ida Street/Wilco Road & Washington Street 04/18/2025


Scenario 5 2030 PM Pre-Development Synchro 11
Page 6


Intersection
Intersection Delay, s/veh 10.9
Intersection LOS B


Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 78 81 28 1 85 78 18 74 7 70 145 74
Future Vol, veh/h 78 81 28 1 85 78 18 74 7 70 145 74
Peak Hour Factor 0.88 0.88 0.88 0.88 0.88 0.88 0.88 0.88 0.88 0.88 0.88 0.88
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 89 92 32 1 97 89 20 84 8 80 165 84
Number of Lanes 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 1 1 0 1 1


Approach EB WB NB SB
Opposing Approach WB EB SB NB
Opposing Lanes 1 1 2 2
Conflicting Approach Left SB NB EB WB
Conflicting Lanes Left 2 2 1 1
Conflicting Approach Right NB SB WB EB
Conflicting Lanes Right 2 2 1 1
HCM Control Delay 11 10.2 10.2 11.6
HCM LOS B B B B
        


Lane NBLn1 NBLn2 EBLn1 WBLn1 SBLn1 SBLn2
Vol Left, % 20% 0% 42% 1% 33% 0%
Vol Thru, % 80% 0% 43% 52% 67% 0%
Vol Right, % 0% 100% 15% 48% 0% 100%
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop
Traffic Vol by Lane 92 7 187 164 215 74
LT Vol 18 0 78 1 70 0
Through Vol 74 0 81 85 145 0
RT Vol 0 7 28 78 0 74
Lane Flow Rate 105 8 212 186 244 84
Geometry Grp 5 5 2 2 5 5
Degree of Util (X) 0.18 0.012 0.321 0.27 0.405 0.119
Departure Headway (Hd) 6.209 5.398 5.442 5.222 5.971 5.097
Convergence, Y/N Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes
Cap 578 662 661 688 603 704
Service Time 3.948 3.136 3.476 3.258 3.701 2.826
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.182 0.012 0.321 0.27 0.405 0.119
HCM Control Delay 10.3 8.2 11 10.2 12.7 8.5
HCM Lane LOS B A B B B A
HCM 95th-tile Q 0.7 0 1.4 1.1 2 0.4







HCM 6th TWSC
7: N Gardner Avenue & Shaff Road SE 04/18/2025


Scenario 5 2030 PM Pre-Development Synchro 11
Page 7


Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 10.2


Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 67 159 81 1 72 74 19 70 7 66 142 69
Future Vol, veh/h 67 159 81 1 72 74 19 70 7 66 142 69
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Free Free Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length 100 - - 100 - - - - - - - 100
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 88 88 88 88 88 88 88 88 88 88 88 88
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 76 181 92 1 82 84 22 80 8 75 161 78
 


Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1 Minor2
Conflicting Flow All 166 0 0 273 0 0 625 547 227 549 551 124
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 379 379 - 126 126 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 246 168 - 423 425 -
Critical Hdwy 4.12 - - 4.12 - - 7.12 6.52 6.22 7.12 6.52 6.22
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - - - 6.12 5.52 - 6.12 5.52 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - - - 6.12 5.52 - 6.12 5.52 -
Follow-up Hdwy 2.218 - - 2.218 - - 3.518 4.018 3.318 3.518 4.018 3.318
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 1412 - - 1290 - - 397 445 812 446 442 927
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 643 615 - 878 792 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 758 759 - 609 586 -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 1412 - - 1290 - - 244 421 812 362 418 927
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - - - 244 421 - 362 418 -
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 608 582 - 831 791 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 552 758 - 493 554 -
 


Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 1.7 0.1 18.2 22.1
HCM LOS C C
 


Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR SBLn1 SBLn2
Capacity (veh/h) 380 1412 - - 1290 - - 398 927
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.287 0.054 - - 0.001 - - 0.594 0.085
HCM Control Delay (s) 18.2 7.7 - - 7.8 - - 26.4 9.2
HCM Lane LOS C A - - A - - D A
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 1.2 0.2 - - 0 - - 3.7 0.3







HCM 6th TWSC
1: Golf Club Road SE & OR 22 WB Ramps/Sublimity Road SE 11/13/2025


Scenario 6 2030 PM Post-Development Synchro 11
Page 1


Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 8.8


Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 8 6 33 121 98 10 225 51 222 12 29 10
Future Vol, veh/h 8 6 33 121 98 10 225 51 222 12 29 10
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - Yield - - Yield
Storage Length 210 - - 165 - - 150 - 210 190 - 260
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 91 91 91 91 91 91 91 91 91 91 91 91
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 9 7 36 133 108 11 247 56 244 13 32 11


Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 668 608 32 630 608 56 32 0 0 56 0 0
          Stage 1 58 58 - 550 550 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 610 550 - 80 58 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 7.12 6.52 6.22 7.12 6.52 6.22 4.12 - - 4.12 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 6.12 5.52 - 6.12 5.52 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 6.12 5.52 - 6.12 5.52 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 4.018 3.318 3.518 4.018 3.318 2.218 - - 2.218 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 372 410 1042 394 410 1011 1580 - - 1549 - -
          Stage 1 954 847 - 519 516 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 482 516 - 929 847 - - - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 246 343 1042 328 343 1011 1580 - - 1549 - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 246 343 - 328 343 - - - - - - -
          Stage 1 805 840 - 438 436 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 303 436 - 882 840 - - - - - - -


Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Ctrl Dly, s/v 11.6 21.5 3.5 1.7
HCM LOS B C


Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT NBR EBLn1 EBLn2WBLn1WBLn2 SBL SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1580 - - 246 793 328 365 1549 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.156 - - 0.036 0.054 0.405 0.325 0.009 - -
HCM Ctrl Dly (s/v) 7.7 - - 20.2 9.8 23.3 19.5 7.3 - -
HCM Lane LOS A - - C A C C A - -
HCM 95th %tile Q (veh) 0.6 - - 0.1 0.2 1.9 1.4 0 - -







HCM 6th TWSC
2: Golf Club Road SE & OR 22 EB Ramps 11/13/2025


Scenario 6 2030 PM Post-Development Synchro 11
Page 2


Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 6.9


Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 144 0 400 0 0 0 0 352 61 13 171 0
Future Vol, veh/h 144 0 400 0 0 0 0 352 61 13 171 0
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - Yield - - None
Storage Length - - 240 - - - - - 250 115 - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 155 0 430 0 0 0 0 378 66 14 184 0


Major/Minor Minor2 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 590 590 184 - 0 0 378 0 0
          Stage 1 212 212 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 378 378 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.42 6.52 6.22 - - - 4.12 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.42 5.52 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.42 5.52 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 4.018 3.318 - - - 2.218 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 470 420 858 0 - - 1180 - 0
          Stage 1 823 727 - 0 - - - - 0
          Stage 2 693 615 - 0 - - - - 0
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 464 0 858 - - - 1180 - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 464 0 - - - - - - -
          Stage 1 823 0 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 685 0 - - - - - - -


Approach EB NB SB
HCM Ctrl Dly, s/v 14.2 0 0.6
HCM LOS B


Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBT NBR EBLn1 EBLn2 SBL SBT
Capacity (veh/h) - - 464 858 1180 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - 0.334 0.501 0.012 -
HCM Ctrl Dly (s/v) - - 16.6 13.3 8.1 -
HCM Lane LOS - - C B A -
HCM 95th %tile Q (veh) - - 1.4 2.9 0 -







HCM 6th TWSC
3: Golf Club Road SE & Site Access 11/13/2025


Scenario 6 2030 PM Post-Development Synchro 11
Page 3


Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 1.5


Movement WBL WBR NBT NBR SBL SBT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 33 27 432 36 43 502
Future Vol, veh/h 33 27 432 36 43 502
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - 0 - - 0
Grade, % 0 - 0 - - 0
Peak Hour Factor 94 94 94 94 94 94
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 35 29 460 38 46 534


Major/Minor Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 1105 479 0 0 498 0
          Stage 1 479 - - - - -
          Stage 2 626 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.42 6.22 - - 4.12 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.42 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.42 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 3.318 - - 2.218 -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 233 587 - - 1066 -
          Stage 1 623 - - - - -
          Stage 2 533 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 219 587 - - 1066 -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 219 - - - - -
          Stage 1 623 - - - - -
          Stage 2 500 - - - - -


Approach WB NB SB
HCM Ctrl Dly, s/v 19.9 0 0.7
HCM LOS C


Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBT NBRWBLn1 SBL SBT
Capacity (veh/h) - - 305 1066 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - 0.209 0.043 -
HCM Ctrl Dly (s/v) - - 19.9 8.5 0
HCM Lane LOS - - C A A
HCM 95th %tile Q (veh) - - 0.8 0.1 -







HCM 6th AWSC
4: Wilco Road/Golf Club Road SE & Shaff Road SE 11/13/2025


Scenario 6 2030 PM Post-Development Synchro 11
Page 4


Intersection
Intersection Delay, s/veh 21.4
Intersection LOS C


Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 7 52 23 80 45 181 29 284 106 238 292 15
Future Vol, veh/h 7 52 23 80 45 181 29 284 106 238 292 15
Peak Hour Factor 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 7 55 24 85 48 193 31 302 113 253 311 16
Number of Lanes 0 1 0 1 1 0 1 1 0 1 1 0


Approach EB WB NB SB
Opposing Approach WB EB SB NB
Opposing Lanes 2 1 2 2
Conflicting Approach Left SB NB EB WB
Conflicting Lanes Left 2 2 1 2
Conflicting Approach Right NB SB WB EB
Conflicting Lanes Right 2 2 2 1
HCM Control Delay, s/veh 13.5 15.3 29.9 19.4
HCM LOS B C D C


Lane NBLn1 NBLn2 EBLn1 WBLn1 WBLn2 SBLn1 SBLn2
Vol Left, % 100% 0% 9% 100% 0% 100% 0%
Vol Thru, % 0% 73% 63% 0% 20% 0% 95%
Vol Right, % 0% 27% 28% 0% 80% 0% 5%
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop
Traffic Vol by Lane 29 390 82 80 226 238 307
LT Vol 29 0 7 80 0 238 0
Through Vol 0 284 52 0 45 0 292
RT Vol 0 106 23 0 181 0 15
Lane Flow Rate 31 415 87 85 240 253 327
Geometry Grp 5 5 4b 5 5 5 5
Degree of Util (X) 0.065 0.794 0.201 0.194 0.476 0.522 0.624
Departure Headway (Hd) 7.599 6.892 8.308 8.209 7.12 7.422 6.875
Convergence, Y/N Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes
Cap 471 527 431 437 505 486 526
Service Time 5.347 4.64 6.379 5.958 4.868 5.171 4.623
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.066 0.787 0.202 0.195 0.475 0.521 0.622
HCM Control Delay, s/veh 10.9 31.3 13.5 12.9 16.2 18 20.4
HCM Lane LOS B D B B C C C
HCM 95th-tile Q 0.2 7.4 0.7 0.7 2.5 3 4.2







HCM 6th TWSC
5: Wilco Road & W Locust Street 11/13/2025


Scenario 6 2030 PM Post-Development Synchro 11
Page 5


Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 2.7


Movement WBL WBR NBT NBR SBL SBT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 23 78 298 24 104 293
Future Vol, veh/h 23 78 298 24 104 293
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - 0 - - 0
Grade, % 0 - 0 - - 0
Peak Hour Factor 96 96 96 96 96 96
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 24 81 310 25 108 305


Major/Minor Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 844 323 0 0 335 0
          Stage 1 323 - - - - -
          Stage 2 521 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.42 6.22 - - 4.12 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.42 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.42 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 3.318 - - 2.218 -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 334 718 - - 1224 -
          Stage 1 734 - - - - -
          Stage 2 596 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 299 718 - - 1224 -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 299 - - - - -
          Stage 1 734 - - - - -
          Stage 2 533 - - - - -


Approach WB NB SB
HCM Ctrl Dly, s/v 13.2 0 2.2
HCM LOS B


Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBT NBRWBLn1 SBL SBT
Capacity (veh/h) - - 544 1224 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - 0.193 0.089 -
HCM Ctrl Dly (s/v) - - 13.2 8.2 0
HCM Lane LOS - - B A A
HCM 95th %tile Q (veh) - - 0.7 0.3 -







HCM 6th AWSC
6: W Ida Street/Wilco Road & Washington Street 11/13/2025


Scenario 6 2030 PM Post-Development Synchro 11
Page 6


Intersection
Intersection Delay, s/veh 11.3
Intersection LOS B


Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 82 81 28 1 85 86 18 78 7 73 151 77
Future Vol, veh/h 82 81 28 1 85 86 18 78 7 73 151 77
Peak Hour Factor 0.88 0.88 0.88 0.88 0.88 0.88 0.88 0.88 0.88 0.88 0.88 0.88
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 93 92 32 1 97 98 20 89 8 83 172 88
Number of Lanes 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 1 1 0 1 1


Approach EB WB NB SB
Opposing Approach WB EB SB NB
Opposing Lanes 1 1 2 2
Conflicting Approach Left SB NB EB WB
Conflicting Lanes Left 2 2 1 1
Conflicting Approach Right NB SB WB EB
Conflicting Lanes Right 2 2 1 1
HCM Control Delay, s/veh 11.3 10.4 10.4 12
HCM LOS B B B B


Lane NBLn1 NBLn2 EBLn1 WBLn1 SBLn1 SBLn2
Vol Left, % 19% 0% 43% 1% 33% 0%
Vol Thru, % 81% 0% 42% 49% 67% 0%
Vol Right, % 0% 100% 15% 50% 0% 100%
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop
Traffic Vol by Lane 96 7 191 172 224 77
LT Vol 18 0 82 1 73 0
Through Vol 78 0 81 85 151 0
RT Vol 0 7 28 86 0 77
Lane Flow Rate 109 8 217 195 255 88
Geometry Grp 5 5 2 2 5 5
Degree of Util (X) 0.19 0.012 0.333 0.287 0.426 0.125
Departure Headway (Hd) 6.284 5.477 5.523 5.28 6.031 5.156
Convergence, Y/N Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes
Cap 571 652 651 680 598 695
Service Time 4.031 3.223 3.563 3.32 3.767 2.891
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.191 0.012 0.333 0.287 0.426 0.127
HCM Control Delay, s/veh 10.5 8.3 11.3 10.4 13.2 8.6
HCM Lane LOS B A B B B A
HCM 95th-tile Q 0.7 0 1.5 1.2 2.1 0.4







HCM 6th TWSC
7: N Gardner Avenue & Shaff Road SE 11/13/2025


Scenario 6 2030 PM Post-Development Synchro 11
Page 7


Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 10.5


Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 67 171 84 1 84 74 23 70 7 66 142 69
Future Vol, veh/h 67 171 84 1 84 74 23 70 7 66 142 69
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Free Free Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length 100 - - 100 - - - - - - - 100
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 88 88 88 88 88 88 88 88 88 88 88 88
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 76 194 95 1 95 84 26 80 8 75 161 78


Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1 Minor2
Conflicting Flow All 179 0 0 289 0 0 653 575 242 577 580 137
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 394 394 - 139 139 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 259 181 - 438 441 -
Critical Hdwy 4.12 - - 4.12 - - 7.12 6.52 6.22 7.12 6.52 6.22
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - - - 6.12 5.52 - 6.12 5.52 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - - - 6.12 5.52 - 6.12 5.52 -
Follow-up Hdwy 2.218 - - 2.218 - - 3.518 4.018 3.318 3.518 4.018 3.318
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 1397 - - 1273 - - 380 429 797 428 426 911
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 631 605 - 864 782 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 746 750 - 597 577 -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 1397 - - 1273 - - 230 405 797 345 403 911
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - - - 230 405 - 345 403 -
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 597 572 - 817 781 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 541 749 - 481 546 -


Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Ctrl Dly, s/v 1.6 0 19.8 23.6
HCM LOS C C


Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR SBLn1 SBLn2
Capacity (veh/h) 355 1397 - - 1273 - - 383 911
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.32 0.054 - - 0.001 - - 0.617 0.086
HCM Ctrl Dly (s/v) 19.8 7.7 - - 7.8 - - 28.4 9.3
HCM Lane LOS C A - - A - - D A
HCM 95th %tile Q (veh) 1.4 0.2 - - 0 - - 4 0.3







SimTraffic Simulation Summary
Baseline 04/14/2025


Scenario 1 2025 AM Existing SimTraffic Report
Page 1


Summary of All Intervals


Run Number 1 2 3 4 5 Avg
Start Time 4:50 4:50 4:50 4:50 4:50 4:50
End Time 6:00 6:00 6:00 6:00 6:00 6:00
Total Time (min) 70 70 70 70 70 70
Time Recorded (min) 60 60 60 60 60 60
# of Intervals 3 3 3 3 3 3
# of Recorded Intervals 2 2 2 2 2 2
Vehs Entered 1847 1891 1833 1873 1828 1855
Vehs Exited 1879 1929 1853 1884 1846 1878
Starting Vehs 102 97 111 84 82 93
Ending Vehs 70 59 91 73 64 62
Travel Distance (mi) 2629 2755 2647 2614 2554 2640
Travel Time (hr) 79.5 84.1 80.8 79.8 77.5 80.3
Total Delay (hr) 9.4 10.0 9.9 9.4 9.0 9.5
Total Stops 2263 2369 2324 2278 2217 2289
Fuel Used (gal) 80.9 83.7 80.0 79.4 78.1 80.4


Interval #0 Information  Seeding
Start Time 4:50
End Time 5:00
Total Time (min) 10
Volumes adjusted by PHF, Growth Factors.
No data recorded this interval.


Interval #1 Information  Recording
Start Time 5:00
End Time 5:15
Total Time (min) 15
Volumes adjusted by PHF, Growth Factors.


Run Number 1 2 3 4 5 Avg
Vehs Entered 530 531 538 537 506 535
Vehs Exited 542 546 543 525 493 529
Starting Vehs 102 97 111 84 82 93
Ending Vehs 90 82 106 96 95 90
Travel Distance (mi) 742 801 757 727 698 745
Travel Time (hr) 22.7 24.8 23.6 22.4 21.4 23.0
Total Delay (hr) 2.8 3.3 3.2 2.8 2.6 2.9
Total Stops 667 706 704 653 627 672
Fuel Used (gal) 23.2 24.4 22.9 22.1 21.3 22.8







SimTraffic Simulation Summary
Baseline 04/14/2025


Scenario 1 2025 AM Existing SimTraffic Report
Page 2


Interval #2 Information  Recording2
Start Time 5:15
End Time 6:00
Total Time (min) 45
Volumes adjusted by Growth Factors, Anti PHF.


Run Number 1 2 3 4 5 Avg
Vehs Entered 1317 1360 1295 1336 1322 1329
Vehs Exited 1337 1383 1310 1359 1353 1348
Starting Vehs 90 82 106 96 95 90
Ending Vehs 70 59 91 73 64 62
Travel Distance (mi) 1887 1954 1890 1887 1856 1895
Travel Time (hr) 56.8 59.3 57.2 57.4 56.1 57.4
Total Delay (hr) 6.6 6.7 6.7 6.6 6.4 6.6
Total Stops 1596 1663 1620 1625 1590 1615
Fuel Used (gal) 57.7 59.3 57.1 57.3 56.7 57.6







Queuing and Blocking Report
Baseline 04/14/2025


Scenario 1 2025 AM Existing SimTraffic Report
Page 3


Intersection: 1: Golf Club Road SE & OR 22 WB Ramps/Sublimity Road SE


Movement EB EB WB WB NB NB SB SB
Directions Served L TR L TR L R L T
Maximum Queue (ft) 23 73 91 104 84 48 11 5
Average Queue (ft) 1 28 35 51 18 2 0 0
95th Queue (ft) 11 55 66 87 54 20 6 4
Link Distance (ft) 603 1304 1519
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 210 165 150 210 190
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)


Intersection: 2: Golf Club Road SE & OR 22 EB Ramps


Movement EB EB SB
Directions Served LT R L
Maximum Queue (ft) 71 76 34
Average Queue (ft) 35 38 9
95th Queue (ft) 55 58 31
Link Distance (ft) 1465
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 240 115
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)


Intersection: 3: Golf Club Road SE & Site Access


Movement
Directions Served
Maximum Queue (ft)
Average Queue (ft)
95th Queue (ft)
Link Distance (ft)
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)







Queuing and Blocking Report
Baseline 04/14/2025


Scenario 1 2025 AM Existing SimTraffic Report
Page 4


Intersection: 4: Wilco Road/Golf Club Road SE & Shaff Road SE


Movement EB WB WB NB NB SB SB
Directions Served LTR L TR L TR L TR
Maximum Queue (ft) 64 50 110 50 115 62 102
Average Queue (ft) 22 25 51 14 61 27 54
95th Queue (ft) 45 48 86 43 101 51 84
Link Distance (ft) 934 2626 2580 4621
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 100 90 170
Storage Blk Time (%) 0 0 1
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0 0 0


Intersection: 5: Wilco Road & W Locust Street


Movement WB NB SB
Directions Served LR TR LT
Maximum Queue (ft) 88 4 61
Average Queue (ft) 47 0 12
95th Queue (ft) 73 3 42
Link Distance (ft) 2480 1873 2580
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)


Intersection: 6: W Ida Street/Wilco Road & Washington Street


Movement EB WB NB SB SB
Directions Served LTR LTR LT LT R
Maximum Queue (ft) 78 67 60 56 26
Average Queue (ft) 40 33 27 21 3
95th Queue (ft) 64 53 47 43 14
Link Distance (ft) 869 1293 1063 1873
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 75
Storage Blk Time (%) 0 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0 0







Queuing and Blocking Report
Baseline 04/14/2025


Scenario 1 2025 AM Existing SimTraffic Report
Page 5


Intersection: 7: N Gardner Avenue & Shaff Road SE


Movement EB WB NB SB SB
Directions Served L L LTR LT R
Maximum Queue (ft) 23 37 91 35 35
Average Queue (ft) 2 8 36 6 7
95th Queue (ft) 13 32 62 27 30
Link Distance (ft) 1206 288
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 100 100 100
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)


Network Summary
Network wide Queuing Penalty: 0







SimTraffic Simulation Summary
04/14/2025


Scenario 2 2030 AM Pre-Development SimTraffic Report
Page 1


Summary of All Intervals


Run Number 1 2 3 4 5 Avg
Start Time 4:50 4:50 4:50 4:50 4:50 4:50
End Time 6:00 6:00 6:00 6:00 6:00 6:00
Total Time (min) 70 70 70 70 70 70
Time Recorded (min) 60 60 60 60 60 60
# of Intervals 3 3 3 3 3 3
# of Recorded Intervals 2 2 2 2 2 2
Vehs Entered 1833 1941 1887 1898 1943 1900
Vehs Exited 1863 1961 1914 1909 1963 1921
Starting Vehs 97 98 110 82 99 94
Ending Vehs 67 78 83 71 79 70
Travel Distance (mi) 2658 2769 2734 2674 2765 2720
Travel Time (hr) 81.0 84.3 83.2 81.7 84.3 82.9
Total Delay (hr) 9.7 10.3 9.9 9.9 10.1 10.0
Total Stops 2267 2383 2345 2304 2355 2332
Fuel Used (gal) 81.2 84.1 83.8 81.4 83.8 82.9


Interval #0 Information  Seeding
Start Time 4:50
End Time 5:00
Total Time (min) 10
Volumes adjusted by PHF, Growth Factors.
No data recorded this interval.


Interval #1 Information  Recording
Start Time 5:00
End Time 5:15
Total Time (min) 15
Volumes adjusted by PHF, Growth Factors.


Run Number 1 2 3 4 5 Avg
Vehs Entered 556 555 538 539 536 545
Vehs Exited 557 542 546 541 553 549
Starting Vehs 97 98 110 82 99 94
Ending Vehs 96 111 102 80 82 91
Travel Distance (mi) 843 828 825 743 763 800
Travel Time (hr) 26.3 25.4 25.4 23.1 23.6 24.8
Total Delay (hr) 3.7 3.2 3.4 3.0 3.1 3.3
Total Stops 750 711 729 682 666 704
Fuel Used (gal) 26.0 24.6 25.2 22.9 23.1 24.3







SimTraffic Simulation Summary
04/14/2025


Scenario 2 2030 AM Pre-Development SimTraffic Report
Page 2


Interval #2 Information  Recording2
Start Time 5:15
End Time 6:00
Total Time (min) 45
Volumes adjusted by Growth Factors, Anti PHF.


Run Number 1 2 3 4 5 Avg
Vehs Entered 1277 1386 1349 1359 1407 1354
Vehs Exited 1306 1419 1368 1368 1410 1373
Starting Vehs 96 111 102 80 82 91
Ending Vehs 67 78 83 71 79 70
Travel Distance (mi) 1815 1941 1909 1931 2002 1920
Travel Time (hr) 54.7 58.9 57.8 58.6 60.7 58.1
Total Delay (hr) 6.0 7.1 6.5 6.8 7.0 6.7
Total Stops 1517 1672 1616 1622 1689 1622
Fuel Used (gal) 55.3 59.5 58.6 58.6 60.6 58.5







Queuing and Blocking Report
04/14/2025


Scenario 2 2030 AM Pre-Development SimTraffic Report
Page 3


Intersection: 1: Golf Club Road SE & OR 22 WB Ramps/Sublimity Road SE


Movement EB EB WB WB NB NB SB
Directions Served L TR L TR L R L
Maximum Queue (ft) 30 64 77 116 53 60 15
Average Queue (ft) 2 26 36 57 16 2 1
95th Queue (ft) 13 51 62 95 47 25 7
Link Distance (ft) 603 1304
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 210 165 150 210 190
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)


Intersection: 2: Golf Club Road SE & OR 22 EB Ramps


Movement EB EB SB SB
Directions Served LT R L T
Maximum Queue (ft) 79 73 32 7
Average Queue (ft) 36 38 7 0
95th Queue (ft) 64 57 27 5
Link Distance (ft) 1465 969
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 240 115
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)


Intersection: 3: Golf Club Road SE & Site Access


Movement
Directions Served
Maximum Queue (ft)
Average Queue (ft)
95th Queue (ft)
Link Distance (ft)
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)







Queuing and Blocking Report
04/14/2025


Scenario 2 2030 AM Pre-Development SimTraffic Report
Page 4


Intersection: 4: Wilco Road/Golf Club Road SE & Shaff Road SE


Movement EB WB WB NB NB SB SB
Directions Served LTR L TR L TR L TR
Maximum Queue (ft) 62 58 96 40 157 70 114
Average Queue (ft) 23 26 50 15 64 29 57
95th Queue (ft) 45 53 81 43 106 55 93
Link Distance (ft) 934 2626 2580 4621
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 100 90 170
Storage Blk Time (%) 0 2
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0 0


Intersection: 5: Wilco Road & W Locust Street


Movement WB SB
Directions Served LR LT
Maximum Queue (ft) 123 52
Average Queue (ft) 52 12
95th Queue (ft) 88 40
Link Distance (ft) 2480 2580
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)


Intersection: 6: W Ida Street/Wilco Road & Washington Street


Movement EB WB NB SB SB
Directions Served LTR LTR LT LT R
Maximum Queue (ft) 70 77 59 57 27
Average Queue (ft) 40 34 28 21 2
95th Queue (ft) 63 57 47 41 14
Link Distance (ft) 869 1293 1063 1873
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 75
Storage Blk Time (%) 0 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0 0







Queuing and Blocking Report
04/14/2025


Scenario 2 2030 AM Pre-Development SimTraffic Report
Page 5


Intersection: 7: N Gardner Avenue & Shaff Road SE


Movement EB WB NB SB SB
Directions Served L L LTR LT R
Maximum Queue (ft) 23 40 66 35 35
Average Queue (ft) 3 8 37 9 9
95th Queue (ft) 16 32 61 33 33
Link Distance (ft) 1206 288
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 100 100 100
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)


Network Summary
Network wide Queuing Penalty: 1







SimTraffic Simulation Summary
11/13/2025


Scenario 3 2030 AM Post-Development SimTraffic Report
Page 1


Summary of All Intervals


Run Number 1 2 3 4 5 Avg
Start Time 4:50 4:50 4:50 4:50 4:50 4:50
End Time 6:00 6:00 6:00 6:00 6:00 6:00
Total Time (min) 70 70 70 70 70 70
Time Recorded (min) 60 60 60 60 60 60
# of Intervals 3 3 3 3 3 3
# of Recorded Intervals 2 2 2 2 2 2
Vehs Entered 2333 2254 2181 2310 2240 2264
Vehs Exited 2317 2280 2146 2281 2232 2252
Starting Vehs 91 116 82 91 85 90
Ending Vehs 107 90 117 120 93 104
Travel Distance (mi) 3391 3242 3081 3362 3183 3252
Travel Time (hr) 105.0 100.1 94.7 104.0 97.9 100.3
Total Delay (hr) 14.3 13.1 12.0 14.2 12.4 13.2
Total Stops 2986 2894 2734 3016 2839 2894
Fuel Used (gal) 104.3 100.1 95.3 103.3 97.9 100.2


Interval #0 Information  Seeding
Start Time 4:50
End Time 5:00
Total Time (min) 10
No data recorded this interval.


Interval #1 Information  Recording
Start Time 5:00
End Time 5:15
Total Time (min) 15


Run Number 1 2 3 4 5 Avg
Vehs Entered 521 490 464 491 508 494
Vehs Exited 523 529 463 496 504 502
Starting Vehs 91 116 82 91 85 90
Ending Vehs 89 77 83 86 89 84
Travel Distance (mi) 745 748 685 742 759 736
Travel Time (hr) 22.7 22.8 20.7 22.6 23.1 22.4
Total Delay (hr) 2.8 2.8 2.3 2.7 2.8 2.7
Total Stops 644 625 578 653 648 625
Fuel Used (gal) 22.8 23.2 20.9 22.8 23.1 22.5







SimTraffic Simulation Summary
11/13/2025


Scenario 3 2030 AM Post-Development SimTraffic Report
Page 2


Interval #2 Information  Recording2
Start Time 5:15
End Time 6:00
Total Time (min) 45
Volumes adjusted by PHF.


Run Number 1 2 3 4 5 Avg
Vehs Entered 1812 1764 1717 1819 1732 1768
Vehs Exited 1794 1751 1683 1785 1728 1749
Starting Vehs 89 77 83 86 89 84
Ending Vehs 107 90 117 120 93 104
Travel Distance (mi) 2646 2495 2396 2620 2424 2516
Travel Time (hr) 82.3 77.2 74.0 81.4 74.8 78.0
Total Delay (hr) 11.4 10.3 9.8 11.5 9.6 10.5
Total Stops 2342 2269 2156 2363 2191 2267
Fuel Used (gal) 81.5 76.9 74.4 80.5 74.8 77.6







Queuing and Blocking Report
11/13/2025


Scenario 3 2030 AM Post-Development SimTraffic Report
Page 3


Intersection: 1: Golf Club Road SE & OR 22 WB Ramps/Sublimity Road SE


Movement EB WB WB NB NB SB
Directions Served TR L TR L R L
Maximum Queue (ft) 51 100 130 64 75 17
Average Queue (ft) 26 40 62 21 5 1
95th Queue (ft) 50 70 104 52 34 8
Link Distance (ft) 603 1304
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 165 150 210 190
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)


Intersection: 2: Golf Club Road SE & OR 22 EB Ramps


Movement EB EB SB
Directions Served LT R L
Maximum Queue (ft) 83 78 38
Average Queue (ft) 36 40 6
95th Queue (ft) 65 63 27
Link Distance (ft) 1465
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 240 115
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)


Intersection: 3: Golf Club Road SE & Site Access


Movement WB SB
Directions Served LR LT
Maximum Queue (ft) 83 58
Average Queue (ft) 33 7
95th Queue (ft) 65 34
Link Distance (ft) 1636 2825
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)







Queuing and Blocking Report
11/13/2025


Scenario 3 2030 AM Post-Development SimTraffic Report
Page 4


Intersection: 4: Wilco Road/Golf Club Road SE & Shaff Road SE


Movement EB WB WB NB NB SB SB
Directions Served LTR L TR L TR L TR
Maximum Queue (ft) 68 54 118 45 152 113 172
Average Queue (ft) 26 28 60 21 71 38 68
95th Queue (ft) 50 50 98 48 122 81 129
Link Distance (ft) 934 2626 2580 4621
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 100 90 170
Storage Blk Time (%) 1 4 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0 1 1


Intersection: 5: Wilco Road & W Locust Street


Movement WB SB
Directions Served LR LT
Maximum Queue (ft) 106 65
Average Queue (ft) 53 14
95th Queue (ft) 85 46
Link Distance (ft) 2480 2580
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)


Intersection: 6: W Ida Street/Wilco Road & Washington Street


Movement EB WB NB SB SB
Directions Served LTR LTR LT LT R
Maximum Queue (ft) 74 78 60 63 25
Average Queue (ft) 42 37 28 24 2
95th Queue (ft) 65 61 44 48 14
Link Distance (ft) 869 1293 1063 1873
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 75
Storage Blk Time (%) 0 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0 0







Queuing and Blocking Report
11/13/2025


Scenario 3 2030 AM Post-Development SimTraffic Report
Page 5


Intersection: 7: N Gardner Avenue & Shaff Road SE


Movement EB WB NB SB SB
Directions Served L L LTR LT R
Maximum Queue (ft) 28 45 96 35 35
Average Queue (ft) 3 11 41 5 9
95th Queue (ft) 17 38 74 24 33
Link Distance (ft) 1206 288
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 100 100 100
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)


Network Summary
Network wide Queuing Penalty: 2







SimTraffic Simulation Summary
04/14/2025


Scenario 4 2025 PM Existing SimTraffic Report
Page 1


Summary of All Intervals


Run Number 1 2 3 4 5 Avg
Start Time 4:50 4:50 4:50 4:50 4:50 4:50
End Time 6:00 6:00 6:00 6:00 6:00 6:00
Total Time (min) 70 70 70 70 70 70
Time Recorded (min) 60 60 60 60 60 60
# of Intervals 3 3 3 3 3 3
# of Recorded Intervals 2 2 2 2 2 2
Vehs Entered 2124 2120 2084 2211 2162 2139
Vehs Exited 2144 2134 2114 2230 2181 2161
Starting Vehs 110 92 116 108 111 106
Ending Vehs 90 78 86 89 92 87
Travel Distance (mi) 3126 3045 3062 3157 3055 3089
Travel Time (hr) 96.2 94.5 95.2 98.1 94.7 95.7
Total Delay (hr) 13.6 13.4 13.5 13.8 13.5 13.5
Total Stops 3188 3122 3142 3304 3146 3178
Fuel Used (gal) 96.8 94.1 94.4 97.2 94.1 95.3


Interval #0 Information  Seeding
Start Time 4:50
End Time 5:00
Total Time (min) 10
Volumes adjusted by PHF, Growth Factors.
No data recorded this interval.


Interval #1 Information  Recording
Start Time 5:00
End Time 5:15
Total Time (min) 15
Volumes adjusted by PHF, Growth Factors.


Run Number 1 2 3 4 5 Avg
Vehs Entered 573 578 549 605 573 574
Vehs Exited 577 560 574 602 593 580
Starting Vehs 110 92 116 108 111 106
Ending Vehs 106 110 91 111 91 101
Travel Distance (mi) 827 785 801 896 812 824
Travel Time (hr) 25.5 24.6 25.4 28.1 25.4 25.8
Total Delay (hr) 3.7 3.6 3.9 4.2 3.6 3.8
Total Stops 864 857 821 941 839 863
Fuel Used (gal) 25.6 24.5 25.0 27.5 25.3 25.6







SimTraffic Simulation Summary
04/14/2025


Scenario 4 2025 PM Existing SimTraffic Report
Page 2


Interval #2 Information  Recording2
Start Time 5:15
End Time 6:00
Total Time (min) 45
Volumes adjusted by Growth Factors, Anti PHF.


Run Number 1 2 3 4 5 Avg
Vehs Entered 1551 1542 1535 1606 1589 1564
Vehs Exited 1567 1574 1540 1628 1588 1578
Starting Vehs 106 110 91 111 91 101
Ending Vehs 90 78 86 89 92 87
Travel Distance (mi) 2300 2260 2261 2261 2242 2265
Travel Time (hr) 70.7 69.9 69.8 70.0 69.3 69.9
Total Delay (hr) 9.9 9.7 9.7 9.6 9.9 9.8
Total Stops 2324 2265 2321 2363 2307 2315
Fuel Used (gal) 71.2 69.6 69.4 69.6 68.8 69.7







Queuing and Blocking Report
04/14/2025


Scenario 4 2025 PM Existing SimTraffic Report
Page 3


Intersection: 1: Golf Club Road SE & OR 22 WB Ramps/Sublimity Road SE


Movement EB EB WB WB NB NB SB
Directions Served L TR L TR L R L
Maximum Queue (ft) 24 48 79 83 48 57 12
Average Queue (ft) 5 21 37 42 10 2 0
95th Queue (ft) 23 45 62 69 36 20 6
Link Distance (ft) 603 1304
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 210 165 150 210 190
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)


Intersection: 2: Golf Club Road SE & OR 22 EB Ramps


Movement EB EB SB
Directions Served LT R L
Maximum Queue (ft) 107 162 30
Average Queue (ft) 48 61 2
95th Queue (ft) 81 109 15
Link Distance (ft) 1465
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 240 115
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)


Intersection: 3: Golf Club Road SE & Site Access


Movement
Directions Served
Maximum Queue (ft)
Average Queue (ft)
95th Queue (ft)
Link Distance (ft)
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)







Queuing and Blocking Report
04/14/2025


Scenario 4 2025 PM Existing SimTraffic Report
Page 4


Intersection: 4: Wilco Road/Golf Club Road SE & Shaff Road SE


Movement EB WB WB NB NB SB SB
Directions Served LTR L TR L TR L TR
Maximum Queue (ft) 70 70 114 58 173 104 127
Average Queue (ft) 25 27 54 20 82 47 62
95th Queue (ft) 49 54 93 50 143 83 95
Link Distance (ft) 934 2626 2580 4621
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 100 90 170
Storage Blk Time (%) 0 1 0 7 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0 0 0 2 0


Intersection: 5: Wilco Road & W Locust Street


Movement WB SB
Directions Served LR LT
Maximum Queue (ft) 77 68
Average Queue (ft) 41 19
95th Queue (ft) 68 55
Link Distance (ft) 2480 2580
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)


Intersection: 6: W Ida Street/Wilco Road & Washington Street


Movement EB WB NB SB SB
Directions Served LTR LTR LT LT R
Maximum Queue (ft) 113 80 63 96 29
Average Queue (ft) 47 37 29 34 3
95th Queue (ft) 80 60 51 68 16
Link Distance (ft) 869 1293 1063 1873
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 75
Storage Blk Time (%) 1 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0 0







Queuing and Blocking Report
04/14/2025


Scenario 4 2025 PM Existing SimTraffic Report
Page 5


Intersection: 7: N Gardner Avenue & Shaff Road SE


Movement EB NB SB SB
Directions Served L LTR LT R
Maximum Queue (ft) 43 81 112 58
Average Queue (ft) 11 40 58 34
95th Queue (ft) 35 70 94 52
Link Distance (ft) 1206 288
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 100 100
Storage Blk Time (%) 1
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0


Network Summary
Network wide Queuing Penalty: 3







SimTraffic Simulation Summary
04/18/2025


Scenario 5 2030 PM Pre-Development SimTraffic Report
Page 1


Summary of All Intervals


Run Number 1 2 3 4 5 Avg
Start Time 4:50 4:50 4:50 4:50 4:50 4:50
End Time 6:00 6:00 6:00 6:00 6:00 6:00
Total Time (min) 70 70 70 70 70 70
Time Recorded (min) 60 60 60 60 60 60
# of Intervals 3 3 3 3 3 3
# of Recorded Intervals 2 2 2 2 2 2
Vehs Entered 2279 2228 2310 2229 2273 2266
Vehs Exited 2311 2241 2314 2249 2262 2274
Starting Vehs 115 113 113 96 112 111
Ending Vehs 83 100 109 76 123 100
Travel Distance (mi) 3381 3273 3373 3210 3274 3302
Travel Time (hr) 105.7 102.0 106.2 99.8 102.0 103.1
Total Delay (hr) 15.3 14.7 15.7 14.2 14.3 14.8
Total Stops 3457 3326 3468 3288 3358 3381
Fuel Used (gal) 104.8 102.2 104.7 99.0 100.8 102.3


Interval #0 Information  Seeding
Start Time 4:50
End Time 5:00
Total Time (min) 10
Volumes adjusted by PHF, Growth Factors.
No data recorded this interval.


Interval #1 Information  Recording
Start Time 5:00
End Time 5:15
Total Time (min) 15
Volumes adjusted by PHF, Growth Factors.


Run Number 1 2 3 4 5 Avg
Vehs Entered 636 656 623 599 578 619
Vehs Exited 646 646 612 565 584 611
Starting Vehs 115 113 113 96 112 111
Ending Vehs 105 123 124 130 106 117
Travel Distance (mi) 921 920 892 839 826 879
Travel Time (hr) 29.4 28.9 28.3 26.2 25.8 27.7
Total Delay (hr) 4.5 4.4 4.3 3.8 3.5 4.1
Total Stops 968 966 955 857 849 917
Fuel Used (gal) 29.0 28.5 27.8 25.7 25.3 27.3







SimTraffic Simulation Summary
04/18/2025


Scenario 5 2030 PM Pre-Development SimTraffic Report
Page 2


Interval #2 Information  Recording2
Start Time 5:15
End Time 6:00
Total Time (min) 45
Volumes adjusted by Growth Factors, Anti PHF.


Run Number 1 2 3 4 5 Avg
Vehs Entered 1643 1572 1687 1630 1695 1646
Vehs Exited 1665 1595 1702 1684 1678 1665
Starting Vehs 105 123 124 130 106 117
Ending Vehs 83 100 109 76 123 100
Travel Distance (mi) 2460 2354 2481 2371 2448 2423
Travel Time (hr) 76.4 73.0 77.9 73.6 76.2 75.4
Total Delay (hr) 10.8 10.3 11.4 10.4 10.8 10.7
Total Stops 2489 2360 2513 2431 2509 2461
Fuel Used (gal) 75.8 73.7 76.9 73.3 75.5 75.0







Queuing and Blocking Report
04/18/2025


Scenario 5 2030 PM Pre-Development SimTraffic Report
Page 3


Intersection: 1: Golf Club Road SE & OR 22 WB Ramps/Sublimity Road SE


Movement EB EB WB WB NB NB SB
Directions Served L TR L TR L R L
Maximum Queue (ft) 31 59 79 76 61 36 17
Average Queue (ft) 9 22 36 40 9 2 1
95th Queue (ft) 31 47 59 64 39 17 9
Link Distance (ft) 603 1304
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 210 165 150 210 190
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)


Intersection: 2: Golf Club Road SE & OR 22 EB Ramps


Movement EB EB SB
Directions Served LT R L
Maximum Queue (ft) 101 129 32
Average Queue (ft) 49 62 3
95th Queue (ft) 83 103 18
Link Distance (ft) 1465
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 240 115
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)


Intersection: 3: Golf Club Road SE & Site Access


Movement
Directions Served
Maximum Queue (ft)
Average Queue (ft)
95th Queue (ft)
Link Distance (ft)
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)







Queuing and Blocking Report
04/18/2025


Scenario 5 2030 PM Pre-Development SimTraffic Report
Page 4


Intersection: 4: Wilco Road/Golf Club Road SE & Shaff Road SE


Movement EB WB WB NB NB SB SB
Directions Served LTR L TR L TR L TR
Maximum Queue (ft) 72 80 104 112 200 108 126
Average Queue (ft) 26 35 52 22 98 53 67
95th Queue (ft) 52 61 83 67 171 90 107
Link Distance (ft) 934 2626 2580 4621
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 100 90 170
Storage Blk Time (%) 0 0 0 12 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0 0 0 3 0


Intersection: 5: Wilco Road & W Locust Street


Movement WB SB
Directions Served LR LT
Maximum Queue (ft) 102 83
Average Queue (ft) 48 25
95th Queue (ft) 80 64
Link Distance (ft) 2480 2580
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)


Intersection: 6: W Ida Street/Wilco Road & Washington Street


Movement EB WB NB NB SB SB
Directions Served LTR LTR LT R LT R
Maximum Queue (ft) 98 94 71 6 72 48
Average Queue (ft) 47 43 30 0 34 5
95th Queue (ft) 78 78 54 5 61 24
Link Distance (ft) 869 1293 1063 1873
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 50 75
Storage Blk Time (%) 1 0 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0 0 0







Queuing and Blocking Report
04/18/2025


Scenario 5 2030 PM Pre-Development SimTraffic Report
Page 5


Intersection: 7: N Gardner Avenue & Shaff Road SE


Movement EB WB WB NB SB SB
Directions Served L L TR LTR LT R
Maximum Queue (ft) 39 6 11 96 125 67
Average Queue (ft) 8 0 0 43 62 35
95th Queue (ft) 29 4 6 71 98 56
Link Distance (ft) 2205 1206 288
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 100 100 100
Storage Blk Time (%) 1 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0 0


Network Summary
Network wide Queuing Penalty: 4







SimTraffic Simulation Summary
11/13/2025


Scenario 6 2030 PM Post-Development SimTraffic Report
Page 1


Summary of All Intervals


Run Number 1 2 3 4 5 Avg
Start Time 4:50 4:50 4:50 4:50 4:50 4:50
End Time 6:00 6:00 6:00 6:00 6:00 6:00
Total Time (min) 70 70 70 70 70 70
Time Recorded (min) 60 60 60 60 60 60
# of Intervals 3 3 3 3 3 3
# of Recorded Intervals 2 2 2 2 2 2
Vehs Entered 2597 2564 2552 2566 2529 2562
Vehs Exited 2586 2551 2511 2531 2535 2542
Starting Vehs 110 105 108 107 113 109
Ending Vehs 121 118 149 142 107 123
Travel Distance (mi) 3768 3758 3649 3681 3679 3707
Travel Time (hr) 120.0 119.1 116.1 116.8 117.2 117.8
Total Delay (hr) 19.0 18.6 17.8 17.8 18.1 18.3
Total Stops 3861 3887 3785 3815 3805 3830
Fuel Used (gal) 117.4 117.1 114.1 115.3 114.1 115.6


Interval #0 Information  Seeding
Start Time 4:50
End Time 5:00
Total Time (min) 10
No data recorded this interval.


Interval #1 Information  Recording
Start Time 5:00
End Time 5:15
Total Time (min) 15


Run Number 1 2 3 4 5 Avg
Vehs Entered 598 612 603 575 589 596
Vehs Exited 601 611 600 595 590 598
Starting Vehs 110 105 108 107 113 109
Ending Vehs 107 106 111 87 112 103
Travel Distance (mi) 922 912 838 852 885 882
Travel Time (hr) 29.0 29.0 26.6 26.5 28.0 27.8
Total Delay (hr) 4.4 4.5 3.9 3.8 4.3 4.2
Total Stops 927 944 871 864 902 900
Fuel Used (gal) 28.6 28.6 26.2 26.4 27.3 27.4







SimTraffic Simulation Summary
11/13/2025


Scenario 6 2030 PM Post-Development SimTraffic Report
Page 2


Interval #2 Information  Recording2
Start Time 5:15
End Time 6:00
Total Time (min) 45
Volumes adjusted by PHF.


Run Number 1 2 3 4 5 Avg
Vehs Entered 1999 1952 1949 1991 1940 1969
Vehs Exited 1985 1940 1911 1936 1945 1945
Starting Vehs 107 106 111 87 112 103
Ending Vehs 121 118 149 142 107 123
Travel Distance (mi) 2846 2846 2811 2829 2794 2825
Travel Time (hr) 91.0 90.1 89.6 90.3 89.2 90.0
Total Delay (hr) 14.6 14.0 13.9 14.0 13.8 14.1
Total Stops 2934 2943 2914 2951 2903 2933
Fuel Used (gal) 88.8 88.5 87.9 88.9 86.7 88.2







Queuing and Blocking Report
11/13/2025


Scenario 6 2030 PM Post-Development SimTraffic Report
Page 3


Intersection: 1: Golf Club Road SE & OR 22 WB Ramps/Sublimity Road SE


Movement EB EB WB WB NB NB SB
Directions Served L TR L TR L R L
Maximum Queue (ft) 38 63 114 75 52 28 12
Average Queue (ft) 6 25 46 39 11 1 0
95th Queue (ft) 26 52 83 62 39 17 6
Link Distance (ft) 603 1304
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 210 165 150 210 190
Storage Blk Time (%) 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0


Intersection: 2: Golf Club Road SE & OR 22 EB Ramps


Movement EB EB SB
Directions Served LT R L
Maximum Queue (ft) 97 166 34
Average Queue (ft) 49 80 5
95th Queue (ft) 82 137 23
Link Distance (ft) 1465
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 240 115
Storage Blk Time (%) 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0


Intersection: 3: Golf Club Road SE & Site Access


Movement WB NB SB
Directions Served LR TR LT
Maximum Queue (ft) 81 5 96
Average Queue (ft) 25 0 24
95th Queue (ft) 56 4 71
Link Distance (ft) 1636 4621 2825
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)







Queuing and Blocking Report
11/13/2025


Scenario 6 2030 PM Post-Development SimTraffic Report
Page 4


Intersection: 4: Wilco Road/Golf Club Road SE & Shaff Road SE


Movement EB WB WB NB NB SB SB
Directions Served LTR L TR L TR L TR
Maximum Queue (ft) 62 68 123 100 224 119 141
Average Queue (ft) 26 35 59 25 109 60 76
95th Queue (ft) 49 61 99 68 180 100 120
Link Distance (ft) 934 2626 2580 4621
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 100 90 170
Storage Blk Time (%) 0 1 0 17 0 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0 1 0 5 0 0


Intersection: 5: Wilco Road & W Locust Street


Movement WB SB
Directions Served LR LT
Maximum Queue (ft) 99 74
Average Queue (ft) 47 25
95th Queue (ft) 80 64
Link Distance (ft) 2480 2580
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)


Intersection: 6: W Ida Street/Wilco Road & Washington Street


Movement EB WB NB NB SB SB
Directions Served LTR LTR LT R LT R
Maximum Queue (ft) 118 86 71 8 89 46
Average Queue (ft) 54 46 31 1 40 7
95th Queue (ft) 94 76 55 8 73 25
Link Distance (ft) 869 1293 1063 1873
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 50 75
Storage Blk Time (%) 1 0 1 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0 0 1 0







Queuing and Blocking Report
11/13/2025


Scenario 6 2030 PM Post-Development SimTraffic Report
Page 5


Intersection: 7: N Gardner Avenue & Shaff Road SE


Movement EB EB WB NB SB SB
Directions Served L TR TR LTR LT R
Maximum Queue (ft) 56 9 20 84 138 70
Average Queue (ft) 12 0 1 45 68 35
95th Queue (ft) 38 4 13 75 109 56
Link Distance (ft) 2626 2205 1206 288
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 100 100
Storage Blk Time (%) 0 1 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0 1 0


Network Summary
Network wide Queuing Penalty: 8





		10 TIA Meyers Residential - Revised 11.13.2025 - final.pdf

		100 Appendix A - Figures.pdf

		110 Meyers Preliminary Site Plan with 126 Lots.pdf

		120 TIA Volume Figures - Stayton - Meyers.pdf

		TIA Volume Figures - Stayton - Meyers-1 Site.pdf

		Sheets and Views

		TIA Volume Figures - Stayton - Meyers-1 Site





		TIA Volume Figures - Stayton - Meyers.pdf

		Sheets and Views

		TIA Volume Figures - Stayton - Meyers-2 Existing Vs

		TIA Volume Figures - Stayton - Meyers-3 Pre-Dev Vs

		TIA Volume Figures - Stayton - Meyers-4 AM Trip D&A

		TIA Volume Figures - Stayton - Meyers-5 PM Trip D&A

		TIA Volume Figures - Stayton - Meyers-6 Post-Dev Vs







		200 Appendix B - TSP Projects.pdf

		210 Stayton TSP Roundabout Projects.pdf

		300 Appendix C - Crash Data.pdf

		310 Intersection Crash Rates - Meyers - Stayton.pdf

		320 CDS380 - OR 22.pdf

		330 CDS380Lcl - Golf Club Road - in County.pdf

		340 CDS380Lcl - Golf Club Road - in City.pdf

		350 CDS380Lcl - Golf Club and Shaff.pdf

		360 CDS380Lcl - Shaff and Wilco.pdf

		370 CDS380Lcl - Wilco and Locust.pdf

		380 CDS380Lcl - Wilco and Washington.pdf

		390 CDS380Lcl - Shaff and Gardner.pdf

		400 Appendix D - Traffic Volumes.pdf

		405 Intersection Volumes - Stayton - Meyers.pdf

		Intersection Volumes - Stayton - Meyers1.pdf

		Intersection Volumes - Stayton - Meyers2.pdf



		410 1 - 7AM Golf Club Road SE at Sublimity Road SE.pdf

		415 2 - 7AM Golf Club Road SE at OR 22 EB Ramps.pdf

		420 3 - 7AM Golf Club Road SE at Shaff Road SE.pdf

		425 4 - 7AM Wilco Rd at W Locust St.pdf

		430 5 - 7AM Wilco Rd at W Washington St.pdf

		435 6 - 7AM Shaff Rd SE at N Gardner Ave.pdf

		440 1 - 4PM Golf Club at Sublimity.pdf

		445 2 - 4PM Golf Club Road SE at OR 22 EB Ramps.pdf

		450 3 - 4PM Golf Club Road SE at Shaff Road SE.pdf

		455 4 - 4PM Wilco Rd at W Locust St.pdf

		460 5 - 4PM Wilco Rd at W Washington St.pdf

		465 6 - 4PM Shaff Rd SE at N Gardner Ave.pdf

		470 15min Golf Club Rd - Volume.pdf

		500 Appendix E - Operations and Queuing Analyses.pdf

		505 AM Existing Ops.pdf

		510 AM Pre-Dev Ops.pdf

		515 AM Post-Dev Ops.pdf

		520 PM Existing Ops.pdf

		525 PM Pre-Dev Ops.pdf

		530 PM Post-Dev Ops.pdf

		550 AM Existing Que.pdf

		555 AM Pre-Dev Que.pdf

		560 AM Post-Dev Que.pdf

		565 PM Existing Que.pdf

		570 PM Pre-Dev Que.pdf

		575 PM Post-Dev Que.pdf









 
Sincerely,
 
Jennifer Siciliano, AICP
Community and Economic Development Director

311 N. 3rd Ave
Stayton, OR 97383
Phone 503-769-2998
 
From: Jennifer Siciliano 
Sent: Monday, December 22, 2025 10:26 AM
To: Adam Kohler <Adam.Kohler@PacifiCorp.com>; Astound Construction Team <oregonconstruction@astound.com>; Barry
Buchanan <bbuchanan@staytonoregon.gov>; breich@co.marion.or.us; Brent Stevenson <BrentS@santiamwater.gov>;
brian.kelley@nwnatural.com; Caleb Cox <ccox@kittelson.com>; Christopher Clark <Christopher.clark@pacificorp.com>;
dfreitag@santiamhospital.org; Doug Kintz <doug.kintz@staytonfire.org>; Erik Hoefer <erik@sctcweb.com>; Gwen Johns
<gjohns@staytonoregon.gov>; Janelle Shanahan <jshanahan@co.marion.or.us>; Jay Alley <jay.alley@staytonfire.org>; John Eckis
<johneckis@sctcweb.com>; John Rasmussen <jrasmussen@co.marion.or.us>; Kendall Smith <ksmith@staytonoregon.gov>;
kinman@co.marion.or.us; Lee Loving <lee.loving@nsantiam.k12.or.us>; Lyle Misbach <misbachl@aks-eng.com>; Max Heller
<mheller@kittelson.com>; Max Hepburn <mhepburn@co.marion.or.us>; MCPW Engineering <mcldep@co.marion.or.us>; Michael
Schmidt <mschmidt@staytonoregon.gov>; Nicole Willis <nicole.willis@pacificorp.com>;
oregonconstruction@wavebroadband.com; planning@co.marion.or.us; Richard Walker (richardw@aks-eng.com) <richardw@aks-
eng.com>; Salem Development Services <developmentservices@cityofsalem.net>; Susan Wright <swright@kittelson.com>; Troy
Wheeler <twheeler@co.marion.or.us>; Wayne.clevenger@pacificorp.com
Cc: Susan Bender <sbender@staytonoregon.gov>
Subject: Request for Comments on Annexation and Subdivision 54.5 acres off Golf Club Road - LU # 16-12/24
 
The City of Stayton has received an application for Annexation and Subdivision of an approximately 54.5-acres of three
parcels on 9164 Golf Club Rd - 091W04B000200, 9384 Golf Club Rd - 091W04B000900 (part of parcel), and 9474 Golf
Club Rd - 091W04B001000 (part of parcel) to be zoned Medium Density (MD) Residential zone subdivided into 126
lots with water quality facilities and open space.
 
The application and narrative package can be accessed at city’s website at the following address:

Narrative and Plans https://www.staytonoregon.gov/page/open/5956/0/Narrative%20and%20Plans
Traffic Impact Analysis https://www.staytonoregon.gov/page/open/5956/0/Traffic%20Impact%20Analysis
Preliminary Stormwater Analysis
https://www.staytonoregon.gov/page/open/5956/0/Preliminary%20Stormwater%20Analysis
DSL Wetland Delineation https://www.staytonoregon.gov/page/open/5956/0/DSL%20Wetland%20Delineation
Geotech Report https://www.staytonoregon.gov/page/open/5956/0/Geotech%20Report

 
I have attached our usual request for comments form.
 
Please send responses by January 12, 2026.
 
Thank you for your assistance.
 
Jennifer Siciliano, AICP
Community and Economic Development Director

311 N. 3rd Ave
Stayton, OR 97383
Phone 503-769-2998
 
 
 

https://www.staytonoregon.gov/page/open/5956/0/Narrative%20and%20Plans
https://www.staytonoregon.gov/page/open/5956/0/Traffic%20Impact%20Analysis
https://www.staytonoregon.gov/page/open/5956/0/Preliminary%20Stormwater%20Analysis
https://www.staytonoregon.gov/page/open/5956/0/DSL%20Wetland%20Delineation
https://www.staytonoregon.gov/page/open/5956/0/Geotech%20Report


CAUTION: This email originated from Outside Your Organization. Exercise caution when opening attachments or on
clicking links from unknown senders. Please contact Information Technology for assistance.

From: John Rasmussen
To: Jennifer Siciliano
Subject: LU # 16-12/24 Golf Club Rd Annexation; County Comment
Date: Monday, January 12, 2026 2:21:01 PM
Attachments: image002.png

 

Jennifer,
 
Reviewing Figure Attachment A proposed annexation area as part of the Annexation Application, it does not graphically
appear to include Golf Club Rd R/W.  However, we would prefer that since City UGB is also present along the
properties bordering the west side of Golf Club Rd, that the R/W be taken into City limits as well.  It is our
understanding that the Subdivision element of this Application has been withdrawn; therefore, we are not commenting
on that at this time.
 
Thank you,
 

 

mailto:JRasmussen@co.marion.or.us
mailto:jsiciliano@staytonoregon.gov

John Rasmussen, PE | Civil Engineer Associate 3
Land Development Engineering & Permits

Engineering Works
&) jrasmussen@co.marion.or.us
& (503) 584-7706 (office) [






CAUTION: This email originated from Outside Your Organization. Exercise caution when opening attachments or on
clicking links from unknown senders. Please contact Information Technology for assistance.

From: WILLIAMS Brandon
To: Jennifer Siciliano
Cc: SCOTT Brion
Subject: Land Use #16-12/24 ; ODOT response
Date: Monday, January 12, 2026 10:44:26 AM

 

Hello Jennifer,
 
Thank you for the opportunity to comment on Land Use Case #16-12/24, as revised, off Golf Club Road. Please note that
ODOT’s Region 2 Traffic Unit is reviewing applicant’s TIA and we will share our comments with you, if any, once available.
 
Please share with us a copy of the staff decision/report for this case.
 
Thank you,
 
Brandon Williams – He/Him/His
Senior Transportation Planner | ODOT Region 2
Area 3 | Polk, Marion & Yamhill Counties
Brandon.WILLIAMS@odot.oregon.gov | 503.507.0391
 

mailto:Brandon.WILLIAMS@odot.oregon.gov
mailto:jsiciliano@staytonoregon.gov
mailto:Brion.SCOTT@odot.oregon.gov
mailto:Brandon.WILLIAMS@odot.oregon.gov


       Ci t y  o f  S t ay t on  
Department of Community and Economic Development 

362 N. Third Avenue • Stayton, OR 97383 
Phone: (503) 769-2998 • Fax (503) 769-2134 

jsiciliano@staytonoregon.gov www.staytonoregon.gov 

THE CITY OF STAYTON IS AN EQUAL OPPORTUNITY EMPLOYER AND SERVICE PROVIDER    
POLICE 

386 N. THIRD AVENUE 
STAYTON, OR 97383 

(503) 769-3423 
 FAX (503) 769-7497 

COMMUNITY AND 
ECONOMIC 

DEVELOPMENT 
362 N. THIRD AVENUE 
STAYTON, OR 97383 

(503) 769-2998 
FAX (503) 767-2134 

PUBLIC WORKS 
362 N. THIRD AVENUE 
STAYTON, OR 97383 

(503) 769-2919 
FAX (503) 767-2134 

WASTEWATER 
950 JETTERS WAY 

STAYTON, OR 97383 
(503) 769-2810 

FAX (503) 769-7413 

LIBRARY 
515 N. FIRST AVENUE 
STAYTON, OR 97383 

(503) 769-3313 
FAX (503) 769-3218 

 

REQUEST FOR COMMENTS ON PROPOSED ANNEXATION 
 
 DATE: December 22, 2025 
 TO: Stayton Police Department Stayton Fire District Santiam Hospital 
 North Santiam School District Stayton Public Works  
 Marion County Public Works Pacific Power 
 Stayton Cooperative Telephone Northwest Natural 
 Santiam Water Control District Wave Broadband 
 FROM: City of Stayton Community and Economic Development Department 
 RE: Land Use File 16-12/24 – An application for Annexation and Subdivision of an 

approximately 54.5-acres of three parcels on 9164 Golf Club Rd, 9384 Golf Club Rd (part of 
parcel), and 9474 Golf Club Rd (part of parcel) to be zoned Medium Density (MD) 
Residential zone subdivided into 126 lots with water quality facilities and open space. 

APPLICANT: Randy Myers, Brownstone Homes 
TAX MAP/LOT NUMBER: 9164 Golf Club Rd - 091W04B000200, 9384 Golf Club Rd - 
091W04B000900 (part of parcel), and 9474 Golf Club Rd - 091W04B001000 (part of parcel) 
DECISION CRITERIA: Stayton Municipal Code (SMC) 17.12.210.4 Annexations Approval Criteria and 
17.24.040.6. Preliminary Plan Approval Criteria.  
APPLICATION DEEMED COMPLETE: December 18, 2025  
PUBLIC HEARING DATE: January 26, 2026 
The City of Stayton is soliciting comments which you may wish to contribute to Stayton’s review of the 
above described land use case. Any questions should be directed to Jennifer Siciliano, Community and 
Economic Development Director, 362 N. Third Avenue, Stayton, Oregon 97383, (503) 769-2998 or at 
jsiciliano@staytonoregon.gov . 
In order for staff to process this application in a timely manner, comments need to be in our office by 
January 12, 2026. You may make your comments to city staff by phone, email, or letter. You may use 
the response form below. 
Failure to reply or participate in a hearing will be interpreted as no objection to the proposal. 
PLEASE CHECK THE APPROPRIATE ITEMS: 

 We are not affected by the proposal. 
 We have reviewed the proposal and have no comments. 
 We would like to receive a copy of the staff decision/report in this case. 
 Our comments are attached. 
 Our comments are: 

By:  _____________________________________       Date:______________________ 

Agency:  _________________________________ 

Are there plans to include school bus stops and turnarounds in the development?

North Santiam School District 29J

12/22/2025

mailto:jsiciliano@staytonoregon.gov


CAUTION: This email originated from Outside Your Organization. Exercise caution when opening attachments or on
clicking links from unknown senders. Please contact Information Technology for assistance.

From: Danny Freitag
To: Jennifer Siciliano
Subject: Re: [External]Request for Comments on Annexation and Subdivision 54.5 acres off Golf Club Road - LU # 16-12/24
Date: Monday, December 22, 2025 10:49:30 AM
Attachments: Outlook-ScreenShot.png

 

Santiam Ambulance has no comment or concern

Thank you, 

Danny Freitag 
Ambulance Director
Santiam Hospital & Clinics 
(503) 798-1335
dfreitag@santiamhospital.org
  

The materials and information in this email are private and may contain Protected Health Information.
If you are not the intended recipient, be advised that any unauthorized use, disclosure, copying,
distribution or the taking of any action associated with the contents of this information is strictly
prohibited. If you have received this email in error, please notify the sender via email.
 
 

From: Jennifer Siciliano <jsiciliano@staytonoregon.gov>
Sent: Monday, December 22, 2025 10:26 AM
To: Adam Kohler <Adam.Kohler@PacifiCorp.com>; Astound Construction Team <oregonconstruction@astound.com>; Barry
Buchanan <bbuchanan@staytonoregon.gov>; breich@co.marion.or.us <breich@co.marion.or.us>; Brent Stevenson
<BrentS@santiamwater.gov>; brian.kelley@nwnatural.com <brian.kelley@nwnatural.com>; Caleb Cox <ccox@kittelson.com>;
Christopher Clark <Christopher.clark@pacificorp.com>; Danny Freitag <dfreitag@santiamhospital.org>; Doug Kintz
<doug.kintz@staytonfire.org>; Erik Hoefer <erik@sctcweb.com>; Gwen Johns <gjohns@staytonoregon.gov>; Janelle Shanahan
<jshanahan@co.marion.or.us>; Jay Alley <jay.alley@staytonfire.org>; John Eckis <johneckis@sctcweb.com>; John Rasmussen
<jrasmussen@co.marion.or.us>; Kendall Smith <ksmith@staytonoregon.gov>; kinman@co.marion.or.us
<kinman@co.marion.or.us>; Lee Loving <lee.loving@nsantiam.k12.or.us>; Lyle Misbach <misbachl@aks-eng.com>; Max Heller
<mheller@kittelson.com>; Max Hepburn <mhepburn@co.marion.or.us>; MCPW Engineering <mcldep@co.marion.or.us>; Michael
Schmidt <mschmidt@staytonoregon.gov>; Nicole Willis <nicole.willis@pacificorp.com>; oregonconstruction@wavebroadband.com
<oregonconstruction@wavebroadband.com>; planning@co.marion.or.us <planning@co.marion.or.us>; Richard Walker
(richardw@aks-eng.com) <richardw@aks-eng.com>; Salem Development Services <developmentservices@cityofsalem.net>; Susan
Wright <swright@kittelson.com>; Troy Wheeler <twheeler@co.marion.or.us>; Wayne.clevenger@pacificorp.com
<Wayne.clevenger@pacificorp.com>
Cc: Susan Bender <sbender@staytonoregon.gov>
Subject: [External]Request for Comments on Annexation and Subdivision 54.5 acres off Golf Club Road - LU # 16-12/24
 
CAUTION-EXTERNAL: This email originated from outside the organization. Do not click links or open attachments unless you validate the sender and
know the content is safe. Please forward this email to helpdesk@santiamhospital.org if you believe this email is suspicious.

The City of Stayton has received an application for Annexation and Subdivision of an approximately 54.5-acres of three
parcels on 9164 Golf Club Rd - 091W04B000200, 9384 Golf Club Rd - 091W04B000900 (part of parcel), and 9474 Golf
Club Rd - 091W04B001000 (part of parcel) to be zoned Medium Density (MD) Residential zone subdivided into 126
lots with water quality facilities and open space.
 
The application and narrative package can be accessed at city’s website at the following address:

Narrative and Plans https://www.staytonoregon.gov/page/open/5956/0/Narrative%20and%20Plans

mailto:dfreitag@santiamhospital.org
mailto:jsiciliano@staytonoregon.gov
https://www.staytonoregon.gov/page/open/5956/0/Narrative%20and%20Plans

TSantiam Hospital &Clinics

embrace HEALTH





CAUTION: This email originated from Outside Your Organization. Exercise caution when opening attachments or on
clicking links from unknown senders. Please contact Information Technology for assistance.

From: chawkins at wvi.com
To: Jennifer Siciliano
Subject: Land Use File #16-12/24
Date: Friday, January 9, 2026 3:39:32 PM
Attachments: Subcivision Letter 9 Jan 2026.docx

 

Jennifer - attached are my comments regarding proposed subdivision. I plan on trying to come
in to discuss/review the details, but wanted these comments to get to you before you develop
the staff report. I am counting on the City to be an advocate for the properties south of the
proposed subdivision. The letter has my main concern...drainage. I am also concerned about
the traffic changes on Golf Club Rd which are already horrendous, though I have not yet seen
the proposals.

Thanks for Listening
Chuck Hawkins
PS - let me know you received this attachment so I don't have to mail a copy.

mailto:chawkins@wvi.com
mailto:jsiciliano@staytonoregon.gov

9 Jan 2026

To: Stayton Community and Economic Development Department

362 N. 3rd Ave

Stayton, OR, 97383

Dear Sirs:

I recently received a Notice of Public Hearing before the Stayton Planning Commission for Land Use File # 16-12/24, an application for annexation and subdivision of three parcels on Golf Club Rd SE. In accordance with that notice I am providing written comments to be considered in your staff report prior to the hearing.

My property is located at 9534 Golf Club Rd, adjacent to the south boundary of the proposed subdivision. We have lived here since 1997 and have witnessed numerous times where water has surrounded the home just north of us at 9474 Golf Club Rd from overland flow from the east part of their property (where the subdivision is proposed), and  water has occasionally flooded  yards at 9474, 9534 and 9584 Golf Club Rd due to overflowing ditches.

I have no objection to the proposed subdivision in general. I am however, very concerned about the possibility that the terrain changes over the area may cause increased overland water flow toward the south and the properties at 9534 and 9584 Golf Club Rd., not to mention increased flow in the ditch line along Golf Club Rd. 

Even when no flooding is occurring at the surface, the water table on our property during the rainy periods of winter is about 1 food below the surface and causes our sump pump to run frequently until the water table drops.  We cannot afford to have construction of this subdivision to affect the water table (raise it), but need to make sure that drainage is accounted for along our properties to the south.

 I request that the city not approve the application unless consideration of water drainage for the subdivision clearly indicates that no impact will occur to the properties to the south.

Sincerely,

Charles E Hawkins

9534 Golf Club Rd SE

Aumsville, OR 97325

chawkins@wvi.com



9 Jan 2026 

To: Stayton Community and Economic Development Department 

362 N. 3rd Ave 

Stayton, OR, 97383 

Dear Sirs: 

I recently received a No�ce of Public Hearing before the Stayton Planning Commission for Land 
Use File # 16-12/24, an applica�on for annexa�on and subdivision of three parcels on Golf Club 
Rd SE. In accordance with that no�ce I am providing writen comments to be considered in your 
staff report prior to the hearing. 

My property is located at 9534 Golf Club Rd, adjacent to the south boundary of the proposed 
subdivision. We have lived here since 1997 and have witnessed numerous �mes where water 
has surrounded the home just north of us at 9474 Golf Club Rd from overland flow from the 
east part of their property (where the subdivision is proposed), and  water has occasionally 
flooded  yards at 9474, 9534 and 9584 Golf Club Rd due to overflowing ditches. 

I have no objec�on to the proposed subdivision in general. I am however, very concerned about 
the possibility that the terrain changes over the area may cause increased overland water flow 
toward the south and the proper�es at 9534 and 9584 Golf Club Rd., not to men�on increased 
flow in the ditch line along Golf Club Rd.  

Even when no flooding is occurring at the surface, the water table on our property during the 
rainy periods of winter is about 1 food below the surface and causes our sump pump to run 
frequently un�l the water table drops.  We cannot afford to have construc�on of this 
subdivision to affect the water table (raise it), but need to make sure that drainage is accounted 
for along our proper�es to the south. 

 I request that the city not approve the applica�on unless considera�on of water drainage for 
the subdivision clearly indicates that no impact will occur to the proper�es to the south. 

Sincerely, 

Charles E Hawkins 

9534 Golf Club Rd SE 

Aumsville, OR 97325 

chawkins@wvi.com 


	1.26.2026 Agenda and Minutes.pdf
	1 Planning Commission Agenda 1.26.2026
	2 12.29.25 Draft Minutes

	Blank Page
	Blank Page



